NEW ISSUE RATINGS:
(BOOK-ENTRY ONLY) Moody’s: Aaa
S&P: AAA

Fitch: AAA

See “RATINGS” herein.

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, based upon an analysis of existing laws, requlations, rulings and judicial
decisions, and assuming, among other matters, the accuracy of certain representations and the continued
compliance with certain covenants and tax law requirements, interest on the 2019A Bonds and the 2019C
Bonds (collectively, the “Tax-Exempt Bonds”) is excludable from gross income for federal income tax
purposes under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and is not a specific preference
item for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax. INTEREST EARNED ON THE 2019B BONDS
(THE “TAXABLE BONDS”) IS NOT EXCLUDABLE FROM GROSS INCOME OF THE HOLDERS OF THE
TAXABLE BONDS FOR FEDERAL INCOME TAX PURPOSES. In the opinion of Bond Counsel, inlerest on
the Tax-Exempt Bonds and the Taxable Bonds (collectively, the “Bonds”) is exempt from present Stale of
Georgia income taxalion. See APPENDIX E, APPENDIX F, and APPENDIX G herein for the forms of the
opinions Bond Counsel proposes to deliver in connection with the issuance of the Bonds. For a more complele
discussion of the tax status of the Bonds and certain other tax consequences relating to the Bonds, see “LEGAL
AND TAX STATUS” herein.
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( STATE OF GEORGIA
Georgia® $636,125,000 General Obligation Bonds 2019A
USA $278,550,000 General Obligation Bonds 2019B (Federally Taxable)
$35,920,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds 2019C
Dated: Date of Delivery Due: As shown on inside cover

This Official Statement has been prepared by the Georgia State Financing and Investment Commission (the
“Commission”) for and on behalf of the State of Georgia (the “State”) to provide information on the above-
captioned bonds (respectively, the “2019A Bonds,” the “2019B Bonds,” and the “2019C Bonds,” and collectively,
the “Bonds”). The summary information on this cover is for convenience only. To make an informed decision
regarding the Bonds, a prospective investor should read this Official Statement in its entirety.

Security The Bonds constitute general obligations of the State to which its full faith, credit
and taxing powers are pledged.

Redemption Certain of the Bonds are not subject to optional redemption prior to their maturity
and certain of the Bonds are subject to redemption prior to their maturity, as
further described herein.

Purpose The Bonds are being issued to provide funds for various capital outlay projects
of the State, to make grants to various governmental entities for capital outlay
projects, and to provide funds to refund certain outstanding general obligation
bonds of the State, as further described herein.

Interest Payment Dates Semiannual, as described herein.
Denomination $5,000 and integral multiples thereof.

Registration Full book-entry only and registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee for The
Depository Trust Company, New York, New York.

Closing/Delivery Date On or about July 18, 2019.

The Bonds are being offered when, as and if issued by the State and accepted by the Underwriters, subject to
prior sale or withdrawal or modification of the offer without notice, validation by the Superior Court of Fulton
County, Georgia and approval as to legality by Gray Pannell & Woodward LLP, Savannah and Atlanta, Georgia,
Bond Counsel. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the State by its Disclosure Counsel, Kutak Rock
LLP, Atlanta, Georgia. Public Resources Advisory Group and Terminus Municipal Advisors, LLC are serving as
Co-Financial Advisors to the State.

The date of this Official Statement is June 20, 2019.



$636,125,000

State of Georgia
General Obligation Bonds 2019A
Maturity Schedule
(Base CUSIP Number 373385®)
Maturing  Principal Interest CUSIP® | Maturing Principal  Interest CUSIP®
July 1, Amount Rate Yield Suffix July 1, Amount Rate Yield Suffix
2020 $34,105,000 5.000%  1.300% DU4 2030 $26,775,000 5.000%  1.780%%* EE9
2021 35,860,000 5.000 1.310 DV2 2031 28,150,000 5.000 1.830% EF6
2022 37,695,000 5.000 1.330 DWO 2032 29,595,000 5.000 1.890%* EG4
2023 39,635,000 5.000 1.340 DX8 2033 30,795,000 3.000 2.400* EH2
2024 41,660,000 5.000 1.360 DY6 2034 31,730,000 3.000 2.550% EJ8
2025 22,805,000 5.000 1.400 DZ3 2035 32,700,000 3.000 2.650* EKS5
2026 23,980,000 5.000 1.470 EA7 2036 33,695,000 3.000 2.730%* EL3
2027 25,210,000 5.000 1.550 EBS 2037 34,720,000 3.000 2.770% EM1
2028 26,505,000 5.000 1.620 EC3 2038 35,780,000 3.000 2.810%* EN9
2029 27,860,000 5.000 1.690 EDI1 2039 36,870,000 3.000 2.850%* EP4
*Priced to July 1, 2029 optional redemption date.
$278,550,000
State of Georgia
General Obligation Bonds 2019B (Federally Taxable)
Maturity Schedule
(Base CUSIP Number 373385®)
Maturing  Principal Interest CUSIP® | Maturing Principal  Interest CUSIP®
July 1, Amount Rate Yield Suffix July 1, Amount Rate Yield Suffix
2020 $15,435,000 2.000%  2.000% ES8 2030 $12,285,000 3.650% 2.600%* FC2
2021 15,770,000 2.000 1.940 ET6 2031 12,655,000 2.700 2.700 FDO
2022 16,120,000 2.000 1.870 EU3 2032 13,050,000 2.800 2.800 FE8
2023 16,480,000 2.000 1.910 EV1 2033 13,445,000 2.850 2.850 FF5
2024 16,900,000 2.050 2.000 EW9 2034 13,835,000 2.900 2.900 FG3
2025 10,780,000 2.100 2.100 EX7 2035 14,250,000 2.950 2.950 FH1
2026 11,070,000 2.190 2.190 EYS 2036 14,690,000 3.000 3.000 FJ7
2027 11,345,000 2.350 2.350 EZ2 2037 15,140,000 3.050 3.050 FK4
2028 11,640,000 2.410 2.410 FA6 2039# 31,720,000 3.100 3.100 FMO
2029 11,940,000 2.480 2.480 FB4

*Priced to July 1, 2029 optional redemption date.

# Term bonds subject to mandatory redemption as described herein. See “DESCRIPTION OF BONDS — Redemption Provisions
- Mandatory Redemption of 2019B Bonds " herein.

$35,920,000
State of Georgia
General Obligation Refunding Bonds 2019C
Maturity Schedule
Maturing Principal
July 1, Amount Interest Rate  Yield CUSIP®
2020 $16,785,000 5.000% 1.300% 373385EQ2
2022 19,135,000 5.000 1.330  373385ER0

@ CUSIP® is a registered trademark of the American Bankers Association (“ABA”). CUSIP data herein are provided by CUSIP
Global Services (CGS), operated on behalf of the ABA by S&P Global Market Intelligence, a division of S&P Global Inc. This
data is not intended to create a database and does not serve in any way as a substitute for the CGS database. The CUSIP numbers
listed above have been assigned by an independent company not affiliated with the State and are being provided solely for the
convenience of bondholders only at the time of issuance of the Bonds, and neither the State nor the Commission makes any
representation with respect to such numbers or undertakes any responsibility for their accuracy now or at any time in the future.
The CUSIP number for a specific maturity is subject to being changed after the issuance of the Bonds as a result of various
subsequent actions that are applicable to all or a portion of certain maturities of the Bonds.
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No dealer, broker, salesperson or other person has been authorized by the Commission or the State to give any
information or to make any representations, other than as contained in this Official Statement in connection with the issuance
of the Bonds described herein and, if given or made, such information or representations must not be relied upon as having
been authorized by the Commission or the State. This Official Statement does not constitute a contract between the
Commission or the State and any one or more owners of the Bonds, nor does this Official Statement constitute an offer to
sell the Bonds or a solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of the Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction
in which it is unlawful for such person to make such an offer, solicitation or sale. The information set forth herein has been
furnished by the Commission or the State and by other sources which are believed to be reliable. The information and
expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor
any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implications that there has been no change in the affairs
of the State or any other parties described herein since the date hereof.

This Official Statement (including the Appendices attached hereto) contains forecasts, projections, and estimates
that are based on current expectations but are not intended as representations of fact or guarantees of results. If and when
included in this Official Statement (including the Appendices attached hereto), the words “expects,” “forecasts,” “projects,”
“intends,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” and analogous expressions are intended to identify forward looking statements as
defined in the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and any such statements inherently are subject to a variety of risks and
uncertainties, which could cause actual results to differ materially from those contemplated in such forward looking
statements. These forward looking statements speak only as of the date of this Official Statement. The Commission and
the State disclaim any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward looking statement
contained herein to reflect any change in the Commission’s or the State’s expectations with regard thereto or any change in
events, conditions, or circumstances on which any such statement is based.
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SUMMARY STATEMENT

(Subject in all respects to more complete information herein this Official Statement.)

Issuer:

Offering:

Maturity:

Redemption:

Interest:

Dated Date:
Delivery Date:

Purpose:

Security:

Book-Entry Bonds:

Redemption:
Bond Counsel:
Disclosure Counsel:

Co-Financial Advisors:

Registrar/ Paying Agent:
Bond Ratings:

The State of Georgia (“State”) acting by and through the Georgia State
Financing and Investment Commission.

$636,125,000 General Obligation Bonds 2019A
$278,550,000 General Obligation Bonds 2019B (Federally Taxable)
$35,920,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds 2019C

The 2019A Bonds mature on each July 1, from July 1, 2020 to July 1, 2039.
The 2019B Bonds mature on each July 1, from July 1, 2020 to July 1, 2037
and on July 1, 2039. The 2019B Bonds maturing July 1, 2039 are subject to
mandatory redemption as described in “DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS —
Redemption Provisions - Mandatory Redemption of the 2019B Bonds”
herein. The 2019C Bonds mature on July 1, 2020 and July 1, 2022. See the
inside front cover herein.

See “DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS — Redemption Provisions” herein.

Interest on the 2019A Bonds, 2019B Bonds, and 2019C Bonds is payable
each January 1 and July 1, with the first interest payment due on January 1,
2020, until final payment, as further described in “DESCRIPTION OF THE
BONDS” herein.

Date of Initial Delivery.
On or about July 18, 2019.

The 2019A Bonds and the 2019B Bonds are being issued to provide funds for
various capital outlay projects of the State and to make grants to various
governmental entities for capital outlay projects. See “PURPOSE OF THE
2019A BONDS AND 2019B BONDS” herein for details. The 2019C Bonds
are being issued to provide funds to refund certain outstanding general
obligation bonds of the State. See “PURPOSE OF THE 2019C BONDS —
PLAN OF REFUNDING” herein.

General obligations of the State to which its full faith, credit and taxing power
are pledged.

Bonds will be issued in fully registered form without interest coupons in
denominations of $5,000 and integral multiples thereof. Bonds will be
registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee for The Depository Trust
Company, New York, New York.

See “DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS — Redemption Provisions” herein.
Gray Pannell & Woodward LLP, Savannah and Atlanta, Georgia.
Kutak Rock LLP, Atlanta, Georgia.

Public Resources Advisory Group, New York, New York and Terminus
Municipal Advisors, LLC, Atlanta, Georgia.

The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A.

Credit ratings are as shown on the front cover of this Official Statement and
as more completely described in “RATINGS” herein.

il
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$950,595,000
State of Georgia

$636,125,000 General Obligation Bonds 2019A
$278,550,000 General Obligation Bonds 2019B (Federally Taxable)
$35,920,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds 2019C

INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this Official Statement, which includes the cover page and Appendices hereto, is to
provide certain information concerning the State of Georgia (the “State”) and the above referenced bonds
comprised of: (i) State of Georgia General Obligation Bonds 2019A (the “2019A Bonds”), (ii) State of
Georgia General Obligation Bonds 2019B (Federally Taxable) (the “2019B Bonds” or the “Taxable
Bonds”), and (iii) State of Georgia General Obligation Refunding Bonds 2019C (the “2019C Bonds™). The
2019A Bonds, 2019B Bonds, and 2019C Bonds are referred to herein, collectively, as the “Bonds” and the
2019A Bonds and 2019C Bonds also are referred to herein, collectively, as the “Tax-Exempt Bonds”.

The Bonds are being issued by the Georgia State Financing and Investment Commission (the
“Commission”), acting for and on behalf of the State, pursuant to the Constitution and laws of the State of
Georgia and resolutions adopted by the Commission on June 20, 2019 (collectively, the “Resolutions™).
The Bonds will constitute a debt of the State for which the full faith, credit and taxing power of the State
are pledged to the payment of the Bonds and the interest thereon. See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS”
herein. The proceeds from the sale of the 2019A Bonds and 2019B Bonds will be used to finance various
capital outlay projects of the State and to make grants to various governmental entities for various capital
outlay projects as described under “PURPOSE OF THE 2019A BONDS AND 2019B BONDS” herein.
The State currently expects to use the original issue premium generated from the sale of the 2019A Bonds
to fund a portion of various capital projects and grants funded by the 2019A Bonds and to pay all or a
portion of the costs of issuance of the 2019A Bonds. The State currently expects to use the original issue
premium generated from the sale of the 2019B Bonds to pay all or a portion of the costs of issuance of the
2019B Bonds. The State currently expects to use the proceeds and original issue premium generated from
the sale of the 2019C Bonds to refund certain outstanding general obligation bonds of the State and also to
pay all or a portion of the costs of issuance of the 2019C Bonds as described under “PURPOSE OF THE
2019C BONDS — PLAN OF REFUNDING” herein. See “USE OF PREMIUM ON THE 2019A BONDS
AND 2019B BONDS” herein.

The Bonds are authorized to be issued pursuant to powers granted to the Commission in Article
VII, Section IV of the Constitution of the State of Georgia (the “State Constitution”) and the Georgia State
Financing and Investment Commission Act (Ga. Laws 1973, p. 750, et seq., as amended, codified at Official
Code of Georgia Annotated (“O.C.G.A.”) § 50-17-20, et seq., referred to herein as the “Commission Act”).
See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS,” “THE COMMISSION” and “APPENDIX A - DEBT AND
REVENUE INFORMATION — DEBT INFORMATION - Appropriations and Debt Limitations” herein.

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, based upon an analysis of existing laws, regulations, rulings, and
judicial decisions, and assuming, among other things, the accuracy of certain representations and the
continued compliance with certain covenants and tax law requirements, interest on the Tax-Exempt Bonds
is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended, and is not a specific preference item for purposes of the federal alternative
minimum tax. Interest on the Taxable Bonds is not excludable from gross income of the holders of the
Taxable Bonds for federal income tax purposes. In the opinion of Bond Counsel, interest on the Tax-



Exempt Bonds and Taxable Bonds is exempt from present State of Georgia income taxation. Bond Counsel
expresses no opinion regarding any other tax consequences related to the ownership or disposition of, or
the amount, accrual or receipt of interest on, the Bonds. See “APPENDIX E”, “APPENDIX F”, and
“APPENDIX G” herein for the forms of opinions Bond Counsel proposes to deliver in connection with the
issuance of the 2019A Bonds, 2019B Bonds, and 2019C Bonds, respectively. For a more complete
discussion of the tax status of the Bonds and certain other tax consequences relating to the Bonds, see
“LEGAL AND TAX STATUS” herein.

The Bonds are offered when, as, and if issued, subject to validation by the Superior Court of Fulton
County, Georgia, and the approving legal opinions of Gray Pannell & Woodward LLP, Savannah and
Atlanta, Georgia, Bond Counsel. Certain legal matters will be passed on for the State by its Disclosure
Counsel, Kutak Rock LLP, Atlanta, Georgia. See “LEGAL MATTERS” herein.

It is expected that the Bonds will be available for delivery in New York, New York, on or about
July 18, 2019, in book-entry form only, with actual bond certificates immobilized in the custody of The
Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York, a registered securities depository, or its agent.

This Official Statement speaks only as of its date and is subject to change. This Introduction and
the Summary Statement presented above represent a brief description of the matters contained herein, and
a full review should be made of the entire Official Statement, as well as the appendices hereto and any
documents described or summarized herein. Requests for additional information with respect to this
Official Statement (including the appendices attached hereto) or a copy of the Resolutions may be directed
to Diana Pope, Director, Financing and Investment Division, Georgia State Financing and Investment
Commission, 270 Washington Street, S.W., Suite 2140, Atlanta, Georgia 30334, telephone number (404)
463-5700.

DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS
General
The Bonds will be dated the date of delivery.

Interest on the Bonds is payable semiannually on January 1 and July 1 in each year (each as to the
2019A Bonds, 2019B Bonds, and 2019C Bonds an “Interest Payment Date”), commencing January 1, 2020,
until final payment for the respective series of Bonds.

The Bonds will bear interest from the applicable Interest Payment Date next preceding their date
of authentication to which interest has been paid at the rates per annum set forth on the inside cover page
of this Official Statement (computed on the basis of a 360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day months).
Payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds will be made by the designated corporate trust office
of The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Bond Registrar and Paying Agent, directly to
Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC, as registered owner of the Bonds, and subsequently will be disbursed to
DTC Participants and thereafter to beneficial owners thereof (the “Beneficial Owners™) of the Bonds as
described below. When not in book-entry form, interest on the Bonds is payable by check or draft mailed
by first-class mail on the Interest Payment Date to the owners thereof as shown on the books and records
of the Bond Registrar on the 15th day of the calendar month next preceding the applicable Interest Payment
Date. When not in book-entry form, principal of the Bonds is payable upon surrender thereof at the
designated corporate trust office of the Paying Agent.



Redemption Provisions
Optional Redemption of the 20194 Bonds

The 2019A Bonds maturing on or before July 1, 2029 are not subject to optional redemption prior
to their stated maturity. The 2019A Bonds maturing on or after July 1, 2030 will be subject to redemption
at the option of the Commission, on behalf of the State, on and after July 1, 2029, and prior to their stated
maturity, in whole or in part at any time at a redemption price equal to the principal amount of the 2019A
Bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to the date fixed for redemption.

Mandatory Redemption of the 2019B Bonds

The 2019B Bonds maturing on July 1, 2039 are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption in
part from time to time prior to maturity on July 1 in the years and in the principal amounts indicated below,
without a premium, plus accrued interest to the redemption date (the 2039 amount to be paid rather than
redeemed):

Redemption Date Principal Amount
July 1, 2038 $15,615,000
July 1, 2039* 16,105,000
*Final Maturity

If the Commission optionally redeems or purchases 2019B Bonds, the par amount of the 2019B Bonds so
redeemed or purchased shall be credited against the scheduled mandatory redemption amounts on a pro rata
basis, subject to the operating procedures of DTC.

Optional Redemption of the 2019B Bonds

The 2019B Bonds are subject to redemption on any Business Day prior to their stated maturity at
the option of the Commission, on behalf of the State, in whole or in part at any time, at a redemption price,
which prior to July 1, 2029 shall equal the Make-Whole Redemption Price (as defined below) and on or
after July 1, 2029 shall equal one hundred percent (100%) of the principal amount of the 2019B Bonds to
be redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to the date fixed for redemption.

The “Make-Whole Redemption Price” is equal to the greater of (i) Amortized Value (as defined
below) of the 2019B Bonds (but not less than one hundred percent (100%) of the principal amount of such
2019B Bonds) to be redeemed on the redemption date; or (ii) the sum of the present values of the remaining
scheduled payments of principal and interest to the maturity date on the 2019B Bonds to be redeemed, not
including any portion of those payments of interest accrued and unpaid as of the date on which the 2019B
Bonds are to be redeemed, discounted to the date on which the 2019B Bonds are to be redeemed on a semi-
annual basis, assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months, at the Treasury Rate (as defined
below), plus (i) with respect to such 2019B Bonds maturing on July 1, 2020 through July 1, 2029, zero (10)
basis points, and (ii) with respect to such 2019B Bonds maturing on July 1, 2030 through July 1, 2039,
twenty-five (25) basis points; plus, in each case, accrued interest on the 2019B Bonds to be redeemed to
the redemption date.

“Amortized Value” means, with respect to a 2019B Bond to be redeemed at a Make-Whole
Redemption Price, the principal amount of the 2019B Bond to be redeemed, multiplied by the price of such
2019B Bond expressed as a percentage, calculated based on the industry standard method of calculating
bond prices, with a delivery date equal to the redemption date, the maturity date of such 2019B Bond, an



initial par call date of July 1, 2029 and a yield equal to such 2019B Bond’s original reoffering yield set
forth on the inside cover page hereof.

“Treasury Rate” means, with respect to any redemption date for a particular 2019B Bond, the yield to
maturity as of such redemption date of United States Treasury securities with a constant maturity (as
compiled and published in the Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15 (519) (the “Statistical Release”)
that has become publicly available at least two (2) business days, but not more than forty-five (45) calendar
days, prior to the redemption date (excluding inflation indexed securities) (or, if such Statistical Release is
no longer published, any publicly available source of similar market data)) most nearly equal to the period
from the redemption date to the maturity date of the 2019B Bonds to be redeemed.

Optional Redemption of the 2019C Bonds
The 2019C Bonds are not subject to optional redemption prior to their stated maturity.
Redemption Notices - Selection of Bonds to be Redeemed

Upon receipt of notice from the State of its election to redeem any or all of the Bonds, the Paying
Agent is to give notice of such redemption by mail to the holders of such Bonds to be redeemed not less
than thirty (30) days or more than sixty (60) days prior to the date set for redemption. Failure by a particular
holder to receive notice, or any defect in the notice to such holder, will not affect the redemption of any
other Bond. The particular maturities of the Bonds to be redeemed will be determined by the Commission,
on behalf of the State, in its sole discretion.

If the Bonds are registered in book-entry only form and so long as DTC or a successor securities
depository is the sole registered owner of the Bonds, if less than all of the Bonds of a maturity are called
for redemption prior to maturity, the particular Bonds of such maturity, or portions thereof to be redeemed
shall be selected for redemption on a pro rata pass-through distribution of principal basis among the
registered owners of such maturity, in accordance with DTC procedures, provided that, so long as the Bonds
are held in book-entry form, the selection for redemption of such Bonds shall be made in accordance with
the operational arrangements of DTC then in effect, and, if the DTC operational arrangements do not allow
for redemption on a pro rata pass-through distribution of principal basis, the Bonds will be selected for
redemption, in accordance with DTC procedures then in effect.

It is the Commission’s intent that redemption allocations for the Bonds made by DTC be made on
a pro rata pass-through distribution of principal basis as described above. However, the Commission cannot
provide any assurance that DTC, DTC’s direct and indirect participants or any other intermediary will
allocate the redemption of the Bonds on such basis. If the DTC operational arrangements do not allow for
the redemption of the Bonds on a pro rata pass-through distribution of principal basis as discussed above,
then the Bonds to be redeemed will be selected for redemption in accordance with DTC procedures then in
effect. If the Bonds are not registered in book-entry only form, any redemption of less than all of a series
and maturity of the Bonds shall be allocated among the registered owners of such Bonds on a pro-rata basis.
See “DESCRIPTION OF THE BONDS - Book-Entry System’ herein.

Registration, Exchange and Transfer

The Bonds will be issued only as fully registered bonds without coupons in denominations of
$5,000 and integral multiples thereof. The Commission and the Bond Registrar and Paying Agent may
deem and treat the registered owner of a Bond as the absolute owner of such Bond for purposes of receiving
payment of or on account of principal and interest payable thereon, and for other purposes; the Commission
and the Bond Registrar and Paying Agent will not be affected by any notice to the contrary.



The Bonds will be issued in book-entry form registered in the name of Cede & Co., the nominee
of DTC. Beneficial Owners of the Bonds will not receive physical delivery of bond certificates. While in
book-entry form, registration of exchanges and transfers of beneficial ownership interests in the Bonds will
be effected in accordance with DTC practices and procedures described below.

When not in book-entry form, ownership of any Bond is transferable upon surrender thereof to the
Bond Registrar, together with an instrument of transfer assignment duly executed by the registered owner
or its duly authorized agent, in such form as shall be satisfactory to the Bond Registrar. Upon any such
transfer of ownership, the Bond Registrar will cause to be authenticated and delivered a new Bond or Bonds
registered in the name of the transferee in an authorized denomination in the same aggregate principal
amount and interest rate as the Bonds surrendered for such transfer. The Bonds may be exchanged for a
like principal amount of Bonds of the same interest rate of other authorized denominations. For every
exchange or registration of transfer, the Bond Registrar may charge an amount sufficient to reimburse it for
any tax or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such exchange or registration of
transfer, but no other charge may be made to the owner for any exchange or registration of transfer of the
Bonds.

Book-Entry System

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry only system has been
obtained from sources believed to be reliable. No representation is made herein by the Commission or the
State as to the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of such information, or as to the absence of material
adverse changes in such information subsequent to the date of this Official Statement.

DTC will act as securities depository for the Bonds. The Bonds will be issued as fully-registered
securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may
be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully-registered Bond certificate will be issued
for each maturity in the aggregate principal amount of such maturity, and will be deposited with DTC.
Purchasers may own beneficial interests in the Bonds in the United States through DTC.

DTC is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a “banking
organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System,
a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing
agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC
holds and provides asset servicing for U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues,
and money market instruments that DTC’s participants (“Direct Participants™) deposit with DTC. DTC
also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions
in deposited securities through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct
Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct
Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing
corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust
& Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing
Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC
is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others
such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing
corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly
or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”). DTC has a Standard & Poor’s rating of AA+. The DTC Rules
applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More information
about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com.

Purchases of the Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants,
which will receive a credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser



of each Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records.
Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners
are, however, expected to receive written confirmation providing details of the transaction, as well as
periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial
Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Bonds are to be accomplished
by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners.
Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in the Bonds, except
in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Bonds is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are
registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested
by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name
of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no
knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the
Direct Participants to whose accounts such Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial
Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings
on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct
Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial
Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements
as may be in effect from time to time. Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to take certain steps to
augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the Bonds, such as
redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the documents relating to the Bonds. For
example, Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the Bonds for their
benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners. In the alternative, Beneficial
Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to the registrar and request that copies of notices
be provided directly to them.

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Bonds within an issue are being
redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in
such maturity, or maturities, to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to
the Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures. Under its
usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the Commission as soon as possible after the record
date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to
whose accounts the Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus
Proxy).

Principal and interest payments on the Bonds will be made to Cede & Co. or such other nominee
as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’
accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the Paying Agent, on the
payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by
Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is
the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,”
and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, the Paying Agent, or the Commission,
subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of
principal and interest payments to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized
representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the Paying Agent, disbursement of such payments to Direct
Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners
will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.



DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Bonds at any time by
giving reasonable notice to the Commission and the Paying Agent. Under such circumstances, in the event
that a substitute or successor securities depository is not obtained, Bond certificates will be printed and
delivered as provided in the Resolution.

The State may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC
(or a successor securities depository). In that event, Bond certificates will be printed and delivered as
provided in the Resolution.

THE ABOVE INFORMATION CONCERNING DTC AND DTC’S BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM
HAS BEEN OBTAINED FROM SOURCES THAT THE COMMISSION AND THE STATE BELIEVE
TO BE RELIABLE, BUT NEITHER THE COMMISSION NOR THE STATE TAKE ANY
RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ACCURACY THEREOF. NEITHER THE COMMISSION, THE STATE,
NOR THE PAYING AGENT WILL HAVE ANY RESPONSIBILITY OR OBLIGATION TO DTC
PARTICIPANTS, BENEFICIAL OWNERS OR OTHER NOMINEES OF SUCH BENEFICIAL
OWNERS FOR (i) SENDING TRANSACTION STATEMENTS; (ii) MAINTAINING, SUPERVISING
OR REVIEWING, OR THE ACCURACY OF, ANY RECORDS MAINTAINED BY DTC OR ANY DTC
PARTICIPANT OR OTHER NOMINEES OF SUCH BENEFICIAL OWNERS; (iii)) PAYMENT OR THE
TIMELINESS OF PAYMENT BY DTC TO ANY DTC PARTICIPANT, OR BY ANY DTC
PARTICIPANT OR OTHER NOMINEES OF BENEFICIAL OWNERS TO ANY BENEFICIAL
OWNER, OF ANY AMOUNT DUE IN RESPECT OF THE PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST ON THE
BONDS; (iv) DELIVERY OR TIMELY DELIVERY BY DTC TO ANY DTC PARTICIPANT, OR BY
ANY DTC PARTICIPANT OR OTHER NOMINEES OF BENEFICIAL OWNERS TO ANY
BENEFICIAL OWNER, OF ANY NOTICE OR OTHER COMMUNICATION WHICH IS REQUIRED
OR PERMITTED UNDER THE TERMS OF THE RESOLUTION TO BE GIVEN TO BONDHOLDERS
OR OWNERS OF THE BONDS; OR (v) ANY ACTION TAKEN BY DTC OR ITS NOMINEE AS THE
REGISTERED OWNER OF THE BONDS.

So long as Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC, is the registered owner of the Bonds, reference herein
to the registered owners of the Bonds (other than under the heading “LEGAL AND TAX STATUS - Tax
Consequences of Owning the Bonds™ herein) shall mean Cede & Co., as aforesaid, and shall not mean the
Beneficial Owners of the Bonds.

SECURITY FOR THE BONDS

The Bonds are direct and general obligations of the State. The Bonds are issued by the Commission
pursuant to powers granted to the Commission in Article VII, Section IV of the State Constitution and the
Commission Act. Article VII, Section IV, Paragraph VI of the State Constitution provides:

The full faith, credit, and taxing power of the state are hereby pledged to the payment of
all public debt incurred under this article and all such debt and the interest on the debt shall be
exempt from taxation. Such debt may be validated by judicial proceedings in the manner provided
by law. Such validation shall be incontestable and conclusive.

Article VII, Section IV, Paragraph III(a)(1) of the State Constitution provides:

General obligation debt may not be incurred until legislation is enacted stating the
purposes, in general or specific terms, for which such issue of debt is to be incurred, specifying the
maximum principal amount of such issue and appropriating an amount at least sufficient to pay the
highest annual debt service requirements for such issue. All such appropriations for debt service



purposes shall not lapse for any reason and shall continue in effect until the debt for which such
appropriation was authorized shall have been incurred, but the General Assembly may repeal any
such appropriation at any time prior to the incurring of such debt. The General Assembly shall
raise by taxation and appropriate each fiscal year, in addition to the sum necessary to make all
payments required under contracts entitled to the protection of the second paragraph of Paragraph
I(a), Section VI, Article IX of the Constitution of 1976, such amounts as are necessary to pay debt
service requirements in such fiscal year on all general obligation debt.

Article VII, Section IV, Paragraph I1I(a)(2)(A) of the State Constitution provides:

The General Assembly shall appropriate to a special trust fund to be designated “State of
Georgia General Obligation Debt Sinking Fund” such amounts as are necessary to pay annual debt
service requirements on all general obligation debt. The sinking fund shall be used solely for the
retirement of general obligation debt payable from the fund. If for any reason the monies in the
sinking fund are insufficient to make, when due, all payments required with respect to such general
obligation debt, the first revenues thereafter received in the general fund of the state shall be set
aside by the appropriate state fiscal officer to the extent necessary to cure the deficiency and shall
be deposited by the fiscal officer into the sinking fund. The appropriate state fiscal officer may be
required to set aside and apply such revenues at the suit of any holder of any general obligation
debt incurred under this section.

Article VII, Section IV, Paragraph V of the State Constitution provides, in relevant part:

The state may incur general obligation debt or guaranteed revenue debt to fund or refund
any such debt or to fund or refund any obligations issued upon the security of contracts to which
the provisions of the second paragraph of Paragraph I(a), Section VI, Article IX of the Constitution
of 1976 are applicable. The issuance of any such debt for the purposes of said funding or refunding
shall be subject to the 10 percent limitation in Paragraph II(b) of this section to the same extent as
debt incurred under Paragraph I of this section; provided, however, in making such computation
the annual debt service requirements and annual contract payments remaining on the debt or
obligations being funded or refunded shall not be taken into account. The issuance of such debt
may be accomplished by resolution of the Georgia State Financing and Investment Commission
without any action on the part of the General Assembly and any appropriation made or required to
be made with respect to the debt or obligation being funded or refunded shall immediately attach
and inure to the benefit of the obligations to be issued in connection with such funding or refunding.

In compliance with the above provisions of the State Constitution, the General Assembly has
appropriated to the State of Georgia General Obligation Debt Sinking Fund (the “Sinking Fund”) amounts
sufficient to pay the highest annual debt service requirements on all outstanding general obligation debt.
There are no contracts currently outstanding which are entitled to the protection of the second paragraph of
Paragraph I(a), Section VI, Article IX of the Constitution of 1976. See “APPENDIX A — DEBT AND
REVENUE INFORMATION — DEBT INFORMATION” and “APPENDIX B — COMPREHENSIVE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018.”



PURPOSE OF THE 2019A BONDS AND 2019B BONDS

The State Constitution provides that the State may incur two types of debt: (i) general obligation
debt and (ii) guaranteed revenue debt. General obligation debt may be incurred to: acquire, construct,
develop, extend, enlarge, or improve land, waters, property, highways, buildings, structures, equipment, or
facilities of the State, its agencies, departments, institutions and certain State authorities; to provide
educational facilities for county and independent school systems and to provide public library facilities for
county and independent school systems, counties, municipalities, and boards of trustees of public libraries
or boards of trustees of public library systems; and to make loans to counties, municipal corporations,
political subdivisions, local authorities and other local government entities for water or sewerage facilities
or systems or for regional or multijurisdictional solid waste recycling or solid waste facilities or systems.
Guaranteed revenue debt may be incurred by guaranteeing the payment of certain revenue obligations
issued by an instrumentality of the State as set forth in the State Constitution to finance certain specified
public projects. There being no general obligation debt or guaranteed revenue debt scheduled to retire on
or between the date of this Official Statement and prior to July 1, 2019, as of June 30, 2019, the State will
have general obligation debt outstanding in an aggregate principal amount of $9,388,795,000 and
guaranteed revenue debt outstanding in an aggregate principal amount of $158,470,000. On July 1, 2019,
an aggregate of $405,545,000 outstanding general obligation debt, and no outstanding guaranteed revenue
debt, is scheduled to be retired. See “APPENDIX A — DEBT AND REVENUE INFORMATION - DEBT
INFORMATION.”

The proceeds of the 2019A Bonds and 2019B Bonds, including net original issue premium, are
expected to be used for the purposes described below. A more detailed description of the purposes may be
obtained from the legislative authorizations for the Bonds, as required by the State Constitution, in
appropriations enacted as follows: (i) the General Appropriations Act for State Fiscal Year 2013-2014 (Ga.
L. 2013, Volume One Appendix, commencing at p. 1 of 239, Act No. 309, 2013 Regular Session, H.B.
106) signed by the Governor on May 7, 2013, as amended by the supplementary General Appropriations
Act for State Fiscal Year 2013-2014 (Ga. L. 2014, Volume One Appendix, commencing at p. 1 of 174, Act
No. 347, 2014 Regular Session, H.B. 743) signed by the Governor on February 26, 2014; (ii) the General
Appropriations Act for State Fiscal Year 2014-2015 (Ga. L. 2014, Volume One Appendix, commencing at
p. 1 of 139, Act No. 632, 2014 Regular Session, H.B. 744) signed by the Governor on April 28, 2014, as
amended by the supplementary General Appropriations Act for State Fiscal Year 2014-2015 (Ga. L. 2015,
Volume One Appendix, commencing at p. 1 of 98, Act No. 1, 2015 Regular Session, H.B. 75) signed by
the Governor on February 19, 2015; (iii) the General Appropriations Act for State Fiscal Year 2015-2016
(Ga. L. 2015, Volume One Appendix, commencing at p. 1 of 251, Act No. 198, 2015 Regular Session, H.B.
76) signed by the Governor on May 11, 2015, as amended by the supplementary General Appropriations
Act for State Fiscal Year 2015-2016 (Ga. L. 2016, Volume One Appendix, commencing at p. 1 of 182, Act
No. 312, 2016 Regular Session, H.B. 750) signed by the Governor on February 17, 2016; (iv) the General
Appropriations Act for State Fiscal Year 2016-2017 (Ga. L. 2016, Volume One Appendix, commencing at
p. 1 of 145, Act No. 517, 2016 Regular Session, H.B. 751) signed by the Governor on May 2, 2016, as
amended by the supplementary General Appropriations Act for State Fiscal Year 2016-2017 (Ga. L. 2017,
Volume One Appendix, commencing at p. 1 of 113, Act No. 5, 2017 Regular Session, H.B. 43) signed by
the Governor on February 15, 2017; (v) the General Appropriations Act for State Fiscal Year 2017-2018
(Ga. L. 2017, Volume One Appendix, commencing at p. 1 of 249, Act No. 37, 2017 Regular Session, H.B.
44) signed by the Governor on May 1, 2017, as amended by the supplementary General Appropriations Act
for State Fiscal Year 2017-2018 (Ga. L. 2018, Volume One Appendix, commencing at p. 1 of 195, Act No.
286, 2018 Regular Session, H.B. 683) signed by the Governor on March 9, 2018; (vi) the General
Appropriations Act for State Fiscal Year 2018-2019 (Ga. L. 2018, Volume One Appendix, commencing at
p. 1 of 135, Act No. 301, 2018 Regular Session, H.B. 684) signed by the Governor on May 2, 2018, as
amended by the supplementary General Appropriations Act for State Fiscal Year 2018-2019 (commencing
at p. 1 of 85, Act No. 1EX, 2018 Special Session, H.B. 1EX) signed by the Governor on November 17,
2018, as further amended by the supplementary General Appropriations Act for State Fiscal Year 2018-



2019 (commencing at p. 1 of 108, Act. No. 3, 2019 Regular Session, H.B. 30) signed by the Governor on
March 12, 2019; and (vii) the General Appropriations Act for State Fiscal Year 2019-2020 (commencing
atp. 1 of 259, Act No. 319, 2019 Regular Session, H.B. 31) signed by the Governor on May 10, 2019.

Amount

2019A Bonds Purpose

$195,320,000

187,000,000

150,000,000
43,920,000
18,085,000
17,100,000
14,465,000
14,255,000
13,185,000

11,850,000

9,500,000

8,450,000
5,900,000
6,500,000
4,080,000
2,985,000
2,575,000

2,300,000
2,140,000
2,120,000
1,800,000

1,570,000
1,275,000

1,110,000
1,000,000

To finance grants to county and independent school systems for educational
facilities and equipment through the State Board of Education (Department of
Education)

To finance projects and facilities for the Board of Regents of the University
System of Georgia

To finance projects and facilities for the Secretary of State

To finance projects and facilities for the Department of Corrections

To finance projects and facilities for the Department of Natural Resources

To finance projects and facilities for the Department of Defense

To finance projects and facilities for the Department of Public Safety

To finance projects and facilities for the Georgia Bureau of Investigation

To finance grants for public library facilities for counties, municipalities, and
boards of trustees of public libraries or boards of trustees of public library
systems through the Board of Regents of the University System of Georgia

To finance projects and facilities for the Department of Behavioral Health and
Developmental Disabilities

To finance grants to the Georgia Environmental Finance Authority for the
purpose of providing loans to local governments and local government entities
for water and sewerage facilities or systems or for regional or multijurisdictional
solid waste recycling or solid waste facilities or systems

To finance projects and facilities for the Department of Juvenile Justice

To finance projects and facilities for the Georgia Building Authority

To finance projects and facilities for the Georgia General Assembly

To finance projects and facilities for the Department of Agriculture

To finance projects and facilities for the Department of Education

To finance projects and facilities for the Georgia Public Safety Training Center
through the Department of Public Safety

To finance projects and facilities for the Department of Public Health

To finance projects and facilities for the Department of Driver Services

To finance projects and facilities for the Department of Veterans Service

To finance projects and facilities for the Georgia State Financing and Investment
Commission

To finance projects and facilities for the State Forestry Commission

To finance projects and facilities for the Georgia Military College through the
Board of Regents of the University System of Georgia

To finance projects and facilities for the Department of Community Supervision
To finance projects and facilities for the Soil and Water Conservation
Commission

$718,485,000

2019A Bonds Total

' Note: total amount funded from bond principal and net original issue premium.
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Amount' 2019B Bonds Purpose
$121,905,000 To finance projects and facilities for the Technical College System of Georgia
58,600,000 To finance projects and facilities for the Board of Regents of the University System of
Georgia
42,000,000 To finance projects and facilities for the Georgia World Congress Center Authority
through the Department of Economic Development
35,000,000 To finance projects and facilities for the Department of Transportation
6,300,000 To finance projects and facilities for the Lake Lanier Islands Development Authority
through the Department of Natural Resources
5,000,000 To finance projects and facilities for the Stone Mountain Memorial Association
4,000,000 To finance projects and facilities for the Department of Natural Resources
3,550,000 To finance projects and facilities for the Department of Agriculture
1,195,000 To finance projects and facilities for the Department of Education
1,000,000 To finance projects and facilities for the Georgia Vocational Rehabilitation Agency
$278,550,000 2019B Bonds Total

! Note: total amount funded from bond principal.

The Commission Act provides that the Commission shall be responsible for the proper application
of the proceeds of the 2019A Bonds and the 2019B Bonds to the purposes for which they are incurred and
that the proceeds received from the sale of the 2019A Bonds and the 2019B Bonds shall be held in trust by
the Commission and disbursed promptly by the Commission in accordance with the original purpose set
forth in the authorization of the General Assembly and in accordance with rules and regulations established
by the Commission.

USE OF PREMIUM ON THE 2019A BONDS AND 2019B BONDS

The State currently expects to use the original issue premium generated from the sale of the 2019A
Bonds to fund a portion of the various purposes of the 2019A Bonds as described above and to pay all or a
portion of the costs of issuance of the 2019A Bonds. The State currently expects to use the original issue
premium generated from the sale of the 2019B Bonds to pay all or a portion of the costs of issuance of the
2019B Bonds.

PURPOSE OF THE 2019C BONDS - PLAN OF REFUNDING

The State expects to use the proceeds of the 2019C Bonds, including all or a portion of the original
issue premium generated from the sale of the 2019C Bonds, to refund all or a portion of certain previously
issued State of Georgia general obligation bonds and to pay all or a portion of the cost of issuance on the
2019C Bonds. Simultaneously with the issuance of the 2019C Bonds, the Commission will deposit or cause
to be deposited a portion of the proceeds derived from the sale of the 2019C Bonds into a special fund (the
“2019C Refunding Escrow Fund”) created under the terms of the 2019C Refunding Escrow Agreement,
dated as of July 1, 2019 (the “2019C Refunding Escrow Agreement”), by and between the Commission,
acting for and on behalf of the State, and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., in its
capacities as refunding escrow agent (the “2019C Refunding Escrow Agent”), and as paying agent and
bond registrar for certain previously issued State of Georgia general obligation bonds (in such capacity, the
“2019C Refunding Paying Agent”), providing for the terms of the refunding of all or portions of such
previously issued bonds (the portions of such bonds are herein collectively referred to as the “2019C
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Refunded Bonds™). See “APPENDIX H” herein. The 2019C Refunded Bonds are being refunded to effect
interest cost savings to the State. The Commission also has paid, or will cause to be paid, the fees of the
2019C Refunding Escrow Agent and the 2019C Refunding Paying Agent in accordance with each of their
regular billing procedures. The sums deposited into the 2019C Refunding Escrow Fund shall be sufficient
to provide for the payment of the principal, interest, and the redemption price of the 2019C Refunded Bonds.
Said sums will be held as cash in the 2019C Refunding Escrow Fund, all as set forth in the 2019C Refunding
Escrow Agreement. The 2019C Refunding Escrow Fund shall be at all times sufficient to pay the interest
on the 2019C Refunded Bonds from the most recent date on which interest has been paid with respect to
the 2019C Refunded Bonds to and including the applicable redemption date for any such 2019C Refunded
Bonds, and to redeem any such 2019C Refunded Bonds on the applicable redemption date and at the
applicable redemption price, plus interest accrued thereon to the applicable redemption date. Under the
terms of the 2019C Refunding Escrow Agreement, the 2019C Paying Agent for the 2019C Refunded Bonds
has agreed to give appropriate notice of the redemption of the 2019C Refunded Bonds, as required under
the terms of the various resolutions authorizing the issuance thereof. Moneys in the 2019C Refunding
Escrow Fund shall be held in trust and used by the 2019C Refunding Escrow Agent to pay such principal
and interest and redemption price with respect to the 2019C Refunded Bonds, and will not be available for
payment of debt service on the Bonds. Upon issuance of the 2019C Bonds and compliance with the
requirements of the 2019C Refunding Escrow Agreement for the payment of all the 2019C Refunded
Bonds, pursuant to Article VII, Section IV, Paragraph V of the State Constitution the annual debt service
requirements of the 2019C Refunded Bonds shall not be included in any constitutional debt limitations.

The accuracy of the mathematical computations of the adequacy of the funds to be held in the
2019C Refunding Escrow Fund under the terms of the 2019C Refunding Escrow Agreement to pay when
due the principal of, interest on, and redemption prices of the 2019C Refunded Bonds will be verified by
Samuel Klein and Company, Certified Public Accountants. See “VERIFICATION OF MATHEMATICAL
COMPUTATIONS —2019C BONDS” herein.

AUTHORIZED INDEBTEDNESS

During the 2019 Regular Session, the General Assembly adopted H.B. 31, the General
Appropriations Act for the State Fiscal Year beginning July 1, 2019 and ending June 30, 2020 (“FY 2020),
and the Governor approved the authorization of an aggregate principal amount of $1,095,915,000 of new
general obligation debt in the FY 2020 budget, the proceeds of which are to be used for various planned
capital projects of the State, its departments and agencies as well as grants to county and independent school
systems and various government entities; the General Assembly did not repeal any previously authorized
but unissued general obligation debt, currently authorized in an aggregate amount of $238,375,000. As of
July 1, 2019 the aggregate amount of authorized but unissued general obligation debt will be
$1,334,290,000. Upon the issuance of the Bonds, there will remain $337,255,000 of authorized but
unissued general obligation debt. See “APPENDIX A — DEBT AND REVENUE INFORMATION —
DEBT INFORMATION — Authorized Indebtedness.”

THE COMMISSION
The Commission is an agency and instrumentality of the State, and its members are the Governor,

the President of the Senate, the Speaker of the House of Representatives, the State Auditor, the Attorney
General, the State Treasurer, and the Commissioner of Agriculture.
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The Commission is responsible for the issuance of all public debt of the State, including general
obligation debt and guaranteed revenue debt. The Commission is further responsible for the proper
application of the proceeds of such debt to the purposes for which it is incurred.

The Commission has two statutory divisions, a Financing and Investment Division and a
Construction Division, each administered by a Director who reports directly to the Commission. The
Financing and Investment Division performs all services relating to the issuance of public debt, the
investment and accounting of all proceeds derived from the incurring of general obligation debt or such
other amounts as may be appropriated to the Commission for capital outlay purposes, the management of
other State debt, and all financial advisory matters pertaining thereto. The Construction Division is
responsible for all construction and construction related matters resulting from the issuance of public debt
or from any such other amounts as may be appropriated to the Commission for capital outlay purposes,
except that in the case of bond proceeds for public road and bridge construction or reconstruction, the
Commission contracts with the Department of Transportation or the Georgia Highway Authority for the
supervision of and contracting for designing, planning, building, rebuilding, constructing, improving,
operating, owning, maintaining, leasing and managing of public roads and bridges for which general
obligation debt has been authorized. In all other cases when the Commission contracts with a State
department, authority or agency for the acquisition or construction of projects, the projects are acquired and
constructed under policies, standards and operating procedures established by the Commission. The
Construction Division also is responsible for performing such construction-related services for State
agencies and instrumentalities as may be assigned to the Commission by Executive Order of the Governor.

See “APPENDIX A — DEBT AND REVENUE INFORMATION” for information regarding,
among other things, the State’s appropriations and debt limitations, State revenues, authorized
indebtedness, outstanding debt, State Treasury receipts, assessed valuation and debt ratios, and analysis of
state general fund receipts and revenues. See “APPENDIX B — COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 for information regarding, among other
things, the budgetary processes, the accounting policies, the retirement systems, and the financial position
of the State. See “APPENDIX C — STATISTICAL INFORMATION” for certain information regarding
the economy and population of the State.

INVESTMENT OF STATE FUNDS

All funds within the State Treasury (which include proceeds of general obligation debt administered
by the Commission) are invested in accordance with Georgia law and the investment policy established by
the State Depository Board (the “Investment Policy”). The Investment Policy has four objectives and each
portfolio is managed in a manner that is intended to: (1) preserve principal; (2) ensure adequate liquidity;
(3) obtain a market rate of return taking cash flow requirements into consideration; and (4) diversify the
portfolio. The Investment Policy also sets forth various credit constraints and limitations, as discussed
more fully below.

Investment of General Obligation Debt Proceeds. The Commission Act provides that investment
of proceeds of general obligation debt shall be limited to: (i) general obligations of the United States or of
subsidiary corporations of the United States government fully guaranteed by such government;
(i1) obligations issued by the Federal Land Bank, Federal Home Loan Bank, Federal Intermediate Credit
Bank, Bank for Cooperatives, Federal Farm Credit Banks regulated by the Farm Credit Administration,
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, Federal National Mortgage Association; (iii) tax exempt
obligations issued by any state, county, municipal corporation, district, or political subdivision, or civil
division or public instrumentality of any such government or unit of such government; (iv) prime bankers’
acceptances; (v) units of any unit investment trusts the assets of which are exclusively invested in
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obligations of the type described above; or (vi) shares of any mutual fund the investments of which are
limited to securities of the type described in clauses (i), (ii), (iii), and (iv) above and distributions from
which are treated for federal income tax purposes in the same manner as the interest on such obligations,
provided that at the time of investment such obligations or the obligations held by any such unit investment
trust or the obligations held or to be acquired by any such mutual fund are limited to obligations which are
rated within one of the top two rating categories of any nationally recognized rating service or any rating
service recognized by the State Commissioner of Banking and Finance, and no others, or to securities
lending transactions involving securities of the type described in this paragraph. Pursuant to Article VII,
Section IV, Paragraph VII of the State Constitution, the Commission is responsible for the investment of
the proceeds of general obligation debt and, as provided by law, including the Commission Act, is required
to use the income earned on such proceeds to pay operating expenses of the Commission or to purchase
and retire State debt. See “APPENDIX A — DEBT AND REVENUE INFORMATION — DEBT
INFORMATION - Market Transactions to Retire Debt.”

Investment of Sinking Fund Monies. Article VII, Section IV, Paragraph Ill(c) of the State
Constitution and the Commission Act provide that (i) funds in the Sinking Fund be as fully invested as is
practicable, consistent with the requirements to make current principal and interest payments and (ii) any
Sinking Fund investments shall be restricted to obligations constituting direct and general obligations of
the United States government or obligations unconditionally guaranteed as to the payment of principal and
interest by the United States government, maturing no longer than 12 months from date of purchase.

Investment of State General Funds. Under Georgia law the State may invest its general fund monies
in: (i) bankers’ acceptances; (ii) commercial paper; (iii) bonds, bills, certificates of indebtedness, notes, or
other obligations of the United States and its subsidiary corporations and instrumentalities or entities
sanctioned or authorized by the United States government including, but not limited to, obligations or
securities issued or guaranteed by Banks for Cooperatives regulated by the Farm Credit Administration, the
Commodity Credit Corporation, Farm Credit Banks regulated by the Farm Credit Administration, Federal
Assets Financing Trusts, the Federal Financing Bank, Federal Home Loan Banks, the Federal Home Loan
Mortgage Corporation, the Federal National Mortgage Association, the Financial Assistance Corporation
chartered by the Farm Credit Administration, the Government National Mortgage Association, the
Import-Export Bank, Production Credit Associations regulated by the Farm Credit Administration, the
Resolution Trust Corporation, and the Tennessee Valley Authority; (iv) obligations of corporations
organized under the laws of Georgia or any other state but only if the corporation has a market capitalization
equivalent of at least $100 million; provided, however, that such obligation shall be listed as investment
grade by a nationally recognized rating agency; (v) bonds, notes, warrants, and other securities not in default
which are the direct obligations of the government of any foreign country which the International Monetary
Fund lists as an industrialized country and for which the full faith and credit of such government has been
pledged for the payment of principal and interest, provided that such securities are listed as investment
grade by a nationally recognized rating agency; or (vi) obligations issued, assumed, or guaranteed by the
International Bank for Reconstruction and Development or the International Financial Corporation,
provided that such securities are listed as investment grade by a nationally recognized rating agency and
are fully negotiable and transferable. The Depository Board may also permit the lending of any securities
of the type identified in this paragraph.

Georgia law also provides that the State may invest in the securities described above by selling and
purchasing such obligations under agreements to resell or repurchase the obligations at a date certain in the
future at a specific price which reflects a premium over the purchase or selling price equivalent to a stated
rate of interest (“Repurchase Agreements”).

Because of the credit constraints and limitations contained in the Investment Policy established by

the State Depository Board, the State currently is authorized to invest the monies on deposit in its general
fund in: direct obligations of the United States Treasury; obligations unconditionally guaranteed by
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agencies of the United States government; obligations of subsidiary corporations and instrumentalities or
entities sanctioned or authorized by the United States government; and other permitted investments subject
to certain criteria established by statute and the State Depository Board which include, among other things,
credit and diversification requirements. Such other permitted investments currently include: repurchase
agreements, certificates of deposit, commercial paper, bank deposits held for investment purposes, prime
bankers’ acceptances, obligations of the State or state agencies, obligations of other political subdivisions
of the State, obligations of corporations, obligations issued by the government of any foreign country,
obligations issued by the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development or the International
Financial Corporation, and other such limitations as determined by the State Treasurer to be necessary for
the preservation of principal, liquidity, or marketability of any of the portfolios.

Other State Treasury Investments. The Office of the State Treasurer (“OST”) manages the Local
Government Investment Pools (“LGIP”) currently comprised of three LGIP Offerings: Georgia Fund 1
(“GF1”), Georgia Fund 1Plus (“GF1+”), and Georgia Extended Asset Pool Plus (“GEAP+"). The LGIP is
administered in accordance to the LGIP Trust Policy approved by the State Depository Board. The LGIP
Trust Policy allows commingling local government monies with State operating funds and State agencies’
funds. GF1 is managed to maintain a constant net asset value (“NAV”’) of $1.00 and maintains Standard &
Poor’s ratings of AAAT for fund credit quality and S1+ for fund volatility. GFI1+ also is managed to
maintain a constant NAV of $1.00. GEAP+ offers a series of fixed income target maturity funds with
emphasis on principal preservation. OST also manages investment portfolios for the Commission, the
Georgia Department of Transportation, the Georgia Lottery for Education Reserve, the Department of
Community Health (State Health Benefit Plan), the Department of Administration Services Risk
Management Fund, the Guaranteed Revenue Debt Common Reserve, and the Revenue Shortfall Reserve.

LEGAL AND TAX STATUS
Legality for Investments

The Commission Act provides that the Bonds are securities in which all public officers and bodies
of the State and all municipalities and all municipal subdivisions, all insurance companies and associations
and other persons carrying on an insurance business, all banks, bankers, trust companies, saving banks and
savings associations, including savings and loan associations, building and loan associations, investment
companies and other persons carrying on a banking business, all administrators, guardians, executors,
trustees and other fiduciaries and all other persons whatsoever who are authorized to invest in bonds or
other obligations of the State may properly and legally invest funds, including capital, in their control or
belonging to them. The Commission Act further provides that the Bonds are securities which may be
deposited with and shall be received by all public officers and bodies of the State and all municipalities and
municipal subdivisions for any purpose for which the deposit of the Bonds or other obligations of the State
may be authorized.

Tax Consequences of Owning the Bonds

The Tax-Exempt Bonds

Federal Tax Exemption. In the opinion of Bond Counsel, based upon an analysis of existing laws,
regulations, rulings, and judicial decisions, and assuming, among other things, the accuracy of certain
representations and the continued compliance with certain covenants and tax law requirements, interest on
the Tax-Exempt Bonds is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and is not a specific preference item for
purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any other
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tax consequences related to the ownership or disposition of, or the amount, accrual or receipt of interest on,
the Bonds.

State Tax Exemption. In the opinion of Bond Counsel, interest on the Tax-Exempt Bonds is exempt
from present State of Georgia income taxation.

Maintenance of Tax Status. The Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder contain a
number of restrictions, conditions and requirements that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance of the
Tax-Exempt Bonds in order for the interest thereon to be and remain excludable from gross income for
federal income tax purposes. Failure to comply with such requirements may cause the inclusion of interest
on the Tax-Exempt Bonds in the gross income of the holders thereof for federal income tax purposes
retroactively to the date of issuance of the Tax-Exempt Bonds. The Issuer has covenanted to comply with
each such requirement of the Code that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance of the Tax-Exempt
Bonds in order that interest thereon be, or continue to be, excludable from gross income for federal income
tax purposes. The opinion of Bond Counsel is subject to the condition that the Issuer complies with all
such requirements. Bond Counsel has not been retained to monitor compliance with the described post-
issuance tax requirements subsequent to the issuance of the Tax-Exempt Bonds. Bond Counsel has not
undertaken to determine or to inform any person whether any action taken or not taken or any event
occurring or not occurring after the date of issuance of the Tax-Exempt Bonds may adversely affect the
value of, or the tax status of interest on, the Tax-Exempt Bonds.

Current and legislative proposals, if enacted into law, clarification of the Code by the Treasury
Department or the Internal Revenue Service, or future court decisions may cause interest on the Tax-
Exempt Bonds to be subject, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, to federal income taxation or
otherwise prevent owners of the Tax-Exempt Bonds from realizing the full current benefit of the tax status
of such interest. The introduction or enactment of any such legislative proposals also may affect the market
price for or marketability of the Tax-Exempt Bonds. Prospective purchasers of the Tax-Exempt Bonds are
encouraged to consult their own tax advisors regarding any pending or proposed federal legislation,
regulatory initiatives or litigation.

The opinions expressed by Bond Counsel are based upon existing law, legislation and regulations
as interpreted by relevant judicial and regulatory authorities as of the date of issuance and delivery of the
Tax-Exempt Bonds, cover certain matters not directly addressed by such authorities, and represent Bond
Counsel’s judgment as to the treatment of the Tax-Exempt Bonds for federal income tax purposes. Such
opinions are not binding on the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) or the courts. Furthermore, Bond
Counsel cannot give and has not given any opinion or assurance about the future activities of the Issuer or
about the effect of future changes in the Code, the applicable regulations, the interpretation thereof, or the
enforcement thereof by the IRS. The Issuer has covenanted, however, to comply with the requirements of
the Code.

Bond Counsel’s engagement with respect to the Tax-Exempt Bonds ends with the issuance of the
Tax-Exempt Bonds, and, unless separately engaged, Bond Counsel is not obligated to defend the Issuer or
the beneficial owners of the Tax-Exempt Bonds regarding the tax-exempt status of the Tax-Exempt Bonds
in the event of an audit examination by the IRS. Under current procedures, parties (such as the beneficial
owners) other than the Issuer and its appointed counsel would have little, if any, right to participate in the
audit examination process. Moreover, because achieving judicial review in connection with an audit
examination of tax-exempt bonds is difficult, obtaining an independent review of IRS positions with which
the Issuer legitimately disagrees may not be practicable. Any action of the IRS, including but not limited
to selection of the Tax-Exempt Bonds for audit, or the course or result of such audit, or an audit of bonds
presenting similar tax issues may affect the market price for, or the marketability of, the Tax-Exempt Bonds,
and may cause the Issuer or the beneficial owners of the Tax-Exempt Bonds to incur significant expense.
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As to certain questions of fact material to the opinion of Bond Counsel, Bond Counsel has relied
upon representations and covenants made on behalf of the Issuer and certificates of appropriate officers and
public officials (including certifications as to the use of proceeds of the Tax-Exempt Bonds and of the
property financed or refinanced thereby).

Reference is made to the proposed forms of opinions of Bond Counsel relating to the Tax-Exempt
Bonds attached hereto in APPENDIX E and APPENDIX G for the complete texts thereof. See also
“LEGAL MATTERS” herein.

Premium Bonds. Tax-Exempt Bonds purchased, whether at original issuance or otherwise, for an
amount higher than their principal amount payable at maturity (or, in some cases, at their earlier call date)
(the “Tax-Exempt Premium Bonds”) will be treated as having amortizable bond premium. No deduction
is allowable for the amortizable bond premium in the case of bonds, like the Tax-Exempt Premium Bonds,
the interest on which is excludable from gross income. However, the purchaser’s basis in a Tax-Exempt
Premium Bond will be reduced by the amount of the amortizable bond premium properly allocable to such
purchase during each year. Proceeds received from the sale, exchange, redemption, or payment of a Tax-
Exempt Premium Bond in excess of the owner’s adjusted basis (as reduced pursuant to § 1016(a)(5) of the
Code) will be treated as a gain from the sale or exchange of such Tax-Exempt Premium Bond and not as
interest.

The federal income tax treatment of bond premium under the Code, including the determination of
the amount of amortizable bond premium that is allocable to each year, is complicated and holders of Tax-
Exempt Premium Bonds should consult an independent tax advisor in order to determine the federal income
tax consequences to such holders of purchasing, holding, selling, or surrendering a Tax-Exempt Premium
Bond at its maturity.

Other Tax Consequences. Prospective purchasers of the Tax-Exempt Bonds should be aware that
ownership of the Tax-Exempt Bonds may result in collateral federal income tax consequences to certain
taxpayers depending upon their status and income. Prospective purchasers of the Tax-Exempt Bonds
should consult independent advisors as to the consequences of owning the Tax-Exempt Bonds, including
the effect of such ownership under applicable state and local laws and any collateral federal income tax and
state tax consequences.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding. Interest paid on the Tax-Exempt Bonds is subject
to information reporting to the Internal Revenue Service in a manner similar to interest paid on taxable
obligations. This reporting requirement does not affect the excludability of interest on the Tax-Exempt
Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes, however, in conjunction with that information
reporting requirement, the Code subjects certain non-corporate owners of Tax-Exempt Bonds, under certain
circumstances, to “backup withholding” at the fourth lowest rate applicable to unmarried individuals with
respect to payments on the Tax-Exempt Bonds and proceeds from the sale of the Tax-Exempt Bonds. Any
amounts so withheld would be refunded or allowed as a credit against the federal income tax of such owner
of Tax-Exempt Bonds. This backup withholding generally applies if the owner of Tax-Exempt Bonds (i)
fails to furnish the paying agent (or other person who otherwise would be required to withhold tax from
such interest payments) such owner’s social security number or other taxpayer identification number
(“TIN™), (ii) furnishes the paying agent an incorrect TIN, (iii) fails to properly report interest, dividends, or
other “reportable payments” as defined in the Code, or (iv) under certain circumstances fails to provide the
paying agent or such owner’s securities broker with a certified statement, signed under penalty of perjury,
that the TIN provided is correct and that such owner is not subject to backup withholding. Prospective
purchasers of the Tax-Exempt Bonds also may wish to consult with independent tax advisors with respect
to the need to furnish certain taxpayer information in order to avoid backup withholding and the procedures
for obtaining exemptions from backup withholding.
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Disposition of the Tax-Exempt Bonds. Unless a non-recognition provision of the Code applies, the
sale, exchange, redemption, retirement, reissuance or other disposition of a Tax-Exempt Bond may result
in a taxable event for federal income tax purposes.

The Taxable Bonds

The following general discussion sets forth certain of the anticipated federal income tax
consequences from the purchase, ownership, or disposition of the Taxable Bonds. This summary and the
opinions referred to below are based upon the Code, including regulations, rulings, and decisions now in
effect, all of which are subject to change. The discussion below does not purport to address all aspects of
federal taxation that may be relevant to particular investors in light of their individual circumstances, or to
certain types of investors subject to special treatment under the federal income tax laws. Moreover there
can be no assurance that contrary positions to those positions expressed below will not be taken by the
Internal Revenue Service.

A prospective purchaser of the Taxable Bonds or other taxpayer should seek advice from an
independent tax advisor which is based on the taxpayer’s particular circumstances. Prospective purchasers
are advised to consult their own tax advisors regarding both the federal income tax consequences from the
purchase, ownership, or disposition of the Taxable Bonds and any tax consequences arising under the laws
of any state or other taxing jurisdiction.

Federal Income Taxation. Interest earned on the Taxable Bonds is not excludable from gross
income of the holders of the Taxable Bonds for federal income tax purposes.

State Income Tax Exemption. In the opinion of Bond Counsel, interest on the Taxable Bonds is
exempt from present State of Georgia income taxation.

Reference is made to the proposed form of opinion of Bond Counsel relating to the Taxable Bonds
attached hereto as APPENDIX F for the complete text thereof.

Original Issue Premium. Certain Taxable Bonds have been sold to the public at an original issue
premium (collectively, the “Taxable Premium Bonds™). Section 171 of the Code provides rules under
which a premium paid for a Taxable Premium Bond may be amortized. Those rules permit the interest paid
on a Taxable Premium Bond that would otherwise be included in the bondholder’s gross income for federal
income tax purposes to be reduced by the amount of the amortizable bond premium for the taxable year.
Each holder of a Taxable Premium Bond may elect whether to amortize the original issue premium paid by
it for federal income tax purposes. An election to amortize the original issue premium shall apply to all
Taxable Premium Bonds held by the bondholder at the beginning of the first taxable year to which the
election applies or thereafter acquired by the bondholder and would be irrevocable without the consent of
the Internal Revenue Service. If an election to amortize the original issue premium is made, § 1016(a)(5)
of the Code generally requires a reduction of the bondholder’s basis in a Taxable Premium Bond held by it
by the amount of the amortizable bond premium applied to reduce the interest income received on such
Taxable Premium Bond. Proceeds received from the sale, exchange, redemption, or payment of a Taxable
Premium Bond in excess of the bondholder’s adjusted basis (as reduced pursuant to § 1016(a)(5) of the
Code) will be treated as a gain from the sale or exchange of such Taxable Premium Bond and not as interest.

The federal income tax treatment of original issue premium under the Code, including the
determination of the amount of amortizable bond premium that is allocable to each year, is complicated and
holders of Taxable Premium Bonds should consult their own tax advisors in order to determine the federal
income tax consequences to such holders of purchasing, holding, selling, or surrendering Taxable Premium
Bonds at their maturity.
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Tax Treatment of Foreign Investors. Under §§ 871 and 881 of the Code, interest income with
respect to the Taxable Bonds held by non-resident alien individuals, foreign corporations, or other
non-United States persons (“Non-Residents”) may be subject to a thirty percent (30%) United States
withholding tax unless that tax is reduced or eliminated pursuant to an applicable tax treaty. That
withholding tax generally will not be imposed if the paying agent (or other person who would otherwise be
required to withhold tax from such payments) is provided with an appropriate statement identifying the
beneficial owner of the Taxable Bonds and stating, among other things, that the beneficial owner is a Non-
Resident. The withholding tax also will not apply if interest on the Taxable Bonds is effectively connected
with a United States business conducted by the Non-Resident. Foreign investors should consult an
independent tax advisor regarding potential imposition of the thirty percent (30%) withholding tax.

Backup Withholding. The Code subjects certain non-corporate owners of Taxable Bonds, under
certain circumstances, to “backup withholding” at the fourth lowest rate applicable to unmarried individuals
with respect to interest payments on the Taxable Bonds and proceeds from the sale of Taxable Bonds. Any
amounts so withheld would be refunded or allowed as a credit against the federal income tax of such owner
of Taxable Bonds. This withholding generally applies if the owner of Taxable Bonds (i) fails to furnish the
paying agent (or other person who would otherwise be required to withhold tax from such payments) such
owner’s social security number or other TIN, (ii) furnishes the paying agent an incorrect TIN, (iii) fails to
properly report interest, dividends, or other “reportable payments™ as defined in the Code, or (iv) under
certain circumstances fails to provide the paying agent or such owner’s securities broker with a certified
statement, signed under penalty of perjury, that the TIN provided is correct and that such owner is not
subject to backup withholding. Prospective purchasers of the Taxable Bonds also may wish to consult with
their tax advisors with respect to the need to furnish certain taxpayer information in order to avoid backup
withholding and the procedures for obtaining exemptions from backup withholding.

Disposition of the Taxable Bonds. Unless a non-recognition provision of the Code applies, the sale,
exchange, redemption, retirement, reissuance or other disposition of a Taxable Bond may result in a taxable
event for federal income tax purposes.

Defeasance. Defeasance of any Taxable Bond may result in a deemed reissuance thereof for federal
income tax purposes, which may be a taxable event for federal income tax purposes.

VALIDATION

As required by and in accordance with the procedure of the Commission Act, prior to delivery, the
Bonds must and will be validated by order of the Superior Court of Fulton County prior to their issuance.
Under the laws of the State of Georgia, the judgment of validation is final and conclusive with respect to
the Bonds and the security therefor.

RATINGS

Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s), S&P Global Ratings (“S&P”), a division of Standard
& Poor’s Financial Services LLC, and Fitch Ratings (“Fitch”) have assigned the Bonds ratings of “Aaa”,
“AAA” and “AAA,” respectively. The ratings reflect only the view of the respective rating agency. Any
desired explanation of the significance of such ratings should be obtained from the rating agency furnishing
it. Generally, rating agencies base their ratings on information and materials furnished to the agencies and
on investigations, studies, and assumptions by the rating agencies. There is no assurance that any rating
will remain in effect for a given period of time or that any rating will not be lowered or withdrawn entirely
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if, in the judgment of the agency originally establishing the rating, circumstances so warrant. Any such
change or withdrawal of a rating could have an adverse effect on the market price of the Bonds. Except as
described under “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” herein, neither the Commission nor the Underwriters
have undertaken any responsibility either to bring to the attention of the holders of the Bonds any proposed
revision, suspension or withdrawal of a rating or to oppose any such revision, suspension or withdrawal.

SALE AT COMPETITIVE BIDDING - UNDERWRITING

The 2019A Bonds, 2019B Bonds, and 2019C Bonds were awarded pursuant to electronic
competitive bidding on June 19, 2019 and Commission action on June 20, 2019. The 2019A Bonds
maturing on each July 1 from July 1, 2020 to July 1, 2029, inclusive (the “2019A Tranche 1 Bonds™), were
awarded to Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC (the “2019A Tranche 1 Underwriter”) at an aggregate discount of
$142,705.89 from the initial public offering prices derived from the yields set forth on the inside cover page
of this Official Statement. The 2019A Tranche 1 Underwriter has supplied the information as to the initial
yields on the 2019A Tranche 1 Bonds as set forth on the inside cover of this Official Statement. The 2019A
Bonds maturing on each July 1 from July 1, 2030 to July 1, 2039, inclusive (the “2019A Tranche 2 Bonds”),
were awarded to Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (the “2019A Tranche 2 Underwriter”) at an aggregate discount
of $737,863.00 from the initial public offering prices derived from the yields set forth on the inside cover
page of this Official Statement. The 2019A Tranche 2 Underwriter has supplied the information as to the
initial yields on the 2019A Tranche 2 Bonds as set forth on the inside cover of this Official Statement. The
2019B Bonds maturing on each July 1 from July 1, 2020 to July 1, 2029, inclusive (the “2019B Tranche 1
Bonds”), were awarded to J.P. Morgan Securities LLC (the “2019B Tranche 1 Underwriter”) at an
aggregate discount of $13,748.00 from the initial public offering prices derived from the yields set forth on
the inside cover page of this Official Statement. The 2019B Tranche 1 Underwriter has supplied the
information as to the initial yields on the 2019B Tranche 1 Bonds as set forth on the inside cover of this
Official Statement. The 2019B Bonds maturing on each July 1 from July 1, 2030 to July 1, 2039, inclusive
(the “2019B Tranche 2 Bonds”), were awarded to Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (the “2019B Tranche 2
Underwriter”) at an aggregate discount of $954,479.62 from the initial public offering prices derived from
the yields set forth on the inside cover page of this Official Statement. The 2019B Tranche 2 Underwriter
has supplied the information as to the initial yields on the 2019B Tranche 2 Bonds as set forth on the inside
cover of this Official Statement. The 2019C Bonds maturing on July 1, 2020 and July 1, 2022 (the “2019C
Bonds”), were awarded to Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC (the “2019C Underwriter”) at an aggregate discount
of $5,487.93 from the initial public offering prices derived from the yields set forth on the inside cover page
of this Official Statement. The 2019C Underwriter has supplied the information as to the initial yields on
the 2019C Bonds as set forth on the inside cover of this Official Statement. All other information as to the
nature and terms and any reoffering of the 2019A Bonds, 2018B Bonds, and 2019C Bonds should be
obtained from the respective Underwriters, as applicable, and not from the State.

VERIFICATION OF MATHEMATICAL COMPUTATIONS -2019C BONDS

The accuracy of, among other things, the mathematical computations of the adequacy of the funds
to be held in the 2019C Refunding Escrow Fund under the terms of the 2019C Refunding Escrow
Agreement to pay when due the principal of, interest on, and redemption price of the 2019C Refunded
Bonds will be verified by Samuel Klein and Company, Certified Public Accounts, a provider of
mathematical verification and arbitrage rebate services. Such verification shall be based upon certain
information supplied by the Commission. See “PURPOSE OF THE 2019C BONDS — PLAN OF
REFUNDING” and “LEGAL AND TAX STATUS — Tax Consequences of Owning the Bonds” herein.
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LEGAL MATTERS

Legal matters incident to the validity of the Bonds are subject to the approving opinions of Gray
Pannell & Woodward LLP, Savannah and Atlanta, Georgia, Bond Counsel. Bond Counsel has not been
engaged to express any opinion with respect to the accuracy, completeness, or sufficiency of any offering
documents used in connection with the offering or sale of the Bonds. A copy of the proposed text of the
opinion of Bond Counsel for the 2019A Bonds, the 2019B Bonds, and the 2019C Bonds, respectively, are
set forth in APPENDIX E, APPENDIX F, and APPENDIX G. A signed copy of such opinions for the
Bonds dated and speaking only as of the date of original delivery of the Bonds will be available at the time
of original delivery of the Bonds. See “LEGAL AND TAX STATUS” herein. Certain legal matters will
be passed on for the State by its Disclosure Counsel, Kutak Rock LLP, Atlanta, Georgia.

ABSENCE OF CERTAIN LITIGATION

The Commission and the State, like other similar entities, are each subject to a variety of suits and
proceedings arising in the ordinary conduct of its affairs. The Commission, after reviewing the current
status of all pending and threatened litigation with its counsel, the Department of Law of the State, believes
that, while the outcome of litigation cannot be predicted, the final settlement of all lawsuits that have been
filed and of any actions or claims pending or threatened against the Commission or its officials in such
capacity are adequately covered by insurance or self-insurance reserves maintained by the Commission or
will not have a material adverse effect upon the financial position or results of operations of the
Commission. The Commission, on behalf of the State, after reviewing the current status of all pending and
threatened litigation with the State’s counsel, the Department of Law of the State, believes that, while the
outcome of litigation cannot be predicted, the final settlement of all lawsuits that have been filed and of any
actions or claims pending or threatened against the State or its officials in such capacity are adequately
covered by insurance or self-insurance reserves maintained by the State or will not have a material adverse
effect upon the financial position or results of operations of the State. See “APPENDIX A — DEBT AND
REVENUE INFORMATION — SIGNIFICANT CONTINGENT LIABILITIES” and “APPENDIX B -
COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 — Notes
to the Financial Statements — Note 20: Litigation, Contingencies and Commitments.”

There is no controversy or litigation pending, or to the knowledge of the Commission threatened,
seeking to restrain or enjoin the issuance, sale, execution or delivery of the Bonds or the pledge by the State
of the full faith, credit and taxing power of the State to the payment of the Bonds, or the organization or
powers of the Commission, including the power to issue general obligation debt on behalf of the State and
to pledge the full faith, credit and taxing power of the State to the payment thereof. The State is a party to
certain litigation from time to time, which the Commission believes will not have a material adverse effect
upon the ability of the Commission, on behalf of the State, to issue, sell, execute and deliver the Bonds and
pledge the full faith, credit and taxing power of the State to the payment thereof.

CERTIFICATION AS TO OFFICIAL STATEMENT

At the time of payment for and delivery of the Bonds, the Chairman and Secretary of the
Commission will furnish a certificate to the effect that, to the best of their knowledge, the Final Official
Statement does not, as of the Date of Delivery of the Bonds, contain any untrue statement of a material fact
or omit to state a material fact which should be included therein for the purpose for which the Final Official
Statement is to be used or which is necessary in order to make the statements contained therein, in light of
the circumstances in which they were made, not misleading.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Comprehensive Financial Statements of the State (the “State CAFR”) as of and for the Fiscal
Year ended June 30, 2018, included as APPENDIX B, were prepared by the State Accounting Office and
audited by the Department of Audits and Accounts. According to the Independent Auditor’s Report, the
financial statements of each major fund, aggregated remaining funds, aggregated discretely presented
component units, business-type activities, and governmental activities are fairly presented in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

The State has covenanted for the benefit of the owners of the Bonds to provide certain financial
information and operating data relating to the State (the “Annual Report”) by not later than twelve (12)
months after the end of each fiscal year, commencing with the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, and to
provide notice of the occurrence of certain events (the “Listed Events™). The Annual Report and any notices
of Listed Events will be filed by the State with the centralized information repository developed and
operated by the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (the “MSRB”) through the Electronic Municipal
Market Access (“EMMA”) System in an electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB and with any similar
repositories established by the State (if any). The specific nature of the information to be contained in the
Annual Report and a description of the Listed Events is provided in “APPENDIX D — CONTINUING
DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT.” These covenants have been made in order to assist the Underwriters in
complying with Rule 15¢2-12.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

Any statements made in this Official Statement, including in the Appendices, involving estimates
or matters of opinion, whether or not so expressly stated, are set forth as such and not as representations of
fact, and no representation is made that any of the estimates or matters of opinion will be realized.

The statements contained in this Official Statement, including in the Appendices, that are not purely
historical, are forward looking statements. Readers should not place undue reliance on forward looking
statements. All forward looking statements included in this Official Statement are based on information
available on the date hereof and the State does not assume any obligation to update any such forward
looking statements. It is important to note that the actual results could differ materially from those in such
forward looking statements. The forward looking statements herein are necessarily based on various
assumptions and estimates and are inherently subject to various risks and uncertainties, including risks and
uncertainties relating to the possible invalidity of the underlying assumptions and estimates and possible
changes or developments in social, economic, business, industry, market, legal and regulatory
circumstances and conditions and actions taken or omitted to be taken by third parties, including customers,
suppliers, business partners and competitors, and legislative, judicial and other governmental authorities
and officials. Assumptions related to the foregoing involve judgments with respect to, among other things,
future economic, competitive, and market conditions and future business decisions, all of which are difficult
or impossible to predict accurately and many of which are beyond the control of the State. Any of such
assumptions could be inaccurate and, therefore, there can be no assurance that the forward looking
statements included in this Official Statement, including in the appendices, would prove to be accurate.
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MISCELLANEOUS

The references herein to the Bonds and the Resolutions are brief outlines of certain provisions
thereof. Such outlines do not purport to be complete. For full and complete statements of such provisions,
reference is made to the Bonds and the Resolutions. A copy of each Resolution is on file in the offices of
the Commission and following the delivery of the Bonds will be on file at the designated corporate trust
office of the Paying Agent.

The agreement of the Commission with the holders of the Bonds is fully set forth in the Bonds and
the Resolutions, and neither any advertisement of the Bonds nor this Official Statement is to be construed
as constituting an agreement by the Commission with the purchasers of the Bonds.

The attached Appendices are integral parts of this Official Statement and should be read together
with all of the foregoing statements. All estimates and other statements in this Official Statement, including
the Appendices attached hereto, involving matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so stated, are
intended as such and not as representations of fact.

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.)
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The execution and distribution of this Official Statement has been approved in connection with
the public offering of the Bonds.

/s/ Greg S. Griffin
Secretary and Treasurer
Georgia State Financing and Investment Commission
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This APPENDIX A to the Official Statement sets forth certain information with respect to the
constitutional and statutory limitations with respect to indebtedness incurred by the State and its various
institutions, departments and agencies and certain selected budgetary and financial data.

DEBT INFORMATION
Appropriations and Debt Limitations
Article 111, Section IX, Paragraph IV(b) of the State Constitution provides in relevant part:

The General Assembly shall not appropriate funds for any given fiscal year
which, in aggregate, exceed a sum equal to the amount of unappropriated surplus
expected to have accrued in the state treasury at the beginning of the fiscal year
together with an amount not greater than the total treasury receipts from existing
revenue sources anticipated to be collected in the fiscal year, less refunds, as
estimated in the budget report and amendments thereto.

Article 111, Section IX, Paragraph V of the State Constitution provides in relevant part:

In addition to the appropriations made by the general appropriations Act
and amendments thereto, the General Assembly may make additional
appropriations by Acts, which shall be known as supplementary appropriation
Acts, provided no such supplementary appropriation shall be available unless there
is an unappropriated surplus in the state treasury or the revenue necessary to pay
such appropriation shall have been provided by a tax laid for such purpose and
collected into the general fund of the state treasury.

Article VII, Section IV, Paragraph I1I(a)(1) of the State Constitution provides in relevant part:

All such appropriations for debt service purposes shall not lapse for any
reason and shall continue in effect until the debt for which such appropriation was
authorized shall have been incurred, but the General Assembly may repeal any
such appropriation at any time prior to the incurring of such debt.

Article VII, Section IV, Paragraph I of the State Constitution provides that the State may incur two
types of debt: (i) general obligation debt and (ii) guaranteed revenue debt. Pursuant to subparagraphs
(¢), (d), and (e) of Paragraph I, general obligation debt may be incurred to: acquire, construct, develop,
extend, enlarge, or improve land, waters, property, highways, buildings, structures, equipment, or facilities
of the State, its agencies, departments, institutions and certain State authorities; to provide educational
facilities for county and independent school systems and to provide public library facilities for county and
independent school systems, counties, municipalities, and boards of trustees of public libraries or boards of
trustees of public library systems; and to make loans to counties, municipal corporations, political
subdivisions, local authorities, and other local government entities for water or sewerage facilities or
systems or for regional or multijurisdictional solid waste recycling or solid waste facilities or systems.
Pursuant to subparagraph (f) of Paragraph I, guaranteed revenue debt may be incurred by guaranteeing the
payment of certain revenue obligations issued by an instrumentality of the State as set forth in the State
Constitution to finance certain specified public projects.
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Article VII, Section IV, Paragraph II (b) — (e) of the State Constitution provides that:

(b) No debt may be incurred under subparagraphs (c), (d), and (e) of
Paragraph I of this section or Paragraph V of this section at any time when the
highest aggregate annual debt service requirements for the then current year or any
subsequent year for outstanding general obligation debt and guaranteed revenue
debt, including the proposed debt, and the highest aggregate annual payments for
the then current year or any subsequent fiscal year of the state under all contracts
then in force to which the provisions of the second paragraph of Article IX, Section
VI, Paragraph I(a) of the Constitution of 1976 are applicable, exceed 10 percent of
the total revenue receipts, less refunds of the state treasury in the fiscal year
immediately preceding the year in which any such debt is to be incurred.

(©) No debt may be incurred under subparagraphs (c) and (d) of
Paragraph I of this section at any time when the term of the debt is in excess of 25
years.

(d) No guaranteed revenue debt may be incurred to finance water or
sewage treatment facilities or systems when the highest aggregate annual debt
service requirements for the then current year or any subsequent fiscal year of the
state for outstanding or proposed guaranteed revenue debt for water facilities or
systems or sewage facilities or systems exceed 1 percent of the total revenue
receipts less refunds, of the state treasury in the fiscal year immediately preceding
the year in which any such debt is to be incurred.

(e) The aggregate amount of guaranteed revenue debt incurred to
make loans for educational purposes that may be outstanding at any time shall not
exceed $18 million, and the aggregate amount of guaranteed revenue debt incurred
to purchase, or to lend or deposit against the security of, loans for educational
purposes that may be outstanding at any time shall not exceed $72 million.

In addition, Article VII, Section IV, Paragraph IV of the State Constitution provides:

The state, and all state institutions, departments and agencies of the state
are prohibited from entering into any contract, except contracts pertaining to
guaranteed revenue debt, with any public agency, public corporation, authority, or
similar entity if such contract is intended to constitute security for bonds or other
obligations issued by any such public agency, public corporation, or authority and,
in the event any contract between the state, or any state institution, department or
agency of the state and any public agency, public corporation, authority or similar
entity, or any revenues from any such contract, is pledged or assigned as security
for the repayment of bonds or other obligations, then and in either such event, the
appropriation or expenditure of any funds of the state for the payment of
obligations under any such contract shall likewise be prohibited.

Article VII, Section IV, Paragraph I (b) of the State Constitution provides that the State may incur:
“Public debt to supply a temporary deficit in the state treasury in any fiscal year created by a delay in
collecting the taxes of that year. Such debt shall not exceed, in the aggregate, 5 percent of the total revenue
receipts, less refunds, of the state treasury in the fiscal year immediately preceding the year in which such
debt is incurred. The debt incurred shall be repaid on or before the last day of the fiscal year in which it is
incurred out of taxes levied for that fiscal year. No such debt may be incurred in any fiscal year under the
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provisions of this subparagraph (b) if there is then outstanding unpaid debt from any previous fiscal year
which was incurred to supply a temporary deficit in the state treasury.” Pursuant to O.C.G.A. §
50-17-24(b)(2), the amount of aggregate borrowing under this constitutional authorization currently is
statutorily restricted to “1 percent of the total revenue receipts, less refunds, of the state treasury in the fiscal
year immediately preceding the year in which such debt is incurred.” No such debt has been incurred under
this provision since its inception.

See “SECURITY FOR THE BONDS” and “APPENDIX B — COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018” herein.

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.)
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Authorized Indebtedness

The following table sets forth the aggregate net principal amount of general obligation debt and
guaranteed revenue debt authorized by the General Assembly of the State to be issued during the fiscal
years ended June 30, 1975, through June 30, 2020. (Note, throughout this Official Statement a State fiscal
year beginning on July 1 in one calendar year and on ending on June 30 of the subsequent calendar year
(both historical and forward looking) may be referred to, for example, as FY 2020 for the State fiscal year
beginning on July 1, 2019 and ending on June 30, 2020, and therefore the table below encompasses the
period of FY 1975 through FY 2020.) The amounts of such general obligation debt and guaranteed revenue
debt actually funded (including the Bonds) and the remaining amounts authorized but unissued as of the
date of issuance of the Bonds have been aggregated for presentation in the third and fourth columns of this
table and labeled “Total State Debt Funded (Including the Bonds)” and “Unissued Authorized
Indebtedness.” The amounts reflected in the column labeled “Total State Debt Funded (Including the
Bonds)” reflect the amount of authorized general obligation debt and guaranteed revenue debt funded
through the issuance of bonds, a portion of which has been funded with initial issue premium upon the
issuance of the bonds.

Total State

General Guaranteed Debt Funded Unissued
Obligation Debt Revenue Debt (Including the Authorized
Purpose Authorized Authorized Bonds) Indebtedness
K-12 School Construction $7,359,845,000 $7,022,590,000 $337,255,000
University Facilities 6,565,618,000 6,565,618,000
Transportation 5,045,880,000 $755,245,000 5,801,125,000
Technical College System 2,192,907,000 2,192,907,000
Department of Corrections 1,137,980,000 1,137,980,000
Environmental Finance Authority 828,600,000 97,470,000 926,070,000
Port Facilities 898,815,000 898,815,000
Department of Natural Resources 865,205,000 865,205,000
World Congress Center 822,200,000 822,200,000
Building Authority 696,815,000 696,815,000
Human Services Facilities 457,485,000 457,485,000
Department of Juvenile Justice 443,575,000 443,575,000
Secretary of State 205,050,000 205,050,000
Economic Development 190,090,000 190,090,000
Bureau of Investigations 178,645,000 178,645,000
Public Safety 177,245,000 177,245,000
Public Libraries 163,755,000 163,755,000
Department of Revenue 128,475,000 128,475,000
Department of Agriculture 105,550,000 105,550,000
Jekyll Island-State Park Authority 99,065,000 99,065,000
Department of Community Affairs 81,740,000 81,740,000
Department of Defense 68,385,000 68,385,000
Stone Mountain Memorial Association 66,900,000 66,900,000
Forestry Commission 63,765,000 63,765,000
Department of Administrative Services 59,605,000 59,605,000
Department of Labor 56,850,000 56,850,000
Soil and Water Conservation Commission 43,540,000 43,540,000
Agricultural Exposition 36,970,000 36,970,000
Department of Veterans Service 24,390,000 24,390,000
All Other 87.875,000 87.875,000
Total $29,152,820,000 $852,715,000 $29,668,280,000 $337,255,000

Source: Georgia State Financing and Investment Commission
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Outstanding Debt

The following table sets forth the projected outstanding principal amount of indebtedness of the
State upon issuance of the Bonds. Subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds, there will be $337,255,000 of
unissued authorized general obligation debt remaining to be issued. There is no unissued authorized
guaranteed revenue debt to be issued.

General Guaranteed Total

Description Obligation Revenue Outstanding
Total debt outstanding as of June 30, 2019 $9,388,795,000 $158,470,000 $ 9,547,265,000
Less debt scheduled to be retired on July 1, 2019 -405,545.000 0 -405.545.000
Subtotal debt outstanding prior to the Bonds 8,983,250,000 158,470,000 9,141,720,000
Plus the Bonds 950,595,000 0 950,595,000
Less debt refunded by the 2019C Bonds -38.400,000 0 -38.400,000
Projected total debt outstanding upon issuance of the

Bonds $9,895,445,000 $158,470,000 $10,053,915,000

Source: Georgia State Financing and Investment Commission

In November 2010, Georgia voters approved an amendment to the State Constitution which
provided that “The General Assembly may by general law authorize state governmental entities to incur
debt for the purpose of entering into multiyear contracts for governmental energy efficiency or conservation
improvement projects in which payments are guaranteed over the term of the contract by vendors based on
the realization of specified savings or revenue gains attributable solely to the improvements....”
(Ga. L. 2010, Volume One, Book One, p. 1264, 2010 Regular Session, S.R. 1231) Consequent to the
ratification of said amendment to the State Constitution, S.B. 194, passed by the General Assembly during
its 2010 session and signed by the Governor on June 4, 2010, became effective January 1, 2011 (Ga. L.
2010, Volume One, Book One, commencing at p. 1091, Act No. 669, 2010 Regular Session, S.B. 194).
S.B. 194 amended Title 50 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated by adding Chapter 37, which is
codified as O.C.G.A. § 50-37-1 through O.C.G.A. § 50-37-8 (the “Guaranteed Energy Savings Performance
Act (“GESP Act”)). The GESP Act, among other things, authorizes State governmental units to enter into
such guaranteed energy savings performance contracts (“EPC” or “EPCs”) for terms not to exceed twenty
years. O.C.G.A. § 50-37-7(3) authorizes the Commission to establish a total multiyear guaranteed energy
savings performance contract value and provided that any EPC entered into by a state entity that was not in
compliance with the total contract value set by the Commission shall be void and of no effect. Through
May 31, 2019, approximately $73.5 million of Commission approved EPC contract value authority has
been utilized; another $6.5 million is expected to be utilized prior to the end of FY 2019. At its June 20,
2019 meeting the Commission approved the Georgia Environmental Finance Authority’s request for $8.2
million of EPC contract value authority previously approved for FY 2019 be extended into FY 2020. Per
the Commission’s adopted fiscal guideline policies for EPCs and multiyear rental agreements, the
Commission generally will limit the total contract value authority to an amount that will not cause the ratio
for debt service to prior year receipts in the Commission’s debt management model to increase by more
than one-half percent (0.50%), or exceed the established debt management planning target, when including
all existing and anticipated multiyear obligations. EPCs are not general obligation debt or guaranteed
revenue debt of the State and therefore are not subject to the ten percent (10%) debt limit described under
“DEBT INFORMATION - Appropriations and Debt Limitations” herein.

In November 2012, Georgia voters approved an amendment to the State Constitution to authorize
the General Assembly to allow certain State agencies to enter into multiyear rental agreements, without
obligating present funds for the full amount of obligation the State may bear under the full term of such
agreements. Consequent to the ratification of said amendment to the State Constitution, S.B. 37, passed by
the General Assembly during its 2012 session and signed by the Governor on May 2, 2012, became effective
January 1, 2013 (Ga. L. 2012, Volume One, Book Two, commencing at p. 989, Act No. 717, 2012 Regular
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Session, S.B. 37). As amended by S.B. 37, O.C.G.A. § 50-16-41(c) authorizes the State Properties
Commission (the “SPC”) to enter into multiyear lease agreements for administrative space on behalf of
state agencies for terms not to exceed twenty years. Pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 50-16-41(1) the Commission
established fiscal policies regarding multiyear lease and rental agreements and, each year, the Commission
establishes total multiyear contract value authority for use by SPC and the Board of Regents (“BOR”).
Through May 31, 2019, the SPC has entered into 66 leases utilizing approximately $449 million of
Commission approved multiyear rental agreement contract value authority. At its June 20, 2019 meeting,
the Commission approved the SPC’s request for an additional $75 million of multiyear rental agreement
contract value authority for FY 2019 and also $200 million for new multiyear rental agreement contract
value authority for FY 2020. Through May 31, 2019, the BOR had entered into four (4) leases utilizing
approximately $125.2 million of Commission approved multiyear rental agreement contract value
authority. At its June 20, 2019 meeting the Commission approved the BOR’s request for new multiyear
rental agreement contract value authority for FY 2020 in the amount of $25 million. Such multiyear rental
agreements are not subject to the ten percent (10%) debt limitation described under “DEBT
INFORMATION - Appropriations and Debt Limitations” herein.

In addition to the above, the State periodically acquires certain property and equipment through
multiyear lease, purchase, or lease purchase contracts that are considered for accounting purposes to be
capital lease or installment purchase obligations. The State also periodically leases land, office facilities,
office and computer equipment, and other assets pursuant to leases that are considered for accounting
purposes to be operating leases. For information regarding outstanding capital and operating leases entered
into by the State, reference is made to Note 11 — “Leases” in the State CAFR for FY 2018, included herein
as APPENDIX B.

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.)
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Outstanding Debt Service

Principal and interest debt service payments are made in various months throughout the year;
amounts shown in the following schedule are the maximum aggregate scheduled sinking fund payments by
fiscal year for all issued and outstanding general obligation bonds and guaranteed revenue bonds as of June
30, 2019, excluding the Bonds.

General Obligation Bonds Guaranteed Revenue Bonds Total Bonds

Fiscal Total

Year Principal Interest Principal Interest Total Principal Total Interest Debt Service
2020 $ 852,750,000  $ 390,020,387 | $46,335,000 $7,436,250 | $ 899,085,000 $ 397,456,637 $ 1,296,541,637
2021 822,675,000 352,116,676 48,675,000 5,094,500 871,350,000 357,211,176 1,228,561,176
2022 751,620,000 315,793,352 21,545,000 2,634,375 773,165,000 318,427,727 1,091,592,727
2023 707,965,000 283,495,404 22,650,000 1,529,500 730,615,000 285,024,904 1,015,639,904
2024 686,955,000 252,908,694 19,265,000 481,625 706,220,000 253,390,319 959,610,319
2025 624,410,000 224,423,142 - - 624,410,000 224,423,142 848,833,142
2026 605,535,000 196,647,119 - - 605,535,000 196,647,119 802,182,119
2027 620,370,000 170,670,225 - - 620,370,000 170,670,225 791,040,225
2028 561,350,000 144,729,377 - - 561,350,000 144,729,377 706,079,377
2029 536,285,000 120,295,210 - - 536,285,000 120,295,210 656,580,210
2030 455,005,000 98,186,799 - - 455,005,000 98,186,799 553,191,799
2031 420,220,000 79,725,695 - - 420,220,000 79,725,695 499,945,695
2032 405,695,000 62,649,293 - - 405,695,000 62,649,293 468,344,293
2033 370,480,000 46,914,856 - - 370,480,000 46,914,856 417,394,856
2034 282,885,000 33,286,045 - - 282,885,000 33,286,045 316,171,045
2035 230,350,000 23,436,081 - - 230,350,000 23,436,081 253,786,081
2036 180,275,000 14,974,077 - - 180,275,000 14,974,077 195,249,077
2037 133,025,000 8,367,085 - - 133,025,000 8,367,085 141,392,085
2038 69,220,000 3,810,235 - - 69,220,000 3,810,235 73,030,235
2039 71,725,000 1,307,513 - - 71,725,000 1,307,513 73,032,513
Total $9,388,795,000  $2,823,757,265 | $158,470,000 $17,176,250 | $9,547,265,000  $2,840,933,515  $12,388,198,515

Note: Total Interest and Total Debt Service amounts may not add precisely due to rounding.
Source: Georgia State Financing and Investment Commission

Rate of Debt Retirement

Shown below are the rates of scheduled debt retirement on all outstanding general obligation bonds
and guaranteed revenue bonds of the State as of June 30, 2019, but not including the Bonds.

Principal Amount Due Amount % of Total
In 5 Years (60 Months) $3,980,435,000 41.7%
In 10 Years (120 Months) $6,928,385,000 72.6%

Source: Georgia State Financing and Investment Commission
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Market Transactions to Retire Debt

From time to time the State uses earnings on invested general obligation bond proceeds to purchase
outstanding general obligation bonds in secondary market transactions with dealers; bonds so purchased
are then cancelled and are no longer outstanding. During the period shown below, very low interest rates
available on the invested general obligation bond proceeds resulted in significantly fewer funds available
for this program than in preceding years; this condition is expected to continue for an indeterminate period
of time into the future. The schedule below summarizes these transactions for the years indicated.

Fiscal Year Par Value  Purchase Price (a) Purchase Price as % of Par Value

2014 $880,000 $1,043,224 118.548%
2015 0 0 NA
2016 0 0 NA
2017 0 0 NA
2018 200,000 228,425 114.212
2019(b) 400,000 426,460 106.615

(a) Excluding Accrued Interest
(b) Through May 31, 2019
Source: Georgia State Financing and Investment Commission

Debt Statistics
Certain information and statistics regarding the debt of the State are set forth in the following tables.
State Treasury Receipts
The State’s compliance with its constitutional debt limitation is calculated on the basis of the State

Treasury Receipts (revenue receipts less refunds) set forth in the table below. The annual percentage
increase in such State Treasury Receipts is set forth in the third column of the table below.

State % Change
Fiscal Year Treasury Receipts From Prior Year
2014 $20,256,765,495 3.7%
2015 21,557,498,541 6.4
2016 23,476,964,889 8.9
2017 24,519,402,190 4.4
2018 25,649,499,261 4.6

Source: State Accounting Office — Georgia Revenues and Reserve Report

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.)
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Legal Debt Margin

The amounts permissible under the State’s constitutional debt limitation are set forth below:

Highest annual commitments permitted under constitutional limitation — 10%
of State Treasury Receipts for FY 2018

Highest debt service for currently outstanding debt in any year (FY 2020)
FY 2020 Appropriated Debt Service for the Bonds

Total highest current outstanding debt service plus appropriated debt service
for the Bonds

As a percent of FY 2018 State Treasury Receipts

Total additional debt service appropriations for all remaining currently
authorized but unissued bonds, after issuance of the Bonds

Total highest annual commitments in any fiscal year, current outstanding
debt service plus debt service appropriations for all currently authorized but
unissued bonds

As a percent of FY 2018 State Treasury Receipts

Projected State Treasury Receipts for FY 2019

As a percent of FY 2019 Projected State Treasury Receipts

Projected State Treasury Receipts for FY 2020

As a percent of FY 2020 Projected State Treasury Receipts

$2,564,949,926
$1,296,541,637

$106,804,499
$1,403,346,136

5.47%
$28,869,028

$1,432,215,164

5.58%

$26,690,226,349

5.37%

$27,542,850,393

5.20%

Sources: Georgia State Financing and Investment Commission; State Accounting Office

Assessed Valuation
(Real Estate and Personal Property)

The assessed valuation of real and personal property located in the State, its estimated actual value
(“EAV?), and the assessed value as a percentage of the EAV are set forth in the table below.

Year Assessed Valuation Estimated Actual Value Assessed as a % of
EAV

2014 $350,521,082,495 $ 880,263,893,759 39.8%

2015 359,547,653,892 920,500,906,022 39.0

2016 375,667,703,224 969,465,040,579 38.7

2017 394,723,489,792 1,020,220,960,952 38.6

2018* 422,974,639,944 1,093,240,216,966 38.6

? Note: Amounts for 2018 are preliminary and subject to change until November 15, 2019, when they are

scheduled to be finalized and further subject to any ongoing appeals at that time.

Source: State of Georgia Department of Audits and Accounts, Sales Ratio Division

Article VII, Section I, Paragraph II (a) of the State Constitution provides:

“The annual levy of state ad valorem taxes on tangible property for all purposes, except for
defending the state in an emergency, shall not exceed one-fourth mill on each dollar of the assessed value
of the property.”

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.)
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Debt Ratios

The debt ratios set forth below in this table are based on the Assessed Valuation set forth in the
table above and the following key statistics:

Projected Total State Debt Outstanding Upon Issuance of the Bonds (see

“Outstanding Debt” herein) $10,053,915,000
2018 Population Estimate (a) 10,519,475
2018 Total Personal Income Estimate (b) $481,213,000,000
Debt per Capita $956
Debt to Personal Income 2.09%
Debt to Estimated Actual Value 0.92%
Debt to Assessed Valuation 2.38%

(a) As of July 1, 2018, U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census
(b) U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis — Calendar Year 2018
Source: Georgia State Financing and Investment Commission

REVENUE INFORMATION
Fiscal Policy

Under Georgia law, the Governor is the State’s Chief Executive and also is the ex officio Director
of the Budget. The Governor is assisted in financial management by his Chief Financial Officer and the
Director of the Governor’s Office of Planning and Budget (“OPB”). The State Constitution assigns
responsibility for revenue estimates to the Governor. The Governor is aided in this determination by
revenue projections developed by the State Economist. The State Economist utilizes various sources of
information and other forecasts of key U.S. and Georgia economic data when developing his forecasts. The
State Economist’s forecasts then are compared to publicly available forecasts such as those produced by
the Georgia State University Economic Forecasting Center, and to consensus forecasts of the U.S. economy.
The Governor also appoints a Council of Economic Advisors separate from the State Economist. The
Council of Economic Advisors is comprised of economists from public and private entities who meet at the
call of the Governor to provide independent economic and revenue forecasts on the current and future fiscal
years.

Budgetary Controls and Budget Process

The State Constitution requires the State to adopt a balanced budget. The State Constitution assigns
responsibility for revenue estimates to the Governor, provides that no money may be drawn from the State
Treasury except for appropriations made by law, and requires that the General Assembly annually
appropriate state and federal funds necessary to operate all of the various departments and agencies of State
government. It further provides that the general appropriations bill embrace only appropriations that were
fixed by previous laws; the ordinary expenses of the executive, legislative, and judicial departments of State
government; payment of the public debt and the interest thereon; and support of the public institutions and
educational interests of the State.

Each year, the General Assembly passes and the Governor signs two separate budgets with the
primary one being the budget for the upcoming fiscal year (July 1 — June 30). The other is the “amended”
current fiscal year budget, which makes adjustments to the current fiscal year to account for changes in
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school enrollment and for other unanticipated needs that arise. If necessary, the Governor has the authority
to call a special session of the General Assembly to take up a supplemental budget to address critical fiscal
issues.

Cash Flow Management

Before money can be disbursed pursuant to an appropriation, it must be allotted (administratively
allocated and approved for expenditure). Allotments are provided to State agencies and other budget units
by issuance of warrants by OPB. A warrant is the approval of funding a portion of the appropriated amount
to a budget unit such that the budget unit has the funding available to expend in accordance with an
appropriation. The Office of the State Treasurer (“OST”) funds warrants against the allotments as allotment
draw requests are presented to it by the various State budget units and monitors approved, but undrawn
allotment balances. Undrawn allotment balances include funding for expenditures associated with contracts
resulting in some carry-forwards from the previous fiscal year. Allotments tend to be paid out gradually;
however, there is a risk that a sudden increase in requests by budget units for previously allotted funds
could strain the State’s cash resources. OPB has the authority to withhold undrawn allotments prior to such
allotments being funded by the OST, if necessary, to manage state expenditures to available revenues, or to
maintain liquidity. During the course of a fiscal year, if it appears that revenues have fallen below the
amounts originally anticipated, OPB can take steps to reduce State expenditures by requiring budget units
to reserve appropriations or, through coordination with State agencies and other budget units, can delay
approval of allotments and rescind prior allotments. OPB also may rescind previously approved but
undrawn allotments should the funds no longer be needed for the purpose as originally budgeted. In
addition, the Governor can reduce the revenue estimate for a fiscal year and recommend that the legislature
amend the then current budget to reflect lowered revenue estimates. The next regular session of the
legislature is scheduled to begin in January 2020.

Treasury monitors cash balances available to fund appropriation allotments as they are presented
for payment. If necessary, the State may take steps to ensure liquidity which could include managing the
timing of allotments for appropriations and tax refunds as permitted by state law, withholding appropriation
allotments, or rescinding appropriation allotments. Although it has not used other measures to maintain
sufficient liquidity, the State has other legally authorized options available to enable it to access liquidity
in more extraordinary circumstances, including securing a bank line of credit, issuing short-term debt,
transacting reverse repurchase agreements, or internal borrowing. Under current State law, the amount that
could be drawn on an external line of credit is limited to one percent (1%) of the prior year’s receipts and
any such borrowing must be repaid within the same fiscal year it was incurred.

Revenue Shortfall Reserve

With respect to the revenue shortfall reserve and the mid-year adjustment reserve, O.C.G.A. §
45-12-93 provides in relevant part:

(a) There shall be a reserve of state funds known as the “Revenue Shortfall Reserve.”

(b) The amount of all surplus in state funds existing as of the end of each fiscal year shall be
reserved and added to the Revenue Shortfall Reserve. Funds in the Revenue Shortfall Reserve shall carry
forward from fiscal year to fiscal year, without reverting to the general fund at the end of a fiscal year. The
Revenue Shortfall Reserve shall be maintained, accumulated, appropriated, and otherwise disbursed only
as provided in this Code section.
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(©) For each existing fiscal year, the General Assembly may appropriate from the Revenue
Shortfall Reserve an amount up to one percent (1%) of the net revenue collections of the preceding fiscal
year for funding increased K-12 needs.

(d) The Governor may release for appropriation by the General Assembly a stated amount
from funds in the Revenue Shortfall Reserve that are in excess of four percent (4%) of the net revenue of
the preceding fiscal year.

(e) As of the end of each fiscal year, an amount shall be released from the Revenue Shortfall
Reserve to the general fund to cover any deficit by which total expenditures and contractual obligations of
state funds authorized by appropriation exceed net revenue and other amounts in state funds made available
for appropriation.

® The Revenue Shortfall Reserve shall not exceed fifteen percent (15%) of the previous fiscal
year’s net revenue for any given fiscal year.

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.)
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The following tables set forth certain information regarding the State’s Revenue Shortfall Reserve
for the fiscal years shown.

Total State General Funds and Revenue Shortfall Reserve ($ in millions)

Revenue Shortfall Reserve (a)

Fiscal Year Total State General Funds  Total Reserves 1% Education (K-12) (b) Net

2014 $19,168 $1,055 $192 $ 863
2015 20,435 1,635 204 1,431
2016 22,237 2,255 222 2,033
2017 23,268 2,541 233 2,309
2018 24,320 2,800 243 2,557

(a) The amount by which the total Revenue Shortfall Reserve exceeds four percent (4%) of the net
revenue collections (referred to as “State General Funds” above) of the preceding fiscal year may
be released by the Governor for appropriation by the General Assembly. For the fiscal years shown
above, no funds in addition to the one percent (1%) for funding increased educational needs (see
(b) below) were released by the Governor.

(b) Up to one percent (1%) of the net revenue collections (referred to as “State General Funds” above)
of the preceding fiscal year may be used for funding increased educational (K-12) needs. Such
amounts for the fiscal years shown above were appropriated in the immediate subsequent fiscal
year for this purpose (see the table entitled, “GEORGIA REVENUES” herein).

Source: State Accounting Office
Note: Amounts may not add precisely due to rounding.

Reconciliation of Revenue Shortfall Reserve - FY 2018 and FY 2019 Uses

Ending FY 2017 Revenue Shortfall Reserve Balance $2,308,605,781
Plus Excess of FY 2018 Total Budget-Based Revenues Available Over FY

2018 Appropriations 420,181,440
Plus Audited FY 2018 Agency Lapse of Surplus Funds 71,015,476
Less one percent (1%) Mid-year Adjustment for K-12 Education

Appropriation in Amended FY 2019 Budget (243.198.693)
Ending FY 2018 Revenue Shortfall Reserve Balance $2.556,604,004

Source: State Accounting Office

Changes to Georgia’s Tax Code

During its 2018 legislative session, the General Assembly passed a number of bills that were signed
into law by the Governor which amended Georgia’s income tax code. Notably, the General Assembly
passed and the Governor signed into law House Bill 918 (“HB 918”) which took significant steps to align
Georgia’s income tax code with the federal tax code after passage of the Tax Cut and Jobs Act (“TCJA”),
and to adjust Georgia’s tax structure in response to expected revenue changes resulting from conformity
with the TCJA. The TCJA essentially expanded the tax base for individual and corporate income tax payers
and lowered federal income tax rates. Simply conforming to the federal tax base changes would have
resulted in significant increases in tax revenues to Georgia. HB 918 implements a three step process to
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adjust the tax structure. Effective January 1, 2018, the standard deduction for all individual filers was
doubled. Effective January 1, 2019, the top tax rate for individual and corporate taxpayers was reduced
from 6.0% to 5.75%. Effective January 1, 2020, the top rate is scheduled to be further reduced to 5.5%, but
this will require the General Assembly and the Governor to ratify this step during the 2020 legislative
session. In addition, these changes sunset on December 31, 2025 concurrent with the sunset of the changes
to the federal tax code. HB 918, which includes general, but not absolute, conformity to the TCJA, as well
as portions of the Bipartisan Budget Bill and the Disaster Relief Act, is expected to yield an increase in
revenue of $265 million in FY 2019 and $393 million in FY 2020. If the third step of reducing the top
income tax rate to 5.5% is ratified in 2020, HB 918 is expected to decrease revenues by $467 million in FY
2021.

Prior to the changes included in HB 918 described above, Georgia’s income tax structure had
remained unchanged since 1937, although an amendment to the State Constitution related to State income
taxes which became effective on January 1, 2015 effectively provided that the maximum marginal rate of
income tax may not exceed six percent (6%). During the most recent five fiscal years, income taxes,
considering both individual and corporate, have accounted for approximately 49.0% of total State Treasury
receipts.

In November 2018 the Governor convened a special session of the General Assembly to deal with
emergency relief for those impacted by Hurricane Michael. An income tax credit was created to assist
taxpayers in funding reforestation efforts. The aggregate amount of credits that can be issued is $200
million. (See Amended FY 2019 Budget below for additional information regarding additional budgetary
action taken during the special session.)

During the FY 2019 legislative session, the General Assembly passed a number of bills that were
signed into law by the Governor that will impact Georgia’s tax code. These bills include adjusting
thresholds for economic nexus, adjustments to job tax credits, and adjustments to the Title Ad Valorem Tax
(“TAVT”). In aggregate, these bills are expected to reduce General Fund revenues by about $8.7 million
in FY 2020 and $59.3 million in FY 2021.

Fiscal Performance

FY 2018 Results. FY 2018 state general fund revenues totaled $24.32 billion, an increase of 4.5%
over FY 2017 state general fund revenues. Tax revenues totaled $22.64 billion which was 4.6% higher
than in FY 2017. Revenues from interest, fees, and sales totaled $1.68 billion, which was 3.9% higher than
in FY 2017. Revenue performance in FY 2018 continued to be bolstered by House Bill 170 (“HB 1707),
adopted by the General Assembly in its 2015 session and effective July 1, 2015, which restructured motor
fuel excise taxes and implemented new fees to fund transportation infrastructure. HB 170 revenues are
dedicated to maintaining and enhancing the State’s roads and bridges transportation network.

Georgia’s key tax components posted revenue growth for FY 2018 compared to FY 2017. FY 2018
individual income tax revenues grew by 6.1% compared to the prior fiscal year. Individual income tax
withholding revenues grew by 4.0 % in FY 2018 over FY 2017. In FY 2018, other individual income tax
payments, including estimated payments, final return payments, and non-resident payments, grew by 14.0%
over FY 2017.

FY 2018 corporate income tax revenues increased by 3.3% compared to FY 2017 revenues.

Corporate payments grew by 4.9% in FY 2018 compared to FY 2017 while refunds paid in FY 2018
increased by 11.3 % compared to FY 2017 refund payments.
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Sales and use tax revenues grew by 4.0% in FY 2018 compared to FY 2017. In addition, the TAVT,
which during FY 2013 had replaced the sales tax on dealer new and used car sales and expanded the tax
base to include nearly all vehicle title transactions, decreased by 6.5% in FY 2018 compared to FY 2017.
This decrease largely reflects the declining state share of the revenues generated by the 7.0% TAVT tax
rate, which is determined by law.

Revenue Shortfall Reserve. Georgia’s Revenue Shortfall Reserve (“RSR”) increased to $2.56
billion at the end of FY 2018 from $2.31 billion at the end of FY 2017; this amount is net of the
appropriation of the Amended FY 2019 budget 1% mid-year adjustment of $243 million for K-12 education
needs. The increase in the RSR balance reflected excess funds over appropriations plus agency lapse.

FY 2019 Year to Date Results. For fiscal year to date through May 2019 (“FYTD 2019”), total tax
revenues, as reported by the Georgia Department of Revenue, have increased by 4.5% compared to the
same eleven-month period for FY 2018 (“FYTD 2018”).

Individual income tax revenues have increased by 4.1% FYTD 2019 compared to FYTD 2018.
Withholding revenues are up 2.1% and other income tax payment revenues have grown by 5.5%. FYTD
2019 individual income tax refund payments have decreased by 3.0% compared to FYTD 2018. The TCJA
and Georgia’s HB 918 tax reform legislation have had a significant impact on withholding payments and
payments with returns. Withholding taxes have been negatively impacted by the reduction in the top
marginal tax rate while provisions which limit certain itemized deductions have contributed to increased
payments with returns.

Net Sales and Use tax revenues have grown 5.4% FYTD 2019 compared to FYTD 2018.

Corporate income tax revenues have increased by 27.2% FYTD 2019 compared to FYTD 2018.
Corporate payments have increased by 14.6% over this period and refund payments have decreased
by30.6%. Tax reform also has impacted corporate revenues by reducing the tax rate but limiting certain
deductions in the calculation of taxable income.

Revenues from the TAVT on vehicle title transactions have declined by 4.8% FYTD 2019
compared to FYTD 2018. This decline reflects a small decline in new car sales and a decrease in the State’s
share of total TAVT revenues.

Motor fuel tax revenues have increased by 2.0% in FYTD 2019 over FYTD 2018.

Current Economic Indicators. The economic recovery in the U.S. has been in place since mid-
2009. Since the recovery began, the U.S. has experienced moderate growth in Gross Domestic Product
(“GDP”). Growth sped up in 2018, boosted by stimulus from the TCJA. Quarterly GDP growth peaked at
4.2% in the second quarter of calendar 2018 and then slowed to 3.4% in the third quarter and 2.2% in the
fourth quarter. Growth picked up in the first quarter of 2019 to 3.2%, but was boosted by factors that are
likely to prove temporary - a large inventory build-up and a large improvement in net exports.

The U.S. job market continues to expand. Net job growth averaged just over 150,000 new jobs
over the three months ended May 2019. Unemployment is very low at 3.6% as of May 2019, down from
3.8% in May 2018. The broader U-6 measure of unemployment also is very low at 7.1% as of May 2019.
Initial unemployment insurance claims are low, averaging around 215,000 new claims per week, and are
about in line with year ago levels.

The Institute of Supply Management (“ISM”) Indices for Manufacturing and for Services are
currently above 50, the dividing line between expansion and contraction; however, both indices are trending
down showing that growth is slowing. As of May 2019, the ISM index for manufacturing is 52.1, down
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from a recent peak of 60.8 in August 2018. Other manufacturing data such as new orders and shipments
also show slower growth. The ISM index for Services in May 2019 is 56.9, down from a recent peak of
60.4 in November 2018. Thus, both indices reflect a slowing growth environment.

Non-farm employment in Georgia has grown at a moderate pace over the last year. On a seasonally
adjusted basis, non-farm employment grew by about 69,700 jobs from April 2018 to April 2019; this is a
growth rate of 1.5%.

Georgia’s employment growth has been well diversified across sectors. On a year over year, three
month moving average basis as of April 2019, the construction sector has experienced the largest percentage
growth at 5.7%, followed by Education & Health and Leisure and Hospitality both at 3.1%. The weakest
performing sector over this period was the Information sector which reported job declines of 4.4%.
Information is a small sector in terms of total employment and includes declining activities such as print
media.

On a regional basis, Georgia’s employment growth also has been well diversified across metro
areas. All fourteen metro areas in Georgia that are tracked by the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics posted
net job growth on a year over year, three month moving average basis as of April 2019. Five metro areas
reported job growth of 2.0% or higher for this period. Gainesville reported the strongest growth at 4.1%,
Dalton reported 3.1% growth while Augusta, Hinesville and Atlanta, the largest metro area, all posted
growth of 2.0% for this period.

Over the last year, Georgia’s unemployment rate has stabilized below 4.0%. As of April 2019,
Georgia’s unemployment rate was 3.8%, down from 4.1% in April 2018. Georgia’s unemployment rate
dropped to 3.8% in July 2018 and has varied little since that time. The improvement in Georgia’s
unemployment rate has been accompanied by a growing labor force and growth in household employment.

Personal income growth in Georgia is moderate. Growth on a year over year basis equals 4.8% as
of the fourth quarter of 2018, the most recent information available. This compares to growth in U.S.
personal income of 4.6% for the same quarter. Income from wages and salaries in Georgia has been
growing more slowly than total personal income over the last few quarters. Income from wages and salaries
grew at 4.5% year over year in fourth quarter of 2017 compared to growth of 4.8% for total personal income.

The housing sector in Georgia and nationally is mixed. Home prices have been rising on a year
over year basis since late 2012, but the pace of growth has slowed. The S&P Case Shiller Home Price
Index for the Atlanta metropolitan area is up 4.6% as of March 2019 compared to March 2018. Price
growth in the Atlanta metro area had been about 6.0% at the end of 2018. Nationally, price growth has
slowed more significantly. The composite index for 20 metro areas posted growth of 2.6% in March 2019
compared to March 2018. This is down from growth of about 5.0% in late 2018 and growth in excess of
6.0% in the first half of 2018.

Housing starts in Georgia still are trending up, but starts for the U.S. as a whole have been trending
down throughout 2018 and into 2019. New and existing home sales levels are weak and show little sign of
sustained improvement.

Mortgage delinquency rates in Georgia and in the U.S. rose slightly in the first quarter of 2019, but
still are below pre-Great Recession levels. Foreclosure rates in Georgia and in the U.S. dropped in the first
quarter of 2019 and are far below pre-Great Recession levels. Foreclosure rates and mortgage delinquency
rates in Georgia remain above the U.S. averages, which is the historical norm. In general, mortgage credit
quality in Georgia and the U.S. currently is better than pre-Great Recession levels as a result of
strengthening of mortgage lending standards.
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Amended FY 2019 Budget. As a result of the impact Hurricane Michael had on southwest Georgia
in October of 2018, Governor Nathan Deal convened a special session of the General Assembly in
November of 2018 to provide supplemental funding for FY 2019 to address financial needs associated with
storm recovery. HB 1EX provided an additional $270 million for storm relief efforts, including $69 million
in anticipated additional revenue growth related to HB 170 for road and bridge projects, $69 million for the
state emergency fund, and $75 million for direct relief to landowners. Remaining funds primarily were
used for economic development efforts to offset potential economic losses from the storm.

Following the fall 2018 special legislative session, the General Assembly convened for its annual
legislative session in January 2019 to consider the Amended FY 2019 and FY 2020 budgets. The Amended
FY 2019 budget anticipates state general fund revenues growth of 4.1% over the FY 2018 state general
fund revenue collections, and total tax revenue growth of 4.1% over the FY 2018 tax revenue collections.
The Amended FY 2019 budget was increased over the original FY 2019 budget by $692 million in general
fund spending, which includes $270 million appropriated in the supplemental special session budget,
$243.2 million for the mid-year K-12 adjustment, and an additional $178 million in revenue resulting from
higher than anticipated growth in individual income and sales taxes as well as title ad valorem taxes. For
both the original FY 2019 budget and the Amended FY 2019 budget, state agencies were not required to
submit budget reductions. Increased revenues from current revenue sources are projected to be sufficient
to cover growth needs in core spending areas in addition to funding select one-time budget needs. The
required pension contributions for state retirement systems were fully funded in the original FY 2019 budget
with no additional funding required in the Amended FY 2019 budget.

The Amended FY 2019 budget funds growth needs in education and human services, providing
additional funding (over the original FY 2019 adopted budget amounts) to local governments and school
systems, and supporting economic development efforts:

$88.9 million for a midterm adjustment for K-12 education.

$42.1 million for the State Commission Charter Schools supplement.

$69.4 million to provide school security grants.

$8.4 million for school-based mental health services in high schools.

$50.9 million for the Indigent Care Trust Fund and Medicaid.

$9.3 million for Mercer University to establish a new four-year medical school in Columbus.
$9.8 million to meet increased demand in child welfare services programs.

$33.8 million for Forestland Protection Act grants.

$14.3 million for statewide water planning initiatives.

$20.0 million for additional disaster relief funding to agricultural communities affected by
Hurricane Michael.

At this time, growth in revenue collections is in excess of the pace built into the Amended FY 2019
budget revenue estimate. The State will continue to monitor revenue trends and is prepared to take steps
should revenue performance deteriorate below expectations.

FY 2020 Budget. The FY 2020 budget revenue estimate assumes tax revenue growth of 3.5% and
state general fund revenue growth of 3.2% compared to Amended FY 2019 budget revenue estimate. As
in FY 2019, no reductions to agency budgets were necessary in FY 2020, and anticipated revenue growth
is sufficient to meet expected growth in K-12 education, higher education, and the state’s child welfare
programs.

The FY 2020 budget includes an additional $707 million for K-12 education (net amount over the
original FY 2019 adopted budget), including increases of $133.2 million for enrollment growth and training
and experience, $532.3 million to provide a $3,000 increase to the state base salary schedule for certified
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teachers and a two percent salary increase for non-certificated employees, $46.9 million for the State
Commission Charter School supplement, and $78.6 million in additional assistance for low-wealth systems.
The budget also provides $188.6 million for higher education, including $86.2 million to fully fund
enrollment growth for the University System, and $30.8 million in additional lottery funds to provide a 3%
increase in the award amount for the HOPE scholarships and grants. The additional funds for K-12 and
higher education also include $21.5 million to meet the actuarially determined employer contribution to the
Teachers Retirement System.

Funding in the FY 2020 budget for human services includes an additional $165 million for
Medicaid, $12.6 million to meet increased demand in child welfare programs, and $30.6 million for
additional waivers and behavioral health services as part of the Department of Justice settlement extension.
Transportation funding includes $32.2 million for transportation projects as a result of additional revenues
from HB 170.

Budget instructions for the Amended FY 2020 budget and the FY 2021 budget are expected to be
issued in July 2019. At that time, initial planning estimates for the Amended FY 2020 budget and the FY
2021 budget will be developed for the Governor’s consideration. Those estimates will incorporate a revised
outlook based on any legislation passed during the 2019 session of the General Assembly that may impact
state revenues and the most recent economic data. In addition, these estimates will factor in actual FY 2019
revenue collections as a new baseline for estimating future growth.

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.)
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Georgia Revenues

Actual FY 2014 - FY 2018

The following table sets forth actual budget-based State revenues available for appropriation.

State General Funds FY 2014 FY 2015 FY 2016 FY 2017 FY 2018
Net Taxes: Dept. of Revenue
Income Tax — Individual $8,965,572,421  $9,678,524,026  $10,439,533,668  $10,977,729,901  $11,643,861,634
Income Tax — Corporate 943,806,441 1,000,536,425 981,002,336 971,840,713 1,004,297,542

Sales and Use Tax — General
Motor Fuel
Tobacco Taxes
Alcoholic Beverages Tax
Estate Tax
Property Tax
Motor Vehicle License Tax
Title Ad Valorem Tax
Net Taxes: Other Depts.
Insurance Premium Tax
Total Net Taxes
Interest, Fees, and Sales -
Department of Revenue
Transportation Fees
Other Interest, Fees, Sales
Office of State Treasurer
Interest on Deposits
Other Fees and Sales
Behavioral Health
Driver Services
Natural Resources
Secretary of State
Labor
Public Health
Human Services
Banking and Finance
Corrections
Workers” Compensation
Public Service Commission
Nursing Home Provider Fees
Hospital Provider Payments
Driver Services Super Speeder Fine
Indigent Defense Fees
Peace Officers & Prosecutors Training
All Other
Total Interest, Fees & Sales
Total State General Funds
Lottery Funds
Tobacco Settlement Funds
Guaranteed Revenue Debt Common
Reserve Fund Interest Earnings
National Mortgage Settlement
Brain and Spinal Injury Trust Fund
Other
Total State Treasury Receipts
Funds Transferred from State
Organizations®
Mid-Year Adjustment—Education
Reserve
TOTAL STATE FUNDS

5,125,501,785
1,006,493,364

5,390,353,066
1,025,819,044

5,480,196,159
1,655,027,765

5,715,917,830
1,740,963,444

5,945,877,598
1,801,686,710

216,640,134 215,055,115 219,870,412 220,773,541 224,910,391
181,874,583 184,373,811 190,536,391 193,437,999 195,696,036
R R (414,376) - §
38,856,854 26,799,138 14,078,425 376,096 606,083
337,455,825 339,611,871 368,005,068 368,131,657 398,498,915
741,933,576 828,133,775 939,049,156 979,494,484 915,854,817
372,121,805 419.653.207 428.699.713 480,154,181 505.054.096
17,930,256,787  19,108,859,479  20,715,584,717  21,648,819,846  22,636,343,824
. . 161,252,054 183,158,660 185,640,800
325,419,014 338,135,999 366,701,125 379,138,056 396,755,089
2,958,365 11,044,230 28,614,277 42,017,828 90,005,539
678,164 134,254 7,200,674 20,244,589 4,321,963
3,017,554 2,516,533 2,152,419 2,032,490 2,183,806
57,586,118 51,274,419 69,405,804 77,825,665 74,352,292
44,181,240 45,956,400 48,490,740 52,184,809 59,226,724
81,693,371 78,617,291 84,820,885 93,424,715 95,724,145
26,334,786 27,724,158 24,863,466 22,024,825 20,604,154
11,042,775 9,836,616 11,308,266 13,133,756 12,320,067
3,744,711 7,137,755 4,611,720 4,075,705 3,615,307
20,941,029 20,531,999 21,400,170 21,915,949 22,568,204
13,782,279 15,110,617 14,537,413 14,251,948 12,762,073
21,717,715 22,008,305 22,051,503 20,227,904 18,627,641
772,127 833,665 1,101,834 495,954 692,962
169,521,312 175,413,852 163,523,682 156,746,016 161,574,691
237,978,451 278,958,076 270,602,167 285,830,266 304,020,295
20,394,462 22,372,600 21,577,826 21,583,419 21,406,516
40,099,349 39,068,313 37,756,236 36,878,313 37,245,210
24,698,552 24,405,610 23,494,949 22,725,077 22,501,619
130.988.481 154,802,863 136,340,671 149.685.723 137.376.355

1,237,549,854

1,325,883,555

1,521,807,880

1,619,601,667

1,683,525,452

19,167,806,641

20,434,743,034

22,237,392,597

23,268,421,512

24,319,869,276

946,977,108 982,460,046 1,100,790,077 1,108,123,219 1,157,766,023
139,892,084 138,441,332 137,152,014 141,256,202 169,773,074
98,713 67,010 168,758 272,331 665,642
1,988,502 1,784,064 1,458,567 1,325,935 1,422,131

2.446 3.054 2.876 2,992 3.114
20,256,765,495 21,557,498,541 23,476,964,889 24,519,402,190 25,649,499,261
280,462,097 113,520,036 306,966,328 260,385,409 196,877,269
182.958.586 191,678,066 204.347.430 222,373,926 232,684,215
$20,720,186,177  $21,862,696,643  $23,988,278,647 $25,002,161,526  $26,079,060,745

2 The amounts for FY 2014 have been restated to include all agency surplus amounts, rather than just the preliminary
figures, resulting in increases in these amounts from the amounts as shown in previous Official Statements for State

General Obligation Bonds.

Note: Amounts may not add precisely due to rounding.

Source: State Accounting Office



Georgia Revenues
Amended FY 2019 Budget and FY 2020 Budget

The following table sets forth projected budget-based State revenues available for appropriation for
the Amended FY 2019 Budget and the FY 2020 Budget.

State General Funds Amended FY 2019 Enacted FY 2020
Net Taxes: Department of Revenue
Income Tax - Individual $12,304,247,834 $12,753,502,264

Income Tax - Corporate
Sales and Use Tax-General
Motor Fuel

1,078,070,000
6,209,297,000
1,835,443,645

1,259,624,024
6,525,181,000
1,865,866,307

Tobacco Taxes 227,384,400 229,658,200

Alcoholic Beverages Tax 198,044,400 200,222,900

Property Tax - -

Motor Vehicle License Tax 403,042,000 409,088,000

Title Ad Valorem Tax 799,136,900 616,896,500
Net Taxes: Other Organizations

Insurance Premium Tax 512,629,900 523,907,800

Total Net Taxes
Interest, Fees and Sales - Dept. of Revenue

23,567,296,079

24,383,946,995

Transportation Fees 191,374,200 193,383,600
Other Interest, Fees, and Sales 405,057,000 413,158,000
Office of State Treasurer - Interest on Deposits 137,000,000 137,000,000
Other Fees and Sales:
Banking and Finance 21,800,000 21,800,000
Behavioral Health 2,100,000 2,050,000
Corrections 12,731,301 12,465,430
Human Services 3,600,000 3,600,000
Labor 20,600,000 20,600,000
Natural Resources 59,649,602 60,026,468
Public Health 12,239,947 13,586,031
Public Service Commission 700,000 800,000
Secretary of State 84,646,000 90,505,000
Workers' Compensation 18,464,539 18,500,000
Driver Services 75,000,000 66,000,000
Driver Services Super Speeder Fine 21,000,000 21,000,000
Nursing Home Provider Fees 157,326,418 157,326,418
Hospital Provider Payment 311,652,534 336,598,954
Indigent Defense Fees 37,000,000 37,000,000
Peace Officers' & Prosecutors' Training Funds 22,800,000 22,800,000
All Other Departments 160,614,981 130,952,757

Total Interest Fees and Sales
Total State General Funds
Lottery Funds

1,755.356,522

1,759.152.658

25,322,652,601
1,204,404,860

26,143,099,653
1,248,181,429

Tobacco Settlement Funds 161,723,031 150,159,978

Brain and Spinal Injury Trust Fund 1,445.857 1.409.333

Total State Treasury Receipts 26,690,226,349 27,542,850,393
Other Funds Available for Expenditure:

Funds Transferred from State Organizations - -

Mid-year Adjustment Reserve 243.198.693 -

TOTAL STATE FUNDS $26,933,425,042 $27,542,850,393

Source: Governor’s Office of Planning and Budget

A-20




State Treasury Receipts

The following table sets forth, by category, the State Treasury Receipts available for appropriation
for the period FY 2014 through FY 2018.

State General Fund Receipts FY 2014 FY 2015 FY 2016 FY 2017 FY 2018
Net Taxes
Department of Revenue
Income Tax — Individual $8,965,572,421 $9,678,524,026  $10,439,533,668  $10,977,729,901  $11,643,861,634
Income Tax — Corporate 943,806,441 1,000,536,425 981,002,336 971,840,713 1,004,297,542

Sales and Use Tax — General 5,125,501,785 5,390,353,066 5,480,196,159 5,715,917,830 5,945,877,598

Motor Fuel
Excise & Motor Carrier
Mileage Tax! 437,637,790 461,582,179 1,604,961,748 1,740,507,028 1,801,408,958
Prepaid Motor Fuel Sales Tax' 568,855,574 564,236,865 50,066,016 456,416 277,753
Tobacco Products Tax 216,640,134 215,055,115 219,870,412 220,773,541 224,910,391
Alcoholic Beverages Tax 181,874,583 184,373,811 190,536,391 193,437,999 195,696,036
Estate Tax - - (414,376) - -
Property Tax 38,856,854 26,799,138 14,078,425 376,096 606,083
Motor Vehicle License Tax 337,455,825 339,611,871 368,005,068 368,131,657 398,498,915
Title Ad Valorem Tax 741,933,576 828,133,775 939,049,156 979.494.,484 915,854,817
Total Department of Revenue 17,558,134,982 18,689,206,272 20,286,885,004 21,168,665,664 22,131,289,726
Other Departments
Insurance Premium Tax and Fees 372,121,805 419,653,207 428,699,713 480,154,181 505,054,096
Total Taxes 17,930,256,787 19,108,859,479 20,715,584,717 21,648,819,846 22,636,343,824

Interest, Fees, and Sales

1,237,549.854

1.325.883.555

1,521.,807.880

1.619.601.,667

1,683.,525.452

Total State General Fund Receipts
Other Revenues Retained?

19,167,806,641
1,088.958.854

20,434,743,034
1.122.755.507

22,237,392,597
1,239,572.292

23,268,421,512
1,250.980.678

24,319,869,276
1.329,629.985

Total State Treasury Receipts

$20,256,765,495

$21,557,498,541

$23,476,964,889

$24,519,402,190

$25,649,499,261

Source: State Accounting Office

! Effective July 1, 2015, both the Prepaid Motor Fuel Sales Tax and the Motor Fuel Excise tax were repealed and replaced with a consolidated excise

tax.

2 Other Revenues Retained include Lottery Funds, Tobacco Settlement Funds, Guaranteed Revenue Debt Common Reserve Fund Earnings, Brain and
Spinal Injury Trust Fund, Job and Growth Tax Relief, and Other amounts from the table “Georgia Revenues Actual FY 2014 — FY 2018” herein.

Changes in State Treasury Receipts — FY 2017 to FY 2018

The following table sets forth, by category, the changes in budget-based revenue available for

appropriation for FY 2018 as compared to FY 2017.

State General Fund Receipts FY 2017 FY 2018 Change ($) Change (%)
Net Taxes
Department of Revenue
Income Tax — Individual $10,977,729,901 $11,643,861,634 $666,131,733 6.1%
Income Tax — Corporate 971,840,713 1,004,297,542 32,456,829 33
Sales and Use Tax — General 5,715,917,830 5,945,877,598 229,959,768 4.0
Excise and Motor Carrier Mileage Tax' 1,740,507,028 1,801,408,958 60,901,930 3.5
Prepaid Motor Fuel Sales Tax' 456,416 277,753 (178,663) (39.1)
Tobacco Products Tax 220,773,541 224,910,391 4,136,850 1.9
Alcoholic Beverages Tax 193,437,999 195,696,036 2,258,037 1.2
Estate Tax (Refund) - - - -
Property Tax 376,096 606,083 229,987 61.2
Motor Vehicle License Tax 368,131,657 398,498,915 30,367,258 8.2
Title Ad Valorem Tax 979.494,484 915.854.817 (63.639.667) (6.5)
Total Department of Revenue 21,168,665,664 22,131,289,726 962,624,062 4.5
Other Departments
Insurance Premium Tax and Fees 480,154,181 505,054,096 24.899.915 5.2
Total Taxes 21,648,819,846 22,636,343,824 987,523,978 4.6
Interest, Fees, and Sales 1,619.601,667 1,683.525,452 63,923,785 3.9
Total State General Fund Receipts 23,268,421,512 24,319,869,276 1,051,447,764 4.5
Other Revenues Retained? 1,250,980,678 1,329.,629,985 78.649.307 6.3
Total State Treasury Receipts $24,519,402,190 $25,649,499,261 $1,130,097,071 4.6

Notes: See above table for explanation of footnotes; amounts may not add precisely due to rounding.

Source: State Accounting Office
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Summary of Appropriation Allotments

The following table summarizes the appropriation allotment amounts to various areas of State
government for the five fiscal years FY 2014 through FY 2018.

Category

FY 2014 FY 2015 FY 2016 FY 2017 FY 2018

Education $10,747,131,836  $11,419,439,731 $12,124,400,653 $12,770,159,454  $13,560,480,406
Public Health and Welfare 4,628,454,661 4,874,516,201 5,081,448,026 5,195,042,337 5,329,298,864
Transportation 875,808,645 880,489,499 1,661,932,417 1,856,251,002 1,939,372,807
Judicial, Penal and 1,649,003,797 1,687,527,435 1,751,109,051 1,883,891,032 1,933,324,243
Corrections

Natural Resources 165,703,469 179,953,073 188,280,731 216,814,121 209,924,947
General Obligation Debt 1,170,767,561 1,083,144,820 1,215,481,162 1,204,689,739 1,210,798,469
Sinking Fund

General Government 976.684.297 1,012.732.249 1,035.694.380 1.201.088.204 1.229.800.856
Total Allotments $20,213,554,266 $21,137,803,008 $23,058,346,420 $24,327,935,889  $25.413,000,592

Source: Governor’s Office of Planning and Budget

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.)
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Georgia Department of Revenue — Unaudited State Revenues

The following table ($ in thousands) sets forth unaudited net revenue collections by the Department
of Revenue in certain categories for the first eleven months (July 1 through May 31) of FY 2018 and FY
2019. There are various other revenues of the State which are not listed below that are collected by other
State agencies and remitted to the Office of the State Treasurer.

Tax Revenues: FY 2018 FY 2019 Change (§)  Change (%)
Income Tax — Individual $10,695,999 $11,132,836 $436,837 4.1%
Income Tax - Corporate 821,606 1,045,445 223,839 27.2
Sales and Use Tax — General
Sales and Use Tax — Gross 10,552,790 11,347,533 794,744 7.5
Local Sales Tax Distribution” (5,054,453) (5,563,276) (508,823) (10.1)
Sales Tax Refunds/Adjustments (67.059) (59.634) 7,425 11.1
Total Net Sales and Use Taxes - General 5,431,277 5,724,623 293,346 5.4
Motor Fuel Taxes 1,640,950 1,673,513 32,563 2.0
Tobacco Taxes 203,051 203,495 444 0.2
Alcohol Beverages Tax 177,386 179,488 2,101 1.2
Property Tax 1,396 1,147 (250) (17.9)
Motor Vehicle Revenues
Highway Impact Fees 13,977 15,149 1,172 8.4
Tag, Title and Fees 362,918 356,586 (6,332) (1.7)
Title Ad Valorem Tax 841,362 800,968 (40,393) (4.8)
Total Motor Vehicle Revenues 1,218,256 1,172,703 (45,553) (3.7
Total Net Tax Revenues 20,189,922 21,133,250 943,328 4.7
Interest, Fees and Sales
Hotel/Motel Fees 159,247 164,025 4,778 3.0
Other Interest, Fees & Sales® 379.180 371,794 (7.386) (1.9)
Total Interest, Fees and Sales 538,427 535,819 (2,608) (0.5)
Total Taxes and Other Revenues $20,728,349 $21,669,069 $940,720 4.5%

( The Local Distribution is adjusted with an accrual to reflect payment activity that occurs after the actual distribution
(three (3) business days prior to the end of a month).

@ “Other Interest, Fees and Sales” include payments that have been deposited in the bank, but for which returns may
not yet have been processed. These undistributed amounts are then re-classified (once the return is processed) to the
appropriate tax revenue account. “Other Fees” also includes Unclaimed Property collections.

Note: Amounts may not add precisely due to truncating amounts less than $1,000.
Source: State of Georgia Department of Revenue

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.)
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Monthly Cash Investments

The following table ($ in millions) sets forth the month ending cash investments of State fund
balances in the State Treasury for FY 2014 through the first ten months of FY 2019.

Month FY 2014 FY 2015 FY 2016 FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2019
July $2,766 $3,156 $3,708 $4,781 $5,899 $6,368
August 2,771 3,224 3,833 5,069 5,835 6,602
September 3,200 3,504 4,191 5,534 6,092 6,876
October 2,823 3,051 3,754 4,999 5,583 6,245
November 2,802 2,850 3,825 4,938 5,538 6,302
December 2,993 3,214 4,286 5,374 5,895 6,678
January 3,414 3,650 4,771 5,732 6,815 6,984
February 2,835 3,039 4,287 5,120 5,916 6,086
March 2,799 3,027 4,338 5,131 5,856 5,957
April 3,115 3,561 4,825 5,758 6,553 7,256
May 3,025 3,483 4,833 5,789 6,482 -
June 3,433 3,755 5,164 6,098 6,719 -

Note: Balances (i) exclude investments in the Lottery for Education Reserve, Brain and Spinal Injury
Trust Fund, Guaranteed Revenue Debt Common Reserve, unspent bond funds including any unspent
general obligation bond funds, and previously drawn allotment balances held in state agency accounts, and
(i1) include both the RSR and certain state agency funds invested by the Treasury for and on behalf of the
state agencies, such as Georgia Department of Transportation funds, which state agency funds may not be
readily available for use by Treasury. In any given month, the amount available for use by Treasury may
be significantly less than the amount reflected.

Source: Office of State Treasurer

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.)
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RETIREMENT SYSTEMS, OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLANS AND
EMPLOYEE HEALTH BENEFIT PLANS

Retirement Systems

Introduction. The State administers various retirement plans under two major retirement systems:
the Employees’ Retirement System of Georgia (“ERS”), which administers multiple retirement plans for
various employer entities of the State, and the Teachers Retirement System of Georgia (“TRS”), which
administers a retirement plan for teachers in State public schools, the University System of Georgia and
certain other employees in legislatively designated educational agencies. The ERS and TRS are referred to
herein, collectively, as the “Systems.” The ERS retirement plan for State employees in the executive branch
is the most significant of the defined benefit pension plans operated by ERS. Statistical information
included herein regarding ERS is limited to the plan for State employees in the executive branch. As of
June 30, 2018, TRS and the ERS retirement plan for State employees in the executive branch comprise
approximately 96.2% of the net position of the State’s 15 defined benefit pension plans. For additional
information on these two retirement plans (as well as four significantly smaller plans), including details
regarding benefit eligibility, benefit formula and employee contributions rates, see Note 15, “Retirement
Systems,” in APPENDIX B hereto. The retirement plans are subject to the provisions of Title 47 of Official
Code of Georgia in general and Chapter 2 (ERS) and Chapter 3 (TRS) thereof, in particular. The retirement
plans administered by the Systems are the subject of annual actuarial valuations. In the opinion of the
actuary for the Systems, as of June 30, 2018, each of ERS and TRS are operating on an actuarially sound
basis and in conformity with minimum funding standards of Georgia law.

According to the most recent actuarial valuation of ERS, as of June 30, 2018, the funded ratio
(actuarial value of assets (“AVA?”) / actuarial accrued liability (“AAL”)) improved slightly to 75.3% as
compared to 74.7% as of June 30, 2017 and the unfunded actuarial accrued liability (“UAAL”) as a
percentage of covered payroll also improved slightly to 167.1% as compared to 173.8% as of June 30, 2017.

According to the most recent actuarial valuation of TRS, as of June 30, 2018, the funded ratio
improved slightly to 77.4% as compared to 74.2% as of June 30, 2017 and the UAAL as a percentage of
covered payroll improved to 186.9% as compared to 218.5% as of June 30, 2017.

ERS and TRS each received 100% of its respective Actuarially Determined Employer Contribution
(“ADEC”) for FY 2017 and FY 2018. For FY 2019 and FY 2020, both the ERS and the TRS ADEC
payments are budgeted at 100%. ADEC payments are funded from a variety of sources, including State
general fund appropriations, as well as federal, local, and other sources.

The pension disclosures rely on information produced by the pension plans and their independent
accountants and actuaries. Actuarial assessments are “forward-looking” valuation estimates that reflect the
judgment of the fiduciaries of the retirement plans. Actuarial assessments are based upon a variety of
assumptions, one or more of which may prove to be inconsistent with subsequent events or be changed in
the future, and will change with the future experience of the retirement plans.

Statutory Requirements Regarding Benefit Changes with Fiscal Impacts. Pursuant to O.C.G.A §
47-20-34, any retirement bill having a fiscal impact may only be introduced in the first term of the regular
biennial session of the General Assembly. If a majority of the standing retirement committee in the House
or the Senate wishes to consider the bill further and votes in favor of an actuarial investigation of the bill,
an actuarial investigation shall be required. O.C.G.A. § 47-20-34 also requires that any such retirement bill
may be passed during the second year of the regular biennial session. Pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 47-20-50,
any retirement bill having a fiscal impact which is enacted by the General Assembly and which is approved
by the Governor or which otherwise becomes law shall become effective on the first day of July
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immediately following the regular session during which it was enacted, but only if the enacted bill is
concurrently funded. If an enacted bill, including one approved by the Governor, is not certified by the
State Auditor to be concurrently funded, then such bill may not become effective as law and shall be null,
void, and of no force and effect and shall stand repealed in its entirety on the first day of July immediately
following its enactment.

The Georgia General Assembly created the University System of Georgia’s Optional Retirement
Plan (“ORP”), a defined contribution retirement plan, in 1990 pursuant to the Regents Retirement Plan Act
(Section 47-21-1 et seq., Official Code of Georgia Annotated). The Regents Retirement Plan Act allowed
eligible employees of the University System of Georgia (“USG”) with less than 10 years of service to leave
TRS, a defined benefit plan, and participate in the ORP, and thereafter, allowed and continues to allow
eligible new employees of the USG to elect to participate in either the TRS or the ORP.

Section 47-21-5 of the Regents Retirement Plan Act states that the USG shall remit to TRS certain
amounts determined by the board of directors of TRS as described in such code section — an unfunded
accrued liability payment and an amount equal to the increase in the normal contribution rate. The USG
made certain payments to TRS related to unfunded accrued liabilities following the inception of ORP until
2001 when the TRS reached the point of being 100% funded; since that time, TRS has neither determined
nor requested any payments from the USG pursuant to Section 47-21-5 of the Regents Retirement Plan Act
related to unfunded accrued liabilities. Because TRS never determined nor requested any amounts from
the USG pursuant to Section 47-21-5 of the Regents Retirement Plan Act related to increased normal
contribution rates, the USG has not made any such payments to TRS. Legislation was introduced during
the 2019 session of the Georgia General Assembly to repeal Section 47-21-5 of the Regents Retirement
Plan Act. This legislation was certified as a fiscal retirement bill (i.e., retirement legislation that has a fiscal
impact); therefore, in accordance with State law, it cannot be acted upon by the Georgia General Assembly
until the 2020 session.

On February 22, 2019, the Georgia Department of Audits and Accounts (“DOAA”) released its
report recommending that TRS calculate and bill the USG pursuant to Section 47-21-5 of the Regents
Retirement Plan Act for fiscal year 2019 and future fiscal years. The DOAA asserts that TRS should be
collecting approximately $170 million from the USG for fiscal year 2019 in accordance with DOAA’s
interpretation of Section 47-21-5 of the Regents Retirement Plan Act.

In a letter dated February 15, 2019 from the Chancellor of the USG to the State Auditor responding
to a discussion draft of the DOAA report, the Chancellor disputed and disagreed with the DOAA report’s
conclusions and recommendations. On May 15, 2019, the board of trustees of TRS met to discuss, among
other things, the DOAA’s report and legal advice, and determined that TRS will not calculate and bill the
USG any additional amount pursuant to Section 47-21-5 of the Regents Retirement Plan Act for fiscal year
2019 and fiscal year 2020; however, the board of trustees of TRS determined that it will calculate and assess
the USG additional amounts pursuant to Section 47-21-5 of the Regents Retirement Plan Act for fiscal year
2021. Since the determination by the board of trustees of TRS to assess the USG pursuant to Section 47-
21-5 for fiscal year 2021, the USG has requested guidance regarding the groups of personnel that are
addressed by the unfunded accrued liability amount and the amount related to the increase in the normal
contribution rate.

There can be no assurance that the Georgia General Assembly will repeal Section 47-21-5 of the
Regents Retirement Plan Act. If it is not repealed, the board of trustees for TRS could impose additional
assessments pursuant to Section 47-21-5 of the Regents Retirement Plan Act for fiscal year 2021 and for
any fiscal year thereafter. The USG will work with the executive and legislative branches of the State, as
appropriate, to meet any legal obligation created by such action. The State does not believe that any such
payments to TRS will have a material adverse impact on the USG’s financial condition.
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System Membership and Beneficiary Information. ERS was created in 1949 by an act of the
General Assembly to provide benefits for employees of the State and is managed by a seven-member Board
of Trustees (the “ERS Board”) comprised of the State Auditor (ex-officio), the State Treasurer (ex-officio),
the Commissioner of the Department of Administrative Services (ex-officio), one appointee of the
Governor and three appointees of the ERS Board. TRS was created in 1943 by an act of the General
Assembly to provide benefits for qualifying teachers and is managed by a ten-member Board of Trustees
(the “TRS Board”) comprised of the State Auditor (ex-officio), the State Treasurer (ex-officio), five
appointees of the Governor, two appointees of the TRS Board and one appointee of the Board of Regents.
The ERS and TRS plans are cost-sharing multiple employer defined benefit plans. The ERS plan for State
employees consists of 420 employers, of which 419 are not in the State reporting entity. TRS consists of
313 employers, of which 312 are not in the State reporting entity. Membership in the plans as of June 30,
2018 is shown below.

ERS TRS

Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 50,863 127,223
Terminated employees entitled to benefits, but not yet receiving benefits, vested 6,399 12,729
Terminated employees, non-vested 51,933 93,765
Active plan members 60.406 226.061
Total 169,601 459,778

Sources: ERS and TRS Audited Financial Statements

According to the ERS audited financial statements as of June 30, 2018, ERS receipts (consisting of
member and employer contributions and net investment earnings for the year) totaled $1,855,320,000
(compared to $2,136,780,000 for FY 2017) and ERS disbursements (consisting of benefit payments,
member refunds, and administrative expenses for the year) totaled $1,428,939,000 (compared to
$1,412,048,000 for FY 2017). According to the TRS audited financial statements as of June 30, 2018, TRS
receipts (consisting of member and employer contributions, net investment earnings and unrealized
appreciation for the year) totaled $9,011,453,000 (compared to $10,342,754,000 for FY 2017) and TRS
disbursements (consisting of benefit payments, member refunds, and administrative expenses for the year)
totaled $4,791,846,000 (compared to $4,554,193,000 for FY 2017).

Not all of the employers that comprise TRS participate in the Federal Social Security System (SSA)
as certain of such employers have decided in the past not to join SSA. Most of these employers created
403(b)-type retirement plans for their employees in lieu of joining SSA. Since this decision not to join SSA
was made at the local employer level, it has no bearing on either the State or TRS.

Obligations and Funded Status. The State reports the funded status for each of the retirement plans
“as a whole” using a smoothing method to calculate each retirement plan’s actuarial value of assets
(“AVA”). Under this method, changes in the market value of assets (“MVA”) are recognized over a period
of'years. Prior to the FY 2006 actuarial valuation report, the ERS and TRS used a 5-year smoothing period.
For the FY 2006 through FY 2012 actuarial valuation reports, the ERS and TRS used a 7-year smoothing
period. The funded status of ERS and TRS for the ten most recent actuarial valuation dates is presented in
the following table. The actuarial valuations for TRS shown below for valuation years 2009 through 2012
reflect the TRS Board action on July 27, 2011 to use a 7-year smoothing method within a corridor of
between 75% and 125% of the MV A around the AVA. The actuarial valuations for ERS and TRS from
June 30, 2013 and later shown below reflect the funding policies adopted by the ERS Board and TRS Board
to set the actuarial value of assets equal to the market value of assets as of June 30, 2013 and to use a 5-
year smoothing method in subsequent years. TRS uses a corridor of between 75% and 125% of the MVA
around the AVA. For a more detailed explanation, see “Actuarial Methods and Assumptions” below. The
retirement plans are the subject of five-year experience studies by actuarial firms and various assumptions
and methods have been revised to reflect the results of such studies. The most recent experience studies

A-27



were completed for the five-year period ending June 30, 2014 with results first reflected in the June 30,
2015 valuations.

Historical Funding Progress
Actuarial Value (Smoothed)

($ in thousands)

Actuarial UAAL as
Actuarial Accrued Unfunded % of

Value of Liability AAL Annual Annual

Valuation Assets (AAL) - (UAAL) Funded Ratio Covered Covered

Date (AVA) Entry Age (AAL-AVA) (AVA/AAL) Payroll Payroll
ERS

6/30/2018 $13,412,046  $17,812,441 $4,400,395 75.3% $2,634,129 167.1%
6/30/2017 13,088,185 17,514,898 4,426,713 74.7 2,546,492 173.8
6/30/2016 12,854,518 17,199,688 4,345,170 74.7 2,384,358 182.2
6/30/2015 12,675,649 17,099,527 4,423,878 74.1 2,352,920 188.0
6/30/2014 12,376,120 16,991,963 4,615,843 72.8 2,315,625 199.3
6/30/2013* 12,129,804 16,982,449 4,852,645 71.4 2,335,773 207.8
6/30/2012 12,260,595 16,777,922 4,517,327 73.1 2,414,884 187.1
6/30/2011 12,667,557 16,656,905 3,989,348 76.0 2,486,780 160.4
6/30/2010 13,046,193 16,295,352 3,249,159 80.1 2,571,042 126.4
6/30/2009 13,613,606 15,878,022 2,264,416 85.7 2,674,155 84.7

IRS

6/30/2018 $75,024,364  $96,905,253 $21,880,889 77.4% $11,704,334 186.9%
6/30/2017 71,212,660 95,981,031 24,768,371 74.2 11,333,997 218.5
6/30/2016 68,161,710 91,721,775 23,560,065 74.3 10,783,277 218.5
6/30/2015 65,514,119 82,791,010 17,276,891 79.1 10,347,332 167.0
6/30/2014 62,061,722 75,772,117 13,710,395 81.9 9,993,686 137.2
6/30/2013° 58,594,837 72,220,865 13,626,028 81.1 9,924,682 137.3
6/30/2012 56,262,332 68,348,678 12,086,346 82.3 10,036,023 120.4
6/30/2011 55,427,716 65,978,640 10,550,924 84.0 10,099,278 104.5
6/30/2010 54,529,416 63,592,037 9,062,621 85.7 10,437,703 86.8
6/30/2009 53,438,604 59,450,116 6,011,512 89.9 10,641,543 56.5

2 Setting the AVA to equal the MVA as of June 30, 2013 as described under the heading “Actuarial Methods and
Assumptions” below, resulted in a net increase of the AVA of approximately $128.3 million as of June 30, 2013.
Absent such action, the AVA as of June 30, 2013 would have been approximately $12.002 billion and the funded ratio
as of June 30, 2013 would have been 70.67%.

b Setting the AVA to equal the MVA as of June 30, 2013 as described under the heading “Actuarial Methods and
Assumptions” below, resulted in a net increase of the AVA of approximately $926.7 million as of June 30, 2013.
Absent such action, the AVA as of June 30, 2013 would have been approximately $57.668 billion and the funded ratio
as of June 30, 2013 would have been 79.85%.

Sources: ERS and TRS actuarial reports.
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For comparative purposes, the funded status of the ERS and TRS plans for the ten most recent
actuarial valuation dates, using the MVA instead of the AVA, is presented in the following table.

Historical Funding Progress

Market Value
(8 in thousands)
Actuarial Funded UAAL as % of
Market Value Accrued Unfunded Ratio Annual Annual

Valuation of Assets Liability (AAL) AAL (UAAL) (MVA/ Covered Covered

Date (MVA) — Entry Age (AAL — MVA) AAL) Payroll Payroll
ERS
6/30/2018 $13,517,186 $17,812,441 $4,295,255 75.9% $2,634,129 163.1%
6/30/2017 13,098,299 17,514,898 4,416,599 74.8 2,546,492 173.4
6/30/2016 12,373,567 17,199,688 4,826,121 71.9 2,384,358 202.4
6/30/2015 12,967,964 17,099,527 4,131,563 75.8 2,352,920 175.6
6/30/2014 13,291,531 16,991,963 3,700,432 78.2 2,315,625 159.8
6/30/2013 12,129,804 16,982,449 4,852,645 71.4 2,335,773 207.8
6/30/2012 11,537,408 16,777,922 5,240,514 68.8 2,414,884 217.0
6/30/2011 12,233,380 16,656,905 4,423,525 73.4 2,486,780 177.9
6/30/2010 10,872,348 16,295,352 5,423,004 66.7 2,571,042 210.9
6/30/2009 10,550,357 15,878,022 5,327,665 66.4 2,674,155 199.2
TRS
6/30/2018 $75,532,925 $96,905,253 $21,372,328 77.9%  $11,704,334 182.6%
6/30/2017 71,340,972 95,981,031 24,640,059 74.3 11,333,997 217.4
6/30/2016 65,552,411 91,721,775 26,169,364 71.5 10,783,277 242.7
6/30/2015 66,799,111 82,791,010 15,991,899 80.7 10,347,332 154.5
6/30/2014 66,466,091 75,772,117 9,306,026 87.7 9,993,686 93.1
6/30/2013 58,594,837 72,220,865 13,626,028 81.1 9,924,682 137.3
6/30/2012 53,487,149 68,348,678 14,861,529 78.3 10,036,023 148.1
6/30/2011 54,084,176 65,978,640 11,894,464 82.0 10,099,278 117.8
6/30/2010 45,925,549 63,592,037 17,666,488 72.2 10,437,703 169.3
6/30/2009 42,478,583 59,450,116 16,971,533 71.5 10,641,543 159.5

Sources: ERS and TRS actuarial reports. Underlying actuarial data was used for purposes of percentage calculations.
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The following table presents a comparison of the AVA to the MVA, the ratio of the AVA to the
MVA and the funded ratio based on AVA compared to funded ratio based on MVA.

Funding Progress Comparison

($ in thousands)
Actuarial Value  Market Value of % of AVA to Funded Ratio Funded Ratio
Valuation Date  of Assets (AVA)  Assets (MVA) MVA (AVA) (MVA)
ERS
6/30/2018 $13,412,046 $13,517,186 99.2% 75.3% 75.9%
6/30/2017 13,088,185 13,098,299 99.9 74.7 74.8
6/30/2016 12,854,518 12,373,567 103.9 74.7 71.9
6/30/2015 12,675,649 12,967,964 97.7 74.1 75.8
6/30/2014 12,376,120 13,291,531 93.1 72.8 78.2
6/30/2013? 12,129,804 12,129,804 100.0 71.4 71.4
6/30/2012 12,260,595 11,537,408 106.3 73.1 68.8
6/30/2011 12,667,557 12,233,380 103.5 76.0 73.4
6/30/2010 13,046,193 10,872,348 120.0 80.1 66.7
6/30/2009 13,613,606 10,550,357 129.0 85.7 66.4
TRS
6/30/2018 $75,024,364 $75,532,925 99.3% 77.4% 77.9%
6/30/2017 71,212,660 71,340,972 99.8 74.2 74.3
6/30/2016 68,161,710 65,552,411 104.0 74.3 71.5
6/30/2015 65,514,119 66,799,111 98.1 79.1 80.7
6/30/2014 62,061,722 66,466,091 934 81.9 87.7
6/30/2013° 58,594,837 58,594,837 100.0 81.1 81.1
6/30/2012 56,262,332 53,487,149 105.2 82.3 78.3
6/30/2011 55,427,716 54,084,176 102.5 84.0 82.0
6/30/2010 54,529,416 45,925,549 118.7 85.7 72.2
6/30/2009 53,438,604 42,478,583 125.8 89.9 71.5

2 Setting the AVA to equal the MVA as of June 30, 2013 as described under the heading “Actuarial Methods and
Assumptions” below, resulted in a net increase of the AVA of approximately $128.3 million as of June 30, 2013.
Absent such action, the AVA as of June 30, 2013 would have been approximately $12.002 billion and the funded ratio
as of June 30, 2013 would have been 70.67%.

b Setting the AVA to equal the MVA as of June 30, 2013 as described under the heading “Actuarial Methods and
Assumptions” below, resulted in a net increase of the AVA of approximately $926.7 million as of June 30, 2013.
Absent such action, the AVA as of June 30, 2013 would have been approximately $57.668 billion and the funded ratio
as of June 30, 2013 would have been 79.85%.

Sources: ERS and TRS actuarial reports. Underlying actuarial data was used for purposes of percentage calculations.
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Financial Reporting of Net Pension Liability. ERS and TRS implemented the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) Statement No. 67 (“GASB 67”) beginning with their
Comprehensive Annual Financial Statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2014. For additional
information, refer to Note 15, “Retirement Systems,” in APPENDIX B hereto. GASB 67 superseded
previous guidance for the financial reports of pension plans by, among other things, requiring additional
disclosure in the notes to financial statements and in required supplementary information; it also provides
guidance regarding the calculation of the net pension liability (NPL) as the difference between the total
pension liability (the present value of projected benefit payments to employees based on their past service,
using new parameters) and the fiduciary net position (consisting mostly of investments reflected at fair
value). These disclosures are reported in accordance with accounting standards, not funding standards, and
do not change the actuarial methods or assumptions that ERS and TRS use for their actuarial valuations to
determine the funding status of the plans.

Net Pension Liability
(8 in thousands)
Fiduciary Net
Position as Net Pension
Total Percentage of Liability as
Pension Fiduciary Net Pension  Total Pension Covered Percentage
Liability Net Position Liability Liability Employee of Covered
Fiscal Year (TPL) (FNP) (NPL) (FNP/TPL) Payroll® Payroll
ERS
6/30/2018 $17,628,219  $13,517,186 $4,111,033 76.7% $2,635,896 156.0%
6/30/2017 17,159,634 13,098,299 4,061,335 76.3 2,565,918 158.3
6/30/2016 17,103,987 12,373,567 4,730,420 72.3 2,390,457 197.9
6/30/2015 17,019,362 12,967,964 4,051,398 76.2 2,353,225 172.2
6/30/2014 17,042,149 13,291,531 3,750,618 78.0 2,335,773 160.6
6/30/2013° 16,982,449 12,129,804 4,852,645 71.4 2,335,773 207.8
TRS
6/30/2018 $94,095,067  $75,532,925  $18,562,142 80.3% $12,009,066 154.6%
6/30/2017 89,926,280 71,340,972 18,585,308 79.3 11,596,664 160.3
6/30/2016 86,183,526 65,552,411 20,631,115 76.1 11,075,907 186.3
6/30/2015 82,023,118 66,799,111 15,224,007 81.4 10,697,384 142.3
6/30/2014 79,099,772 66,466,091 12,633,681 84.0 10,349,862 122.1
6/30/2013° 76,019,717 58,594,837 17,424,880 77.1 10,345,916 168.4

2 Covered Employee Payroll may not equal the amount shown as Annual Covered Payroll in the previous table
“Historical Funding Progress — Market Value ($ in thousands),” which amounts present “snapshots” of the annualized
compensation of the active members as of the dates of the respective valuations. As shown in this “Net Pension
Liability” table, Covered Employee Payroll represents the actual payroll during the fiscal years upon which the
employer contributions were made.

b Since GASB Statement No. 67 was not effective for FY 2013, the FY 2013 audited financial statement and the
actuary’s GASB Statement No. 67 Report as of June 30, 2014 was used to report the FY 2013 information.

Sources: ERS and TRS audited financial statements.
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Investment Fund Management. ERS and TRS are governed by Boards of Trustees with broad
statutory powers including the power to invest and reinvest the assets of ERS and TRS, respectively. The
investment functions of the Systems are vested in these Boards as set forth in Georgia law (O.C.G.A. §
47-2-31 and § 47-3-27). Each Board of Trustees elects an Investment Committee as set forth in the
By-Laws of the said Board of Trustees. Investments for ERS and TRS are under the day-to-day
management of the Division of Investment Services (“DIS”). In the domestic equity portion of the fund,
the DIS utilizes different styles of management. Passive (index based) management is utilized as a low
cost, low benchmark risk strategy for a core portion of the equity assets. Active management of the common
stock portfolio is based on the belief that active management can enhance returns to the fund while
maintaining the same conservative investment policy which is the guiding principle behind the investment
of all of the System’s assets. The DIS also employs investment advisory firms to assist in common stock
management. Each such advisory firm is evaluated on both qualitative and quantitative criteria. As a
minimum, an advisory firm must meet the following criteria:

1. Advisory firms shall have a five-year composite performance record that complies with
AIMR-PPS or its successor organization and standards.

2. Assets under management of at least three billion dollars except assets under management
shall be at least $750 million for small or mid-capitalization advisory firms.

3. In all cases, the portfolio of either ERS or TRS allocated to the advisory firm shall not
exceed twenty-five percent (25%) of the advisory firm’s total assets under management. Additionally, the
combined assets of ERS and TRS allocated to the advisory firm shall not exceed thirty-five (35%) of the
advisory firm’s total assets under management.

4. In choosing advisory firms, the credentials of the advisory firm shall be considered
including consideration of the number of CFAs, the performance record of the firm, and the stability of the
advisory firm’s personnel.

5. Advisory firms shall respond promptly to queries offered by the DIS. Advisory firms are
subject to the related procedures and reporting promulgated by the DIS.

6. In the event that two advisory firms are equally capable, an advisory firm with an office
located in the State will be given preference.

The DIS maintains a “Master Approved List of Common Stocks” eligible for investment of pension
funds. The Master Approved List contains a current list of companies which are considered to meet a level
of risk and potential return suitable for the Systems. DIS undertakes an ongoing analysis of issuers of
common stock and adds or removes companies from the Master Approved list based upon a variety of
screening criteria. The Master Approved List assists the Investment Committee in its approval process by
providing a population of eligible companies which have been thoroughly screened by DIS research
analysts.

The Investment Committee reviews asset allocation decisions and the equity portfolio mix on a
yearly basis. There may, however, be interim allocation decisions due to market or other conditions when
rebalancing is necessary. The Investment Committee has authorized the Chief Investment Officer and the
Co-Chief Investment Officers to move up to two percent (2%) of the market value of the respective
portfolios among asset classes between Investment Committee meetings.

Asset Allocation. Permissible investments of the Systems are set forth in the Public Retirement
Systems Investment Authority Law (O.C.G.A. § 47-20-80 through O.C.G.A. § 47-20-86). In accordance
with O.C.G.A. § 47-20-84, the investment assets of the Systems are prohibited from being allocated more
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than 75% to equity securities. Accordingly, current policy is to maintain equity exposure on a cost basis
between 55% and 75% and fixed income between 25% and 45%. The cost of investments is computed
using the original cost of equity securities and the amortized cost of bonds, which means that premiums
and discounts are recognized totally over the life of the bonds.

Fixed-income investments include both bonds and mortgages of various types selected on the basis
of return, quality, marketability, and overall suitability to the System’s portfolio. Equity investments
include both domestic and international equities and allow for maximization of total return. Real estate
assets of the Systems are limited and restricted by law solely to any structure occupied by the System and
to real property acquired through judicial foreclosure of mortgage loans owned and held by such System at
time of foreclosure, or by any other judicial or court action that assigns ownership of real property to the
System. It is the policy of each System to make every effort to sell or otherwise dispose of all such property
except that of any structure occupied by such System within five years of date of acquisition. Effective
July 1, 2012, ERS is permitted to invest in alternative investment instruments, such as private placements
and private placement investment pools, as described in and permitted by O.C.G.A. § 47-20-87; provided,
however, that such alternative investments shall not in the aggregate exceed five percent (5%) of the assets
of ERS at any time. Investment in alternative investment instruments is not authorized for TRS.

The following table presents the annualized rates of return (net of fees) of ERS and TRS through
FY 2018.

Historical Rates of Return

ERS TRS
1 year 9.18% 8.95%
3 years 7.57 7.50
5 years 8.66 8.59
10 years 7.47 7.42
20 years 6.00 6.05

Source: Division of Investment Services, ERS and TRS.

The rates of return presented in the table above are “time-weighted rates of return” which reflect
investment performance. The percentages above are derived by taking the ending daily plan balance,
adjusted for contributions and distributions, and then dividing by beginning daily plan balance (with each
daily result then linked together to provide for an annual return). For information on “money-weighted
rates of return” for ERS and TRS, which is equivalent to an “internal rate of return” that just compares a
beginning balance with an ending balance, see Note 15, “Retirement Systems,” in APPENDIX B herein.

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.)

A-33



The following table presents a comparison of the assumed investment rate of return for each of
ERS and TRS and the actual time-weighted investment rate of return for each of ERS and TRS for the last
ten years.

Historical Rates of Return

ERS TRS

Fiscal Year Assumed  Actual Assumed  Actual
2018 7.30% 9.18% 7.25% 8.95%
2017 7.40 12.43 7.50 12.50
2016 7.50 1.40 7.50 1.37
2015 7.50 3.74 7.50 3.70
2014 7.50 17.29 7.50 17.17
2013 7.50 13.33 7.50 13.28
2012 7.50 2.19 7.50 2.16
2011 7.50 21.29 7.50 21.27
2010 7.50 10.99 7.50 11.09
2009 7.50 -12.97 7.50 -13.06

Source: Division of Investment Services, ERS and TRS.

Status of Actuarially Determined Employer Contribution. ERS is a multi-employer plan; however,
State general fund appropriations are the source for the majority of the ADEC payments. According to
0.C.G.A. § 47-2-55, ADEC payments for ERS are borne by appropriations from State and federal funds.
0.C.G.A. § 47-2-57 specifies that, on or before June 1 of each year, the normal cost and unfunded accrued
liability contribution rates, determined based on the last annual actuarial valuation, are to be certified by
the ERS Board to each employer. Each employer is required to make provision in its annual budget for
funds with which to pay to the ERS an amount equal to the normal cost and unfunded accrued liability
contributions on the earnable compensation of all such employer’s eligible members.

TRS is a multi-employer plan; however, the employer contributions for TRS are comprised of funds
from State general fund appropriations, local school districts, colleges, and universities, and federal and
other funds. O.C.G.A. § 47-3-48 specifies that, thirty (30) days prior to the time when the State Board of
Education fixes the minimum schedule of teacher salaries for the ensuing year, the normal cost and
unfunded accrued liability contribution rates, determined based on the last annual actuarial valuation, are
to be certified by the TRS Board to each employer. Each employer (other than the Board of Regents) is
required to make provision in its annual budget submitted to the State School Superintendent for funds with
which to pay to the TRS an amount equal to the normal cost and unfunded accrued liability contributions
on the earnable compensation of all such employer’s eligible members. The Board of Regents in its
estimates of funds necessary for the operation of its units submitted to the General Assembly is to include
a request for an appropriation payable to the TRS Board in an amount equal to its portion of the normal
cost and unfunded accrued liability contributions and the General Assembly is to make an appropriation to
the TRS Board sufficient to provide for such contributions as a part of the earnable compensation of such
employer’s eligible members.

The following table indicates, on a fiscal year basis, the ADEC for ERS and TRS, the portion of
the ADEC funded by organizations in the State reporting entity, any amount unfunded, and the portion of
the ADEC funded by organizations in the State reporting entity as a percentage of total State general fund
appropriations. (For additional information about the State reporting entity, refer to Note 1.B. Financial
Reporting Entity, in APPENDIX B hereto.) Employer offsets are not included in the amounts provided
below and are not available. An employer offset exists under the ERS plan for employees who maintain
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membership with ERS based upon employment that started prior to July 1, 1982 (old plan members). The
old plan offset as of June 30, 2018 is 4.75% of covered compensation paid by the employer on behalf of
employees. As described under the heading “Projected Annual Actuarially Determined Employer
Contributions,” however, it is expected that a portion of the ADEC payments made to ERS and TRS by
entities not within the State reporting entity are derived from State general fund appropriations. See
“Projected Annual Actuarially Determined Employer Contributions” below.

State Reporting Entity Impact
ERS Annual Contribution Status

($ in thousands)
State
Reporting State Reporting
State Reporting Entity Entity Portion
Entity Portion as a % of State
Fiscal Amount Portion Amount General Fund
Year ADEC Unfunded® of ADEC® Unfunded Appropriations
2018 $650,073 $(2,095) $596,729 - 2.47%
2017 624,623 (658) 551,590 - 2.38
2016 595,124 (442) 518,281 - 2.36
2015 517,220 (942) 452,708 - 2.26
2014 428,982 (770) 373,127 - 1.95
2013 358,376 (616) 306,738 - 1.68
2012 273,623 (411) 238,738 - 1.37
2011 261,132 - 222,401 - 1.33
2010 263,064 - 236,656 - 1.51
2009% 282,103 897 258,307 $897 1.45

*FY 2009 was restated to reflect a contribution shortfall of $897,000 by one employer group — Locally Elected
Tax Commissioners. Combined with an additional shortfall of $5,262,000 for the same employer group in years
prior to FY 2001, the total deficit of $6,159,000 was expected to be repaid over ten years. Repayment of the
deficit commenced in October 2011 and amounts shown in the “Amounts Unfunded” column for FY 2012
through FY 2018 represent such repayments. Although FY 2019 is not shown in the table above, during FY
2019, the repayment was completed, approximately three years ahead of the original schedule.

® Amounts reflect the portion of the ADEC funded by organizations within the State reporting entity and consist
of State, federal and other monies.

Sources: ERS audited financial statements, ERS actuarial reports, the State of Georgia CAFR and the
Governor’s Budget in Brief.
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State Reporting Entity Impact
TRS Annual Employer Contribution Status

($ in thousands)
State
State Reporting State Reporting
Reporting Entity Entity Portion as a
Entity Portion % of State General
Fiscal Amount Portion Amount Fund
Year ADEC Unfunded of ADEC* Unfunded Appropriations
2018 $2,018,724 - $349,152 - 1.45%
2017 1,654,844 - 283,994 - 1.23
2016 1,580,532 - 269,656 - 1.23
2015 1,406,706 - 239,464 - 1.20
2014 1,270,963 - 214,220 - 1.12
2013 1,180,469 - 194,804 - 1.06
2012 1,082,224 - 175,588 - 1.01
2011 1,089,912 - 170,893 - 1.02
2010 1,057,416 - 161,184 - 1.03
2009 1,026,287 - 147,863 - 0.83

2 Amounts reflect the portion of the ADEC funded by organizations within the State reporting entity and consist
of State, federal and other monies. Certain amounts funded by other entities, however, are derived from State
appropriations.

Sources: TRS audited financial statements, TRS actuarial reports, the State of Georgia CAFR and the
Governor’s Budget in Brief.
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Contribution Rate Structure. Actuarially determined employer contribution rates for ERS and TRS
for FY 2019, FY 2020, and FY 2021 are as shown in the following table. The employer contribution rate
structures of ERS and TRS are established by their respective Boards of Trustees under statutory guidelines,
including requirements for the minimum annual contributions necessary to ensure the actuarial soundness
of ERS and TRS (see O.C.G.A. § 47-20-10). Unless the employee elects otherwise, an employee who
currently maintains membership with ERS based upon State employment that started prior to July 1, 1982,
is an “old plan” member subject to the plan provisions in effect prior to July 1, 1982. Members hired on or
after July 1, 1982 but prior to January 1, 2009 are “new plan” members subject to the modified plan
provisions. Effective January 1, 2009, newly hired State employees, as well as rehired State employees
who did not maintain eligibility for the “old” or “new” plan, are members of the Georgia State Employees’
Pension and Savings Plan “GSEPS”. ERS members hired prior to January 1, 2009 also have the option to
irrevocably change their membership to the GSEPS plan. Employer offsets are the portion of the
employees’ required contribution to the pension system that the employer makes on the employees’ behalf.
An employer offset exists under the ERS plan for old plan members.

ERS TRS
Employer Contributions
Expressed as a % of
Covered Compensation Old Plan New Plan GSEPS
For FY 2019
Normal Cost 5.98%
Less Employer Offset -4.75
Employer Normal Cost 1.23 5.98% 2.98% 7.77%
UAAL 18.68 18.68 18.68 13.13
Total Rate 19.91% 24.66% 21.66% 20.90%
For FY 2020
Normal Cost 6.06%
Less Employer Offset -4.75
Employer Normal Cost 1.31 6.06% 3.04% 7.77%
UAAL 18.60 18.60 18.60 13.37
Total Rate 19.91% 24.66% 21.64% 21.14%
For FY 2021
Normal Cost 6.20%
Less Employer Offset -4.75
Employer Normal Cost 1.45 6.20% 3.11% 7.25%
UAAL 18.46 18.46 18.46 11.81
Total Rate 19.91% 24.66% 21.57% 19.06%

Sources: ERS and TRS actuarial reports.
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Employee contribution rates for ERS and TRS for FY 2019, FY 2020, and FY 2021 are as shown
in the following table. Employee contribution rates for ERS are fixed by statute. The TRS Board may
establish employee rates between 5.00% and 6.00%.

ERS TRS
Employee Contributions
Expressed as a % of Salary Old Plan New Plan GSEPS
FY 2019
Pension contribution 6.00% 1.25% 1.25% 6.00%
Group Term Life Insurance contribution 0.50% 0.25% Not Covered Not Covered
Employer Off-set 5.00%
Total percent of pay contributed 1.50% 1.50% 1.25% 6.00%
FY 2020
Pension contribution 6.00% 1.25% 1.25% 6.00%
Group Term Life Insurance contribution 0.50% 0.25% Not Covered Not Covered
Employer Off-set 5.00%
Total percent of pay contributed 1.50% 1.50% 1.25% 6.00%
FY 2021
Pension contribution 6.00% 1.25% 1.25% 6.00%
Group Term Life Insurance contribution 0.50% 0.25% Not Covered Not Covered
Employer Off-set 5.00%
Total percent of pay contributed 1.50% 1.50% 1.25% 6.00%

Sources: ERS and TRS actuarial reports.

Projected Annual Actuarially Determined Employer Contributions. The following tables indicate,
for the applicable fiscal and valuation years, commencing with FY 2019 and the valuation year ending
June 30, 2016, the projected ADEC for ERS and TRS based on the estimated normal costs of benefits and
the payments made to amortize the estimated UAAL. Also shown are the actual funded ratios per the 2016,
2017, and 2018 actuarial valuations, the estimated prospective funded ratios for valuation years 2019
through 2023, the estimated prospective portion of the projected ADEC funded by State general fund
appropriations for fiscal years 2019 through 2026 (including payments made from State general fund
appropriations for entities not within the State reporting entity), and the portion of the projected ADEC
funded by State general fund appropriations as a percentage of total State general fund appropriations for
fiscal years 2019 through 2026. Other than the last two columns, the information in the following tables
regarding ERS and TRS was prepared by their enrolled actuary. The information in the last two columns
of the following tables was derived by the Governor’s Office of Planning and Budget from revenue
estimates of the State Economist and using the assumptions noted. The following tables are based on the
ERS and TRS actuarial valuations as of June 30, 2018 and utilize the same assumptions as the June 30,
2018 actuarial valuations.

For FY 2019, State general fund appropriations for the ADEC payments for ERS and TRS were
approximately $378 million and $1.359 billion, respectively, and comprised, together, approximately 6.8%
of total State general fund appropriations.

For FY 2020, State general fund appropriations are estimated to comprise approximately 54% of
the ADEC payments for TRS and 69% for ERS. State general fund appropriations in FY 2020 for the
ADEC payments for ERS and TRS are estimated to be approximately $401 million and $1.414 billion,
respectively, and are estimated to comprise, together, approximately 6.9% of total State general fund
appropriations.
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State General Fund Appropriations Impact

ERS Projected Annual Actuarially Determined Employer Contribution Status

($ in thousands)
State Portion of
ADEC as % of
Valua- Funded State General
tion Fiscal ~ Employer ADEC Ratio State Portion Fund
Year Year Rate (%) Annual Payroll Payment AVA AAL UAAL (%) of ADEC® Appropriations?
2016 2019 24.66 %/ $2,380,237 $548,293 $12,854,518  $17,199,688  $4,345,170 74.7% $378,322 1.48%
21.66°
2017 2020 24.662/ 2,542,257 581,332 13,088,185 17,514,898 4,426,713 74.7 401,119 1.53
21.64°
2018 2021 24.662/ 2,637,598 599,114 13,412,046 17,812,441 4,400,395 75.3 413,389 1.56
21.57°
2019 2022 24622/ 2,653,413 599,591 13,442,326 17,794,463 4,352,137 75.5 413,718 1.49
21.57°
2020 2023 24582/ 2,609,218 600,293 13,528,950 17,668,931 4,139,981 76.6 414,202 1.44
21.57°
2021 2024 24.53%/ 2,681,337 600,256 13,820,076 17,570,932 3,750,856 78.7 414,177 1.39
21.57°
2022 2025 24.49°/ 2,694,061 600,682 13,992,047 17,449,192 3,457,145 80.2 414,471 1.35
21.57°
2023 2026 24.46°/ 2,706,649 601,347 14,117,085 17,304,561 3,187,476 81.6 414,929 1.30
21.57°

2 (Old Plan and New Plan.

> GSEPS.

¢ Amounts reflect the portion of the projected ADEC, 69%, estimated to be comprised of State general fund
appropriations. This portion of the projected ADEC for FY 2019 — FY 2026 is based upon the estimated percent of
payroll to be paid through state general fund appropriations during FY 2019.
4 State general fund appropriations for FY 2021 — FY 2026 are based on the most recent revenue estimates of the
State Economist.

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.)
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State General Fund Appropriations Impact
TRS Projected Annual Actuarially Determined Employer Contribution Status

($ in thousands)
State Portion
of ADEC as
Employ % of State
Valua Fisca er Funded State General Fund
-tion 1 Rate Annual ADEC Ratio Portion of  Appropriation
Year  Year (%) Payroll Payment AVA AAL UAAL (%) ADEC? sP
$12,042,3  $2,516,85 $68,161,7 $91,721,7 $23,560,0 o $1,359,1 5.30%
2016 2019 20.90% 86 9 10 75 65 74.3% 04 e
2017 2020 2114 12,391,32 2,619,528 71,212,6(6) 95,981,0? 24,768,3Z 742 1,414,5451 541
2018 2021 19.06 12,608,44 2,403,170 75,024,36 96,905,25 21,880,88 774 1,297,71 4.90
5 4 3 9 2
2019 2022 19.42 12,852,52 2.495.960 77,965,45 100,319,4 22,354,06 777 1,347,831 4.86
4 9 59 9 8
2020 2023 19,48 13,107,87 2,553,413 81,505,97 103,718,9 22,212,99 736 1,378,84 4.80
2 0 60 0 3
2021 2004 1925 13,369,93 2,573,712 85,654.,64 107,113,0 21,458,36 20.0 1,389,80 4.67
1 0 06 6 4
2002 2025 19.30 13,632,60 2,631,002 89,241,81 110,509,1 21,267,36 30.8 1,420,79 461
3 7 85 8 0
2023 2026 19.44 13,904,93 2,703,120 92,662,8? 1 13,9019,§ 21,239,02 314 1,459,62 458

2 Amounts reflect the portion of the projected ADEC estimated to be comprised of State general fund appropriations
using the State Auditor’s estimate of 54.0%. This portion of the projected ADEC for FY 2019 — FY 2026 is based
upon the estimated percent of payroll to be paid through state general fund appropriations during FY 2019.

b State general fund appropriations for FY 2021 — FY 2026 are based on the most recent revenue estimates of the
State Economist.

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions. A number of significant assumptions are used to determine
projected pension obligations and related costs. The amount of benefit to be paid depends on a number of
future events incorporated into the pension benefit formula, including estimates of the average life of
employees/survivors and average years of service rendered and is measured based on assumptions
concerning future interest rates and future employee compensation levels. In addition, actuarial valuations
include assumptions regarding the long-term rate of return on plan assets. Should actual experience differ
from actuarial assumptions, the projected pension obligations and related pension costs would be affected
in future years. Refer to Note 15, “Retirement Systems,” in APPENDIX B hereto for additional detail
regarding significant actuarial assumptions.

Georgia law requires that at least once every five years an experience study be performed on TRS
and ERS. An experience study is the investigation into the mortality, service and compensation experience
of the members and beneficiaries by comparing the actual experience with the assumed experience during
the five year period. The actuarial firm preparing the experience study will recommend changes to the
assumptions and methods if there are any significant differences. The purpose of the experience study is
to assess the reasonableness of the actuarial assumptions and methods used by the Systems.

The ERS experience study for the five year period ending June 30, 2014 was completed and
presented to the ERS Board of Trustees on December 17, 2015. As a result of the study, the ERS Board of
Trustees adopted: (1) revised rates of separation from active service due to withdrawal, disability, death,
and retirement; (2) revised rates of salary increases; (3) revised rates of post-retirement mortality; and (4)
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reductions in the price inflation rate from 3.00% to 2.75% and the wage inflation rate from 3.75% to 3.25%.
The aggregate effect of the changes noted above resulted in an increase to the ERS UAAL of $80.4 million
in valuation year 2015.

The TRS experience study for the five year period ending June 30, 2014 was completed and
presented to the TRS Board of Trustees on November 18, 2015. As a result of the study, the TRS Board of
Trustees adopted: (1) revised rates of separation from active service due to withdrawal, disability, death,
and retirement; (2) revised rates of salary increases; (3) revised rates of post-retirement mortality; and (4)
reductions in the price inflation rate from 3.00% to 2.75% and the wage inflation rate from 3.75% to 3.25%.
The aggregate effect of the changes noted above resulted in an increase to the TRS UAAL of $688.3 million
in valuation year 2015.

The next five year experience studies for TRS and ERS for the period ending June 30, 2019 are
expected to be completed in the fall of 2020.

Summary of Recent TRS Changes. On July 21, 2010, the TRS Board adopted a smoothed valuation
interest rate methodology which has been used since the June 30, 2009 actuarial valuation to calculate the
ADEC. The method utilizes a 30-year time horizon and determines the interest rate needed over a defined
23-year look-forward period, so that the ultimate investment rate of return (assumed to be 7.5% per year)
is earned over such 30-year period, based on the actual rates of return for a 7-year look-back period. TRS
adopted the smoothed valuation interest rate methodology based on its view that it allows for better
alignment of employee and employer contribution rates with changes in the economy. With this method,
TRS increases contribution rates during periods of rising revenues and investment returns, while
maintaining current contribution rates during periods of declining revenues and investment returns. With
the smoothed valuation interest rate method, the required contributions are counter-cyclical, allowing
employees and employers to contribute at lower rates during bad economic times and at higher rates when
funding is more readily available.

On July 27, 2011, the TRS Board of Trustees adopted a refinement of its smoothed valuation
interest rate methodology to include a corridor around the long-term investment rate of return, effectively
reducing the potential volatility of the actuarial valuation results reflected in the financial statements. This
approach has been used since the June 30, 2010 actuarial valuation and was retroactively applied to the
June 30, 2009 actuarial valuation. The corridor around the long-term investment rate of return (i.e., the
average investment rate of return over the 40-year period beginning on the valuation date) is determined
such that the long-term investment rate of return is within five (5) percentile ranks above and below the
ultimate investment rate of return over a 40-year period based on TRS market assumptions and asset
allocations, which as of the June 30, 2017 actuarial valuation is between 7.20% and 7.78%. The
methodology to determine the AVA also includes a corridor between 75% and 125% of the MV A around
the AVA.

On November 20, 2013, the TRS Board adopted a formal funding policy to define TRS funding
objectives, the benchmarks used to measure progress, and the primary methods and assumptions that were
used to develop the benchmarks. At that time, two significant changes in actuarial methods and assumptions
were adopted by the TRS Board. First, the method used to amortize the unfunded actuarial accrued liability
(UAAL) was changed from an open 30-year period to a closed 30-year period. The previous 30-year open
period meant that with each actuarial valuation, the total UAAL would be amortized over a new 30-year
period and in effect “refinanced” the UAAL each year, resulting in the UAAL never being paid off. The
new 30-year closed period meant that the initial UAAL (the UAAL as of June 30, 2013) would be amortized
over a closed 30-year period. Each year thereafter, the change in the UAAL would be amortized over a
separate closed 30-year period. The blended amortization period as of the June 30, 2018 actuarial valuation
was 25.6 years. The purpose of this method was to lead to an eventual reduction in the UAAL with the
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intention of it being paid off. Second, the method used in smoothing asset values was changed from 7-year
smoothing to 5-year smoothing, as a shorter period results in a closer fit to market value. The actuarial
value of assets also was set to equal the market value of the assets which fully recognized the remaining
unrealized gains and losses from the prior 7 years and facilitated the transition from 7-year smoothing to 5-
year smoothing.

On May 15, 2019, the TRS Board adopted changes to the Board’s funding policy to reflect a change
from the smoothed valuation interest rate methodology to a constant interest rate method. In conjunction
with the change in methodology, the long-term assumed rate of return in assets (discount rate) has been
changed from 7.50% to 7.25%, and the assumed annual rate of inflation has been reduced from 2.75% to
2.50%. The combined impact of these changes decreased the UAAL by $133.4 million.

The TRS actuarial report prepared by the TRS enrolled actuary dated May 15, 2019 indicates that,
as of June 30, 2018, TRS has an UAAL in the amount of $21.9 billion and was used to set the ADEC for
FY 2021. The valuation reflects the TRS Board adopted changes that were made on May 15, 2019 as
described above. Significant actuarial assumptions used in the TRS actuarial report as of June 30, 2018
include: (a) an investment rate of return of 7.25%, (b) projected salary increases of 3.25% - 8.75%, (c) an
annual inflation rate of 2.50%, (d) anticipated annual cost-of-living adjustments of 3.00%, (e) amortization
of the UAAL over a closed period of 30 years, and (f) 5-year smoothing of assets. The TRS actuarial report
indicates that, in the opinion of the actuary, TRS is operating on an actuarially sound basis, and in
conformity with the minimum funding standards of Georgia law.

The TRS audited financial statements shows a net position restricted for pensions as of June 30,
2018 of approximately $75.5 billion, an increase of 5.9% from the June 30, 2017 net position restricted for
pensions of approximately $71.3 billion. As of April 30, 2019, TRS had a net position restricted for
pensions of approximately $78.4 billion (unaudited), an increase of 3.8% from the June 30, 2018 net
position restricted for pensions.

Summary of Recent ERS Changes. Following the actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2009, ERS
determined that an employer group within ERS had not contributed its required contribution. Pursuant to
0.C.G.A. § 47-2-292, “[t]he offices of the tax commissioners, tax collectors, and tax receivers of the
counties of this State are declared to be adjuncts of the Department of Revenue” and these officials and
their employees are eligible for membership in the ERS. Currently there are approximately 1,000 active
and retired members who are so eligible. Related to the required employer contributions for such members
of ERS, O.C.G.A. § 47-2-292 provides that “[t]he state revenue commissioner is authorized and directed to
pay from the funds appropriated for the operation of the Department of Revenue, the employer contributions
required by this chapter, upon receipt of an invoice from the retirement system.” Pursuant to a review by
ERS, it was determined that the Department of Revenue owed ERS employer contributions of
approximately $6.2 million for FY 1997 — FY 2009. On March 31, 2011, ERS received $11,022,124 from
the Department of Revenue to fully fund the pension liability related to local tax officials’ retirement
benefits for FY 2010 and FY 2011. ERS’s FY 2010 actuarial report reflects a contribution shortfall of
approximately $6.2 million for past due amounts from FY 1997 through FY 2009 for local tax
commissioners. The State expected to fund this obligation over a ten year period through higher
contribution rate assessments to the Department of Revenue in the amount of $615,943 each year. The
higher contribution rate assessments began to be paid effective October 1, 2011 in monthly installments of
$51,329, and were completed during Fiscal Year 2019, approximately three years ahead of the original ten-
year schedule.

On December 19, 2013, the ERS Board adopted a formal funding policy to define ERS funding
objectives, the benchmarks used to measure progress, and the primary methods and assumptions that will
be used to develop the benchmarks. Two significant changes in actuarial methods and assumptions were
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adopted by the ERS Board. First, the method used to amortize the unfunded actuarial accrued liability
(UAAL) was changed from an open 30-year period to a closed 25-year period. The previous 30-year open
period meant that with each actuarial valuation, the total UAAL would be amortized over a new 30-year
period and, in effect, “refinanced” the UAAL each year. The new 25-year closed period means that the
initial UAAL (FY 2013) would be amortized over a closed 25-year period. Each year thereafter, any
incremental change in the UAAL would be amortized over a separate closed 25-year period. The blended
amortization period as of the June 30, 2018 actuarial valuation is 15.3 years. This method will lead to an
eventual reduction in the UAAL with the intention of it being paid off, and in a shorter (25-year) timeframe
than previously utilized. Second, the method used in smoothing assets was changed from 7-year smoothing
to 5-year smoothing. A shorter period results in a closer fit to market value. The actuarial value of assets
also was set to equal the market value of the assets for the FY 2013 actuarial valuation, which fully
recognized the remaining unrealized gains and losses from the prior 7 years and facilitated the transition
from 7-year smoothing to 5-year smoothing.

On March 15, 2018, the ERS Board adopted an updated version of its funding policy, effective with
the June 30, 2017 valuation, which changes the system’s assumed investment rate of return. In the years
preceding the June 30, 2017 valuation, the system assumed a 7.50% rate of return. Beginning with the June
30, 2017 valuation, the rate of return assumption will be reduced by 0.1% (10 basis points) from the prior
year in any year in which the actual investment rate of return exceeds the assumed rate of return. If the
actual rate of return does not exceed the assumed rate of return in a given year, then the assumed rate of
return will remain the same for the following year. The reductions in the assumed rate of return will
continue until the assumed rate of return reaches the Board’s target of a 7.00% return assumption. For the
year ended June 30, 2018, the system’s actual rate of return of 9.18% exceeded the assumed rate of return
of 7.40%, which resulted in a decrease in the rate of return assumption to 7.30% from 7.40%.

The ERS actuarial report prepared by the enrolled actuary dated April 18, 2019 indicates that, as
of June 30, 2018, ERS has an UAAL in the amount of $4.4 billion and was used to set the ADEC for FY
2021. The valuation reflects the change in the rate of return assumption as described above; this change
had the effect of increasing the AAL by $161.1 million. Significant actuarial assumptions used in the ERS
actuarial report as of June 30, 2018 include: (a) an investment rate of return of 7.30%, (b) projected salary
increases of 3.25% - 7.00%, (c) an annual inflation rate of 2.75%, (d) no cost-of-living adjustments, ()
amortization of the UAAL over a closed period of 25 years, and (f) 5-year smoothing of assets. The ERS
actuarial report indicates that, in the opinion of the actuary, ERS is operating on an actuarially sound basis
and in conformity with the minimum funding standards of Georgia law.

The ERS audited financial statements show a net position restricted for pensions as of June 30,
2018 of approximately $13.5 billion, an increase of 3.2% from the June 30, 2017 net position restricted for
pensions of approximately $13.1 billion. As of April 30, 2019, ERS had a net position restricted for
pensions of approximately $13.6 billion (unaudited), an increase of 0.7% from the June 30, 2018 net
position restricted for pensions.

Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) Statements 67 and 68. On June 25, 2012,
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) approved GASB Statement Nos. 67 and 68,
which impacts the accounting and financial reporting for defined benefit pension plans and for state and
local governments that participate in such plans. Statement No. 67 superseded existing guidance for the
financial reports of pension plans by, among other things, requiring additional disclosure in the notes to
financial statements and in required supplementary information; it also provides guidance regarding the
calculation of the net pension liability (“NPL”) as the difference between the total pension liability (the
present value of projected benefit payments to employees based on their past service, using new parameters)
and the net plan position (consisting mostly of investments reflected at fair value). ERS and TRS
implemented GASB Statement No. 67 in their Comprehensive Annual Financial Statements for FY 2014.
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For additional information, refer to the prior section entitled “Financial Reporting of Net Pension Liability”
and also Note 15, “Retirement Systems,” in APPENDIX B hereto. Statement No. 68 revises and establishes
new financial reporting requirements for most state and local governments that provide their employees
with pension benefits by, among other things, requiring governments to recognize long-term obligations
for pension benefits as a liability. Major changes include: (1) the inclusion of the NPL on the government
employer’s balance sheet (previously, unfunded liabilities typically were included as notes to the
government’s financial statements) rather than the portion of the actuarially determined employer
contribution that has not been funded; (2) separation of expenses from funding: reported annual pension
expense will no longer be connected to the funding of the plan and could be significantly different from the
actuarially determined employer contribution, and could be more volatile; (3) use of a single blended
discount rate reflecting a long-term expected rate of return on plan assets to the extent that assets are
projected to be available to pay benefits and a municipal borrowing rate to the extent a funding shortfall is
projected; and (4) immediate recognition of certain benefit plan changes, which generally would increase
pension expense; and shorter amortization periods than currently used to recognize the effects on the total
pension liability for changes in assumptions and differences in assumptions and actual experience. In
addition, the new standard requires cost-sharing employers to record a liability and expense equal to their
proportionate share of the collective NPL and expense for the cost-sharing plan while under the prior
standard, an employer in a cost-sharing plan would report a liability only if it failed to make its full
contractually required contribution to the plan. GASB Statement No. 68 was implemented by state and
local governments that provide their employees with pension benefits for FY 2015. The State reported a
net pension liability for all plans of the primary government of $7.3 billion in its entity-wide financial
statements for FY 2018, compared to $8.4 billion for FY 2017. For additional information please refer to
Note 15, “Retirement Systems” in APPENDIX B hereto.

Other Post-Employment Benefit Plans

Introduction. Retirees of State government and local school districts who are eligible to receive
monthly retirement benefits from a State-sponsored retirement system and are enrolled in the State Health
Benefit Plan (“SHBP”) at the time they retire have the option to continue health-care coverage under SHBP.
Retirees age 65 and older are required to enroll in a Medicare Advantage option in order to receive state
contributions toward their health insurance policy premiums. Retirees and State employees hired prior to
July 1, 2009 are also eligible to participate in group term life insurance (“GTLI”). These types of benefits
are made available through plans which commonly are known as “Other Post-Employment Benefit”
(“OPEB”) plans.

The State provides the following significant OPEB plans:

Multi-employer Plans
Administered by the Department of Community Health (“DCH”):
Georgia State Employees Post-employment Health Benefit Fund (“State OPEB Fund”)
Georgia School Personnel Post-employment Health Benefit Fund (“School OPEB Fund”)
Administered by ERS:
State Employees’ Assurance Department — OPEB (“SEAD-OPEB”) (For GTLI benefits)

Single-employer Plan
Administered by the Board of Regents of the University System of Georgia (“USG”):
Board of Regents Retiree Health Benefit Fund (“BOR Retiree Plan™)

For additional information on the OPEB plans, including details regarding basis of accounting,
investments, plan descriptions, plan membership, funding policies, benefits provided, contribution rates,
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and certain actuarial information, see Note 16, “Postemployment Benefits — Multi-employer Plans,” Note
17, “Postemployment Benefits — Single-employer Plans”, and “Required Supplementary Information —
Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB)” in APPENDIX B hereto. In addition, APPENDIX B contains
certain other OPEB information required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”),
including details regarding funded status, funding progress, and net OPEB liability.

The OPEB disclosures rely on information produced by the plan’s management and their enrolled
actuaries. Actuarial assessments are “forward-looking” valuation estimates that reflect the judgment of the
fiduciaries of the plans. Actuarial assessments are based upon a variety of assumptions. Should actual
experience differ from actuarial assumptions, the projected OPEB obligations and related OPEB costs
would be affected in future years.

GASB Statement 74. During FY 2017, the State adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No.
74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than Pension Plans (“GASB 74”).
GASB 74 requires the disclosure of the net OPEB liability determined using a specified actuarial cost
method, requires expanded footnote disclosure and required supplementary information for OPEB plans,
and clarifies what constitutes an OPEB plan.

GASB Statement 75. In June 2015, the GASB issued Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than Pensions (“GASB 757), effective for fiscal years
beginning after June 15, 2017. GASB 75 addresses accounting and financial reporting for OPEB that is
provided to the employees of state and local governmental employers. GASB 75 establishes standards for
recognizing and measuring liabilities, deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources, and
expenses in the employer financial statements. It also establishes requirements for related note disclosures
and required supplementary information. GASB 75 was adopted with the FY 2018 financial statements.
With the implementation of GASB 75, the State is not required to report information as previously reported
in the Funding Progress Table shown hereinafter. Instead, the State is required to recognize its proportional
share of the net OPEB liability of the OPEB plans applicable to said standard. The State reported a net
OPEB liability for all plans of the primary government of $7.9 billion in its entity-wide financial statements
for FY 2018.

System Membership and Beneficiary Description. The State OPEB Fund and School OPEB Fund
are cost-sharing multiple employer defined benefit post-employment healthcare plans. The State OPEB
Fund provides postemployment health benefits due under the group health plan for employees of State
organizations (including technical colleges) and other entities authorized by law to contract with DCH for
inclusion in the plan. Retiree medical eligibility is attained when an employee retires, and is immediately
eligible to draw a retirement annuity from ERS, Georgia Judicial Retirement System (“JRS”), and
Legislative Retirement System (“LRS”). The School OPEB Fund provides postemployment health benefits
due under the group health plan for public school teachers, including librarians, other certified employees
of public schools, regional educational service agencies, and non-certified public school employees.
Retiree medical eligibility is attained when an employee retires, and is immediately eligible to draw a
retirement annuity from TRS and Public School Employees Retirement System (“PSERS”). The
SEAD-OPEB Plan is a cost-sharing multiple employer defined benefit post-employment plan that provides
post-employment GTLI benefits to eligible members of the ERS, JRS, and LRS on a monthly, renewable
term basis, with no return premiums or cash value available to be earned. The BOR Retiree Plan is a single
employer, defined benefit, post-employment healthcare plan administered by the Board of Regents
(“BOR”).

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.)
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Membership in the plans as of June 30, 2018 follows:

State School BOR

OPEB OPEB SEAD-  Retiree

Fund Fund OPEB Plan

Retirees and beneficiaries 39,165 90,430 42,654 19,161
Inactive members entitled to but not yet

receiving benefits 81 96 947 -

Active plan members 56,412 177,501 26,032 48,244

Total 95,658 268,027 69,633 67,405

Source: State of Georgia Comprehensive Annual Financial Report Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018.

Plan Contribution Information. The State OPEB Fund, the School OPEB Fund, and the BOR
Retiree Plan are currently funded in large part on a “pay-as-you-go” basis. That is, annual costs of providing
benefits will be funded in the same year as claims occur, with historically, no significant assets
accumulating, as would occur in an advance funding strategy. Each fiscal year the General Assembly in
the general appropriations act determines the maximum amount of the State’s contributions, and the Board
of Community Health and the BOR, respectively, reacting to input from various entities, determine plan
benefits, terms and conditions, contributions required from all employers offering coverage under the
respective plans, and the subscription (premium) rate for participants. Neither changes in the UAAL and
the actuarially determined employer contribution (“ADEC”), nor changes in OPEB liability under GASB
necessarily impact funding decisions, which remain within the discretion of the Board of Community
Health, the BOR, and the annual appropriations process. GASB’s promulgation of financial reporting
standards does not necessarily dictate fiscal management policies or establish legal requirements.

Employer contributions to the State OPEB Fund currently are funded as a percent of state agency
payroll. Employer contributions are funded through a mix of State funds appropriations, federal revenue,
fee income and other income streams available to State agencies. For FY 2019, the budgeted employer
share of pay-as-you-go contributions to the State OPEB Fund is approximately $172 million.
Approximately $120 million, or 70% of the employer contributions, is budgeted from State funds
appropriations.

Employer contributions to the School OPEB Fund currently are funded from local school district
direct contributions, a significant portion of which is derived from State funds appropriations. For FY 2019,
the budgeted employer share of pay-as-you-go contributions to the School OPEB Fund is approximately
$400 million. Approximately $240 million, or 60% of the employer contributions, is budgeted from State
funds appropriations.

For FY 2018, the total amount of employer contributions to the State OPEB Fund and the School
OPEB Fund were $501.6 million and $518.3 million, respectively, which consisted of a pay-as-you-go
amount of $170 million to the State OPEB Fund and $369 million to the School OPEB Fund. These total
amounts of employer contributions also included additional contributions which were made voluntarily
during the fiscal year of $331.6 million and $149.0 million to the State OPEB Fund and the School OPEB
Fund, respectively. Since FY 2014, SHBP has been directed to transfer funds exceeding Incurred But Not
Reported (“IBNR”) liability, plus a ten percent (10%) contingency reserve, to the State OPEB Fund and the
School OPEB Fund each year at fiscal year-end.

In May 2018, the State Depository Board approved the OPEB Trust Fund Investment Policy

whereby assets in the State OPEB Fund and the School OPEB Fund are invested to add interest earnings to
the funds. As of March 31, 2019, the balances of the investment assets, including investment earnings,
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were approximately $1.599 billion and $589.0 million in the State OPEB Fund and School OPEB Fund,
respectively, for a total of approximately $2.188 billion in assets.

The BOR Retiree Plan is a single-employer plan. Employer contributions are funded through a
mix of State appropriations, student tuition, fee income, and other income streams available to BOR.

The total amount of employer contributions to the BOR Retiree Plan for FY 2018 was $158.4
million, which consisted of a pay-as-you-go amount of $102.6 and additional transfers of $55.8 million.
Effective May 2017, any reserve funds in the BOR Health Benefit Plan remaining after allowing for the
plan’s IBNR liability plus twenty percent (20%) of plan benefit claims expense, are transferred to the BOR
Retiree Plan annually, upon completion of the financial audit. Additional one-time contributions also may

be made on a discretionary basis in connection with de-risking and other objectives upon approval of the
BOR.

The SEAD-OPEB plan is administered by a Board of Directors that establishes contributions by
plan members and employer contribution rates. Such rates, when added to members’ contributions, shall
not exceed one percent (1%) of earnable compensation. A valuation analysis is conducted each year to
determine if employer contributions will be necessary. There are no required employer contributions for
the SEAD-OPEB plan in FY 2019, FY 2020, or FY 2021. Per legislation passed in 2008 and 2009, no new
members can be added to this plan.

State OPEB Fund and School OPEB Fund Actuarial Report Information. The Georgia Department
of Community Health’s most recent available Report of the Actuary on the Retiree Medical Valuations,
relating to the State OPEB Fund and the School OPEB Fund, is prepared as of June 30, 2017.

For the State OPEB Fund, the June 30, 2017 UAAL actuarial valuation was approximately $2.8
billion. The UAAL on the June 30, 2016 actuarial valuation was $3.1 billion. The UAAL decreased $306.5
million due to gains from FY 2017 actual contribution, claims and retiree premium experience, changes in
actuarial assumptions, and actual experience differing from assumptions. The ADEC was $219.0 million
per the June 30, 2016 valuation (for FY 2019) and $210.0 million per the June 30, 2017 valuation (for FY
2020). As of June 30, 2017, the actuary reported $854.9 million as the market value of the State OPEB
Fund assets, compared to $516.2 million as of June 30, 2016.

For the School OPEB Fund, the June 30, 2017 UAAL actuarial valuation was approximately $9.9
billion. The UAAL on the June 30, 2016 actuarial valuation was $10.5 billion. The net decrease to the
UAAL was $603.7 million, principally due to claims and retiree premium experience gains which exceeded
loss due to actual contribution below the ADEC and actual experience differing from assumptions. The
ADEC was $833.3 million per the June 30, 2016 valuation (for FY 2019) and $786.9 million per the June
30, 2017 valuation (for FY 2020). As of June 30, 2017, the actuary reported $229.7 million as the market
value of the School OPEB Fund assets, compared to $95.4 million as of June 30, 2016.

For the BOR Retiree Plan, the FY 2018 Net OPEB Liability (UAAL actuarial valuation equivalent)
was approximately $4.4 billion, compared to a Net OPEB Liability of $4.2 billion as of July 1, 2016 (FY
2017). The increase of approximately $191 million was due to changes in actuarial assumptions and actual
experience differing from assumptions. The ADEC was $349.9 million per the July 1, 2016 valuation and
$467.3 million per the May 1, 2018 (FY 2018) valuation. As of June 30, 2018, the actuary reported $76
million as the market value of the BOR Retiree Plan assets.

As noted above, the State OPEB Fund, the School OPEB Fund, and the BOR Retiree Plan primarily
operate on a pay-as-you-go basis and, thus, changes to or the size of the UAAL do not necessarily impact
funding decisions.
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BOR Retiree Plan Information. The BOR Retiree Plan is a single-employer, defined benefit,
healthcare plan administered by BOR. The BOR Retiree Plan was authorized pursuant to OCGA § 47-21-
21 for the purpose of accumulating funds necessary to meet employer costs of retiree post-employment
health insurance benefits.

Pursuant to the general powers conferred by the OCGA § 20-3-31, the BOR has established group
health and life insurance programs for regular employees of the BOR. It is the policy of the BOR to permit
employees of the BOR eligible for retirement, or who become permanently and totally disabled, to continue
as members of the group health and life insurance programs. The BOR offers its employees and retirees
under the age of 65 access to three self-insured healthcare plan options and one fully insured plan option.
For the BOR’s Plan Year 2017, the following self-insured health care options were available: Blue Choice
HMO plan, (Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Georgia) Consumer Choice HSA plan, and the (Blue Cross and
Blue Shield of Georgia) Comprehensive Care plan. The BOR also offers a self-insured dental plan
administered by Delta Dental.

Retirees age 65 and older participate in a secondary healthcare coverage for Medicare-eligible
retirces and dependents provided through a retiree health care exchange option. The BOR makes

contributions to the retirees’ health reimbursement account, which can be used by the retiree to pay
premiums and out-of-pocket healthcare related expenses.

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.)
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Funding Progress Table. The funded status and funding progress of the OPEB plans for each of
the past five actuarial valuation dates is presented in the following table.

OPEB Plans
Historical Funding Progress
Market Value
($ in thousands)
UAAL as
Actuarial Unfunded Annual a % of
Actuarial Accrued AAL  Funded Covered Covered
OPEB Plan / Value of Liability (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll
Valuation Date Assets (a) (AAL) (b) (b)-(a) (a/b) (c) ((b-a)/c)
State
6/30/2017¢ $854,937 $3,642,056 $2,787,119 23.5%  $2,535,722 109.9%
6/30/2016? 516,245 3,609,889 3,093,644 14.3 2,404,901 128.6
6/30/2015° 101,450 3,529,010 3,427,560 2.9 2,333,060 146.9
6/30/2014 0 2,871,843 2,871,843 0.0 2,293,104 125.2
6/30/2013 0 3,587,913 3,587,913 0.0 2,328,334 154.1
6/30/2012 0 3,867,927 3,867,927 0.0 2,408,000 160.6
School®
6/30/2017¢ $229,685 $10,089,950 $9,860,265 2.3%  $10,516,260 93.8%
6/30/2016? 95,407 10,559,402 10,463,995 0.9 10,086,189 103.7
6/30/2015Y 30,853 10,543,010 10,512,157 0.3 9,687,485 108.5
6/30/2014 0 8,514,320 8,514,320 0.0 9,429,531 90.3
6/30/2013 0 10,788,795 10,788,795 0.0 9,445,376 114.2
6/30/2012 0 10,869,930 10,869,930 0.0 9,678,000 112.3
SEAD
6/30/2018 $1,189,462 $919,157 $(270,305) 129.4%  $1,323,540 (20.4)%
6/30/2017¢ 1,121,251 876,586 (244,665) 127.9 1,394,395 (17.6)
6/30/2016 1,028,541 832,369 (196,172) 123.6 1,442,024 (13.6)
6/30/2015 1,046,559 769,747 (276,812) 136.0 1,521,741 (18.2)
6/30/2014 1,037,901 788,020 (249,881) 131.7 1,628,712 (15.3)
6/30/2013 907,831 754,786 (153,045) 120.3 1,767,052 8.7)
BOR Retireef
7/1/20169 2,899 3,068,726 3,065,827 0.1% 2,855,309 107.4%
7/1/2015 281 2,657,096 2,656,815 0.0 3,087,013 86.1
7/1/2014 82 4,278,445 4,278,364 0.0 2,608,757 164.0
7/1/2013 217 4,095,304 4,095,087 0.0 2,594,800 157.8
7/1/2012 166 3,758,970 3,758,804 0.0 2,466,314 152.4

2 Reflects changes made in September 2017 to reflect additional member data for Fulton County school employees and City of
Atlanta school employees who are members of the SHBP but not TRS or PSERS.

b Reflects assumption changes based on experience study of 5-year period ending June 30, 2014.

¢ Funding method changed to entry age normal.

4 Reflects change in plan provisions: Effective January 1, 2016, all post-65 Medicare eligible retirees access medical coverage
through an individual Healthcare Exchange marketplace. BOR provides an annual fixed dollar HRA contribution for these retirees.
¢ Annual Covered Payroll: The salary amount shown is total salaries and is not the salary amount upon which regular employer
contributions to the SHBP are based. Since individual PSERS salary is not available, it assumes annual salary for PSERS members
of $27,000 for 2018, 2017, 2016, 2015, and 2014.

fWith the implementation of GASB 75, the actuary no longer calculates the information required to expand this table for the BOR
Plan for 7/1/2017.

Sources: Plan actuarial reports and underlying actuarial data; and the State CAFR for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018.

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.)
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Employer Contributions Table. The following table provides information regarding actual
employer contributions that have been made during the fiscal years shown. Although currently the OPEB
plans are funded on a “pay-as-you-go” basis, the actuarial determined employer contribution (“ADEC”) is
provided for informational purposes only. The Total Employer Contributions received during the fiscal
year include the required pay-as-you-go amount plus any additional voluntary contributions from excess
funds. The State Entity Portion of Total Employer Contributions is calculated by the State Accounting
Office; the average percentage for the fiscal years shown is 93.55% for the State OPEB Plan, 0.59% for the
School OPEB Plan, and 100% for the BOR Retiree Plan.

OPEB Plans
Annual Employer Contributions
(8 in thousands)
Actuarial Actual Employer Contributions

OPEB Determined State Entity

Plan/ Employer Portion of Total

Fiscal Contribution Pay-As-You-Go Other Excess Total Employer Employer

Year (ADEC) Contributions Contributions Contributions Contributions

State

2018 $232,161 $169,948 $331,626 $501,574 $462,545

2017 202,092 164,222 333,980 498,202 470,934

2016 259,250 152,480 414,827 567,307 533,269

2015 275,681 165,726 101,434 267,160 250,676

2014 321,456 177,045 - 177,045 165,917
School

2018 $824,872 $369,275 $149,015 $518,290 $3,243

2017 669,894 388,282 133,126 521,408 3,025

2016 873,736 354,113 64,564 418,677 2,345

2015 873,278 375,751 30,848 406,599 2,440

2014 943,310 408,422 - 408,422 2,395
BOR Retiree

2018 $467,338 $102,563 $55,857 $158,420 $158,420

2017 349,859 99,584 - 99,584 99,584

2016 295,192 111,814 - 111,814 111,814

2015 442,359 129,823 - 129,823 129,823

2014 403,314 120,926 - 120,926 120,926

Sources: Plan annual reports and actuarial reports; the State of Georgia CAFR as of June 30, 2018; audited financial

statements of the BOR Retiree Plan as of June 30, 2018; State Accounting Office.

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.)
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Financial Reporting of Net OPEB Liability. For OPEB plans that are administered through trusts
that meet the specified criteria, GASB 74 requires the net OPEB liability to be measured as the total OPEB
liability, less the amount of the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position. The total OPEB liability is actuarially
determined. The following schedule is presented from the perspective of the State as the sponsor of the
various plans and summarizes the components of the Net OPEB Liability / Net OPEB Asset, by plan
(amount in thousands):

Plan
Fiduciary Net Net OPEB
Position as Liability as
Plan Percentage of Percentage
Total OPEB Fiduciary Net OPEB Total OPEB Covered of Covered
Liability Net Position  Liability/(Asset) Liability Employee Employee
Fiscal Year (TOL) (PFNP) (TOL-PFNP) (PFNP/TOL) Payroll Payroll
State
6/30/2018 $3,817,453  $1,201,865 $2,615,588 31.5% $2,535,722 103.1%
6/30/2017 4,929,142 854,937 4,074,205 17.3 2,483,060 164.1
School
6/30/2018 $13,092,956 $383,263 $12,709,693 2.9% NA NA
6/30/2017 14,279,644 229,685 14,049,959 1.6 NA NA
SEAD
6/30/2018 $918,816  $1,189,462 $(270,646) 129.5% $1,328,485 (20.4)%
6/30/2017 861,346 1,121,251 (259,905) 130.2 1,383,860 (18.8)
BOR Retiree
6/30/2018 $4,486,796 $76,045 $4,410,751 1.7% $3,218,771 137.0%
6/30/2017 4,227,583 7,857 4,219,726 0.2 3,122,694 135.1

Source: State CAFR for fiscal year ended June 30, 2018

For additional information on the health benefit plans and OPEB, see Appendix B herein, Note 16
“POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS — MULTI-EMPLOYER PLANS”, Note 17 “POSTEMPLOYMENT
BENEFITS — SINGLE-EMPLOYER PLANS” and “REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
— OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB).

Employee Health Benefit Plans

State Health Benefit Plan. The SHBP is comprised of three health insurance plans: (1) a plan
primarily for State employees (O.C.G.A. § 45-18-2), (the “State Employees’ Plan™), (2) a plan for teachers
(O.C.G.A. § 20-2-881) (the “Teachers’ Plan”), and (3) a plan for non-certificated public school employees
(O.C.G.A. § 20-2-911) (the “Public School Employees’ Plan™). All three plans operate on a plan year that
is coincident with the calendar year. The State Employees’ Plan is supported by the fund described in
0.C.G.A. § 45-18-12, which holds contributions from State departments and agencies and other entities
authorized by law to contract with DCH for inclusion, as well as contributions from their employees and
retirees. Starting September 1, 2009, retirees’ contributions and the portion of employer contributions to
the State Employees’ Plan allocated by DCH for the payment of retiree benefits have been deposited in the
Georgia State Employees’ Post-employment Health Benefit Fund. For FY 2019, the budgeted share of the
employer contributions to the State Employee’s Plan from State appropriations is estimated to be
approximately seventy percent (70%).
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The Teachers’ Plan is supported by the fund described in O.C.G.A. § 20-2-891, which holds
contributions from the Department of Education, local school systems, libraries and regional educational
service agencies (“RESAs”), as well as contributions from their employees and retirees. The Public School
Employees’ Plan is supported by the fund described in O.C.G.A. § 20-2-918, which holds contributions
from the Department of Education, local school systems, libraries and RESAs, as well as contributions from
their employees and retirees. Starting September 1, 2009, retirees’ contributions and the portion of
employer contributions to the Teachers’ Plan and the Public School Employees’ Plan allocated by DCH for
the payment of retiree benefits under those plans have been deposited in the Georgia School Personnel
Post-employment Health Benefit Fund. For FY 2019, the budgeted share of the employer contributions to
the Teacher’s Plan and the Public School Employees’ Plan from State appropriations is approximately sixty
percent (60%).

In March 2017 a Dependent Verification audit whereby members with covered dependents were
required to submit proof of their dependent’s eligibility for coverage under the Plan was completed and
resulted in total potential annual savings of approximately $55.9 million per year for the Plan. In Plan Year
2019, SHBP members will continue to have choice in vendors and plan design offerings, including two
HMOs, three HRA options, a High-Deductible Health Plan, two standard and two premium Medicare
Advantage options, and a Regional HMO. The SHBP continues to prioritize wellness. Members may earn
incentive credits by completing various wellness activities.

On August 9, 2018, the DCH board voted to continue the existing rate for the Non Certificated
Public School Employee Per Member Per Month (PMPM) Employer Contribution Rate (ECR) to remain
the same as the previous year ($945.00). The DCH board also voted to continue the Teachers Plan ECR at
$945.00 PMPM for each non library employee enrolled in the Teachers Plan and $843.00 PMPM for each
library employee enrolled in the Teachers Plan. The State Employee ECR remained at the annual rate of
30.454% of payroll. House Bill 31, the FY 2020 Appropriations Act, lowered the State Employee ECR
percent of payroll to 29.454% effective July 1, 2019.

Board of Regents Health Benefit Fund. The University System of Georgia offers its employees
and retirees under the age of 65 access to three self-insured healthcare plan options and one fully insured
plan option. For the University System of Georgia’s Plan Year 2018, the following self-insured health care
options were available: Blue Choice HMO plan, (Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Georgia) Consumer Choice
HSA plan, and the (Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Georgia) Comprehensive Care plan. The USG also
offers a self-insured dental plan administered by Delta Dental.

The University System of Georgia institutions and participating employees and eligible retirees pay
premiums to the plan fund to access benefits coverage. All units of the University System of Georgia share
the risk of loss for claims associated with these plans. The reserves for these plans are considered to be a
self-sustaining risk fund. The Board of Regents has contracted with Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Georgia,
a wholly owned subsidiary of Anthem, Inc., to serve as the claims administrator for the self-insured
healthcare plan options. In addition to the self-insured healthcare plan options offered to the employees
and eligible retirees of the University System of Georgia, a fully insured HMO healthcare plan option also
is offered through Kaiser Permanente. The self-insured plans have a carved-out prescription drug plan
administered through CVS Caremark. Pharmacy drug claims are processed in accordance with guidelines
established for the Board of Regents’ Prescription Drug Benefit Program. Generally, claims are submitted
by participating pharmacies directly to CVS Caremark for verification, processing, and payment. CVS
Caremark maintains an eligibility file based on information furnished by Blue Cross and Blue Shield of
Georgia on behalf of the various organizational units of the University System of Georgia. Retirees age 65
and older participate in a secondary healthcare coverage for Medicare eligible retirees and dependents
provided through a retiree healthcare exchange option. The University System of Georgia makes
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contributions to a health reimbursement account, which can be used by the retiree to pay premiums and
out-of-pocket healthcare related expenses.

The self-funded plan reserve fund had the following cash basis activity for FY 2018: premiums
collected of $630,690,752; claims and expenses paid of $596,685,933 net of prescription rebate expense
credit of $31,084,052; and other income of $2,654,104 resulting in an overall self-funded plan fund balance
at June 30,2018 0 $209,300,800 of which $80,676,422 is held exclusively for OPEB. As of June 30,2018,
the self-funded plans had IBNR claims of $21,910,000 for active employees and $2,900,000 for retirees.
As of June 30, 2018, the self-funded plan held cash assets of $22.0 million and investment assets of $187.3
million.

The Board of Regents has made benefit plan changes since 2009 to reduce healthcare cost increases
that include the following: moved from a 75% employer/25% employee contribution for health insurance
premiums to a 70% employer/30% employee contribution; moved to a defined contribution pricing model
for healthcare plan premiums; self-funded the BlueChoice HMO, a Consumer Choice HSA, and
Comprehensive Care healthcare plans; added a monthly surcharge for tobacco users; added a surcharge for
non-Medicare B enrollment; increased the number of hours per week that must be worked to qualify for
benefits eligibility from 20 hours/week to 30 hours/week; increased co-pays for HMO plans; increased
deductibles, co-pays, and co-insurance for the Comprehensive Care and Consumer Choice plans; moved
Medicare-eligible retirees to a Medicare D pharmacy plan; required Medicare eligible retirees to enroll in
Medicare Part B for primary coverage; and changed retiree healthcare benefits for employees hired on or
after January 1, 2013 to base the employer subsidy for retiree health contributions on years of service with
the USG - for example, retirees with only 10 years of service will pay 85% of healthcare premium rates and
the USG will pay 15%. This is applied on a sliding scale so that 30 years of service will be required in
order to receive a full employer contribution for healthcare premiums. Most recently, in January 2016
secondary coverage for Medicare eligible retirees 65 and older was moved from the University System
healthcare plan to a private retiree healthcare exchange. Retirees purchase secondary coverage through the
private retiree healthcare exchange and the University System makes an annual contribution to a health
reimbursement account which Medicate eligible retirees then use to pay premiums and out-of-pocket
healthcare related expenses. Each year the Board of Regents will determine the amount of the contribution
to the health reimbursement account.

SIGNIFICANT CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The State is a defendant in various legal proceedings pertaining to matters incidental to the
performance of routine governmental operations. Unless noted otherwise, the ultimate outcome of these
proceedings is not presently determinable; however, it is not believed that any such outcome would have a
material adverse effect on the financial condition of the State. The following are significant active, or
recently concluded, litigation, claims and assessments involving the State. For additional information, see
“Appendix B— COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE
30, 2018 — Notes to Financial Statements — Note 20: Litigation, Contingencies and Commitments.”

Trecia Neal, et al. v. Georgia Department of Community Health

Trecia Neal, et al. v. Georgia Department of Community Health, Ga. Court of Appeals Case No.
A19A0369 and Norman L. Boyd, et al. v. Trecia Neal, Ga. Court of Appeals Case No. A19A0227, on appeal
from Fulton County Superior Court Civil Case No. 2014-CV-246395, May 14, 2014. Plaintiff Neal, who
seeks class action status, is a member of the State Health Benefit Plan (“SHBP”’) who has brought suit for
breach of contract asserting that retroactive modifications to the SHBP that were made after members
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enrolled for the 2014 plan year had the effect of breaching the SHBP members’ alleged contracts with
SHBP. Plaintiff asserts that state employees who elected the higher cost coverage options had their benefits
reduced to similar benefits received by employees paying significantly lower costs, but the higher premiums
were not reduced or refunded. Plaintiff seeks reimbursement of excess medical premiums paid by the
purported class members, plus attorneys’ fees. The Department of Community Health (“DCH”) filed a
motion to dismiss based on sovereign immunity arguing that the SHBP documents do not create an express,
written contract with the state employees; however the judge denied the motion. DCH filed an appeal with
the Georgia Court of Appeals, and on November 20, 2015 the Court of Appeals issued its decision which
granted DCH’s appeal and reversed the trial court. Ga. Dept. of Community Health v. Neal, 334 Ga. App.
851 (2015), Ga. Court of Appeals Case No. A15A1033. Plaintiff subsequently filed a Petition for Writ of
Certiorari with the Georgia Supreme Court. On March 25, 2016, in a separate case, the Georgia Supreme
Court issued a decision in Rivera v. Washington, which appears to have overruled all Court of Appeals
decisions that allowed direct appeals of adverse trial court rulings based on sovereign immunity grounds
under the collateral order doctrine, finding that they should have instead been brought as interlocutory
appeals. Rivera v. Washington, 298 Ga. 770 (2016). The Georgia Supreme Court’s decision states that, as
a result of its determination of the Rivera case, multiple decisions of the Court of Appeals, including the
Court of Appeals decision in Neal, are therefore overruled. On April 26, 2016, the Georgia Supreme Court
granted Plaintiff’s Petition for Certiorari, vacated the Court of Appeals decision in Nea/ and, in light of the
decision in Rivera, remanded the case to the Court of Appeals for reconsideration of its conclusion that it
had jurisdiction over the direct appeal. Neal v. Georgia Department of Community Health, Ga. Supreme
Court Case No. S16C0505 (2015). The Court of Appeals subsequently determined that it did not have
jurisdiction and remanded the case back to the Superior Court of Fulton County.

In March 2017, Plaintiff filed a Second Amended Complaint adding, in the alternative, a claim for
mandamus relief against the members of the Board of Community Health (the “Board”) in their official
capacities. In November 2017, Plaintiff filed a Third Amended Complaint which added additional
paragraphs and an exhibit, but did not change the counts of the Second Amended Complaint. On November
28,2017, DCH filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment as to the breach of contract claims and the
Board filed a separate Motion to Dismiss the mandamus claim. In an Order entered on April 18, 2018, the
Superior Court granted DCH’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and found that sovereign immunity
barred the breach of contract action. However, the Superior Court denied the Board’s Motion to Dismiss
the mandamus claim. The Board sought and received a Certificate of Immediate Review of the denial of
the Motion to Dismiss. The Board filed an Application for Interlocutory Review to the Court of Appeals
on May 2, 2018. The Court of Appeals granted the appeal and this case is docketed as Norman L. Boyd, et
al. v. Trecia Neal, Ga. Court of Appeals Case No. A19A0227. Neal filed a cross-appeal against DCH
relating to the granting of the Motion for Summary Judgment. This case is docketed as Trecia Neal, et al.
v. Georgia Department of Community Health, Ga. Court of Appeals Case No. A19A0369. On
May 28, 2019, the Court of Appeals issued a written judgment addressing both cases. In Case No.
A19A0369, the Court of Appeals affirmed trial court’s granting of DCH’s motion for partial summary
judgment. In Case No. A19A0227, the Court of Appeals found that the Superior Court erred in denying
the Board’s motion to dismiss the mandamus claim. In each case, Neal has ten (10) days to file a petition
for a writ of certiorari with the Georgia Court of Appeals. At this stage of litigation, it is impracticable to
render an opinion about whether the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome is either “probable” or “remote”;
however, the State believes it has meritorious defenses and is vigorously defending this action.

Judith Kelly, et al. v. Board of Community Health, et. al.

Judith Kelly, et al. v. Board of Community Health, et. al., Ga. Court of Appeals Case No.
A19A0802, on appeal from Fulton County Superior Court Civil Case No. 2017-CV-298686, filed
December 4, 2017. Plaintiffs, who seek class action status, are retired state employees, public school
teachers, or public school employees, and are enrolled in the health insurance plans administered by the
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State Health Benefit Plan (“SHBP”). On December 8, 2011 the Board of Community Health (the “Board™)
approved a policy modifying the subsidies for certain retired employees based on employee years of service.
Plaintiffs have brought suit against the Board of Community Health and the members of Board, in their
individual and official capacities, for breach of contract asserting that retroactive modifications to the
annuitant subsidy provided to certain retired employees had the effect of breaching the Plaintiffs’ alleged
contracts with SHBP. Plaintiffs assert this policy is a breach of an alleged contract to provide health
insurance to retired employees. Plaintiffs seek monetary damages, a writ of mandamus to require the
application of the full subsidy to the purported class members, plus attorneys’ fees. After the Board filed a
Motion to Dismiss the Complaint, Plaintiffs amended their Complaint to add three additional counts for
Equal Protection, Section 1983 and Declaratory Judgment. The Board filed a Motion to Dismiss the Second
Amended Complaint on May 11, 2018, claiming that the allegations in the Complaint are either barred by
sovereign immunity or fail to state a claim. On August 20, 2018, the trial court granted the Motion to
Dismiss and dismissed the case in its entirety. Plaintiffs filed an appeal with the Georgia Court of Appeals
and the case is docketed as Ga. Court of Appeals Case No. A19A0802. Briefing of the issues is complete
and oral argument is scheduled for June 18, 2019. At this stage of litigation, it is impracticable to render
an opinion about whether the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome is either “probable” or “remote”;
however, the State believes it has meritorious defenses and is vigorously defending this action.

T-Mobile South, LLC v. David M. Curry

T-Mobile South, LLC v. David M. Curry, Commissioner, Georgia Department of Revenue, Ga. Tax
Tribunal Docket Nos. 1732418, 1800700, filed April 14, 2017 and July 11, 2017, respectively. T-Mobile
South seeks refunds of sales and use taxes allegedly paid on purchases of certain tangible personal property
for tax periods May 30, 2012 through December 31, 2016, which T-Mobile South asserts to be subject to
computer equipment related sales and use tax exemptions pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 48-8-3(68). The total of
the sales and use tax refunds claimed by T-Mobile South for such periods is approximately $11,500,000.
The Department of Revenue (“DOR”) ruled that the computer equipment purchases by T-Mobile South
failed to exceed the required purchase amount of $15,000,000 per calendar year and therefore do not qualify
for the sales tax exemption. T-Mobile South appealed these decisions with the Georgia Tax Tribunal. The
parties have concluded discovery and each filed cross-motions for summary judgment. Oral argument on
the motions for summary judgment was heard on April 30, 2019. At this stage of litigation, it is
impracticable to render an opinion about whether the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome is either
“probable” or “remote”’; however, the State believes it has meritorious defenses and is vigorously defending
this action.

CSX Transportation v. David M. Curry

CXS Transportation v. David M. Curry, Commissioner, Georgia Department of Revenue, Ga. Tax
Tribunal Docket No. 1622264. CSX has filed multiple appeals of constructive denials of refunds for sales
and use tax imposed on diesel fuel starting in 2013. DOR did not act on the refund claims due to the
pendency of litigation on a comparable issue in the U.S. Supreme Court against the state of Alabama. The
issue is whether the sales and use tax imposed on diesel fuel purchased by rail carriers violates Section 306
of the Railroad Revitalization and Regulatory Reform Act of 1976 (the “4-R Act”), prohibiting
discriminatory treatment of rail carriers. CSX contends that the application of a four percent (4%) sales tax
rate to its purchase of diesel fuel violates Section 306 of the 4-R Act because motor carriers are subject to
state and local taxes but are exempt from the first three percent (3%) of the four percent (4%) sales tax rate
under O.C.G.A. § 48-8-31, and because interstate water carriers are exempt from sales and use tax under
0.C.G.A. § 48-8-3(17). The total of the sales and use tax refunds claimed by CSX for tax periods October
2010 through June 2015 is approximately $37,500,000.
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The Georgia Tax Tribunal cases have been stayed pending the outcome of pending litigation in
Alabama in CSX Trans., Inc. v. Alabama Dep’t of Revenue, Case No. 17-11705-G. The Eleventh Circuit
ruled in CSX Transp., Inc. v. Ala. Dep't of Revenue, 888 F.3d 1163 (11th Cir. 2018) that Alabama’s sales
and use tax did not discriminate against railroads when compared to motor carriers but did discriminate
against railroads when compared to water carriers. Alabama’s petition for certiorari to the U.S. Supreme
Court was filed on October 8, 2018. CSX also has filed a conditional petition for certiorari. The U.S.
Supreme Court has already granted certiorari twice before in the Alabama litigation and reversed both
times. 562 U.S. 277 (2011); 135 S. Ct. 1136 (2015). The petition is still pending but the Court has asked
the U.S. Solicitor General to weigh in on the case. At this stage of litigation, it is impracticable to render
an opinion about whether the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome is either “probable” or “remote”;
however, the State believes it has meritorious defenses and is vigorously defending this action.

OTHER SIGNIFICANT MATTERS
Interstate Water Disputes Among Georgia, Alabama, and Florida
Background.

The State of Georgia is involved in a number of disputes concerning the operation of U.S. Army
Corps of Engineers (“Corps”) dams and reservoirs in the Apalachicola-Chattahoochee-Flint (“ACF”) River
Basin and the Alabama-Coosa-Tallapoosa (“ACT”) River Basin for water supply and other
purposes. These disputes include a suit the State of Florida filed in the U.S. Supreme Court seeking an
equitable apportionment of the waters in the ACF River Basin, as well as other cases in federal courts
pertaining to the ACF and ACT Basins.

Buford Dam impounds the Chattahoochee River to form Lake Lanier and is part of the ACF River
Basin. Lake Lanier is the primary source of water supply to more than three million people in north
Georgia, including a substantial portion of the metropolitan Atlanta region’s population. The additional
federal reservoirs are downstream of Lake Lanier in the ACF River Basin. The ACF River Basin is shared
by Alabama, Florida, and Georgia. Lake Allatoona is in the ACT River Basin, which is shared by Alabama
and Georgia. Lake Allatoona also is a major source of water supply to north Georgia.

ACF River Basin Litigation.

On October 1, 2013, the State of Florida filed a motion for leave to file a complaint in the U.S.
Supreme Court against the State of Georgia, seeking an apportionment of the waters of the ACF River
Basin. The Supreme Court has original and exclusive jurisdiction over suits directly between states. The
suit challenges Georgia’s use of the waters of the ACF Basin for municipal and industrial use and for
agriculture. Among other things, the suit alleges that municipal and agricultural water consumption in the
State has reduced flows in the ACF River Basin to a sufficient degree to harm Florida’s oyster industry,
among other harms. Georgia denies that its actions are responsible for harms suffered by Florida, ifany. On
November 3, 2014, the Supreme Court granted Florida’s motion for leave to file an action seeking the
equitable apportionment of the waters of the ACF River Basin. This action was docketed as State of Florida
v. State of Georgia, No. 142 Orig., S.Ct. On November 19, 2014, the Supreme Court appointed a Special
Master in this case with authority to fix the time and conditions for the filing of additional pleadings, to
direct subsequent proceedings, to summon witnesses, to issue subpoenas, and to take such evidence as may
be introduced and such as the Special Master deems it necessary to call for. Commencing on October 31,
2016, and concluding on December 1, 2016, the Special Master conducted an evidentiary hearing on the
matter. On February 14, 2017, the Special Master issued a Report. The Special Master found that Florida
“failed to show that a consumption cap will afford adequate relief” and, based on that finding, recommended
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that “the Court deny Florida’s request for relief.” Fla. v. Ga., Report of Special Master at 69-70 (Feb. 14,
2017). The Special Master concluded that this “single, discrete issue” “resolves this case” and thus did not
make any factual findings on other elements of Florida’s claim, including the reasonableness of Georgia’s
water use, whether Florida suffered an injury, or whether any alleged injury was actually caused by
Georgia’s purportedly inequitable water use. Id. at 30. The Special Master’s Report was received and
deemed filed by the Supreme Court on March 20, 2017. Florida filed exceptions to the Report of the Special
Master on May 31, 2017, and Georgia filed a reply in opposition to Florida’s exceptions on July 31, 2017.
The Supreme Court heard oral arguments regarding Florida’s exceptions on January 8, 2018. On
June 27, 2018, the Supreme Court issued an opinion sustaining one of Florida’s exceptions. The Court
ruled on “only the narrow ‘threshold’ question the Master addressed below” and “reserve[d] judgment as
to the ultimate disposition of this case.” Fla. v. Ga., 138 S. Ct. 2502, 2518 (2018). The Court remanded
the case back to the Special Master, directing him “to make more specific factual findings and definitive
recommendations” about whether Florida can demonstrate that the benefits from a cap substantially
outweigh the harm to Georgia. Id. at 2527. To that end, the Court directed the Special Master to address
specific questions on remand, including whether Georgia takes too much water from the Flint River,
whether Florida has suffered any injuries, whether any of Florida’s injuries were caused by Georgia,
whether a consumption cap would increase water flow into Lake Seminole, to what extent additional water
from a cap on Georgia’s water consumption would result in additional streamflow into the Apalachicola
River, and to what extent any additional water in the Apalachicola River might ameliorate Florida’s injuries.
1d. The court appointed a new Special Master on August 9, 2018, and the new Special Master issued a
briefing schedule. The parties completed that briefing on February 28, 2019, and on March 12, 2019,
Florida moved for oral argument. The Special Master has not ruled on Florida’s motion for oral argument
and has not yet issued a new report. It is not possible at this time to predict the duration or outcome of this
litigation.

In earlier water litigation, several cases involving the federal reservoirs in the ACF River Basin
were consolidated by the Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation and assigned to U.S. District Judge Paul
Magnuson in the M.D. Fla. District Court. The consolidated litigation was divided into two phases: Phase
1, dealing with the authority of the Corps to supply water from Lake Lanier to communities in north
Georgia, and Phase 2, dealing with issues under the Endangered Species Act. After a series of procedural
and substantive rulings, appeals in Phase 1 and Phase 2 reached the United States Court of Appeals for the
Eleventh Circuit (the “Eleventh Circuit”). The Phase 2 appeal was dismissed for mootness, leaving only
the Phase 1 issues for decision by the Eleventh Circuit.

In an order issued on June 28, 2011, the Eleventh Circuit held, among other things, that (1) water
supply is an authorized purpose of Lake Lanier under the River and Harbor Act of 1946 (the “1946 RHA”);
(2) water supply is not subordinate to hydropower or other purposes under the 1946 RHA; (3) Congress
contemplated in the 1946 RHA that water supply may have to be increased over time, at the expense of
hydropower, as the metropolitan Atlanta area grows; (4) the 1946 RHA authorizes the Corps to reallocate
storage from hydropower to water supply; and (5) the Water Supply Act of 1958 (the “WSA”) supplies
supplemental authority, in addition to the authority under the 1946 RHA, for the Corps to reallocate storage
to water supply. In Re: MDL 1824 Tri-State Water Rights Litigation, 644 F.3d 1160 (11th Cir. 2011). The
Eleventh Circuit directed the Corps to decide the extent to which it can reallocate storage to meet Georgia’s
present and future water supply needs in light of the Eleventh Circuit’s holdings regarding interpretation of
the 1946 RHA and the WSA. On June 26, 2012, the Corps determined that it possesses the legal authority
to grant Georgia’s water supply request in its entirety.

Georgia revised its water supply request in a letter to the Corps dated December 4, 2015. On
December 16, 2016, the Corps published the Final Environmental Impact Statement for the ACF River
Basin Master Water Control Manual Update and Water Supply Storage Assessment. In the Final
Environmental Impact Statement, the Corps granted Georgia’s revised water supply request. The Corps
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accepted public comments on the Final Environmental Impact Statement through February 1, 2017. On
March 30, 2017, the Corps issued a Record of Decision adopting the water control plans and manuals for
the ACF River Basin, as well as the Water Supply Storage Assessment. The ACF Record of Decision
authorized the Corps to enter into a water supply agreement with Georgia or its authorized representatives
for the use of 254,170 acre-feet of storage in Lake Lanier.

On April 5, 2017, the State of Alabama filed a lawsuit in the United States District Court for the
District of Columbia (the “D.C. District Court”) challenging the ACF Record of Decision, the Corps’ water
control manuals, the Final Environmental Impact Statement, and the Water Supply Storage Assessment,
asserting that the Corps’ actions were contrary to law. This action was docketed as State of Alabama v.
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, et al., D.D.C. District Court Case No. 1:17cv607. Georgia moved to
intervene in this action on May 12, 2017 and was granted intervention on May 16, 2017. On June 30, 2017,
Georgia moved to transfer this action. The D.C. District Court granted Georgia’s motion on
March 29, 2018, transferring the case to the United States District Court for the Northern District of
Georgia. The transferred action was docketed as State of Alabama v. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, et al.,
N.D. Ga. District Court Case No. 1:18cv1529.

On April 27, 2017, the National Wildlife Federation, the Florida Wildlife Federation, and
Apalachicola Bay and River Keeper, Inc. also filed a challenge in the D.C. District Court to the ACF water
control manuals and the Final Environmental Impact Statement. This action was docketed as National
Wildlife Federation, et al. v. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, et al., D.D.C. District Court Case No.
1:17cv772. Georgia moved to intervene in this action on June 26, 2017 and was granted intervention on
July 17,2017. On August 15, 2017, Georgia moved to transfer this action. The D.C. District Court granted
Georgia’s motion on March 29, 2018, transferring the case to the United States District Court for the
Northern District of Georgia. The transferred action was docketed as National Wildlife Federation, et al v.
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, et al., N.D. Ga. District Court Case No. 1:18cv1530.

On May 7, 2018, Judge Thrash of the United States District Court for the Northern District of
Georgia held a consolidated status conference to discuss both the Alabama and National Wildlife
Federation cases. The Court directed the parties to confer and attempt to reach an agreement on a case
management order to be submitted within thirty (30) days to establish a schedule for compiling the
Administrative Record and for briefing. On May 8, 2018, the Court ordered the two cases to be
consolidated into a single action docketed as In Re ACF Basin Water Litigation, N.D. Ga. District Court
Case No. 1:18-mi-043-TWT. On June 11, 2018, the Court issued a Case Management Order setting dates
for the filing of any motions for judgment on the pleadings and for submission and review of the
administrative record. The parties have filed motions for partial judgment on the pleadings and are to
attempt to resolve any administrative record disagreements through informal negotiation. Pursuant to the
Case Management Order, the parties shall submit a proposed schedule for amended complaints, if any, and
for summary judgment briefing within fourteen (14) days of the Court’s resolution of the parties’ motions
for partial judgment on the pleadings. It is not possible at this time to predict the duration or outcome of
this case.

ACT River Basin Litigation.

The State of Georgia has submitted a request to the Corps for it to accommodate water supply needs
from Lake Allatoona beyond those that can be met under existing storage contracts. Georgia has
determined that, depending on how the Corps accounts for storage usage, local governments that now
withdraw water from Lake Allatoona may need additional storage to accommodate current levels of
withdrawal, as well as future demands. The Corps has stated that it is reviewing that request and has yet to
make a determination whether it will grant the request. The Corps has also been in the process of
establishing revised operating procedures for the federal projects in the ACT River Basin. On November
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7,2014, the Corps published the Final Environmental Impact Statement for Revised Water Control Manuals
for the ACT River Basin. On November 7, 2014, the State of Georgia sued the Corps in the United States
District Court for the Northern District of Georgia, alleging that the Corps unlawfully failed to prepare
water control plans and manuals reflecting current operations in the ACT River Basin and that the Corps
had unlawfully failed to respond to Georgia’s water supply requests. Georgia also alleged that the Final
Environmental Impact Statement failed to meet applicable legal standards. This action is docketed as The
State of Georgia v. The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, et al., N.D. Ga. District Court Case No. 1:14cv3593.
On May 4, 2015, the Corps issued a Record of Decision adopting the water control plans and manuals for
the ACT River Basin. On May 4, 2015, Georgia amended its complaint to allege that the Record of Decision
failed to meet applicable legal standards. Georgia and the Corps filed motions for summary judgment, and
the Court heard oral argument on those motions on August 15, 2017. On September 29, 2017, the Court
issued an order finding that the Corps had unreasonably delayed action on Georgia’s water supply requests
for storage at Lake Allatoona. On January 9, 2018, the Court issued a Final Order directing the Corps to
respond to Georgia’s water supply request no later than March 1,2021. The Court retained limited
jurisdiction over this action for the purpose of ensuring the Corps’ compliance with the Final Order. On
March 12, 2018, the Corps filed a Notice of Appeal with the Eleventh Circuit but then filed a motion for
voluntary dismissal of the appeal, which was granted on March 20, 2018. Pursuant to the Court’s judgment
and order of January 9, 2018, the parties are required to file periodic Joint Status Reports regarding the
progress of required studies in accordance with a court-prescribed schedule. On February 25, 2019 the
Court acknowledged that three of the five required milestones have been completed. The Corps expects to
respond to Georgia’s water supply requests by the March 2021 deadline established by the Court.

On May 7, 2015, the State of Alabama and Alabama Power also filed challenges in the D.C. District
Court to the ACT Record of Decision, the Corps’ water control manuals, and the Final Environmental
Impact Statement, asserting that the Corps’ actions were contrary to law. Both challenges have been
consolidated into one litigation. This action is docketed as State of Alabama v. U.S. Army Corps of
Engineers, et al., D.D.C. District Court Case No. 1:15¢cv696. Those claims, if successful, could affect the
Corps’ operation of Lake Allatoona, including future water supply allocation and storage. Georgia moved
to intervene in this litigation on October 7, 2016, and the D.C. District Court granted Georgia’s motion to
intervene on March 31,2017, The parties completed briefing on summary judgement motions on December
11, 2017, and the D.C. District Court has yet to rule on those motions. It is not possible at this time to
predict the duration or outcome of this case.

Review of Medicaid Funding Arrangements for Nursing Facilities

Following an onsite review in 2014 of Georgia’s nursing facility funding arrangements by the
United States Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services
(“CMS”), CMS issued a report in November 2015 to the Department of Community Health (“DCH”)
concluding that certain funding arrangements for the payment of the State’s share of upper payment limit
payments to certain nursing homes owned by development authorities within the State were in violation of
federal law and the State’s Medicaid Plan. The report included a demand for the return of such upper
payment limit payments for FY 2010 and FY 2011 in an aggregate amount of approximately $76.0 million
and the return of any upper payment limit payments made to such nursing homes in subsequent fiscal years,
which DCH estimates to be in an aggregate amount of approximately $94.0 million for both FY 2012 and
FY 2013. DCH has taken no action to return the funds and appealed the demand. On March 14, 2019,
CMS denied DCH’s request for reconsideration. DCH has appealed this decision. It is impracticable to
predict the outcome of this matter, but DCH expects to vigorously assert its position contesting any
unsubstantiated notice of disallowance issued by CMS.
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For additional information, see “Appendix B— COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 — Notes to Financial Statements — Note 20: Litigation,
Contingencies and Commitments.”

INSURANCE

The type and amounts of insurance that are carried by the various departments of the State and the
State’s agencies and authorities are specified through contracts and other arrangements between the
Department of Administrative Services and each such department, agency or authority entered into pursuant
to the provisions of O.C.G.A. Title 50, Chapter 5 and other sections of the Official Code of Georgia
Annotated. See “APPENDIX B — COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR FISCAL
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018” “Notes to the Financial Statements — Note 17: RISK MANAGEMENT”
herein.

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.)
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The Honorable Brian Kemp, Governor of Georgia
The Honorable Members of the General Assembly

Citizens of the State of Georgia

It is my privilege to present the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) on the operations of the State of
Georgia (State) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, in accordance with the Official Code of Georgia Annotated
(0.C.G.A)), Section 50-5B-3(a)(7). The objective of this report is to provide a clear picture of our government as a
single comprehensive reporting entity.

This report consists of management’s representations concerning the State’s finances and management assumes full
responsibility for the completeness and reliability of the information presented. This report reflects my commitment
to you, the citizens of the State, and to the financial community to maintain our financial statements in accordance
with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) applicable to governments as prescribed by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB). Information presented in this report is believed to be accurate in all material
respects, and all disclosures have been included that are necessary to enable the reader to obtain a thorough understanding
of the State’s financial activities.

The CAFR is presented in three sections: Introductory, Financial, and Statistical. The Introductory section includes
this transmittal letter and organizational charts for state government. The Financial section includes the Independent
Auditor’s Report, Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A), audited government-wide and fund financial
statements and related notes thereto, required supplementary information, and the underlying combining and individual
fund financial statements and supporting schedules. The Statistical Section contains selected unaudited financial,
economic and demographic data on a multi-year basis that is useful in evaluating the economic condition of the
government.

Internal Controls

The State’s management is responsible for the establishment and maintenance of internal accounting controls which
are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that assets are safeguarded, financial transactions are
properly recorded and adequately documented, and to ensure the reliability of financial records for preparing financial
statements. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that the cost of a control should not exceed the benefits
likely to be derived from such control and that the evaluation of those costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments
by the State’s management.

Independent Audit

The financial statements of significant organizations comprising the State reporting entity have been separately audited
and reported on by either the State Auditor or independent certified public accountants. The State Auditor and other
independent auditors have performed an examination of the accompanying financial statements for the State and have
issued unmodified opinions on the State’s basic financial statements included in this report.

Federal regulations also require the State to undergo an annual Single Audit in conformance with the Single Audit Act
Amendments of 1996 and the Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for



Federal Awards (contained in Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200). Information related to the Single
Audit, including the schedule of expenditures of federal awards, audit findings and recommendations, summary of
prior audit findings, and the Independent Auditor’s reports, is issued in a separate report and will be available at a later
date.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

GAAP requires that management provide a narrative introduction, overview and analysis to accompany the basic
financial statements in the form of MD&A. This letter of transmittal is designed to complement MD&A and should
be read in conjunction with it. The State’s MD&A can be found immediately following the independent auditor’s
report.

PROFILE OF THE STATE OF GEORGIA

The State, founded on February 12, 1733, was the last of the original 13 colonies and became the fourth state by
ratifying the U.S. Constitution on January 2, 1788. The State is an economic hub of the southeast. Atlanta, the state
capital, is the major economic and population center of the State with major regional economic and population centers
in Augusta, Savannah, and Macon. The State’s economic base is diverse with major port facilities on the coast,
agricultural resources throughout the State, manufacturing and service industries, and is a major transportation center
with one of the busiest airports in the nation. The State is the eighth largest state with an estimated population of 10.4
million people.

Reporting Entity

The Constitution of the State of Georgia (Constitution) provides the basic framework for the State’s government, which
is divided into three separate branches: legislative, executive, and judicial, as shown on the organizational chart on
page v. The duties of each branch are outlined in the Constitution and in the O.C.G.A.

For financial reporting purposes, the State’s reporting entity consists of (1) the primary government, (2) component
unit organizations for which the primary government is financially accountable, and (3) other component unit
organizations for which the nature and significance of their relationship with the primary government is such that
exclusion would cause the reporting entity’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. Further information
about the State’s reporting entity can be found in Note I - Section B to the financial statements.

The State and its component units provide a full range of services to its citizens, including education, health and welfare,
transportation, public safety, economic development and assistance, culture and recreation, conservation, and general
government services. The financial statements present information on the financial position and operations of state
government associated with these services as a single comprehensive reporting entity. Accordingly, the various
agencies, departments, boards, commissions, authorities, foundations, funds, and accounts of the State that have been
identified as part of the primary government or a component unit have been included in this report.



Budgetary Control

The Constitution requires that budgeted expenditures not exceed the estimated revenues and other funding sources,
including beginning fund balances. The State’s legal level of budgetary control is funding source within program.
Annually, the Governor submits a balanced budget by program to the Legislature. In addition to the internal controls
previously discussed, the State maintains budgetary controls to ensure compliance with the legal provisions of the
State’s Appropriation Act, which reflects the Georgia General Assembly’s approval of the annual budget. Budgetary
control is maintained through a formal appropriation and allotment process.

The State’s annual budget is prepared on a statutory basis which is principally the modified accrual basis utilizing
encumbrance accounting. The State monitors spending activity to ensure that expenditures do not exceed appropriated
amounts by agency at the legal level of control as provided for by the Constitution. Information regarding the State’s
budgetary process can be found in the Notes to Required Supplementary Information within this report.

The statutory basis of accounting required by state law differs materially from the basis used to report revenues and
expenditures in accordance with GAAP. Detailed information on the statutory basis of accounting and the results of
operations on that basis for fiscal year 2018 can be found in the separately issued Budgetary Compliance Report (BCR)
dated November 2, 2018.

Budget Stabilization

The State maintains the Revenue Shortfall Reserve (RSR) which provides for the sound management of excess revenue
collections in any given fiscal year. By statute, all surplus state funds existing at the end of each fiscal year shall be
reserved and added to the RSR. Funds in the RSR carry forward from fiscal year to fiscal year without reverting to
the revenue collections fund within the General Fund at the end of a fiscal year. Additional information about the
State’s RSR balances can be found in MD&A.

Long-term Financial Planning - Debt Management

Each year, the Georgia State Financing and Investment Commission (Commission) issues its debt management plan
(Plan) which provides a five-year projection of the State’s general obligation and guaranteed revenue bond issuances
and the debt service requirements for all outstanding debt and projected new debt issuances. The Plan covers the current
fiscal year and the four succeeding fiscal years. The resulting projected annual debt service requirements are compared
to the actual treasury receipts of the State for the immediately preceding fiscal year and projected future treasury
receipts of the State to determine the ratio of debt service requirements to the prior year’s State treasury receipts. This
ratio, which is established by the Constitution at a maximum of 10%, but the Plan is limited to a maximum of 7% by
Commission policy, along with several other ratios discussed in the Plan, serves as a guide for the Governor and the
General Assembly in their consideration of the authorization of new State debt during the budget preparation, review,
and adoption process. Projected issuances of new debt may be increased or decreased depending on the capital needs
of the State and projections of estimated treasury receipts in future years.

Fiscal Year Budget Overview

State General Fund Receipts deposited with the Office of the State Treasurer during fiscal year 2018 were $24.3 billion,
which was 1.8% greater than the final amended revenue estimate of $23.9 billion and 4.5% greater than prior year
2017. Total Net Taxes were 4.6% greater in fiscal year 2018 than fiscal year 2017 and indicated continued economic
growth in Georgia. As a result, the balance of the RSR as of June 30, 2018 was $2.8 billion.
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By statute, up to 1% of fiscal year 2018 net revenue collections ($243.2 million) may be appropriated from the RSR
in fiscal year 2019 for K-12 needs. As of the date of this report, the $2.8 billion RSR balance has not been adjusted
for this potential appropriation. In addition, the Governor may release, for appropriation in a subsequent year, funds
in excess of 4% of current year (fiscal year 2018) revenue collections.

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND OUTLOOK

Many factors indicate that the State’s economy has recovered from the Great Recession. Some of these indicators
include job growth, personal income growth, lower initial unemployment claims and the recovery of home prices.
Additional information on the economic outlook for the State, including detailed information on employment, personal
income, and housing markets, can be found in the State’s MD&A which can be found immediately following the
independent auditor’s report.

AWARDS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) awarded the Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in
Financial Reporting to the State of Georgia for its comprehensive annual financial report for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2017. This was the sixth consecutive year that the State has achieved this prestigious award. In order to be
awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized
comprehensive annual financial report. This report must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and
applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe that our current comprehensive annual
financial report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s requirements, and we are submitting it to
GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate. We are committed to this effort, and we intend to maintain a
highly qualified and professional staff to make this certification possible.

The preparation of this report would not have been possible without the dedicated and efficient service of the entire
staff of the State Accounting Office. We also express our appreciation to the fiscal officers throughout state government
for their dedicated efforts in assisting us in the preparation of this report.

Respectfully submitted,
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Thomas Alan Skelton
State Accounting Officer
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DEPARTMENT OF AUDITS AND ACCOUNTS

270 Washington Street, S.W., Suite 1-156

Atlanta, Georgia 30334-8400

GREG S. GRIFFIN
STATE AUDITOR

(404) 656-2174

Independent Auditor’s Report

The Honorable Brian P. Kemp, Governor of Georgia
and
Members of the General Assembly of the State of Georgia

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining
fund information of the State of Georgia (State), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the State’s basic financial statements as listed in
the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not audit the
financial statements of the following entities:

AU Health System, Inc. Georgia State University Foundation, Inc

Augusta University Foundation, Inc. and Georgia State University Research Foundation, Inc.
Subsidiaries Georgia Tech Athletic Association

Augusta University Research Institute, Inc. Georgia Tech Facilities, Inc.

Employees’ Retirement System of Georgia Georgia Tech Foundation, Inc.

Georgia Advanced Technology Ventures, Inc. and  Georgia Tech Research Corporation

Subsidiaries Kennesaw State University Foundation, Inc.

Georgia College & State University Foundation, Medical College of Georgia Foundation, Inc.
Inc. and Subsidiaries



Georgia Environmental Finance Authority
Georgia Gwinnett College Foundation, Inc.
Georgia Health Sciences Foundation, Inc.
Georgia Higher Education Facilities Authority
Georgia Housing and Finance Authority
Georgia Lottery Corporation

Georgia Ports Authority

Georgia Southern University Housing
Foundation, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Georgia State Financing and Investment
Commission

Georgia State University Athletic Association,
Inc.

Middle Georgia State University Real Estate
Foundation, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Teachers Retirement System of Georgia

University of Georgia Athletic Association, Inc.
University of Georgia Foundation

University of Georgia Research Foundation, Inc. and
Subsidiaries

University of North Georgia Real Estate Foundation,
Inc. and Subsidiaries

UWG Real Estate Foundation, Inc.

University System of Georgia Foundation, Inc. and
Affiliates

VSU Auxiliary Services Real Estate Foundation, Inc.

Those financial statements represent part or all of the total assets, net position or fund balances, and revenues
or additions of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented
component units, the major governmental fund-General Obligation Bond Projects fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information as reported in the following table:

Percent of
Net Percent of
Percent of | Position/ Total
Total Fund Revenues/
Opinion Unit Assets Balance Additions
Governmental Activities 3% 7% 3%
Business-type Activities 3% 6% 0%
Aggregate Discretely Presented Component Units 86% 79% 86%
Governmental Fund — General Obligation Bond Projects Fund 100% 100% 100%
Aggregate Remaining Fund Information 87% 89% 44%

Those financial statements were audited by other auditors whose reports thereon have been furnished to us, and
our opinions, insofar as they relate to the amounts included for the above mentioned entities, are based solely
on the reports of the other auditors.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued
by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. The
following financial statements, which were audited by other auditors upon whose reports we are relying, were
audited in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, but not in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards:

Georgia Advanced Technology Ventures, Inc. and Georgia State University Athletic Association
Subsidiaries Kennesaw State University Foundation, Inc.
Georgia College & State University Foundation, Inc. Medical College of Georgia Foundation, Inc.
and Subsidiaries Middle Georgia State University Real Estate
Georgia Gwinnett College Foundation, Inc. Foundation, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Georgia Health Sciences Foundation, Inc. University of Georgia Athletic Association, Inc.



Georgia Lottery Corporation University of Georgia Foundation

Georgia Southern University Housing University of North Georgia Real Estate Foundation,
Foundation, Inc. and Subsidiaries Inc. and Subsidiaries

Georgia State University Foundation, Inc. UWG Real Estate Foundation, Inc.

Georgia Tech Athletic Association University System of Georgia Foundation, Inc. and
Georgia Tech Facilities, Inc. Affiliates

Georgia Tech Foundation, Inc. VSU Auxiliary Services Real Estate Foundation, Inc.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the State’s preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the State’s internal control. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. Georgia statutes, in addition to audit responsibilities, entrust other
responsibilities to the Department of Audits and Accounts. Those responsibilities include service by the State
Auditor on the governing boards of various agencies, authorities, commissions, and component units of the
State. The Department of Audits and Accounts elected not to provide audit services for the organizational units
of the State of Georgia associated with these boards. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund and the aggregate
remaining fund information of the State, as of June 30, 2018, and the respective changes in financial position
and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended, in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Emphasis of Matter
Implementation of New Accounting Standards

As described in Note 2 to the financial statements, in 2018, the State adopted new accounting guidance,
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting
for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, as amended by GASB Statement No. 85, Omnibus 2017.
Our opinions are not modified with respect to these matters.

Correction of Prior Year Errors

As discussed in Notes 2 and 3 to the financial statements, the fiscal year 2017 ending balances of the
Governmental Activities, Business-type Activities, Higher Education fund, State Health Benefit Plan fund,
Fiduciary funds, Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust funds, and discretely presented component unit
financial statements have been restated to correct errors in previously issued financial statements. Our opinions
are not modified with respect to these matters.



Change in Reporting Entity

As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, the Business-type Activities, the Nonmajor Enterprise funds,
the Nonmajor Internal Service funds, and discretely presented component units have been restated due to
changes in the financial reporting entity. Our opinions are not modified with respect to these matters.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis and required supplementary information listed in the table of contents be presented to
supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential
part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic or
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of
inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge
we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to
express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Supplementary and Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the State’s basic financial statements. The introductory section, combining and individual nonmajor
fund financial statements and statistical section are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a
required part of the basic financial statements.

The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements are the responsibility of management and
were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the
basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America by us and other auditors. In our opinion,
based on our audit, the procedures performed as described above, and the reports of the other auditors, the
combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements are fairly stated, in all material respects, in
relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit
of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we will also issue our report dated January 18, 2019, on
our consideration of State’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. That report will be
issued under separate cover in the State’s Single Audit Report. The purpose of that report is solely to describe
the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing,



and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the State’s internal control over financial reporting or on
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering the State’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Respectfully submitted,

Greg S. Griffin
State Auditor

January 18, 2019
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Management's Discussion and Analysis
(Unaudited)

INTRODUCTION

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) of the State of Georgia’s Comprehensive Annual Financial
Report (CAFR) presents an overview and analysis of the financial activities of the State for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2018. It should be read in conjunction with the letter of transmittal, located in the Introductory Section of
this report, and the State’s financial statements, including the notes to the financial statements, which are an integral
part of the statements that follow this narrative.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS - PRIMARY GOVERNMENT

Government-wide

* Net Position - Total assets and deferred outflows of resources of the State exceeded liabilities and deferred
inflows of resources by $21.4 billion. Contributing to this amount, a deficit of $11.7 billion was reported as
unrestricted net position.

» Changes in Net Position - The State’s total net position decreased by $2.9 billion in fiscal year 2018 compared
to the balances reported in the prior year. More specifically, net position of governmental activities decreased
by $1.5 billion while net position of business-type activities decreased by $1.4 billion.

»  Excess of Revenues over Expenses — Governmental Activities - The State’s total revenues for governmental
activities, which totaled $43.6 billion were $4.6 billion more than total expenses (excluding transfers). General
revenues, which are primarily comprised of tax collections, totaled $24.5 billion, and program revenues, which
primarily come from operating grants and contributions, totaled $19.1 billion.

Fund Level

*  Governmental Funds — Fund Balances - The governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of
$9.7 billion. This amount represents an increase of $911.2 million (10.4%) (as restated), when compared with
the prior year. Of this total fund balance, $52.1 million (0.5%) represents nonspendable fund balance; $6.6
billion (68.1%) represents restricted fund balance; $11.8 million (0.1%) represents committed fund balance;
$522.6 million (5.4%) represents assigned fund balance; and $2.5 billion (25.9%) represents unassigned fund
balance.

*  General Fund — Fund Balances - The General Fund ended the fiscal year with a total fund balance of $8.1 billion,
of which $2.5 billion was classified as unassigned fund balance. Total revenues increased by $1.5 billion (3.6%)
over the prior year.

»  Enterprise Funds — Net position - The Enterprise Funds ended the fiscal year with a total net position of $4.7
billion. More specifically, the major funds areas with significant net positions were the Higher Education Fund
of $1.7 billion, the Unemployment Compensation Fund of $2.2 billion, and the State Health Benefit Plan of
$689.9 million.

Long-term Debt

The long-term bond debt of the primary government increased $57.1 million (0.5%) during the fiscal year. The
increase represents the net difference between new issuances, maturing principal payments and the net effect of
refunding bonds. The amount owed for general obligation bonds increased by $191.8 million (1.9%) for the primary
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government, while the amount owed for revenue bonds decreased $134.7 million (13.3%) for the primary
government. The State issued new bonded debt, including refunding bonds, during the year in the amount of $1.7
billion for the primary government. The State continues to balance the need to issue debt for capital improvements
against State management’s desire to maintain a conservative approach to debt management.

OVERVIEVW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial section of this report includes four parts: (1) management’s discussion and analysis, (2) basic financial
statements, (3) required supplementary information, and (4) other supplementary information. The Basic Financial
Statements consist of three components: government-wide financial statements, fund financial statements, and notes
to the financial statements.

Government-wide Financial Statements — Reporting the State as a Whole

The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities together comprise the government-wide financial
statements and provide a broad overview of the State’s financial activities as a whole. These statements are prepared
with a long-term focus using the full-accrual basis of accounting, similar to private-sector businesses. This means
all revenues and expenses associated with the fiscal year are recognized regardless of when cash is spent or received,
and all assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, including capital assets
and long-term debt, are reported at the entity level.

The government-wide statements report the State’s net position, which is the difference between total assets and
deferred outflows of resources and total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. These statements also include
how these items have changed from the prior year. Over time, increases and decreases in net position measure
whether the State’s overall financial condition is improving or declining. In evaluating the State’s overall condition,
however, additional non-financial information should be considered, such as the State’s economic outlook, changes
in demographics, and the condition of its capital assets and infrastructure. The government-wide statements report
three activities:

* Governmental Activities - The majority of the State’s basic services fall under this activity, including
services related to general government, education, health and welfare, transportation, public safety,
economic development and assistance, culture and recreation, and conservation. Taxes and
intergovernmental revenues are the major funding sources for these programs.

» Business-Type Activities - The State operates certain activities similar to private-sector businesses by
charging fees to customers to recover all or a significant portion of their costs of providing goods and
services. The Unemployment Compensation Fund, the self-insured State Health Benefit Plan (SHBP),
and the Higher Education Fund are some examples of business-type activities. The Higher Education
Fund consists of the University System of Georgia and the Technical College System of Georgia.

»  Component Units - Certain organizations are legally separate from the State; however, the State remains
financially accountable for them. The Georgia Environmental Finance Authority, Georgia Housing and
Finance Authority, and Georgia Lottery Corporation are examples of component units.
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Fund Financial Statements — Reporting the State’s Most Significant Funds

The fund financial statements provide detailed information about individual major funds, not the State as a whole,
and are located in the Basic Financial Statements — Fund Financial Statements section. A fund is a grouping of
related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or
objectives. The State, like other state and local governments, uses funds to ensure and demonstrate compliance with
finance-related and legal requirements. All of the State funds are divided into three types, each of which use a
different accounting approach and should be interpreted differently:

* Governmental Funds - Most of the basic services provided by the State are financed through
governmental funds and are essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in the
government-wide financial statements. Governmental funds use the modified accrual basis of
accounting, and focus on short-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances
of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. These statements provide a detailed short-
term view of the State’s finances that assist in determining whether there will be adequate financial
resources available to meet the current needs of the State.

e Proprietary Funds - The Proprietary funds, which include enterprise funds and internal service funds,
account for state activities that are similar to private-sector businesses. Like government-wide
statements, proprietary fund statements are presented using the full-accrual basis of accounting.
Activities whose customers are mostly outside of state government are accounted for in enterprise funds
and are the same functions reported as business-type activities. The enterprise fund financial statements
provide more detail and additional information than in the government-wide statements, such as cash
flows. Activities whose customers are mostly other state organizations are accounted for in internal
service funds. The internal service fund activities are allocated proportionately between the
governmental activities (predominately) and the business-type activities in the government-wide
statements based on the benefit of the services provided to those activities.

»  Fiduciary Funds - These funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside
the state government. The State is responsible for ensuring these assets are used for their intended
purposes. Fiduciary funds use full-accrual accounting but are not reflected in the government-wide
financial statements because the resources from these funds are not available to support the State’s own
programs.

Reconciliation between Government-wide and Fund Statements

This report also includes two schedules that reconcile and explain the differences between the amounts reported for
the governmental activities on the government-wide statements (full-accrual accounting, long-term focus) with the
amounts reported on the governmental fund statements (modified accrual accounting, short-term focus). The
schedules are located in the Basic Financial Statements — Fund Financial Statements — Governmental Funds section.
The following explanations represent some of the reporting differences between the two statements:

e Capital outlays result in capital assets on the government-wide statements but are reported as
expenditures in the governmental fund financial statements.

* Bond proceeds are recorded as long-term debt on the government-wide statements but are listed as
current financial resources on the governmental fund statements.
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* Net pension and other postemployment (OPEB) assets/liabilities are reported on the government-wide
statements but are not reported on the governmental fund statements.

Notes to the Financial Statements

The notes to the financial statements located at the end of the basic financial statements section provide additional
information essential to a complete understanding of the financial statements. The notes are applicable to both the
government-wide financial statements and the fund financial statements.

Required and Other Supplementary Information

In addition to this MD&A, the basic financial statements are followed by a section containing other required
supplementary information which further explains and supports the information in the financial statements. This
section of the report includes: (1) a budgetary comparison schedule of the General Fund (Budget Fund), including
reconciliations of revenues and expenditures on the statutory and GAAP basis for the fiscal year, (2) information
on the State’s public entity risk pool, (3) information on the State’s defined benefit pension plans and (4) information
on the State’s OPEB plans. Other supplementary information includes combined financial statements for the State’s
nonmajor governmental funds, nonmajor enterprise funds, internal service funds, fiduciary funds and non-major
component units. The total columns of these combined financial statements carry forward to the applicable fund
financial statements.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE STATE AS A WHOLE
Net Position

Governmental entities are required by Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) to report on their net position.
The Statement of Net Position presents the value of all of the State’s assets and deferred outflows of resources, as well
as all liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, with the difference reported as net position.

As shown in Table 1 on the following page, the State reported a total net position of $21.4 billion, which is comprised
of $24.4 billion in net investment in capital assets, $8.7 billion in restricted net position, and an unrestricted portion
of net position deficit of $11.7 billion.

Based on this measurement, no funds were available for discretionary purposes. However, a significant contributing
factor is that governments recognize long-term liabilities on the government-wide statement of net position as soon as
a liability has been incurred. Accordingly, the State recognizes long-term liabilities (such as general obligation debt,
net pension and OPEB liabilities) on the statement of net position. While financing and budgeting functions focus on
when such liabilities will be paid, this statement focuses on when a liability has been incurred. The following table
was derived from the current and prior year government-wide Statement of Net Position.

(Table on next page)
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Table 1 - Net Position
As of June 30, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands)
Governmental Business-type Total Primary
Activities Activities Government
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Assets
Non-Capital Assets $ 17,187,431 $ 16,083,546 $§ 6,407,815 $ 5885362 § 23,595,246 $ 21,968,908
Net Capital Assets 23,009,176 22,100,118 11,072,098 11,116,972 34,081,274 33,217,090

Total Assets 40,196,607 38,183,664 17,479,913 17,002,334 57,676,520 55,185,998
Deferred Outflows of Resources 1,705,307 1,604,253 1,024,781 1,041,915 2,730,088 2,646,168
Liabilities
Noncurrent Liabilities 18,555,692 15,970,995 11,740,526 10,152,483 30,296,218 26,123,478
Current Liabilities 5,787,154 5,245,385 1,092,444 1,205,616 6,879,598 6,451,001

Total Liabilities 24,342,846 21,216,380 12,832,970 11,358,099 37,175,816 32,574,479
Deferred Inflows of Resources 730,905 193,622 1,116,502 758,281 1,847,407 951,903
Net Position

Net Investment in Capital Assets 19,542,361 18,575,368 7,849,961 7,773,009 24,372,160 23,502,948

Restricted 5,792,152 5,013,504 2,955,296 2,639,561 8,747,448 7,653,065

Unrestricted (8,506,350) (5,210,957) (6,250,035) (4,484,701) (11,736,223) (6,850,229)

Total Net Position $ 16,828,163 $ 18377915 $§ 4,555,222 $  5927,869 $§ 21,383,385 $ 24,305,784
Percent Change in Total:

Net Position from Prior Year 8.49)% (23.2)% (12.0)%
Percent Change after Restatements 10.8 % 16.8 % 12.0 %

Note: Prior year adjustments recorded in the current year have not been reflected in the prior year column in the table above.

Net position for governmental activities as originally reported decreased by $1.5 billion (8.4%), but increased by $1.6
billion (10.8%), when adjusted for restatements. The deficit unrestricted balance of $8.5 billion is primarily the result
of the following three types of transactions:

» The State continues to issue general obligation debt for the purposes of capital acquisition and construction
on behalf of county and independent school systems. Since the issuance of this debt does not result in capital
assets acquisitions for governmental activities, the debt of $5.2 billion is not reflected in the net position
category, net investment in capital assets, but rather in the unrestricted net position category.

*  GASB Statement No. 68 (GASB 68), as related to pensions, required the State to recognize its proportional
share of the net pension liability of the pension plans applicable to said standard. As of June 30, 2018, this
liability resulted in a $3.2 billion impact to unrestricted net position.

*  GASB Statement No. 75 (GASB 75), as related to OPEB, required the State to recognize its proportional share
of the net OPEB liability of the OPEB plans applicable to said standard. As of June 30, 2018, this liability
resulted in a $2.9 billion impact to unrestricted net position.

Net position for business-type activities as originally reported decreased by $1.4 billion (23.2%), but increased by

$653.6 million (16.8%), when adjusted for restatements. The deficit unrestricted balance of $6.3 billion is primarily
due to the recognition of net pension and OPEB liabilities.

13



State of Georgia

Management's Discussion and Analysis
(Unaudited)

* GASB 68, as related to pensions, required the State to recognize its proportional share of the net pension
liability of the pension plans applicable to said standard. As of June 30, 2018, this liability resulted in a $2.8
billion impact to unrestricted net position.

*  GASB 75, as related to OPEB, required the State to recognize its proportional share of the net OPEB liability
of the OPEB plans applicable to said standard. As of June 30, 2018, this liability resulted in a $4.7 billion

impact to unrestricted net position.

Changes in Net Position

The revenue and expense information, as shown in Table 2 on the following page, was derived from the government-
wide Statement of Activities and summarizes the State’s total revenues, expenses and changes in net position for fiscal
year 2018. Consistent with the prior year, the State received a majority of its $54.0 billion in revenues from taxes and
operating grants and contributions. Expenses of the primary government during fiscal year 2018 were $51.7 billion
with the increase over the prior year driven largely by education, transportation, and healthcare costs. As a result of
the excess revenues over expenses, the total net position of the primary government increased by $2.3 billion, net of
transfers.

(Table on next page)
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Table 2 - Changes in Net Position
For the Years Ended June 30, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands)
Total Total
Governmental Business-type Primary Percentage
Activities Activities Government Change
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2017 t0 2018
Revenues:
Program Revenues:
Sales and Charges for Services $ 1,261,263 $ 1,414,743 § 7236472 $ 6,480,908 $§ 8,497,735 $ 7,895,651 7.6 %
Operating Grants/Contributions 16,277,251 15,611,324 3,031,969 2,788,516 19,309,220 18,399,840 4.9 %
Capital Grants/Contributions 1,560,745 1,608,086 107,167 79,085 1,667,912 1,687,171 (1.1)%|
General Revenues:
Taxes 22,258,729 21,769,211 — — 22,258,729 21,769,211 22 %
Lottery for Education - Lottery Proceeds 1,143,515 1,101,062 — — 1,143,515 1,101,062 3.9 %
Nursing Home and Hospital Provider Fees 465,595 442,576 — — 465,595 442,576 5.2 %
Tobacco Settlement Funds 168,926 140,938 — — 168,926 140,938 19.9 %
Unrestricted Investment Income 104,230 50,631 — — 104,230 50,631 105.9 %
Unclaimed Property 151,462 143,683 — — 151,462 143,683 5.4 %
Other 184,240 196,046 — — 184,240 196,046 (6.0)%|
Total Revenues 43,575,956 42,478,300 10,375,608 9,348,509 53,951,564 51,826,809 4.1 %
Expenses:
General Government 1,380,132 1,229,891 1,380,132 1,229,891 12.2 %
Education 13,266,545 12,655,824 13,266,545 12,655,824 4.8 %
Health and Welfare 18,082,536 17,238,499 18,082,536 17,238,499 4.9 %
Transportation 2,400,875 1,964,380 2,400,875 1,964,380 222 %
Public Safety 2,525,521 2,628,645 2,525,521 2,628,645 (3.9)%|
Economic Development and Assistance 524,516 645,604 524,516 645,604 (18.8)%
Culture and Recreation 308,917 279,375 308,917 279,375 10.6 %
Conservation 72,135 60,603 72,135 60,603 19.0 %
Interest and Other Charges on Long-Term Debt 379,211 394,388 379,211 394,388 (3.8)%
Higher Education Fund — — 9,300,291 9,063,716 2.6 %
State Health Benefit Plan — — 2,882,954 2,296,062 25.6 %
Unemployment Compensation Fund — — 325,523 328,266 (0.8)%|
Nonmajor Enterprise Funds — — 207,054 194,402 6.5 %
Total Expenses 38,940,388 37,097,209 51,656,210 48,979,655 5.5 %
Increase (Decrease) in Net Position Before Contributions and
Transfers 4,635,568 5,381,091 2,295,354 2,847,154
Contributions to Permanent Endowments — — 345 833
Transfers (2,993,509) (2,803,960) — —
Change in Net Position 1,642,059 2,577,131 2,295,699 2,847,987
Net Position July 1 - Restated 15,186,104 15,800,784 3,901,582 5,657,013 19,087,686 21,457,797
Net Position June 30 $ 16,828,163  $ 18,377,915 § 4555222 $§ 5,927,869 $ 21,383,385 $ 24,305,784 (12.0)%

Note: Prior year adjustments recorded in the current year have not been reflected in the prior year column in the table above.

Governmental Activities

The State’s total revenues for governmental activities from all sources increased by $1.1 billion ( 2.6%). The primary
driver of this change was an increase in tax revenue totaling $489.5 million which continues to reflect the overall
economic growth of the state economy. However, while tax revenues within the general fund increased by $1.0 billion,
taxes for governmental activities were negatively impacted in fiscal year 2018 by the removal of tax liens not renewed
due to a change in State law and an increase in the allowance for doubtful accounts. Additionally, operating grants
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and contributions increased by $665.9 million, primarily due to increases in federal Medicaid and associated healthcare
reimbursements.

The following table shows to what extent program revenues (charges for services and grants) covered program expenses.
During fiscal year 2018, program revenues covered $19.1 billion (49.0%) of the $38.9 billion in total program expenses.
For the remaining $19.8 billion (51.0%) of the total program expenses, the State relied on taxes and other general
revenues.

Table 3 — Net Program Revenue
For the Year Ended June 30, 2018 (in billions)

Business-type Activities

Net position of business-type activities (as restated) increased by $653.6 million (16.8%) during the fiscal year. Total
revenues and expenses for the State’s business-type activities increased by $1.0 billion and $833.4 million (11.0%)
and 7.0% from prior year respectively.

In fiscal year 2018, business-type activities expenses were funded 81.6% from program revenues compared to 78.7%
in the prior year. The amount of funding for these activities coming from program revenues increased from $9.3 billion
the prior year to $10.4 billion in fiscal year 2018. The remaining expenses were funded by $3.0 billion in transfers
from governmental activities, of which the majority went to the Higher Education Fund.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE STATE’S
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

Fund Balances

At June 30, 2018, the State’s governmental funds reported a combined ending fund balance of $9.7 billion. Of this
amount, $52.1 million (0.5%) is nonspendable, either due to its form or legal constraints and $6.6 billion (68.1%) is
restricted for specific programs by constitutional provisions, external constraints, or contractual obligations. Fund
balance that is restricted by the Constitution principally includes motor fuel taxes that can be used only to build roads
and bridges and lottery funds held for education purposes. Restrictions by external parties include general obligation
bonds that can only be used for authorized capital projects. Additionally, $11.8 million (0.1%) of total fund balance,
has been committed to specific purposes. Committed amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless approved
by the General Assembly and the Governor. An additional $522.6 million (5.4%) of total fund balance has been
assigned to specific purposes, as expressed by the intent of State management. The remaining $2.5 billion (25.9%)
of fund balance is unassigned.

General Fund

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the State and had a total fund balance of $8.1 billion as of fiscal year
end. The net change in fund balance (as restated) during the fiscal year was $733.8 million (9.9%). The following
major revenues, expenditures and other sources/uses contributed to the change in fund balance:

» Revenues - Revenues of the General Fund totaled $43.8 billion in the fiscal year, for an increase of $1.5
billion (3.6%). The primary factor contributing to this change was a $1.0 billion increase in tax revenues
from fiscal year 2017 as a result of continued overall growth in the Georgia economy. This growth was
consistent with the expected growth in taxes contemplated by the fiscal year 2018 budget. In addition to
the increase in tax revenues, intergovernmental revenues increased by $506.0 million.

«  Expenditures - Expenditures of the General Fund totaled $38.8 billion in the fiscal year, an increase of
$1.5 billion over the prior year. The State continues to focus additional budgetary funding in the areas of
education and healthcare. For example, the two largest factors contributing to this change include:

o Education expenses increased $665.6 million consistent with additional funds allocated in the
fiscal year 2018 budget for K-12 education to fund enrollment growth and teacher training and

experience.

o Health and welfare expenses increased $980.2 million, which is consistent with increasing
healthcare costs.

Capital Project Fund - General Obligation Bond Projects Fund

Fund balance in the General Obligation Bond Projects Fund increased by $62.6 million (5.8%) from the prior year.
This was primarily the result of general revenues, debt issuances, and transfers in exceeding capital expenditures and
transfers out. Capital outlay expenditures increased by $107.4 million from the prior year.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE STATE’S
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Higher Education Fund

The total net position of the Higher Education Fund (as restated) increased $234.8 million (16.5%) primarily due to
an increase in transfers in from the general fund.

Operating revenues of the Higher Education Fund increased by $105.5 million (2.0%), primarily due to increase in
operating grants and contributions of $79.8 million and net student tuition and fees revenue of $29.4 million.
Nonoperating revenues (net of expenses) increased $163.9 million primarily due to grants and contributions. In
addition, the Higher Education Fund received an increase of $204.7 million (8.2%) of transfers in, primarily from the
General Fund, compared to the prior year.

Operating expenses increased $252.9 million (2.8%), compared to the prior year. Of this amount, $234.9 million is
related to Board of Regents, which is primarily attributable to the following functional classifications: Research ($28.3
million), Academic Support ($19.1 million), Institutional Support ($59.2 million), Plant Operations ($50.1 million),
Scholarships and Fellowships ($20.5 million), and Patient Care ($22.4 million).

State Health Benefit Plan

Operating revenues for SHBP increased by $777.0 million and operating expenses increased by $586.9 million, which
resulted in operating income of $82.1 million. The increase in operating revenues and expenses is primarily due to a
change in reporting of payments from the State Health Benefit Fund to fiduciary funds from contra-revenue to benefits
expense.

Unemployment Compensation Fund

Georgia’s unemployment rate at June 30, 2018 improved from 4.7% to 4.1% in fiscal year 2018. As a result,
unemployment claims were slightly lower and unemployment benefit payments continued to decline annually and
decreased $2.7 million (0.8%) this year as compared to the prior year. In addition, employer unemployment rates were
reduced and the corresponding federal revenue and unemployment tax revenue decreased by $60.2 million (8.5%).
Employer taxes and other revenues exceeded benefit payments by $366.9 million. Employer Unemployment Insurance
(UI) tax bills are based on both a base rate and the employer's experience rating. The base rate did not change during
state fiscal year 2018; however, the experience ratings for many of Georgia's employers declined due to the continued
decrease in the state's unemployment rate. This led to lower UI tax bills and a lower UI receivable.

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets

The State’s capital assets increased by a net $0.9 billion (2.6%) during the year. The change consisted of a net increase
in infrastructure of $271.6 million, as well as net increases in software, land, buildings, and construction in progress
of $39.4 million, $178.7 million, $61.1 million, and $400.3 million respectively.

At June 30, 2018, the State had general fund commitments of $2.3 billion and capital project fund commitments of
$562.5 million for highway infrastructure and bridge construction. The State Road and Tollway Authority had $465.2
million of commitments, which is primarily due to $343.9 million for the 1-285/GA 400 Interchange, $109.4 million
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for the 1-85 Widening Project and $5.5 million for the Northwest Corridor Express Lane Project. Additionally, the
Board of Regents had $50.9 million for various construction and renovation projects.

Additional information on the State’s capital assets can be found in Note 9 — Capital Assets of the Notes to the Financial
Statements section of this report.

Table 4 - Capital Assets, Net of Accumulated Depreciation
As of June 30, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands)
Governmental Business-type Total Primary
Activities Activities Government
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Buildings/Building Improvements $ 2138265 $  2073.874 $ 9,012,743 $ 9,016,019 $ 11,151,008 $ 11,089,893
Improvements Other Than Buildings 87,447 83,018 175,874 293,384 263,321 376,402
Infrastructure 12,000,811 11,723,433 227,688 233,430 12,228,499 11,956,863
Intangibles - Other Than Software 123,822 122,724 — 123,822 122,724
Land 4,206,006 4,049,892 491,297 468,702 4,697,303 4,518,594
Library Collections — — 179,577 179,466 179,577 179,466
Machinery and Equipment 270,800 258,420 550,794 538,478 821,594 796,898
Software 267,735 244245 85,946 70,057 353,681 314,302
Works of Art and Collections 1,391 1,391 57,006 56,736 58,397 58,127
Construction in Progress 3,912,899 3,543,121 291,173 260,700 4,204,072 3,803,821
Total $ 23,009,176 $ 22,100,118 $ 11,072,098 $ 11,116,972 $ 34,081,274 $ 33,217,090

Note: Prior year adjustments recorded in the current year have not been reflected in the prior year column in the table above.

Debt Administration

The Constitution authorizes issuing general obligation debt only as approved by the legislature and prohibits the issuance
of general obligation bonds for operating purposes. The Constitution requires the State to maintain a reserve sufficient
to pay annual debt service requirements on all general obligation debt. If for any reason the reserve balance is insufficient
to make all debt service payments when due, the first revenues received thereafter in the General Fund will be set aside
for such use. The Constitution also stipulates that no debt may be incurred when the highest aggregate annual debt
service requirements for any year for outstanding general obligation debt and guaranteed revenue debt, including
proposed debt, exceed 10% of the total revenue receipts, less refunds in the state treasury, in the fiscal year immediately
preceding the year in which any such debt is to be incurred. At June 30, 2018, the State was $1.1 billion below the
annual debt service limit established by the Constitution.

Table 5 - Net Outstanding Bond Debt
As of June 30, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands)

Governmental Business-type Total Primary
Activities Activities Government
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
General Obligation Bonds $10,043,489 $ 9,851,713 § — 3 — $10,043,489 $ 9,851,713
GARVEE Revenue Bonds 397,825 482,039 — — 397,825 482,039
Revenue Bonds 215,945 263,438 266,150 269,136 482,095 532,574

$10,657,259  $10,597,190  $266,150 $ 269,136  $10,923,409  $10,866,326

Note: Prior year adjustments recorded in the current year have not been reflected in the prior year column in the table above.
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At the end of the fiscal year, the State had $10.9 billion in total outstanding bonded debt. Of this amount $10.3 billion
(including premiums and discounts), (93.9%), is secured by the full faith and credit of the government for general
obligation bonds and guaranteed revenue bonds; $266.2 million (2.4%), is secured primarily by lease arrangements
with the Board of Regents or applicable security deed and related assignment of contract documents; and $397.8 million
(3.6%) in State Road and Tollway Authority GARVEE debt is secured by Federal Highway Administration grant funds
and state motor fuel funds.

Total general obligation bonds and revenue bonds payable, net of premiums and discounts, increased $191.8 million
(1.9%) and decreased $134.7 million (13.3%) respectively. During the fiscal year, the State issued $1.0 billion of
general obligation bonds, excluding premiums, discounts, and refunding issues. Of the general obligation bonds issued,
$226.4 million was issued for K-12 school facilities, $394.0 million was issued for higher education facilities, $108.0
million was issued for transportation projects, $55.0 million for projects and facilities for the Georgia World Congress
Center, $8.0 million for water and sewer loans to local governments, and $249.6 million for various state agency
facilities.

The State maintains a triple-A bond rating on its general obligation debt from all three national rating agencies. These
ratings, the highest available, help the State achieve the lowest possible interest rates. Additional information regarding
the State’s outstanding debt can be found in Note 10 — Long-Term Liabilities of the notes to the financial statements
section.

BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

Fiscal Year 2018 Budget Highlights

The fiscal year 2018 budget focused on meeting growth needs in education, including increasing the base salaries for
teachers, addressing needs in human services programming, and continuing to meet the state’s pension obligations.
The budget was built on 3.5% net revenue growth over the amended fiscal year 2017 budget, including 3.6% expected
tax growth.

Transportation Infrastructure
*  $162.6 million for transportation projects as a result of additional revenues from HB 170.
*  $100 million in GO bonds to repair, renovate, or replace bridges statewide.

Education
+  $156.8 million in additional funds for the Quality Basic Education program to fund enrollment growth and
teacher training and experience.
»  $85.8 million for the Quality Based Education Equalization program to assist low-wealth school systems.
» $160.1 million to provide a 2% increase to the state base salary schedule for teachers.
*  $79.4 million to fully fund enrollment growth for the University System.

Health and Welfare
+  $48.2 million for Medicaid and PeachCare for Kids.
+  $79.6 million to meet increased demand in child welfare programs.
+  $25.9 million for additional waivers and services as part of the DOJ settlement extension.
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Other
»  $223.6 million to meet the ADEC for the Teachers Retirement System.
» $117.4 million to continue to address state employee salary needs through merit increases.
+  $55.4 million for a 20% pay increase for law enforcement officers.

Amended Fiscal Year 2018 Budget Highlights

Amended fiscal year 2018 (AFY 2018) appropriations bill was signed by the Governor on March 9, 2018 as passed
by the General Assembly with no vetoes. The AFY 2018 budget was built on a 2.7% increase in net revenue collections
over fiscal year 2017 actuals, including a 2.9% increase in tax revenues.

Limited changes in AFY 2018 to meeting growth needs in education and human services, providing additional funding
to local governments and school systems, and supporting economic development efforts:

Education
*  $101.4 million for a mid-term adjustment for a 0.38% increase in enrollment in the Quality Basic Education
(QBE) program.

*  $15.7 million for school buses for local school systems.
*  $9.6 million for growth in the Dual Enrollment program.
*  $8.2 million in additional lottery funds for growth in the HOPE Scholarships programs.

Health and Welfare
*  $28.2 million for the Indigent Care Trust Fund and Medicaid.
*  $1.2 million for hospitals to offset costs due to the high number of flu cases.
* $15.1 million to meet increased demand in child welfare services programs.
*  $3.5 million for autism services for children under 21.

*  $25.9 million for airport runway extension projects to spur economic development and business investment
in rural areas.

*  $60.7 million in additional funds for Forestland Protection Act reimbursements.

*  $10 million for the Governor’s Emergency Fund.

*  $10 million for grants to local communities for beach nourishment infrastructure projects.
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Fiscal Performance

Total state fund revenues increased by 4.5% to $24.3 billion, which includes a 4.6% increase in tax revenue collections
over fiscal year 2017, exceeding the revenue estimate by 2.6% and enabling the State to add to the revenue shortfall
reserve.

State General Fund Receipts (Net Revenue
Collections), which consist primarily of tax
revenues collected less applicable refunds
issued, now exceed the pre-recession peak. Total
funds deposited with the Office of the State
Treasurer during fiscal year 2018 were $1.1
billion more than the initial revenue estimate
used for the budget. Of the major tax sources,
individual income tax, general sales and use tax
and motor vehicle taxes/motor vehicle ad
valorem tax were the largest components of
overall tax growth at $748.8 million (6.9%);
$315.0 million (5.6%); and $143.7 million
(4.8%) respectively.

These results are consistent with the State’s practice of setting conservative revenue estimates and corresponding
budgets. These results have a direct impact on the State’s revenue shortfall reserve discussed below.

Revenue Shortfall Reserve (RSR)

The RSR provides for the sound management of excess revenue collections in any given fiscal year. By statute, all
surplus State funds existing at the end of each fiscal year shall be reserved and added to the RSR. Each fiscal year,
the General Assembly may appropriate from the RSR an amount up to 1% of the net revenue collections of the
preceding fiscal year for funding increased K-12 education needs. Also, the Governor may release for appropriation

by the General Assembly a stated amount of
reserve funds in the RSR that are in excess of
4% of the net revenue collections of the
preceding fiscal year. The RSR cannot exceed
15% of the previous fiscal year’s net revenue
collections.

The ending balance in the RSR is a critical tool
in helping to address budget shortfalls similar to
those witnessed during the Great Recession.
After reaching a peak in fiscal year 2007 at $1.7
billion (9.2% of state general fund receipts/net
revenue collections), the State’s RSR balance
declined to a low of $268.2 million in fiscal year
2010. For the year ended June 30,2018, the RSR
increased by $258.0 million and has a current
balance of $2.8 billion. The RSR balance is now
the largest balance in the history of the state.
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The increase to the RSR was accomplished due to revenue collections exceeding revenue estimates ($1.0 billion) and
return of unexpended and unobligated funds by agencies. By statute, 1% of fiscal year 2018 state general fund receipts/
net revenue collections ($243.2 million) is available from the RSR for the mid-year K-12 education appropriation
adjustment in the amended fiscal year 2018 budget. However, this amount had not been appropriated as of the date of
this report.

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET

Economic Results During 2018

The U.S. economy continued to grow during fiscal year 2018. Real GDP posted strong growth of 2.8% annualized in
the first quarter of the fiscal year (2017 Q3). Growth slowed during the middle two quarters of the fiscal year before
accelerating sharply in the last quarter of the fiscal year. Growth in this quarter (2018 Q2) equaled 4.2% annualized.
Figure A illustrates Real GDP growth since 2016. The U.S. labor market added 2.24 million net new jobs during fiscal
year 2018. This equated to 1.6% growth. Figure B illustrates net job additions by month on a 3 month moving average
basis. As shown, monthly job growth is volatile but averaged about 200,000 new jobs per month.

Table A - US Real GDP Growth Table B - US Non-Farm Employment

Georgia’s labor market experienced strong growth during fiscal year 2018. Net job additions totaled 80,800 for the
fiscal year; a growth rate of 1.8%. As shown in Figure C, monthly job growth on a 3 month moving average basis is
volatile but averaged just over 6,700 jobs per month. Georgia’s labor market expanded more quickly than the U.S.
labor market during the fiscal year. Figure D shows the rate of job growth in Georgia on a 3 month moving average
basis exceeded that of the U.S. labor market throughout the fiscal year.

(Table on next page)
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Table C - Georgia Job Additions Table D - U.S. vs Georgia Job Growth

As shown in Figure E, Georgia’s unemployment situation continued its strong performance during fiscal year 2018.
The unemployment rate fell by 0.6 percentage points over the course of fiscal year 2018; starting the fiscal year at
4.7% and finishing the fiscal year at 4.1%. In addition, Georgia’s labor force and household employment both grew
over the fiscal year. These data are indicative of healthy labor market growth. Figure F illustrates that personal income
growth in Georgia outperformed that of the U.S. during the first two quarters of fiscal year 2018 but slightly
underperformed in the last two quarters

Table E - Georgia Unemployment Table F - Georgia vs U.S. Personal
Situation Income Growth

Fiscal Year 2019 Budget Highlights
The fiscal year 2019 budget focuses on meeting growth needs in education, addressing needs in human services

programming, and continuing to meet the state’s pension obligations. The budget is built on 4.1% net revenue
growth over the amended fiscal year 2018 budget, including 4.1% expected tax growth.
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Education
*  $114.9 million in additional funds for the Quality Basic Education (QBE) program to fund enrollment growth
and teacher training and experience.
*  $166.8 million to eliminate remaining austerity adjustments and fully fund the QBE funding formula.
*  $30.7 million for the QBE Equalization program to assist low-wealth school systems.

Higher Education

*  $54.3 million to fully fund enrollment growth for the University System.

*  $82.4million in federal funds to transfer the Governor’s Office of Workforce Development from the Department
of Economic Development to leverage workforce development initiatives and education resources to meet
industry workforce training demands.

*  $68.1 million in additional lottery funds to provide a 3% increase in the award amount for the HOPE scholarships
and grants.

*  $26.7 million for growth in the Dual Enrollment program.

Health and Welfare
e $240.9 million for Medicaid.
*  $41.2 million to meet increased demand in child welfare programs.
*  $19.1 million for behavioral health services as recommended by the Commission on Children’s Mental Health.
* $11.8 million for additional waivers and services as part of the DOJ settlement extension.

Transportation Infrastructure
*  $31.6 million for transportation projects as a result of additional revenues from HB 170.
»  $100 million in bond funds for the repair, replacement, and renovation of bridges throughout the state.
*  $100 million in bond funds for transit grants statewide.
*  $35 million in bond funds for the Savannah Harbor Deepening project.

Other
*  $364.9 million to meet the ADEC for the Teachers Retirement System.

REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the State’s finances for all of the State’s citizens,
taxpayers, customers, and investors and creditors. This financial report seeks to demonstrate the State’s accountability
for the money it receives. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional
information should be addressed to: State Accounting Office, 200 Piedmont Avenue, Suite 1604 West Tower, and
Atlanta, Georgia 30334-9010.
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State of Georgia

Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2018

(dollars in thousands)

Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Pooled Investments with State Treasury
Investments
Receivables (Net)
Due from Primary Government
Due from Component Units
Internal Balances
Inventories
Prepaid Items
Other Assets
Restricted Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Pooled Investments with State Treasury
Investments
Receivables (Net)
Net Pension Asset
Net OPEB Asset
Capital Assets
Nondepreciable
Depreciable (Net of Accumulated Depreciation)
Total Assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Liabilities
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
Local Education Agencies Payable
Due to Primary Government
Due to Component Units
Benefits Payable
Accrued Interest Payable
Contracts Payable
Funds Held for Others
Unearned Revenue
Claims and Judgments Payable
Other Liabilities
Noncurrent Liabilities:
Net Pension Liability
Net OPEB Liability
Due within one year
Due in more than one year
Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Primary Government

Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Units

3,796,625  $ 1,349,512 5,146,137  $ 700,687
3,882,536 883,080 4,765,616 1,589,660
2,825,795 627,084 3,452,879 2,373,669
5,534,536 656,911 6,191,447 5,623,077
— — — 47,010
110,242 448,658 558,900 —
386,820 (386,820) — —
38,009 30,701 68,710 32,046
30,392 71,363 101,755 42,592
69,025 2,906 71,931 178,629
— 2,352,676 2,352,676 470,560
190,095 116,079 306,174 73,020
— 244,558 244,558 2,043,286
— — — 1,239,607
102,268 — 102,268 6,479
221,088 11,107 232,195 3,195
8,243,789 834,395 9,078,184 696,241
14,765,387 10,237,703 25,003,090 3,597,176
40,196,607 17,479,913 57,676,520 18,716,934
1,705,307 1,024,781 2,730,088 138,277
1,703,869 258,917 1,962,786 345,563
1,626,612 — 1,626,612 —
— — — 558,900
35,709 11,301 47,010 —
918,720 261,867 1,180,587 6
245,958 1,118 247,076 38,142
92,863 35,115 127,978 33,330
142,358 116,557 258,915 34,009
48,086 382,394 430,480 144,387
829,268 1,063 830,331 1,280
143,711 24,112 167,823 1,201,293
3,943,623 3,358,759 7,302,382 207,483
3,274,853 4,671,802 7,946,655 147,208
1,206,944 313,505 1,520,449 253,333
10,130,272 3,396,460 13,526,732 4,789,427
24,342,846 12,832,970 37,175,816 7,754,361
730,905 1,116,502 1,847,407 62,373
(continued)
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State of Georgia

Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2018

(dollars in thousands)

Primary Government

Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Restricted for:

Bond Covenants/Debt Service

O]

Capital Projects
Guaranteed Revenue Debt Common Reserve Fund
Loan and Grant Programs
Lottery for Education
Motor Fuel Tax Funds
Nonexpendable:
Permanent Trust
Other Programs
Other Postemployment Benefits
Other Purposes
Permanent Trust Expendable
Unemployment Compensation Benefits
Unrestricted

Total Net Position

(D Refer to Note 4 for additional details

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Units

19,542,361 7,849,961 24,372,160 3,502,204

64,016 — 64,016 98,887

— 11,658 11,658 193,953

53,776 — 53,776 —

— — — 1,754,988

1,237,666 — 1,237,666 —

3,371,797 — 3,371,797 —

— 204,781 204,781 1,706,795

— — — 37,440

— 289,207 289,207 —

1,064,897 263,055 1,327,952 292,167

— — — 1,375,058

— 2,186,595 2,186,595 —

(8,506,350) (6,250,035) (11,736,223) 2,076,985

$ 16,828,163  § 4,555,222 21,383,385 11,038,477
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State of Georgia

Statement of Activities
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

(dollars in thousands)

Program Revenues

Sales and Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and
Expenses Services Contributions Contributions
Functions/Programs
Primary Government
Governmental Activities:
General Government $ 1,380,132  $ 724,539 $ 428,460  $ 84,595
Education 13,266,545 10,721 2,202,253 —
Health and Welfare 18,082,536 78,995 12,819,287 3,014
Transportation 2,400,875 48,363 117,363 1,464,029
Public Safety 2,525,521 184,472 246,673 3,244
Economic Development and Assistance 524,516 42,814 351,855 —
Culture and Recreation 308,917 159,352 89,830 4,160
Conservation 72,135 12,007 21,530 1,703
Interest and Other Charges on Long-Term Debt 379,211 — — —
Total Governmental Activities 38,940,388 1,261,263 16,277,251 1,560,745
Business-type Activities:
Higher Education 9,300,291 3,578,611 2,951,490 22,760
State Health Benefit Plan 2,882,954 2,965,082 10,628 —
Unemployment Compensation 325,523 649,655 42,504 —
Other Business Type Activities 207,054 43,124 27,347 84,407
Total Business-type Activities 12,715,822 7,236,472 3,031,969 107,167
Total Primary Government $ 51,656,210 $ 8,497,735 § 19,309,220 $ 1,667,912
Component Units
Georgia Environmental Finance Authority $ 35,064 $ 34,522 § 87,652 $ —
Geo. L. Smith II Georgia World Congress Center Authority 313,703 220,286 3,158 184,568
Georgia Housing and Finance Authority 189,366 78,734 117,426 —
Georgia Lottery Corporation 4,362,493 4,354,308 — —
Georgia Ports Authority 304,939 426,382 4,574 4,921
Georgia Tech Foundation, Incorporated 124,729 29,656 136,019 —
Nonmajor Component Units 3,013,936 1,471,798 1,580,885 17,381
Total Component Units $ 8344230 $ 6,615,686  $ 1,929,714 $ 206,870

General Revenues:
Taxes
Income Taxes - Individual
Sales and Use Taxes - General
Motor Fuel Taxes
Motor Vehicle License and Title Ad Valorem Taxes
Corporate Taxes
Other Taxes
Lottery for Education - Lottery Proceeds
Nursing Home and Hospital Provider Fees
Tobacco Settlement Funds
Unrestricted Investment Income/(Loss)
Unclaimed Property
Other
Payments from the State of Georgia
Contributions to Permanent Endowments
Special Items
Transfers
Total General Revenues, Contributions to Permanent
Endowments and Transfers
Change in Net Position
Net Position, July 1 - Restated (Note 3)
Net Position, June 30

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 32



Net (Expense) Revenue and
Changes in Net Position

Primary Government

Governmental Business-Type Component
Activities Activities Total Units
$ (142,538) $ (142,538)
(11,053,571) (11,053,571)
(5,181,240) (5,181,240)
(771,120) (771,120)
(2,091,132) (2,091,132)
(129,847) (129,847)
(55,575) (55,575)
(36,895) (36,895)
(379.211) (379.211)
— (19.841,129) — (19.841,129)
$ (2,747,430) (2,747,430)
92,756 92,756
366,636 366,636
(52,176) (52,176)
(2,340,214) (2,340,214)
(19,841,129) (2,340,214) (22,181,343)
$ 87,110
94,309
6,794
(8,185)
130,938
40,946
56,128
408,040
11,109,361 — 11,109,361 —
5,905,929 — 5,905,929 —
1,800,191 — 1,800,191 —
1,314,354 — 1,314,354 —
1,004,524 — 1,004,524 —
1,124,370 — 1,124,370 20,468
1,143,515 — 1,143,515 —
465,595 — 465,595 —
168,926 — 168,926 —
104,230 — 104,230 126,984
151,462 — 151,462 —
184,240 — 184,240 —
— — — 95,445
— 345 345 104,722
— — — 11,332
(2,993,509) 2,993,509 — —
21,483,188 2,993,854 24,477,042 358,951
1,642,059 653,640 2,295,699 766,991
15,186,104 3,901,582 19,087,686 10,271,486
$ 16,828,163 § 4,555,222  § 21,383,385 § 11,038,477
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State of Georgia

Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds
June 30, 2018

(dollars in thousands)

Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Pooled Investments with State Treasury
Investments
Receivables (Net)
Due from Other Funds
Due from Component Units
Inventories
Restricted Assets
Pooled Investments with State Treasury

Other Assets

Total Assets

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund Balances

Liabilities:
Accounts Payable and Other Accruals
Due to Other Funds
Due to Component Units
Benefits Payable
Contracts Payable
Undistributed Local Government Sales Tax
Funds Held for Others
Unearned Revenue

Other Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Fund Balances:
Nonspendable
Restricted
Unrestricted

Committed
Assigned

Unassigned

Total Fund Balances

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund

Balances

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

General
Obligation
General Bond Projects Nonmajor
Fund Fund Funds Total
2,899,647 649,155 236,117 3,784,919
3,753,298 — 9,562 3,762,860
2,070,544 637,229 64,562 2,772,335
5,396,617 — 34,733 5,431,350
19,639 — 25,654 45,293
110,196 — — 110,196
22,253 — — 22,253
75,745 — 114,350 190,095
98,902 — 190 99,092
14,446,841 1,286,384 485,168 16,218,393
3,205,482 54,881 3,763 3,264,126
547,504 19,142 19,683 586,329
35,709 — — 35,709
918,720 — — 918,720
33,619 33,300 25,944 92,363
11,200 — — 11,200
141,031 — — 141,031
47,987 — — 47,987
90,120 24,932 — 115,052
5,031,372 132,255 49,390 5,213,017
1,305,658 12,297 — 1,317,955
35,375 — 16,770 52,145
5,118,497 1,102,200 373,728 6,594,425
11,753 — — 11,753
437,737 39,632 45,280 522,649
2,506,449 — — 2,506,449
8,109,811 1,141,832 435,778 9,687,421
14,446,841 1,286,384 485,168 16,218,393
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State of Georgia

Reconciliation of Fund Balances
To the Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2018

(dollars in thousands)

Total Fund Balances - Governmental Funds (from previous page)
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position are different because:

Capital Assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the
funds. These assets consist of:

Land

Buildings and Building Improvements
Improvements Other Than Buildings
Machinery and Equipment
Infrastructure

Construction in Progress

Works of Art

Intangibles - Other Than Software
Software

Accumulated Depreciation
Deferred inflows of resources are not reported in the governmental funds:

Revenues are not available soon enough after year end to pay for current period's expenditures
Amount on refunding of bonded debt
Related to OPEB

Related to pensions

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain activities to individual funds. The
assets and liabilities of the internal service funds are included in governmental activities in the
Statement of Net Position.

Deferred outflows of resources are not reported in the governmental funds:
Amount on refunding of bonded debt
Related to OPEB

Related to pensions

Other assets not available in the current period and therefore are not reported in the governmental funds:
Net OPEB Asset
Net Pension Asset

Other Assets

Certain long-term liabilities and related accrued interest are not due and payable in the current period and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds.

General Obligation Bonds
Premiums
Accrued Interest Payable
Revenue Bonds
Premiums
Capital Leases
Compensated Absences
Long-Term Notes
Net OPEB Liability
Net Pension Liability
Other

Total Net Position - Governmental Activities

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 35

4,178,148
3,704,443
141,306
1,025,901
30,686,930
3,829,425
117
124,876
494,502

(21,548,406)

1,241,674

(854)
(397,376)
(247,409)

215,069
564,512
910,458

217,425
102,268
100

(8,994,040)
(1,049,449)
(245,958)
(570,480)
(43,290)
(183,610)
(367,539)
(59,613)
(3,227,387)
(3,892,288)
(30,729)

9,687,421

22,637,242

596,035

562,016

1,690,039

319,793

(18,664,383)

16,828,163




State of Georgia

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

(dollars in thousands)

General
Obligation
General Bond Projects Nonmajor
Fund Fund Funds Total
Revenues:
Taxes $ 22,839,634 $ — — 22,839,634
Licenses and Permits 423,796 — — 423,796
Intergovernmental - Federal 16,906,746 19,615 — 16,926,361
Intergovernmental - Other 498,369 25,857 112,827 637,053
Sales and Services 426,170 — 158 426,328
Fines and Forfeits 475,711 — — 475,711
Interest and Other Investment Income 113,896 22,417 5,969 142,282
Unclaimed Property 151,462 — — 151,462
Lottery Proceeds 1,143,515 — — 1,143,515
Nursing Home Provider Fees 161,575 — — 161,575
Hospital Provider Payments 304,020 — — 304,020
Other 308,434 221 — 308,655
Total Revenues 43,753,328 68,110 118,954 43,940,392
Expenditures:
Current:
General Government 963,049 74 — 963,123
Education 13,271,141 — — 13,271,141
Health and Welfare 18,205,579 — — 18,205,579
Transportation 2,786,937 — 95,135 2,882,072
Public Safety 2,607,044 — — 2,607,044
Economic Development and Assistance 529,905 — 35,557 565,462
Culture and Recreation 302,262 — — 302,262
Conservation 85,328 — — 85,328
Capital Outlay — 902,083 — 902,083
Debt Service
Principal — — 1,068,590 1,068,590
Interest 178 — 429,899 430,077
Accrued Interest on Bonds Retired in Advance — — 3 3
Discount on Bonds Retired in Advance — — 28 28
Other Debt Service Expenditures — 24,887 2,118 27,005
Intergovernmental — 246,015 — 246,015
Total Expenditures 38,751,423 1,173,059 1,631,330 41,555,812
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures 5,001,905 (1,104,949) (1,512,376) 2,384,580
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Debt Issuance - General Obligation Bonds — 1,041,015 — 1,041,015
Debt Issuance - Refunding Bonds — — 634,545 634,545
Debt Issuance - GARVEE Bonds — — 63,850 63,850
Debt Issuance - General Obligation Bonds - Premium — 119,498 — 119,498
Debt Issuance - Refunding Bonds - Premium — — 91,178 91,178
Debt Issuance - GARVEE Bonds - Premium — — 11,455 11,455
Payment to Refunded Bond Escrow Agent — — (724,870) (724,870)
Capital Leases 9,625 — — 9,625
Transfers In 75,672 22,800 1,607,491 1,705,963
Transfers Out (4,353,383) (15,729) (56,548) (4,425,660)
Net Other Financing Sources (Uses) (4,268,086) 1,167,584 1,627,101 (1,473,401)
Net Change in Fund Balances 733,819 62,635 114,725 911,179
Fund Balances, July 1 7,375,992 1,079,197 321,053 8,776,242
Fund Balances, June 30 $ 8,109,811 $ 1,141,832 435,778 9,687,421

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 36



State of Georgia

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018
(dollars in thousands)

Net Change in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds (from previous page) 911,179
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities are different because:
Capital outlays are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. However, in the
Statement of Activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful
lives as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which capital outlays exceeded
depreciation in the current period.
Capital outlay (net of losses), net of transfers to Business-Type Activities, Component Units
and outside organizations $ 1,835,629
Depreciation expense (1,071,001) 764,628
Revenues in the Statement of Activities that do not provide current financial resources are not
reported as revenue in the funds. (526,708)
Bond proceeds (net of payments to refunding escrow) and notes provide current financial
resources to governmental funds; however, issuing debt increases long-term liabilities in
the Statement of Net Position. (1,236,670)
Some capital additions were financed through capital leases. In governmental funds, a capital
lease arrangement is considered a source of financing, but in the Statement of Net
Position, the lease obligation is reported as a liability. (9,625)
Repayment of long-term debt is reported as an expenditure in governmental funds, but the
repayment reduces the long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net Position. Payments
were made on the following long-term liabilities:
General Obligation Bonds 873,385
Revenue Bonds 195,205
Notes 1,183
Capital Leases 19,450 1,089,223
Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain activities to
individual funds. The incorporation of the external activities of these funds, and the
elimination of profit/loss generated by primary government customers results in net
revenue (expense) for Governmental Activities. 127,227
Some items reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of current financial
resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in the governmental funds.
This adjustment combines the net changes in the following balances:
Compensated Absences (7,358)
Accrued Interest on Bonds Payable (17,379)
Amortization of Deferred Amount on Refunding (42,322)
Bond Premiums 133,861
OPEB costs, net 286,993
Pension costs, net 193,395
Other (24,385) 522,805
Change in Net Position - Governmental Activities 1,642,059

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 37



State of Georgia

Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2018

(dollars in thousands)

Assets

Current Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Pooled Investments with State Treasury
Investments
Accounts Receivable (Net)
Due from Other Funds
Due from Component Units
Notes Receivable
Advances to Other Funds
Inventories
Other Assets
Restricted Assets:

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Restricted Pooled Investments with State

Treasury
Investments

Total Current Assets

Noncurrent Assets:
Investments
Other Receivables
Notes Receivable
Other Noncurrent Assets
Restricted Assets:

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Pooled Investments with State Treasury

Investments
Net OPEB Asset
Non-Depreciable Capital Assets
Depreciable Capital Assets, net
Total Noncurrent Assets

Total Assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

Governmental
Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds Activities -

Higher State Unemployment Internal

Education Health Benefits Compensation Nonmajor Service

Fund Plan Fund Funds Total Funds
1,001,199 $ 348,186 $ — 124 1,349,509 11,695
406,578 456,421 — 20,081 883,080 119,674
66,534 49,243 — 289,087 404,864 4,252
410,302 58,144 136,629 10,195 615,270 103,182
19,142 — — 72 19,214 770,974
219,508 — — 229,150 448,658 47
30,575 — — 126 30,701 15,756
74,239 — — 30 74,269 225
213,068 — 2,119,985 7,652 2,340,705 —
— — — 116,079 116,079 —
538 — — — 538 —
2,441,683 911,994 2,256,614 672,596 6,282,887 1,025,805
197,905 24,315 — — 222,220 49,207
3,561 — — — 3,561 —
38,008 — — — 38,008 —
11,971 — — — 11,971 —
244,020 — — — 244,020 —
10,705 — — 402 11,107 3,663
775,663 — 16,667 42,065 834,395 112,606
10,180,195 — — 57,508 10,237,703 259,330
11,462,028 24,315 16,667 99,975 11,602,985 424,806
13,903,711 936,309 2,273,281 772,571 17,885,872 1,450,611
1,016,280 2,102 — 6,399 1,024,781 15,271
(continued)
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State of Georgia

Statement of Net Position
Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2018

(dollars in thousands)

Governmental
Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds Activities -
Higher State Unemployment Internal
Education Health Benefits Compensation Nonmajor Service
Fund Plan Fund Funds Total Funds
Liabilities
Current Liabilities:
Accounts Payable and Other Accruals 218,922 3,946 9,193 18,109 250,170 55,157
Due to Other Funds 223,256 8,737 — 25,654 257,647 160
Due to Component Units 8,219 — — 3,082 11,301 —
Benefits Payable 53,987 200,292 7,588 — 261,867 —
Unearned Revenue 276,657 22,827 53,239 — 352,723 99
Claims and Judgments Payable 1,063 — — — 1,063 827,168
Compensated Absences Payable 167,733 185 — 179 168,097 1,980
Capital Leases/Installment Purchases Payable
Component Units 78,304 — — — 78,304 —
Other 25,035 — — — 25,035 7,642
Revenue Bonds Payable — — — 5,340 5,340 —
Other Current Liabilities 173,936 10 — 37,784 211,730 5,046
Current Liabilities Payable
from Restricted Assets — — — 29,671 29,671 —
Total Current Liabilities 1,227,112 235,997 70,020 119,819 1,652,948 897,252
Noncurrent Liabilities:
Compensated Absences Payable 94,819 212 — 559 95,590 2,901
Capital Leases/Installment Purchases Payable
Component Units 2,301,581 — — — 2,301,581 —
Other 509,275 — — — 509,275 42,143
Claims and Judgments Payable 1,267 — — — 1,267 —
Revenue Bonds Payable — — — 260,810 260,810 —
Net OPEB Liability 4,660,639 4,353 — 6,810 4,671,802 47,466
Net Pension Liability 3,342,902 7,220 — 8,637 3,358,759 51,337
Other Noncurrent Liabilities 7,301 — — 222,547 229,848 10,831
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 10,917,784 11,785 — 499,363 11,428,932 154,678
Total Liabilities 12,144,896 247,782 70,020 619,182 13,081,880 1,051,930
Deferred Inflows of Resources 1,114,421 757 — 1,324 1,116,502 8,985
Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets 7,744,302 — 16,667 88,992 7,849,961 322,152
Restricted for:
Capital Projects 11,658 — — — 11,658 —
Other Purpose 220,473 — — 42,582 263,055 3,074
Nonexpendable:

Permanent Trust 204,781 — — — 204,781 —
Other Benefits — — — 289,207 289,207 —
Unemployment Compensation Benefits — — 2,186,594 — 2,186,594 —

Unrestricted (6,520,540) 689,872 — (262,317) (6,092,985) 79,741
Total Net Position $ 1,660,674 $ 689,872 $ 2,203,261 158,464 4,712,271 $ 404,967
Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of Internal Service Fund activities related to Enterprise Funds. (157,049)
Net Position of Business-type Activities 4,555,222

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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State of Georgia

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Proprietary Funds

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

(dollars in thousands)

. L . Governmental
Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds Activities -
Higher State Unemployment Internal
Education Health Benefits Compensation Nonmajor Service
Fund Plan Fund Funds Total Funds
Operating Revenues:
Operating Grants and Contributions/Premiums $ 1,831,890 $ 2,965,082 $ 649,655 $ 540 $ 5,447,167 $ 264,314
Rents and Royalties 8,506 — — — 8,506 48,818
Sales and Services 1,156,888 — — 42,584 1,199,472 346,822
Tuition and Fees 2,966,292 — — — 2,966,292 —
Less: Scholarship Allowances (723,039) — — — (723,039) —
Other 169,964 — — — 169,964 8,772
Total Operating Revenues 5,410,501 2,965,082 649,655 43,124 9,068,362 668,726
Operating Expenses:
Personal Services 4,217,875 5,355 — 10,008 4,233,238 48,012
Services and Supplies 2,710,529 126,704 1 34,842 2,872,076 369,865
Scholarships and Fellowships 457,752 — — — 457,752 —
Benefits 1,107,974 2,269,151 325,522 2,972 3,705,619 —
Claims and Judgments — — — — — 234,795
Interest Expense — — — 11,247 11,247 —
Depreciation 578,141 — — 11,685 589,826 20,267
Amortization — — — (344) (344) —
Other 55,857 481,744 — — 537,601 —
Total Operating Expenses 9,128,128 2,882,954 325,523 70,410 12,407,015 672,939
Operating Income (Loss) (3,717,627) 82,128 324,132 (27,286) (3,338,653) (4,213)
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses):
Grants and Contributions 1,069,672 — — — 1,069,672 12,357
Interest and Other Investment Income 45,191 10,628 41,808 26,997 124,624 1,082
Interest Expense (144,744) — — (10,011) (154,755) —
Other (19,333) — 696 (126,283) (144,920) (8,579)
Net Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 950,786 10,628 42,504 (109,297) 894,621 4,860
Income (Loss) Before Contributions and
transfers (2,766,841) 92,756 366,636 (136,583) (2,444,032) 647
Contributions to Permanent Endowments 345 — — — 345 —
Capital Grants and Contributions 309,481 — — 84,407 393,888 120,497
Total Contributions 309,826 — — 84,407 394,233 120,497
Transfers:
Transfers In 2,707,795 — 306 14,660 2,722,761 15,449
Transfers Out (15,973) — — — (15,973) (5,148)
Net Transfers 2,691,822 — 306 14,660 2,706,788 10,301
Change in Net Position 234,807 92,756 366,942 (37,516) 656,989 131,445
Net Position, July 1 - Restated (Note 3) 1,425,867 597,116 1,836,319 195,980 273,522
Net Position, June 30 S 1,660,674 $ 689,872 $ 2,203,261 $ 158,464 $ 404,967
Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of Internal Service Fund activities related to Enterprise Funds. (3,349)
Change in Net Position of business-type activities $ 653,640

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 41



State of Georgia

Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

(dollars in thousands)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Cash Received from Customers
Cash Received from Other Funds (Internal Activity)

Cash Received from Grants and Required Contributions/

Premiums

Cash Received from Grants and Required Contributions/

Premiums (Internal Activity)
Cash Received from Tuition and Fees
Cash Paid to Vendors
Cash Paid to Employees
Cash Paid for Benefits
Cash Paid for Claims and Judgments
Cash Paid to Other Funds (Internal Activity)
Cash Paid for Scholarships, Fellowships and Loans
Other Operating Receipts
Other Operating Payments
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities:

Interest Paid on Debt

Transfers from Other Funds

Transfers to Other Funds

Payments on Noncapital Financing Debt

Other Noncapital Receipts

Other Noncapital Payments

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Noncapital Financing
Activities

Cash Flows from Capital and Related

Financing Activities:

Capital Contributions

Capital Grants and Gifts Received

Grant Disbursements

Proceeds from Sale of Capital Assets

Intergovernmental Grant

Proceeds from Capital Debt

Acquisition and Construction of Capital Assets

Principal Paid on Capital Debt

Interest Paid on Capital Debt

Net Cash Used in Capital and Related Financing
Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Proceeds from Sales of Investments

Purchase of Investments

Interest and Dividends Received

Other Investing Activities

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Cash Equivalents, July 1 - Restated (Note 3)

Cash and Cash Equivalents, June 30

. . . Governmental
Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds Activities -
Higher State Unemployment Nonmajor Internal
Education Health Benefits Compensation Funds Service
Fund Plan Fund Total Funds
$ 54,937 $ — $ — 31,812 86,749 $ 80,590
— — — 1,763 1,763 314,403
1,894,142 2,956,246 664,884 — 5,515,272 10,795
— — — — — 149,455
3,459,724 — — — 3,459,724 —
(3,743,321) (126,433) — (28,887) (3,898,641) (370,335)
(4,201,068) (5,664) — (11,271) (4,218,003) (56,458)
— (2,768,347) (325,125) — (3,093,472) —
— — — — — (144,752)
— — — (1,223) (1,223) —
(469,028) — — — (469,028) —
10,801 — — — 10,801 827
(7,534) — — — (7,534) —
(3,001,347) 55,802 339,759 (7,806) (2,613,592) (15,475)
— — — (11,256) (11,256) —
2,692,767 — — 8,060 2,700,827 8,412
(3,440) — — — (3,440) (3,004)
— — — (5,147) (5,147) —
1,039,547 — 304 171 1,040,022 21,873
(36,523) — — — (36,523) (13,740)
3,692,351 — 304 (8,172) 3,684,483 13,541
— — — — — 72,109
96,277 — — — 96,277 —
— — — (96,315) (96,315) —
16,152 — — — 16,152 1,248
— — — 39,343 39,343 —
_ — — 2,460 2,460 -
(496,899) — — (28,737) (525,636) (71,234)
(123,559) — — — (123,559) (6,076)
(148,760) — — — (148,760) —
(656,789) — — (83,249) (740,038) (3,953)
905,712 126,845 — 267,194 1,299,751 73,020
(910,370) (73,558) — (289,087) (1,273,015) (53,615)
35,161 10,628 41,808 26,933 114,530 1,237
— — — 16,231 16,231 —
30,503 63,915 41,808 21,271 157,497 20,642
64,718 119,717 381,871 (77,956) 488,350 14,755
1,568,098 684,890 1,738,114 221,892 4,212,994 116,614
$ 1,632,816 $ 804,607 $ 2,119,985 143,936 4,701,344 $ 131,369
(continued)
42
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State of Georgia

Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

(dollars in thousands)

. L . Governmental
Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds Activities -
Higher State Unemployment Nonmajor Internal
Education Health Benefits Compensation Funds Service
Fund Plan Fund Total Funds
Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash
provided by (Used in) Operating Activities
Operating Income (Loss) $  (3,717,627) $ 82,128 $ 324,132 (27,286) (3,338,653) § (4,213)
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income (Loss) to
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating
Activities:
Depreciation/Amortization Expense 578,141 — — 11,341 589,482 20,267
Other Reconciling Items 6,187 — — ®) 6,179 —
Changes in Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources,
Liabilities, and Deferred Inflows of Resources:
Accounts Receivable (32,016) (577) 7,680 185 (24,728) (13,807)
Due from Other Funds — — — — (96,778)
Due from Component Units — — — — 11
Notes Receivable 3,316 — — — 3,316 —
Net OPEB Asset 10,705 — — (402) 10,303 (3,663)
Other Assets 1,450 — — 74 1,524 (2,163)
Deferred Outflows of Resources 125,337 127 — 170 125,634 5,551
Accounts Payable and Other Accruals (4,105) 282 1,454 7,642 5,273 1,748
Due to Other Funds — (7,881) — — (7,881) (335)
Benefits Payable — (17,452) 397 — (17,055) —
Unearned Revenue 15,573 (380) 6,096 (7,300) 13,989 (2,747)
Claims and Judgments Payable — — — — 90,044
Compensated Absences Payable 9,322 117 — (82) 9,357 149
Net OPEB Liability (17,549) (122) — (434) (18,105) (6,165)
Net Pension Liability (353,088) (792) — (1,851) (355,731) (12,264)
Other Liabilities 21,368 — — 8,899 30,267 765
Deferred Inflows of Resources 351,639 352 — 1,246 353,237 8,125
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities $ (3,001,347)  $ 55,802 $ 339,759 (7,806) (2,613,592) $ (15,475)
Noncash Investing, Capital, and Financing Activities:
Gift of Capital Assets Reducing Proceeds of
Capital Grants and Gifts $ 11,718 $ — $ — — 11,718 $ —
Gifts other than Capital Assets Reducing Proceeds of
Grants and Gifts for Other than Capital Assets 6,350 — — — 6,350 —
Change in Non-Capital Financing Activities Advances
And Deferred Inflows Reducing Proceeds of Grants 13,659 — — — 13,659 —
Donation of Capital Assets 199,148 — — — 199,148 47,531
Change in Receivable from Grantor Agency
Affecting Proceeds of Capital Debt (1,267) — — — (1,267) —
Change in Accrued Interest Payable
Affecting Interest Paid 2,071 — — — 2,071 —
Capital Assets Acquired by Incurring
Capital Lease Obligations (15,941) — — — (15,941) —
Change in Fair Value of Investments 9,964 — — — 9,964 (156)
Special Item - Equipment-Capital Asset Transfer (10,273) — — 37,942 27,669 —
Capital Lease Obligation 23,687 — — — 23,687 —
Loss on Disposal of Capital Assets Reducing
Proceeds from Sale of Capital Assets (51,082) — — — (51,082) —
Other 19,388 — — 9,947 29,335 —
Total Noncash Investing, Capital and
Financing Activities $ 207,422 $ — $ — $ 47,889 $ 255,311 $ 47,375

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 43



State of Georgia

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

Fiduciary Funds
June 30, 2018

(dollars in thousands)

Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Pooled Investments with State Treasury
Receivables
Interest and Dividends
Due from Brokers for Securities Sold
Other
Due from Other Funds
Investments, at Fair Value
Certificates of Deposit
Pooled Investments
Exchange Traded Funds
Mutual Funds
Municipal, U.S. and Foreign
Government Obligations
Corporate Bonds/Notes/Debentures
Stocks
Asset-backed Securities
Mortgage Investments
Real Estate Investment Trusts
Capital Assets
Land
Buildings
Software
Machinery and Equipment
Works of Art
Accumulated Depreciation
Net OPEB Asset
Other Assets
Total Assets
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Liabilities
Accounts Payable and Other Accruals
Due to Other Funds
Due to Brokers for Securities Purchased
Salaries/Withholdings Payable
Benefits Payable
Funds Held for Others
Notes Payable
Unearned Revenue
Compensated Absences Payable
Net Pension Liability
Net OPEB Liability
Other Liabilities

Total Liabilities
Deferred Inflows of Resources

Net Position
Restricted for:
Pension Benefits
Other Postemployment Benefits
Other Employee Benefits
Pool Participants
Other Purposes

Total Net Position

Pension and Other
Employee Benefits

Trust Total

$ 1,823,357 136,353 1,974,221
1,585,744 69,448 9,214,038
264,203 — 265,876
12,815 — 12,815
268,036 10,755 289,589
9,270 — 9,270

_ 1,431 1,431
15,850,668 148,693 15,999,361
25,865 — 25,865
2,306,507 — 2,306,507
15,931,285 26,113 15,957,398
7,073,967 — 7,073,967
52,033,523 — 52,033,523
24342 — 24,342
121,308 — 121,308
47,742 — 47,742
8,883 — 8,883
7,793 — 8,619
29,325 — 29,325
7,233 — 7,327

114 — 114
(37,187) — (37,830)
2,678 — 2,792

— 12,620 12,620
97,397,471 405,413 105,389,103
9,390 — 9,717
41,267 8,227 49,525
615 — 615

49,672 — 49,672

11 13 24

38,420 — 38,420

— 396,923 397,773

16 — 16

4 — 4

59 — 124

36,023 — 37,164
28,065 — 29,332

— 250 570
194,152 405,413 603,239
3,430 — 3,772
94,358,647 — 94,358,647
2,850,632 — 2,850,632
— — 7,358,335

— — 224,195

$ 97,209.279 — 104,791,809

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.




State of Georgia

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Fiduciary Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

(dollars in thousands)

Pension and Other

Employee Benefits Investment Private Purpose
Trust Trust Trust Total
Additions:
Contributions/Assessments
Employer $ 3,894,734  § — 3 — 3 3,894,734
NonEmployer 106,132 — — 106,132
Plan Members/Participants 943,862 — 103,584 1,047,446
Other Contributions
Insurance Premiums 3,599 — — 3,599
Other Fees 414 — — 414
Interest and Other Investment Income
Dividends and Interest 1,976,034 99,648 2,561 2,078,243
Net Appreciation (Depreciation) in Investments Reported
at Fair Value 6,042,244 (49) — 6,042,195
Less: Investment Expense (79,429) (3,774) — (83,203)
Pool Participant Deposits — 9,852,749 — 9,852,749
Other
Transfers from Other Funds 2,608 — — 2,608
Miscellaneous 2,155 — — 2,155
Total Additions 12,892,353 9,948,574 106,145 22,947,072
Deductions:
General and Administrative Expenses 42,366 — 1,312 43,678
Benefits 7,079,636 — 33,447 7,113,083
Pool Participant Withdrawals 140 9,289,839 — 9,289,979
Refunds 96,056 — — 96,056
Total Deductions 7,218,198 9,289,839 34,759 16,542,796
Change in Net Position Restricted for:
Pension and Other Employee Benefits 5,674,155 — — 5,674,155
Pool Participants — 658,735 — 658,735
Other Purposes — — 71,386 71,386
Net Position, July 1 - Restated (Note 3) 91,535,124 6,699,600 152,809 98,387,533
Net Position, June 30 $ 97,209,279  $ 7,358,335 § 224,195 $ 104,791,809
The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 45



State of Georgia

Statement of Net Position
Component Units
June 30, 2018

(dollars in thousands)

Assets
Current Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Pooled Investments with State Treasury
Investments
Receivables
Accounts (Net)
Capital Leases from Primary Government
Interest and Dividends
Notes and Loans (Net)
Taxes
Due from Primary Government
Due from Component Units
Intergovernmental Receivables
Inventory
Other Current Assets
Restricted for:
Pooled Investments with State Treasury

Total Current Assets

Noncurrent Assets:
Investments
Receivables (Net)
Capital Leases from Primary Government
Notes and Loans
Other
Restricted Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Investments
Net OPEB Asset
Receivables (Net)
Notes and Loans
Interest and Dividends
Other
Non-depreciable Capital Assets
Depreciable Capital Assets (Net)
Net Pension Asset
Other Noncurrent Assets

Total Noncurrent Assets
Total Assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Georgia Geo. L. Smith IT Georgia
Environmental Georgia World Housing and Georgia
Finance Congress Center Finance Lottery
Authority Authority Authority Corporation
7,391 17,636 123,180 36,208
1,009,328 14,897 89,399 —
4812 — 71,604 —
3,434 7,217 — 175,038
3,033 — 800 —
— 2,724 — —
1,580 — — —
— 293 — —
984 124 80,675 3,202
— — 73,020 —
1,030,562 42,891 438,678 214,448
— — 180,473 —
1,427,534 — 584,440 —
— 74,269 65,955 16,618
— — 67,105 192,983
338 1,461 — —
— — 1,126,683 —
— — 8,728 —
— 104,196 — —
— 73,399 800 —
288 1,577,827 2,365 11,068
1,428,160 1,831,152 2,036,549 220,669
2,458,722 1,874,043 2,475,227 435,117
1,200 4,875 — 37

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 46



Georgia Tech Nonmajor
Georgia Ports Foundation, Component
Authority Incorporated Units Total

65,470 9,910 440,892 700,687
299,568 — 176,468 1,589,660
15,515 — 121,395 213,326
57,972 46,534 520,918 811,113
— 6,988 71,316 78,304
— — 3,678 7,511
88 — 155,108 155,196
— — 814 3,538
— — 47,010 47,010
- — 14,407 14,407
— — 10,160 11,740
5,270 — 26,483 32,046
924 — 58,676 144,585
— — — 73,020
444,807 63,432 1,647,325 3,882,143
— 1,095,524 884,346 2,160,343
— 110,230 2,191,351 2,301,581
— — 96,040 2,108,014
— 82,142 63,938 146,080
— 11,757 301,961 470,560
— 554,025 1,229,173 2,043,286
— — 1,396 3,195
— — — 1,126,683
— — — 8,728
— — — 104,196
345,516 31,707 244,819 696,241
796,047 79,976 1,129,605 3,597,176
6,479 — — 6,479
5,175 24,783 46,678 76,636
1,153,217 1,990,144 6,189,307 14,849,198
1,598,024 2,053,576 7,836,632 18,731,341
40,808 — 91,357 138,277
(continued)
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State of Georgia

Statement of Net Position

Component Units
June 30, 2018

(dollars in thousands)

Liabilities

Current Liabilities:

Accounts Payable and Other Accruals
Due to Primary Government
Due to Component Units
Funds Held for Others
Unearned Revenue
Notes and Loans Payable
Revenue/Mortgage Bonds Payable
Other Current Liabilities
Current Liabilities Payable from

Restricted Assets:

Other

Total Current Liabilities

Noncurrent Liabilities:
Unearned Revenue
Notes and Loans Payable
Revenue/Mortgage Bonds Payable
Grand Prizes Payable
Derivative Instrument Payable
Net OPEB Liability
Net Pension Liability
Other Noncurrent Liabilities

Total Noncurrent Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows

Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Restricted for:
Bond Covenants/Debt Service
Capital Projects
Permanent Trust Expendable
Other Purposes
Nonexpendable:
Permanent Trust
Other Purposes
Loan and Grant Programs

Unrestricted

Total Net Position

Georgia Geo. L. Smith IT Georgia
Environmental Georgia World Housing and Georgia
Finance Congress Center Finance Lottery
Authority Authority Authority Corporation
3,863 74 5,464 132,515
— 28,569 2,448 79,129
— 4,453 2,203 -
2,580 — 36,815 —
125 8,427 341,433 5,391
— 47,294 — 16,249
6,568 88,817 388,363 233,284
36,067 — 1,304,839 —
— — — 183,920
3,641 24,371 _ _
4,642 27,801 — 383
375 105,755 585,543 4,492
44,725 157,927 1,890,382 188,795
51,293 246,744 2,278,745 422,079
1,041 2,676 — 7,271
288 1,651,225 3,165 11,068
79,829 — — —
— 28,497 — —
1,754,988 — — _
572,483 (50,224) 193,317 (5,264)
2,407,588 1,629,498 $ 196,482 5,804

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 48



Georgia Tech Nonmajor
Georgia Ports Foundation, Component
Authority Incorporated Units Total

49,485 3,077 151,590 346,068
24 7,249 441,481 558,900
— — 14,407 14,407
— — 34,009 34,009
— 21,756 110,313 138,725
— 20,733 61,401 82,134
— 11,425 76,373 127,193
3,202 2,065 85,134 445,777
— — 7,430 70,973
52,711 66,305 982,138 1,818,186
395 — 5,267 5,662
— 46,442 150,514 196,956
— 236,889 2,696,089 4,273,884
— — — 183,920
— — 30,176 30,176
8,682 —_ 110,514 147,208
41,588 — 133,069 207,483
20,905 29,519 158,704 905,293
71,570 312,850 3,284,333 5,950,582
124,281 379,155 4,266,471 7,768,768
15,714 — 35,671 62,373
1,141,563 48,844 646,051 3,502,204
— — 19,058 98,887
— 9,503 184,450 193,953
— 777,055 598,003 1,375,058
— — 263,670 292,167
— 734,346 972,449 1,706,795
— — 37,440 37,440
— — — 1,754,988
357,274 104,673 904,726 2,076,985
1,498,837 1,674,421 3,625,847 11,038,477
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State of Georgia

Statement of Activities

Component Units

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

(dollars in thousands)

Expenses

Program Revenues:
Sales and Charges for Services
Operating Grants and Contributions

Capital Grants and Contributions

Total Program Revenues

Net (Expenses) Revenue

General Revenues:

Taxes

Unrestricted Investment Income/(Loss)

Payments from the State of Georgia

Contributions to Permanent Endowments

Total General Revenues

Special Item

Change in Net Position

Net Position, July 1 - Restated (Note 3)

Net Position, June 30

Georgia Geo. L. Smith IT Georgia
Environmental Georgia World Housing and Georgia
Finance Congress Center Finance Lottery
Authority Authority Authority Corporation
35,064 313,703 189,366 4,362,493
34,522 220,286 78,734 4,354,308
87,652 3,158 117,426 —
— 184,568 — —
122,174 408,012 196,160 4,354,308
87,110 94,309 6,794 (8,185)
— 14,139 — —
— 14,139 — —
87,110 108,448 6,794 (8,185)
2,320,478 1,521,050 189,688 13,989
2,407,588 1,629,498 196,482 5,804

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 50



Georgia Tech Nonmajor
Georgia Ports Foundation, Component
Authority Incorporated Units Total
304,939 124,729 3,013,936 8,344,230
426,382 29,656 1,471,798 6,615,686
4,574 136,019 1,580,885 1,929,714
4,921 — 17,381 206,870
435,877 165,675 3,070,064 8,752,270
130,938 40,946 56,128 408,040
— — 6,329 20,468
— 52,992 73,992 126,984
_ — 95,445 95,445
— 39,690 65,032 104,722
— 92,682 240,798 347,619
— — 11,332 11,332
130,938 133,628 308,258 766,991
1,367,899 1,540,793 3,317,589 10,271,486
1,498,837 1,674,421 3,625,847 11,038,477
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State of Georgia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying financial statements of the State have been prepared in conformity with U.S. Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (GAAP) as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). Preparation
of the financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The fiscal year end for the primary government and component units is June 30, except for, VSU Auxiliary Service
Real Estate Foundation, Inc. (component unit) and the Stone Mountain Memorial Association (component unit) which
have a fiscal year end of December 31.

B. Financial Reporting Entity

For financial reporting purposes, the State reporting entity includes the primary government and its component units.
The primary government consists of all the organizations that compose the legal entity of the State. All agencies,
departments, authorities, commissions, courts, councils, boards, universities, colleges, foundations, retirement funds,
associations and other organizations that are not legally separate are, for financial reporting purposes, considered part
of the primary government. Component units are legally separate organizations for which the State’s elected officials
are financially accountable.

Financial accountability is the ability of the State to appoint a voting majority of an organization’s governing board
and to impose its will upon the organization or when there exists the potential for the organization to provide specific
financial benefits or impose specific financial burdens on the primary government. When the State does not appoint a
voting majority of an organization’s governing body, GASB standards require inclusion in the financial reporting entity
if: (1) an organization is fiscally dependent upon the State because its resources are held for the direct benefit of the
State or can be accessed by the State and (2) the potential exists for the organization to provide specific financial
benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on the State. In addition, component units can be other organizations
for which the nature and significance of their relationships with the primary government are such that exclusion would
cause the financial statements to be misleading.

Where noted below, the State’s component units issue their own separate audited financial statements which may be
obtained from their respective administrative offices. Financial statements for component unit organizations with
“AUD?” at the end of their descriptions below may be obtained from the Department of Audits and Accounts (DOAA)
online at www.audits.ga.gov. Certain component units (with “NSR” at the end of their descriptions below) are not
required to prepare or issue separate financial statements beyond the financial information included in this report. The
financial statements for discretely presented higher education foundations and similar organizations can be obtained
from their respective administrative offices or from the Board of Regents.

Blended Component Units

Blended component units have governing bodies substantively the same as the State, provide services entirely or almost
entirely to the primary government or have total debt outstanding, including leases, that is expected to be paid entirely,
or almost entirely, with resources of the State. As such, although they are legally separate entities, they are, in substance,
part of the government’s operations. GASB standards require this type of component unit to be reported as part of the
primary government and blended into the appropriate funds.
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The State’s blended component units, as described in the Nonmajor Governmental Funds and Internal Service Funds
portions of the Supplementary Information — Combining and Individual Fund Statements category of the Financial
Section, are as follows:

Special Revenue Funds

The following component units provide services entirely or almost entirely to the primary government and are therefore
considered blended component units:

The Georgia Aviation Authority was created to provide oversight and efficient operation of state aircrafts
and aviation operations, and ensure the safety of state air travelers and aviation property. (NSR)

The State Road and Tollway Authority (SRTA) is a legally separate public corporation created to finance
transportation projects and operate toll facilities in the State of Georgia. SRTA’s total debt outstanding is
expected to be paid with resources of the Primary Government and therefore is considered a blended component
unit. (AUD)

Debt Service Fund

The State Road and Tollway Authority uses a debt service fund for the payment of principal and interest on
the debt of SRTA’s governmental funds. SRTA issues bonded debt which finances State transportation
infrastructure construction. (AUD)

Enterprise Funds

The following component units provide services entirely or almost entirely to the primary government and are therefore
considered blended component units:

The Georgia Higher Education Facilities Authority is a legally separate public corporation created for the
purpose of financing eligible construction, renovation, improvement, and rehabilitation or restoration projects
for the University System of Georgia. The Authority issues debt and enters into lease agreements principally
with the University System of Georgia Foundation, Inc. (discretely presented component unit). The costs of
the Authority’s debt are recovered through lease payments from the Foundation. The Authority provides
services entirely or almost entirely to the Primary Government and is therefore considered a blended component
unit. (AUD)

The State Employees’ Assurance Department - Active (SEAD-Active) is used to account for the
accumulation of resources for the purpose of providing survivors’ benefits for eligible members of the
Employees’, Judicial, and Legislative Retirement Systems. SEAD-Active is a cost-sharing multiple employer
life insurance plan created in 2007 by the Georgia General Assembly to amend Title 47 of the Official Code
of Georgia Annotated, relating to retirement, so as to establish a fund for the provision of term life insurance
to active members of ERS, LRS, and GJRS. (AUD)

The State Road and Tollway Authority uses an enterprise fund to account for tolling and transit activities,

including the Xpress Commuter Bus Service, the I-75 South Metro Express Lanes, and all other facilities of
the tolling system (i.e. the I-85 Express Lanes and six toll facilities under planning and/or construction). (AUD)
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Internal Service Funds

The following component units all provide services entirely or almost entirely to the Primary Government and are
therefore considered blended component units:

The Georgia Building Authority is responsible for all services associated with the management of State office
buildings, maintaining the grounds within the State Capitol complex, maintaining the Governor's Mansion and
operating parking facilities. (AUD)

The Georgia Correctional Industries Administration utilizes the inmate work force to manufacture products
and provide services for the penal system, other units of state government and local governments. (NSR)

The Georgia Technology Authority was created to provide technology enterprise management and technology
portfolio management to state and local governments. (NSR)

Discretely Presented Component Units

Discrete presentation entails reporting component unit financial data in a separate column and/or rows in each of the
government-wide statements to emphasize that these component units are legally separate from the State. Except for
Georgia Military College, the other component units are included in the reporting entity because, under the criteria
established by GASB, the State has the ability to impose its will on these organizations.

The determination of major component units is based on any of the following factors: (a) the services provided by the
component unit to the citizenry are such that separate reporting as a major component unit is considered essential to
financial statement users, (b) there are significant transactions with the primary government, or (c) there is a significant
financial benefit or burden relationship with the primary government.

The State’s major discretely presented component units are described below:

The Georgia Environmental Finance Authority (GEFA) is a body corporate and politic. GEFA provides
funding to eligible municipalities, counties, water and sewer authorities in the State for construction and
expansion of public water, sewer, and solid waste facilities. The State periodically provides general obligation
bond proceeds to GEFA to fund various loan programs for water and sewerage facilities. GEFA is governed
by a board of directors consisting of three officials designated by statute and eight members appointed by the
Governor. (AUD)

The Geo. L. Smith II Georgia World Congress Center Authority is a body corporate and politic and an
instrumentality and public corporation of the State. The Authority is responsible for operating and maintaining
a comprehensive international trade and convention center consisting of a complex of facilities suitable for
multipurpose use. (AUD)

The Georgia Housing and Finance Authority (GHFA) is a body corporate and politic. GHFA is responsible
for facilitating housing, housing finance and financing for health facilities and health care services throughout
the State. The powers of GHFA are vested in 18 members who also comprise the board of the Department of
Community Affairs (DCA). Board members are appointed by the Governor and are composed of one member
from each U.S. Congressional District in the State, plus four additional members from the State at large, and
include elected officials of counties or municipalities, individuals with an interest or expertise in community
or economic development, environmental issues, housing development or finance or citizens who in the
judgment and discretion of the Governor would enhance the DCA board. (AUD)
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The Georgia Lottery Corporation (GLC) is a public body, corporate and politic. GLC operates lottery games
to provide continuing entertainment to the public and maximize revenues, the net proceeds of which are utilized
to support improvements and enhancements for educational purposes. Net proceeds are remitted to the State’s
General Fund and are appropriated to certain educational agencies through the State’s budget process. GLC
is governed by a board of directors composed of seven members, all of which are appointed by the Governor.
The State is legally entitled to residual resources of GLC. (AUD)

The Georgia Ports Authority (GPA) is a body corporate and politic. The purpose of the Authority is to develop
and improve the harbors or seaports of the State for the handling of waterborne commerce and to acquire,
construct, equip, maintain, develop and improve said harbors, seaports and their facilities. The State has
provided general obligation bond proceeds to GPA to finance projects and facilities. The Board consists of 13
members, all of which are appointed by the Governor. (AUD)

The Georgia Tech Foundation, Incorporated is a nonprofit organization established to promote, in various
ways, the cause of higher education in the State, to raise and receive funds for the support and enhancement
of the Georgia Institute of Technology (GIT), and to aid the GIT in its development as a leading educational
institution. The individual financial statements may be obtained from the foundation at the following address:
760 Spring St. NW, Atlanta, GA 30308.

The State’s nonmajor discretely presented component units are as follows:

Economic Development Organizations
The Economic Development organizations cultivate business for the State. These organizations are described below:

The Georgia Development Authority is a body corporate and politic. The Authority was created to assist
agricultural and industrial interests by providing credit and servicing functions to better enable farmers and
businessmen to obtain needed capital funds. (AUD)

The Georgia International and Maritime Trade Center Authority is a body corporate and politic. The
Authority was created to develop and promote the growth of the State’s import and export markets through its
ports and other transportation modes, and to construct, operate and maintain the Savannah International Trade
and Convention Center. (AUD)

The OneGeorgia Authority is a body corporate and politic and an instrumentality and public corporation of
the State. The purpose of the Authority is to promote the health, welfare, safety and economic society of the
rural citizens of the State through the development and retention of employment opportunities in rural areas
and the enhancement of the infrastructures that accomplish that goal. The six members of the Authority are
State officials designated by statute. (NSR)

The Georgia Higher Education Assistance Corporation is a nonprofit public authority, body corporate and politic.
The Corporation was created to improve the higher educational opportunities of eligible students by guaranteeing
educational loan credit to students and to parents of students. The Corporation is governed by the Board of
Commissioners of the Georgia Student Finance Commission. (AUD)

The Georgia Military College (GMC) is abody corporate and politic, and is an instrumentality and a public corporation
of the State. GMC is dedicated to providing a high-quality military education to the youth of the State. The Board of
Trustees consists of the mayor of the City of Milledgeville and six additional members, one of which is elected from
each of the six municipal voting districts of the City, as required by statute. The government, control, and management
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of GMC are vested in the Board of Trustees. GMC receives any designated funds appropriated by the General Assembly
through the Board of Regents of the University System of Georgia. Although GMC does not meet the fiscal dependency
or financial benefit/burden criteria, due to the nature and significance to the State and the potential assumption that
GMC is the same as other colleges reported within the state reporting entity, management has determined that it would
be misleading to exclude GMC from the state reporting entity. (NSR)

The Georgia Public Telecommunications Commission is a body corporate and politic. The Commission is a public
charitable organization created for the purpose of providing educational, instructional and public broadcasting services
to citizens of Georgia. The budget of the Commission must be approved by the State. (AUD)

The Georgia Regional Transportation Authority is a body corporate and politic. Within its jurisdiction, the purpose
of the Authority is to manage land transportation and air quality, review all Developments of Regional Impact (DRI),
and approve the allocation of state and federal transportation resources in metro Atlanta via the Atlanta Transportation
Improvement Program (TIP). The Authority also serves in an advisory capacity to the State Road and Tollway Authority
related to the management and operations of the Xpress Commuter Bus Service. The Governor appoints all 15 Board
Members of the Authority.

The Georgia Student Finance Authority is a body corporate and politic. The Authority was created for the purpose
of improving higher educational opportunities by providing educational scholarship, grant and loan assistance. A
substantial amount of funding is provided to the Authority by the State. (AUD)

The REACH Georgia Foundation is a nonprofit organization that was formed to ensure that Georgia's academically
promising students have the academic, social and financial support needed to graduate from high school, access college
and achieve postsecondary success. The REACH Georgia Program is the State of Georgia's first needs-based mentorship
and college scholarship program and the Foundation's mission is to raise and invest funds. (AUD)

The Regional Educational Service Agencies were established to provide shared services to improve the effectiveness
of educational programs and services of local school systems and to provide direct instructional programs to selected
public school students. The State has 16 of these agencies. (NSR)

The Superior Court Clerks’ Cooperative Authority is a body corporate and politic and an instrumentality and public
corporation of the State created to provide a cooperative for the development, acquisition and distribution of record
management systems, information, services, supplies and materials for superior court clerks of the State. (AUD)

Tourism / State Attractions

These organizations promote State interests or encourage visitation to the State through the operation and maintenance
of various attractions. Organizations involved in such activities are described below:

The Georgia Agricultural Exposition Authority is a body corporate and politic. The Authority is responsible
for provision of a facility for the agricultural community, for public events, exhibits and other activities and
for promotion and staging of a statewide fair. (NSR)

The Jekyll Island State Park Authority is a body corporate and politic and an instrumentality and public
corporation of the State. The Authority was created to operate and manage resort recreational facilities on
Jekyll Island. (NSR)
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The Lake Lanier Islands Development Authority is a body corporate and politic and an instrumentality and
public corporation of the State. The purpose of the Authority is to manage, preserve and protect projects on
Lake Lanier Islands. (NSR)

The North Georgia Mountains Authority is a body corporate and politic and an instrumentality and public
corporation of the State responsible for the construction and management of recreation, accommodation and
tourist facilities and services. (NSR)

The Stone Mountain Memorial Association is a body corporate and politic and an instrumentality and public
corporation of the State. The Authority is responsible for maintenance and operation of Stone Mountain as a
Confederate memorial and public recreational area. (AUD)

The Higher Education Foundations and Similar Organizations are nonprofit organizations established to secure
and manage support for various projects including acquisitions and improvements of properties and facilities for units
ofthe University System of Georgia. The following are the organizations included in the Higher Education Foundations:

Georgia Advanced Technology Ventures, Inc. and Subsidiaries

AU Health System, Inc.

Augusta University Foundation, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Augusta University Research Institute, Inc.

Georgia College & State University Foundation, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Georgia Gwinnett College Foundation, Inc.

Georgia Health Sciences Foundation, Inc.

Georgia Southern University Housing Foundation, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Georgia State University Athletic Association, Inc.

Georgia State University Foundation, Inc.

Georgia State University Research Foundation, Inc.

Georgia Tech Athletic Association

Georgia Tech Facilities, Inc.

Georgia Tech Research Corporation

Kennesaw State University Foundation, Inc.

Medical College of Georgia Foundation, Inc.

Middle Georgia State University Real Estate Foundation, Inc. and Subsidiaries
University of Georgia Athletic Association, Inc.

University of Georgia Foundation

University of Georgia Research Foundation, Inc. and Subsidiaries
University of North Georgia Real Estate Foundation, Inc. and Subsidiaries
UWG Real Estate Foundation, Inc.

University System of Georgia Foundation, Inc. and Affiliates

VSU Auxiliary Services Real Estate Foundation, Inc.

Fiduciary Component Units

GAAP requires fiduciary component units to be reported as fiduciary funds of the primary government rather than as
discrete component units. In accordance with GAAP, fiduciary funds and component units that are fiduciary in nature
are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. The State’s two most significant fiduciary component
units are the Employees’ Retirement System of Georgia (System) and the Teachers Retirement System of Georgia
(TRS). Fiduciary component units are detailed in the Fiduciary Funds portion of the Supplementary Information —
Combining and Individual Fund Statements category of the Financial Section.
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C. Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements

Government-wide Financial Statements

The Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities display information about the primary government and its
component units. These statements include the financial activities of the overall government, except for fiduciary
activities. Eliminations have been made to minimize the double-counting of internal activities. Governmental activities,
which normally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other nonexchange revenues, are reported
separately from business-type activities, which are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties for
goods or services. Likewise, the primary government is reported separately from its discretely presented component
units.

The Statement of Net Position presents the State’s non-fiduciary assets, liabilities and deferred outflows/inflows of
resources, with the difference reported as net position. Net position is reported in three categories:

* Net Investment In Capital Assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated amortization/depreciation and
reduced by outstanding balances for bonds, notes and other debt that are attributed to the acquisition,
construction or improvement of those assets. In addition, deferred outflows/ inflows of resources that are
attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of capital assets or related debt are included in
Net Investment in Capital Assets. If there are significant unspent related debt proceeds or deferred inflows of
resources at the end of the reporting period, the portion of the debt or deferred inflows of resources attributable
to the unspent amount are not included.

* Restricted net position results when constraints placed on net position use are either externally imposed by
creditors, grantors, contributors, and the like, or imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling
legislation.

» Unrestricted net position consists of net position that does not meet the definition of the two preceding
categories. Unrestricted net position often is designated, indicating it is not available for general operations.
Such designations have internally imposed constraints on resources, but can be removed or modified.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, generally it is the State’s policy to use restricted
resources first. Other funds not otherwise remitted to the State Treasury, which may be available from restricted or
unrestricted net position should be utilized next, prior to the use of State funds.

The Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expense of a given function or segment is
offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable within a specific function. Program
revenues include (a) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services or
privileges provided by a given function and (b) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational
or capital requirements of a particular function. Taxes and other items not meeting the definition of program revenues
are instead reported as general revenues.

Fund Financial Statements

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, even though
fiduciary funds are excluded from the government-wide statements. Major individual governmental funds and major
individual proprietary funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. All remaining
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governmental and proprietary funds are aggregated and reported as nonmajor funds. Internal service funds are also
aggregated and reported in a separate column on the proprietary funds financial statements.

D. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation

Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenditures or expenses are recognized in the accounts and reported
in the financial statements. Basis of accounting relates to timing of the measurements made, regardless of the
measurements focus applied.

The government-wide financial statements and the proprietary and fiduciary fund financial statements are reported
using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of
accounting, revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of
the timing of cash flows. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenues in the fiscal year in which eligibility
requirements imposed by the provider have been met. Unearned revenue is recorded when cash or other assets are
received prior to being earned. Additionally, long-term assets and liabilities, such as capital assets and long-term debt,
are included on the financial statements.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the
modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized when they become both measurable and available.
“Measurable” means the amount of the transaction can be determined and “available” means collectible within the
current period or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the State
generally considers taxes and other revenues to be available if the revenues are collected within 30 days after fiscal
year-end. An exception to this policy is federal grant revenues, which generally are considered to be available if
collection is expected within 12 months after year-end. All unearned revenue reported represents transactions for which
assets have been received, but for which not all earning criteria have been met. Capital purchases are recorded as
expenditures and neither capital assets nor long-term liabilities, such as long-term debt, are reflected on the balance
sheet.

Expenditures generally are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, as under the accrual basis of accounting.
However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences, claims and judgments,
and other long-term liabilities, are recorded only when payment is due or (for debt service expenditures), when amounts
have been accumulated in the debt service fund for payments to be made early in the subsequent fiscal year.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues and
expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary
fund’s principal ongoing operations. Operating expenses for enterprise funds and internal service funds include the
cost of sales and services, administrative expenses and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not
meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

The State’s proprietary funds and discretely presented component units, other than certain higher education foundations
and similar organizations, follow all GASB pronouncements, (including all National Council on Governmental
Accounting (NCGA) Statements and Interpretations currently in effect). Certain higher education foundations and
similar organizations report under the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) standards; including FASB
Codification Topic 958, Not-for-Profit Entities. As such, certain revenue recognition criteria and presentation features
are different from GASB revenue recognition criteria and presentation features. The FASB reports were reclassified
or reformatted, as applicable, to GASB presentation in these financial statements.
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GAAP requires that revenues and expenses relating to summer school activities, the dates of which cross the State’s
fiscal year, are allocated between fiscal years rather than reported in a single fiscal year with the exception of teachers’
salaries which are recorded in the fiscal year earned.

The State reports the following major funds:

Major Governmental Funds

General Fund — The principal operating fund of the State which accounts for all financial resources of the
general government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

General Obligation Bond Projects Fund — Accounts for the financial resources to be used for the acquisition
and construction of major capital facilities (other than those financed by proprietary funds) financed with
general obligation bond proceeds, including educational facilities for county and independent school systems.

Major Enterprise Funds

Higher Education Fund — Accounts for the operations of State colleges and universities and State technical
colleges.

State Health Benefit Plan (SHBP) — Administers self-insured program of health benefits for the employees
of units of government of the State, units of county government and local education agencies located within
the State.

Unemployment Compensation Fund — Accounts for the collection of employers’ unemployment insurance
tax and the payment of unemployment insurance benefits.

Additionally, the State reports the following fund types:

Governmental Funds

Special Revenue Funds — Account for specific revenue sources that are legally restricted to expenditures for
specific purposes. The State’s special revenue funds represent the blended component units that conduct general
governmental functions and activities related to the Transportation Investment Act.

Debt Service Funds — Account for the payment of principal and interest on general long-term debt. The
General Obligation Debt Sinking Fund, which is a legally mandated fund responsible for fulfilling annual debt
service requirements on all general obligation debt, is included in this fund type, as is the SRTA Debt Service
Fund.

Proprietary Funds

Enterprise Funds — Account for those activities for which fees are charged to external users for goods or
services. These funds are also used when the activity is financed with debt that is secured by a pledge of the
net revenues from fees and charges.

The State’s nonmajor enterprise funds are Georgia Higher Education Facilities Authority, State Employees'
Assurance Department and State Road and Tollway Authority.

Internal Service Funds — Account for the financing of goods or services provided by one department or
agency to other State departments or agencies, or to other governmental entities, on a cost-reimbursement
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basis. The predominant participant in internal service fund activity is the primary government. The activities
accounted for in the State’s internal service funds include risk management, prison industries, property
management, technology, and personnel administration.

Fiduciary Funds

Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds — Account for the retirement systems and plans
administered by the System , TRS, and for pension plans administered on behalf of a variety of local government
officials and employees. These funds also include those used to report the accumulation of resources for, and
payment of other postemployment benefits.

Investment Trust Funds — Account for the external portions of government-sponsored investment pools,
including Georgia Fund 1 and Georgia Fund 1 Plus.

Private Purpose Trust Funds — Report resources of all other trust arrangements in which principal and income
benefitindividuals, private organizations, or other governments. Auctioneers Education Research and Recovery
Fund, Real Estate Education, Research, and Recovery Fund and the Subsequent Injury Trust Fund are reported
in this category.

Agency Funds — Account for the assets and liabilities for deposits and investments entrusted to the State as
an agent for other governmental units, other organizations, or individuals. These funds include tax collections,
child support recoveries, and correctional detainees’ accounts.

E. Assets, Deferred Outflows of Resources, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Net Position/Fund
Balances

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include currency on hand and demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions
and short-term, highly liquid investments with maturity dates within three months of the date acquired, such as
certificates of deposit, money market certificates and repurchase agreements. Cash and cash equivalents also include
the holdings of the Board of Regents short-term fund.

Investments

Investments include financial instruments with terms in excess of three months from the date of purchase, certain other
securities held for the production of revenue, and land and other real estate held as investments by endowments.
Investments are presented at fair value. Changes in the fair value of land and other real estate held as investments by
endowments are reported as investment income.

Pooled Investments with State Treasury

The Office of the State Treasurer (OST) manages the Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) Trust. The Trust
consists of the following two pools: Georgia Fund 1 (GF1) and Georgia Fund 1 Plus (GF1 Plus). During the year, the
Georgia Extended Asset Pool (GEAP) was liquidated and all assets were distributed to participants. For cash flow
purposes, amounts reported in the Pooled Investments with State Treasury are considered cash equivalents.
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The State’s External Investment Pools (described below) generally value investments as follows:

» All investments except repurchase agreements, non-negotiable certificates of deposit (“CD”), direct-issued
commercial paper, and other such nonparticipating investments are priced at fair value.

* Repurchase agreements, non-negotiable CD’s, direct-issued commercial paper, and other such
nonparticipating investments are carried at cost because they are nonparticipating contracts that do not capture
interest rate changes in their value.

Security transactions are accounted for on a trade date basis which means that the purchases and sales of securities are
recorded on the day the trade takes place with a corresponding payable or receivable.

External Investment Pools

The State Depository Board may permit any department, board, bureau or other agency to invest funds collected directly
by such organization in short-term time deposit agreements, provided that the interest income of those funds is remitted
to the State Treasurer as revenues of the State. As a matter of general practice, however, demand funds of any department,
board, bureau or other agency in excess of current operating expenses are required to be deposited with the State
Treasurer for the purpose of pooled investment per Official Code of Georgia (O.C.G.A.) 50-17-63. Such cash is managed
primarily in pooled investment funds to maximize interest earnings. The pooled investment funds “Georgia Fund 1,
and "Georgia Fund 1 Plus" are also available on a voluntary basis to organizations outside of the State reporting entity.
The funds in the local government investment pool may be consolidated with State funds under control of the State
Treasurer for investment purposes, per O.C.G.A. 36-83-8.

Georgia Fund 1 — The (GF1 or the Primary Liquidity Portfolio’s) primary objectives are safety of capital,
investment income, liquidity and diversification while maintaining principal. It is managed as a stable Net
Asset Value (NAV) pool. The Pool operates and reports to participants on an amortized cost basis. The income,
gains and losses, net of administration fees of the pool are allocated to participants monthly on the ratio of the
participant’s share of the total funds in the pool based on the participant’s average daily balance. This method
differs from the fair value method used to value investments in these financial statements because the amortized
cost method is not designed to distribute to participants all unrealized gains and losses in the fair values of the
pool’s investments. Per the Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("GASB") 79, to qualify for the use
of amortized cost accounting for financial reporting purposes, an investment pool must meet all the criteria
listed in GASB 79. GFIis managed as a stable NAV pool but does not comply with all the requirements listed
in GASB 79; therefore, the investments of the pool are reported at fair market value at fiscal year end.

Georgia Fund 1 Plus — (GF1 Plus) was established on July 1, 2016, and initially funded through redemptions
in GF1. It is managed to maintain a stable Net Asset Value (NAV) of $1.00. For financial reporting purposes,
the pool is reported at fair market value. GF1 Plus was established as an additional LGIP investment option
for the state, state agencies, and eligible municipalities looking to benefit from higher yields available by
adding credit exposure.

Other Investments

The State’s Unemployment Compensation Fund monies are required by the Social Security Act to be invested in the
U.S. Department of Treasury, Bureau of Public Debt Unemployment Trust Fund (BPDUTF), which is not registered
with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The fair value of the position in the BPDUTF is the same as the value
of the BPDUTF shares.
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Receivables

Receivables in the State’s governmental funds pertain primarily to the accrual of taxes, as well as to federal grants and
to revenues related to charges for services. Receivables in all other funds have arisen in the ordinary course of business.
Receivables are recorded, net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts, when either the asset or revenue recognition
criteria (See Note 1-D) have been met. Receivables from the federal government are reasonably assured; an allowance
for uncollectible accounts is not typically established for federal receivables. In the governmental fund financial
statements, the portion considered “available” is recorded as revenue; the remainder is recorded as a deferred inflow
of resources-unavailable.

Inventories and Prepaid Items

Inventories of supplies and materials are determined by physical count and/or perpetual inventory records and are
valued at cost, weighted average cost, moving average cost, or lower of weighted average cost or market, using the
first-in/first-out (FIFO) method, depending on the individual organization’s preference. The costs of governmental
fund inventories are recorded as expenditures when consumed rather than when purchased for larger agencies and
agencies with material inventories. Other agencies may use either the purchase or consumption method.

Prepaid items include payments made to vendors and local government organizations for services that will benefit
periods beyond the fiscal year-end. Also, the employer’s portion of health insurance benefits applicable to coverage
effective after the fiscal year-end is recorded as a prepaid item.

The fund balance of governmental funds is reported as nonspendable for inventories and prepaid items to indicate that
these amounts do not represent expendable available financial resources.

Restricted Assets

Certain cash and cash equivalents, investments, and other assets are classified as restricted assets on the Balance Sheet
and/or Statement of Net Position because their use is limited by applicable bond covenants, escrow arrangements or
other regulations.

Capital Assets

Capital assets of governmental funds are recorded as expenditures at the time of purchase and capitalized in the
governmental activities column of the government-wide Statement of Net Position. Capital assets of the State’s
proprietary funds and component units are capitalized in the fund in which they are utilized. Capital assets are stated
at historical cost or, in some instances, estimated historical cost. Estimation methods include using historical sources
to determine the cost of similar assets at the time of acquisition and indexing where the historical cost of an asset is
estimated by taking the current cost of a similar asset and dividing it by an index figure which adjusts for inflation.
Donated capital assets are stated at acquisition value at the time of donation and disposals are removed at recorded
cost. Infrastructure and intangible assets, as defined by the State’s policy, acquired after June 30, 1980, are reported.

All acquisitions in the following asset categories are capitalized regardless of cost:
Land and non-depreciable land improvements

Bridges and roadways included in the State highway system
Works of art and collections, acquired or donated, unless held for financial gain
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Amounts for other asset categories are capitalized when the cost or value equals or exceeds the following thresholds.
Items acquired through capital leases or donations are subject to these capitalization thresholds, using the classifications
most closely related to the leased or donated assets.

Asset Category Threshold

Infrastructure other than bridges and roadways in State highway system $ 1,000,000
Software $ 1,000,000
Intangible assets, other than software $ 100,000
Buildings and building improvements $ 100,000
Improvements other than buildings $ 100,000
Library collections — capitalize all if collection equals or exceeds $ 100,000
Machinery and equipment $ 5,000

The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend asset lives is
not capitalized. The State holds certain assets such as works of art, historical documents, and artifacts that have not
been capitalized or depreciated because either they are held for financial gain or they are protected and preserved for
exhibition, education, or research and are considered to have inexhaustible useful lives. Major outlays for construction
of bridges and roadways in the State highway system are capitalized as projects are constructed. All other major
construction projects are capitalized when projects are completed. Interest incurred during construction is not capitalized
in governmental funds. Interest incurred during the construction of proprietary fund assets is included in the capitalized
value of the asset.

Capital assets are depreciated over their useful lives using the straight-line depreciation method. The government-
wide, proprietary fund and component unit financial statements report depreciation expense.

Capital assets without indefinite or inexhaustible useful lives are generally amortized or depreciated on the straight-
line basis over the following useful lives:

Infrastructure 10-100 years
Buildings and building improvements 5-60 years
Improvements other than buildings 15-50 years
Machinery and equipment 3-20 years
Software 3-10 years
Intangible assets, other than software 20 years
Library collections 10 years
Works of art and collections 5-40 years

Deferred Outflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the government-wide and fund financial statements will sometimes report a separate section of
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element represents a consumption of net position or
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fund balance that applies to future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/
expenditure) until then.

Compensated Absences

Employees earn annual leave ranging from 10 to 14 hours each month depending upon the employee’s length of
continuous State service with a maximum accumulation of 360 hours. Employees are paid for unused accumulated
annual leave upon retirement or termination of employment. Funds are provided in the appropriation of funds each
fiscal year to cover the cost of annual leave of terminated employees. The State’s obligation for accumulated unpaid
annual leave is reported as a liability in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements based on current
rates of pay in effect at the end of the reporting period.

Employees earn 10 hours of sick leave each month with a maximum accumulation of 720 hours. Sick leave does not
vest with the employee. Unused accumulated sick leave is forfeited upon retirement or termination of employment.
However, certain employees who retire with 120 days or more of forfeited annual and sick leave are entitled to additional
service credit in the Employees’ Retirement System. No liability is recorded for rights to receive sick pay benefits.

Long-term Obligations

Long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities
column or business-type activities column on the government-wide Statement of Net Position and on the proprietary
fund Statement of Net Position in the fund financial statements. Bond discounts and premiums are deferred and
amortized over the life of the bonds using a method that approximates the effective interest method or the straight-line
method. Bonds payable are reported net of the unamortized bond premium or discount. Bond issuance costs are
recognized during the current period.

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as bond issuance
costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources. Premiums
received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuances are reported as
other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as
debt service expenditures.

The Tax Reform Act of 1986 requires governmental organizations issuing tax-exempt bonds to refund to the U.S.
Treasury, interest earnings on bond proceeds in excess of the yield on those bonds. Governmental organizations must
comply with arbitrage rebate requirements in order for their bonds to maintain tax-exempt status. Organizations are
required to remit arbitrage rebate payments for non-purpose interest to the federal government at least once every five
years over the life of the bonds. Arbitrage liability is treated as an expense in the government-wide statements when
the liability is recognized. In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report arbitrage (other debt service)
expenditures when the liability is due.

Pollution remediation obligations are recorded when the State knows that a site is polluted and one or more obligating
events have occurred. The amount recorded is an estimate of the current value of potential outlays for the cleanup,
calculated using the “expected cash flows” measurement technique.

Deferred Inflows of Resources

In addition to liabilities, the government-wide and fund financial statements will sometimes report a separate section
for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element represents an acquisition of net position
or fund balance that applies to future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until
that time.
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Net Position

The difference between assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources is “Net
Position” on the government-wide, proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial statements.

Net position is reported as net investment in capital assets, restricted or unrestricted. “Net Investment in Capital Assets”
consists of capital assets, net of accumulated amortization/depreciation and reduced by outstanding balances for bonds,
notes and other debt that are attributed to the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets. In addition,
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources that are attributable to the acquisition, construction
or improvement of capital assets or related debt are included in Net Investment in Capital Assets. Ifthere are significant
unspent related debt proceeds or deferred inflows of resources at the end of the reporting period, the portion of the
debt or deferred inflows of resources attributable to the unspent amount are not included.

Restricted net position results when constraints placed on net position use are either externally imposed by creditors,
grantors, contributors, and the like, or imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.

Unrestricted net position consists of net position that does not meet the definition of the two preceding categories may
be designated, indicating it is not available for general operations. Such designations have internally imposed constraints
on resources, but can be removed or modified.

When both restricted and unrestricted net position are available for use, it is the State’s policy to first utilize federal
funds available from restricted net position. Other funds not otherwise remitted to the State Treasury, which may be
available from restricted or unrestricted net position should be utilized next, prior to the use of State funds.

Fund Balances

Generally, fund balance represents the difference between the assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and
deferred inflows of resources under the current financial resources measurement focus of accounting. In the fund
financial statements, governmental funds report fund balance classifications that comprise a hierarchy based primarily
on the extent to which the government is bound to honor constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts in
those funds can be spent. Fund balances are classified as follows:

Nonspendable — Fund balances are reported as nonspendable when amounts cannot be spent because they are
either (a) not in spendable form (i.e., items that are not expected to be converted into cash or (b) legally or
contractually required to be maintained intact, such as inventory, prepaid items, and the principal in a permanent
fund.

Restricted — Fund balances are reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed on their use either
through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation adopted by the State or through the external restrictions
imposed by creditors, grantors or laws or regulations of other governments.

Committed — Fund balances are reported as committed when they can be used only for specific purposes
pursuant to constraints imposed by formal actions of both the Governor and the General Assembly. The Georgia
Legislature and Governor represent the State’s highest level of decision-making authority. Formal action
consists of legislation passed by both the House and Senate and signed by the Governor and is required to
establish, modify or rescind a limitation.

Assigned — Fund balances are reported as assigned when amounts are constrained by the State’s intent that
they be used for specific purposes, but they are neither restricted nor committed. Assignments may be made
under statutory authority of management of the reporting organizations in the State.
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Unassigned — The residual amount of fund balance is reported as unassigned for balances that do not meet
the above constraints. The government reports positive unassigned fund balance only in the general fund.
Negative unassigned fund balances may be reported in all funds.

As with net position, when both restricted and unrestricted (committed, assigned, unassigned) fund balances are
available for use, it is the State’s policy to first utilize federal funds available from restricted fund balance. Other funds
not otherwise remitted to the State Treasury, which may be available from restricted, committed or assigned fund
balance should be utilized next, prior to the use of State funds when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which
amounts in any of those funding sources could be used. Within unrestricted fund balance, after the above consideration
of funding source, the State’s policy is that committed amounts generally should be reduced first, followed by assigned
amounts and then unassigned amounts when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of those
unrestricted fund balance classifications could be used.

Interfund Activity and Balances

Equally offsetting asset and liability accounts (due from/to other funds) are used to account for amounts owed to a
particular fund by another fund for obligations on goods sold or services rendered.

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial statements
with the exception of activities between governmental activities and business-type activities. In the fund financial
statements, transfers represent flows of assets without equivalent flows of assets in return or requirements for repayment.

In addition, transfers are recorded when a fund receiving revenue provides it to the fund which expends the resources.
Transfers of balances between funds are made to accomplish various provisions of law.

Interfund payables and receivables have been eliminated from the Statement of Net Position except for amounts due
between governmental and business-type activities. These amounts are reported as internal balances on the Statement
of Net Position.
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A. Implementation of New Accounting Standards
In fiscal year 2018, the State implemented the following new GASB Statements:

GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than
Pensions, improves accounting and financial reporting by state and local governments for other
postemployment benefits (OPEB). It also improves information provided by state and local governmental
employers about financial support for OPEB that is provided by other entities. This Statement results from a
comprehensive review of the effectiveness of existing standards of accounting and financial reporting for all
postemployment benefits (pensions and OPEB) with regard to providing decision-useful information,
supporting assessments of accountability and interperiod equity, and creating additional transparency. This
Statement replaces the requirements of Statements No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers
for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, as amended, and No. 57, OPEB Measurements by Agent
Employers and Agent Multiple-Employer Plans, for OPEB.

Adoption of this standard caused a decrease to net position of $3.2 billion, $2.0 billion, $36.4 million,
and $163.7 million to Governmental Activities, Business-type Activities, Fiduciary funds and
discretely presented Component Units, respectively in fiscal year 2018.

GASB Statement No. 81, Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements, improves accounting and financial reporting
for irrevocable split-interest agreements by providing recognition and measurement guidance for situations in
which a government is a beneficiary of the agreement. Split-interest agreements are a type of giving agreement
used by donors to provide resources to two or more beneficiaries, including governments. Split-interest
agreements can be created through trusts-or other legally enforceable agreements with characteristics that are
equivalent to split-interest agreements-in which a donor transfers resources to an intermediary to hold and
administer for the benefit of a government and at least one other beneficiary. Examples of these types of
agreements include charitable lead trusts, charitable remainder trusts, and life-interests in real estate. Adoption
of this Statement did not have a significant impact on the financial statements.

GASB Statement No. 85, Omnibus 2017, addresses practice issues that have been identified during
implementation and application of certain GASB Statements. This Statement addresses a variety of topics
including issues related to blending component units, goodwill, fair value measurement and application, and
postemployment benefits (pensions and OPEB). Specifically, this Statement addresses the following topics:
blending a component unit in circumstances in which the primary government is a business-type activity that
reports in a single column for financial statement presentation, reporting amounts previously reported as
goodwill and “negative” goodwill, classifying real estate held by insurance entities, measuring certain money
market investments and participating interest-earning investment contracts at amortized cost, timing of the
measurement of pension or OPEB liabilities and expenditures recognized in financial statements prepared
using the current financial resources measurement focus, recognizing on-behalf payments for pensions or
OPEB in employer financial statements, presenting payroll-related measures in required supplementary
information for purposes of reporting by OPEB plans and employers that provide OPEB, classifying employer-
paid member contributions for OPEB, simplifying certain aspects of the alternative measurement method for
OPEB, and accounting and financial reporting for OPEB provided through certain multiple-employer defined
benefit OPEB plans. Adoption of this Statement did not have a significant impact on the financial statements.

GASB Statement No. 86, Certain Debt Extinguishment Issues, improves consistency in accounting and

financial reporting for in-substance defeasance of debt by providing guidance for transactions in which cash
and other monetary assets acquired with only existing resources-resources other than the proceeds of refunding

70



State of Georgia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

NOTE 2 - CHANGES IN FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING (continued)

debt-are placed in an irrevocable trust for the sole purpose of extinguishing debt. This Statement also improves
accounting and financial reporting for prepaid insurance on debt that is extinguished and notes to financial
statements for debt that is defeased in substance. Adoption of this Statement did not have a significant impact
on the financial statements.

B. Change in Financial Reporting Entity

Primary Government

During the fiscal year, State Road and Tollway Authority (SRTA), determined that the customer service center no longer
met the requirements of an Internal Service Fund. Activity of the customer service center is currently reported within
SRTA's Nonmajor Enterprise Fund. The effect of this presentation change was an increase of $6.5 million in the
Nonmajor Enterprise Fund beginning net position and a decrease of $6.5 million in Internal Service Funds.

During the fiscal year, the SRTA's Nonmajor Enterprise fund began operations to include the Xpress commuter bus
service and administration of the vanpool program that were previously operated by Georgia Regional Transportation
Authority (GRTA), a discretely presented Component Unit. As such, net position increased by $19.5 million in business-
type activities.

Component Units

Georgia State University Athletic Association, Inc. met the requirements for inclusion as a discretely presented
component unit which increased the University System of Georgia's net position by $1.5 million. The determination
was made that Kennesaw State University Athletic Association, Inc. no longer met requirements for inclusion as a
discretely presented component unit. The effect of this determination was a decrease to discretely presented component
unit beginning net position in the amount of $3.7 million. AU Medical Associates, Inc. became a blended component
unit of AU Health Systems. The result is a decrease to discretely presented component unit beginning net position in
the amount of $0.5 million. The net effect of these changes in reporting entities for Higher Education Foundations is
a decrease of beginning net position by $2.7 million for fiscal year 2018.

It was determined during the fiscal year that the REACH Georgia Foundation met the requirements for inclusion as a
discretely presented component unit for fiscal year 2018, which increased beginning net position in the amount of $4.4
million.

As discussed above, SRTA's Nonmajor Enterprise fund began operations to include the Xpress commuter bus service
and administration of the vanpool program that were previously operated by GRTA, a discretely presented Component
Unit. This resulted in a decrease of net position of $19.5 million during the fiscal year.

C. Correction of Prior Year Errors

Primary Government

During the fiscal year, it was determined that capitalized software for the Department of Community Health in fiscal
year 2017 was understated by $12.2 million, resulting in an increase of net position in the governmental activities, as
reported. The beginning net position of the Department of Community Health was increased to reflect this correction.

71



State of Georgia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

NOTE 2 - CHANGES IN FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING (continued)

During the fiscal year, it was determined that capital lease assets and their related liabilities were overstated at the
Department of Human Services by $2.4 million in fiscal year 2017, resulting in an overstatement of net position in the
governmental activities. An adjustment was made in fiscal year 2018 to decrease net position to reflect correction to
the prior year amounts.

During the fiscal year, it was determined that construction in progress at the Department of Juvenile Justice was
overstated by $17.4 million in fiscal year 2017, resulting in an overstatement of net position in the governmental
activities. An adjustment was made in fiscal year 2018 to decrease net position to reflect correction to the prior year
amounts.

During the fiscal year, it was determined that construction in progress was overstated while accumulated depreciation
was understated at Department of Veterans Services. This resulted in an overstatement of $14.3 million net position
in the governmental activities in fiscal year 2017. An adjustment was made in fiscal year 2018 to decrease net position
to reflect correction to the prior year amounts.

During the fiscal year, it was determined that at the Department of Revenue taxes receivable in the amount of $382.7
million for the International Fuel Tax Agreement were erroneously included in the prior year receivable balance.
Additionally, an incorrect amount, $387.0 million, was included for estimated amounts write-offs in the prior year
receivable balance. This resulted in a net understatement of $4.3 million in fiscal year 2017. An adjustment was made
in fiscal year 2018 to increase net position to reflect correction to the prior year amounts.

During the fiscal year, it was determined that the State Health Benefits plan, a Proprietary Fund, understated net position
in fiscal year 2017 by $132.3 million, while Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds, which are Fiduciary
funds, were overstated. An adjustment of $132.3 million was made in fiscal year 2018 to increase beginning net
position of the Enterprise fund and to decrease beginning net position of the Fiduciary fund.

An adjustment was made to Higher Education Fund, an Enterprise fund, for assets already reported by the Higher
Education Foundations, a discretely presented Component Unit. This adjustment along with other minor adjustments
resulted in a decrease to beginning net position by $222.5 million to the Higher Education Fund.

Component Units

During the fiscal year, it was determined that the UWG Real Estate Foundation, part of the Higher Education Foundations
discretely presented component unit, understated net position. An adjustment was made in fiscal year 2018 to increase
beginning net position by $0.4 million.
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Reclassifications and Restatements consisted of the following (amount in thousands):

Governmental Funds and Activities
Major Funds:

General Fund

General Obligation Bond Projects Fund
Nonmajor Funds:

Special Revenue Funds

Debt Service Fund

Permanent Fund

Total Governmental Funds

Government-wide Adjustments
Capital Assets, net of depreciation
Other Noncurrent Assets and Liabilities
Deferred Inflows/Outflows of Resources
Long-Term Liabilities Related to Debt
OPEB Assets/Liabilities
Pension Assets/Liabilities
Inclusion of Internal Service Funds in

Governmental Activities
Total Governmental Funds and Activities

Proprietary Funds and Business-type Activities
Major Funds:

Higher Education Fund

State Health Benefit Plan

Unemployment Compensation Fund
Nonmajor Funds:

Enterprise Funds

Internal Service Funds

Internal Service Funds Look-Back Adjustments

Removal of Internal Service Funds Relating to

Governmental Activities
Total Proprietary Funds and Business-type Activities

Fiduciary Funds
Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds

Investment Trust Funds

Private Purpose Trust Funds
Total Fiduciary Funds
Discretely Presented Component Units

Total Reporting Entity

133,314,577
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Change in Implementation
6/30/2017 Financial of New Correction of
As Previously Reporting Accounting Prior Year 6/30/2017
Reported Entity Standards Errors (Restated)
$ 7,375,992 $ — 3 — — 7,375,992
1,079,197 — — — 1,079,197
320,783 — — — 320,783
270 — — — 270
8,776,242 — — — 8,776,242
21,827,245 — — (11,297) 21,815,948
(525,252) — — 4,301 (520,951)
1,757,119 — — — 1,757,119
(10,616,314) — — (10,559) (10,626,873)
— — (3,125,195) — (3,125,195)
(3,317,408) — — (3,317,408)
476,283 — (49,061) — 427,222
$ 18377915 § — 3 (3,174,256) (17,555) 15,186,104
$ 3,592,252 §$ — 3 (1,943,876) (222,509) 1,425,867
469,309 — (4,476) 132,283 597,116
1,836,319 — — — 1,836,319
177,209 26,015 (7,244) — 195,980
329,062 (6,479) (49,061) — 273,522
(476,283) — 49,061 — (427,222)
3 5,927,868 $ 19,536 $ (1,955,596) (90,226) 3,901,582
$ 91,702,555 $ — 3 (35,148) (132,283) 91,535,124
6,699,600 — — — 6,699,600
154,043 — (1,234) — 152,809
$ 98,556,198 $ — 3 (36,382) (132,283) 98,387,533
$ 10,452,596 $ (17,820) $ (163,673) 383 10,271,486
$ $ 1,716 $ (5,329,907) (239,681) 127,746,705
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NOTE 4 - FUND BALANCE AND NET POSITION
A. Fund Balances

The specific purposes of the governmental funds fund balances, classified as other than unassigned, at June 30,
2018 are as follows (amount in thousands):

General
Obligation Nonmajor
General Bond Projects Governmental
Fund Fund Funds Total
Nonspendable Fund Balance
Inventories and Prepaid Amounts $ 35375 $ — 8 16,770 $ 52,145

Restricted Fund Balance
Capital Projects $ — 3 1,079,143  §$ — 3 1,079,143

Guaranteed Revenue Debt

Common Reserve Fund 53,776 — — 53,776
Administrative Support for Health Care Programs 42,371 — — 42,371
Emission Regulation 5,714 — — 5,714
Endangered Species Monitoring 7,085 — — 7,085
Healthcare Facility Regulation 24,609 — — 24,609
Health Care Access and Improvement 12,341 — — 12,341
Indigent Care Trust Fund 5,537 — — 5,537
Jasper Ocean Terminal Project 7,551 — — 7,551
Lottery For Education 1,237,666 — — 1,237,666
Roads and Bridges (Motor Fuel Tax Funds) 3,277,779 — 94,017 3,371,796
Roadside Enhancement and Beautification Fund 98,330 — — 98,330
Unclaimed Property 63,955 — — 63,955
Underground Storage Tank Trust Fund 60,643 — — 60,643
Unissued Debt/Debt Service 103,169 — 64,016 167,185
Victims of Violent Crime Emergency Fund 27,149 — — 27,149
Health and Welfare

Behavioral Health 2,792 — — 2,792
Community Health 2,714 — — 2,714
Human Services 9,918 — — 9,918
Transportation 30,729 — 215,695 246,424
Public Safety 8,330 — — 8,330
Economic Development and Assistance 8,155 — — 8,155
Culture and Recreation 18,936 — — 18,936
Other 9,248 23,057 — 32,305
Total Restricted Fund Balance $ 5,118,497 § 1,102,200 $ 373,728 § 6,594,425
Committed Fund Balance
Armory Facility Maintenance 1,312 — — 1,312
Georgia Industries for the Blind 649 — — 649
National Guard Transient Quarters — — — —
Rebate and Commissions 9,212 — — 9,212
Veterans' Homes Residency Fees 580 — — 580

Total Committed Fund Balance
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(continued)
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General

Obligation Nonmajor
General Bond Projects Governmental
Fund Fund Funds Total
Assigned Fund Balance
General Government $ 119,875  § 39,632 $ 3918 $ 163,425
Education 23,202 — — 23,202
Health and Welfare 110,661 — — 110,661
Public Safety 102,544 — — 102,544
Economic Development and Assistance 33,565 — — 33,565
Culture and Recreation 36,750 — — 36,750
Conservation 11,140 — 41,362 52,502
Total Assigned Fund Balance $ 437,737 $ 39,632 § 45280 $ 522,649

B. Restricted Net Position

The State’s net position restricted by enabling legislation represents resources which a party external to a government
- such as citizens, public interest groups, or the judiciary - can compel the government to use only for the purpose
specified by the legislation. The government-wide Statement of Net Position reports $8.7 billion of restricted net
position.

C. Deficit Net Position

The governmental activities of the State ended the year with an unrestricted net position deficit of $8.5 billion. The
deficit is a result of pension and Other Postemployment Benefit (OPEB) liabilities and the continued practice of
incurring debt for the purposes of capital acquisition and construction on behalf of county and independent school
systems, business-type activities and State schools. As of June 30,2018, outstanding general obligation bonds applicable
to these projects was $5.2 billion. Since the occurance of this debt does not result in capital asset acquisitions for
governmental activities, the debt is not reflected in the net position category, Net Investment in Capital Assets, but
rather in the unrestricted net position category. The unrestricted deficit balance of the primary government however
has been adjusted for the governmental activities outstanding debt balances related to capital assets reported in business-
type activities in the amount of $3.0 billion. GASB 68, as related to pensions required the State to recognize its
proportional share of the net pension liability of the pension plans applicable to said standard. As of June 30, 2018,
the liability resulted in a $3.2 billion impact to unrestricted net position. GASB 75, as related to OPEB required the
State to recognize its proportional share of the net OPEB liability of the OPEB plans applicable to said standard. As
of June 30, 2018, the liability resulted in a $2.9 billion impact to unrestricted net position.

The business-type activities of the State ended the year with an unrestricted net position of $6.2 billion, which is
primarily due to the recognition of net pension and OPEB liabilities. The higher education fund has deficit balances
due to pension and OPEB. GASB 68, as related to pensions, required the State to recognize its proportional share of
the net pension liability of the pension plans applicable to said standard. As of June 30, 2018, the liability resulted in
a $2.8 billion impact to unrestricted net position. GASB 75, as related to OPEB, required the State to recognize its
proportional share of the net OPEB liability of the OPEB plans applicable to said standard. As of June 30, 2018, the
liability resulted in a $4.7 billion impact to unrestricted net position. The State Road and Tollway Authority’s deficit
of $263.7 million in unrestricted net position of business-type activities is primarily a result of $256.7 million in
outstanding balances for the TIFIA and Design Building finance loans related to the I-75 Northwest Corridor project
and $34.1 million in outstanding balances for the transportation revenue bonds related to the I-75S express Lanes
project.
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Cash and cash equivalents and investments as of June 30, 2018 are classified in the accompanying financial statements
as follows (amount in thousands):

Primary
Government
and Fiduciary Component
Funds Units Total
Primary Government
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 5,146,137 $ 700,687 $ 5,846,824
Pooled Investments with State Treasury 4,765,616 1,589,660 6,355,276
Investments 3,452,879 2,373,669 5,826,548
Restricted Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,352,676 470,560 2,823,236
Pooled Investments with State Treasury 306,174 73,020 379,194
Investments 244,558 2,043,286 2,287,844
Fiduciary Funds
Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,974,221 — 1,974,221
Pooled Investments with State Treasury 9,213,444 — 9,213,444
Investments 93,591,444 — 93,591,444
Restricted Assets
Pooled Investments with State Treasury 594 — 594
Total Cash and Investments $ 121.047.743 $ 7.250.882 § 128.298.625

Cash on hand, deposits and investments as of June 30, 2018 consist of the following (amount in thousands):

Primary
Government
and Fiduciary Component
Funds Units Total

Cash on Hand $ 3,293 § 46 $ 3,339
Deposits with Financial Institutions (Note SA) 2,996,954 954,074 3,951,028
Investments (Note 5B) 101,756,792 4,518,979 106,275,771
Pooled Investments with State Treasury (Note 5D) 14,285,822 1,662,679 15,948,501
Unemployment Compensation Funds with U.S. Treasury 2,119,986 — 2,119,986
Assets Held at the Board of Regents

on Behalf of Other Organizations (115,104) 115,104 —
Total Cash and Investments $ 121.047.743 S 7.250.882 $ 128.298.625
A. Deposits

Deposits include certificates of deposit and demand deposit accounts. The State Depository Board (Board) has authority
to determine collateral requirements for State demand deposit accounts. Beginning in October 2008, in response to the
U.S. financial crisis, the Board required all uninsured State deposits to be fully collateralized until September 2012.
Its investment policy was amended to permit the Office of the State Treasurer (OST) to diversify its portfolio to include
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investments in deposit agreements that are with highly rated U.S. banks classified to be low or very low risk, as measured
by the OST counterparty risk assessment model.

The Board permits OST to invest in deposit agreements in approved banks as an alternative to purchasing commercial
paper and corporate notes issued by highly rated U.S. banks because of the clear preference of all depositor claims,
insured and uninsured, over general creditors. OST has been advised that there is a clear and significant difference in
favor of deposits over commercial paper in the event of insolvency or liquidation of a U.S. bank thus, OST gives
preference to interest-bearing demand deposits due to both a preference in safety of capital and daily liquidity. For any
single financial institution, investments deposit agreements, in approved banks that are not collateralized or secured
as described below, together with purchases of commercial paper, cannot exceed 5% of total portfolio assets invested
by OST.

Other than the deposit agreements referenced above, State demand deposits, time deposits and other certificates of
deposit must be secured by eligible collateral, a Federal Home Loan Bank letter of credit, or a surety bond approved
by the Board. There are currently no issuers of surety bonds that have been approved by the Board. Eligible collateral
includes any one or more of the following securities as enumerated in O.C.G.A. 50-17-59:

1) Bonds, bills, certificates of indebtedness, notes or other direct obligations of the United States or of the
State.

2) Bonds, bills, certificates of indebtedness, notes or other obligations of the counties or municipalities of
the State.

3) Bonds of any public authority created by the laws of the State, providing that the statute that created the
authority authorized the use of the bonds for this purpose, the bonds have been duly validated and they
are not in default.

4) Industrial revenue bonds and bonds of development authorities created by the laws of the State, for which
bonds have been duly validated and they are not in default.

5) Bonds, bills, certificates of indebtedness, notes or other obligations of a subsidiary corporation of the U.S.
Government, which are fully guaranteed, both as to principal and interest and debt obligations issued, or
securities guaranteed by the Federal Land Bank, the Federal Home Loan Bank, the Federal Intermediate
Credit Bank, the Central Bank for Cooperatives, the Farm Credit Banks, the Federal Home Loan Mortgage
Corporation and the Federal National Mortgage Association.

The Board is authorized in O.C.G.A. 50-17-58 to allow agencies of the State the option of exempting demand deposits
from the collateral requirements. Currently, the Board has only authorized OST to waive collateral on special accounts
approved by the Board, as referenced above, in accordance with its investment policy. The Board requires all other
State demand deposits, time deposits and certificates of deposits to be collateralized in an amount equal to and not less
than 110% of any deposit not insured by the FDIC. In addition, the Board instituted a requirement to limit total State
deposits at any State depository to not exceed 100% of the depository’s equity capital. The Board may temporarily
increase the total State deposit limit at any State depository to 125% of equity capital to allow for fluctuation in demand
deposit balances. Credit unions are not authorized to serve as State depositories.
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Custodial Credit Risk — Deposits

The custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, the State’s deposits may not be
recovered. The OST Investment Policy specifies safety of capital as the first priority in investing funds and liquidity
asthe second priority, followed by investment return and diversification. In adherence to these objectives, OST maintains
balances in deposit agreements in approved banks for investment unless commercial paper issued by those financial
institutions offers a risk-adjusted advantage. OST closely monitors the credit of U.S. banks having deposit agreements.

Beginning in 2018, the Board implemented the Secure Deposit Program (SDP), a multi-bank pledging pool. The SDP
requires participating banks that accept public deposits in Georgia to operate under the policy and procedures of the
program. The State Treasurer sets the collateral requirements and pledging level for each covered depository. There
are four tiers of collateralization levels specifying percentages of eligible securities to secure covered Deposits: 25%,
50%, 75%, and 110%. The SDP also provides for collateral levels to be increased to amount of up to 125% if economic
or financial conditions warrants. The program lists the type of eligible collateral. The State Treasurer approves
authorized custodians.

In accordance with the SDP, if a covered depository defaults, losses to public depositors are first satisfied with any
applicable insurance, followed by demands of payment under any letters of credit or sale of the covered depository's
collateral. If necessary, any remaining losses are to be satisfied by assessments made against the other participating
covered depositories. Therefore, for disclosure purposes, all deposits of participants in the SDP are considered to be
fully insured.

At June 30, 2018, bank balances of the primary government and its component units’ deposits not included in the SDP
totaled $3.0 billion. It includes balances reported in fiduciary funds other than Pension and Other Employee Benefit
Trust Funds as these balances are not separable from the holdings of the primary government. Of these bank balances,
$267.2 million were exposed to custodial credit risk as follows (amount in thousands):

Primary
Government and Component
Fiduciary Funds Units Total
Uninsured and uncollaterized $ 21,291 $ 158,658 $ 179,949
Uninsured and collateralized with securities
held by the pledging financial institutions 283 22,242 22,525
Uninsured and collateralized with securities held
by the pledging institutions' trust departments
or agents, but not in the State's name 44,458 20,271 64,729
Total deposits exposed to custodial credit risk $ 66,032 $ 201,171 § 267,203

The carrying amounts of deposits of certain higher education foundations which utilize FASB standards were $340.4
million. These deposits are not included in the balances reflected above.
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B. Investments

Investment Policies

Primary Government

The predominant portions of the primary government’s investments are managed by OST and the University System
of Georgia (USG). OST’s and USG’s investment policies are therefore presented as the investment policies of the
primary government.

The State Depository Board has adopted two investment policies to govern State investments:

1) The Investment Policy for the Office of the State Treasurer (OST Investment Policy) dictates investment
of assets managed by OST.

2) The Investment Policy for Approved State Investment Accounts (Investment Policy for Approved Agency
Accounts) governs investments managed by organizations other than OST.

OST Investment Policy

OST is the only organization approved by the Board to invest funds pursuant to the OST Investment policy. The State
Treasurer shall invest all funds with the degree of judgment and care, under circumstances then prevailing, which
persons of prudence, discretion, and intelligence exercise in the management of their own affairs, not for speculation,
but for investment. OST is to invest all funds prudently, considering first, the probable safety of capital and then
probable income, while meeting daily cash flow requirements and conforming to all statutes governing the investment
of public funds.

OST is authorized to invest in securities and other investments as permitted in O.C.G.A. Sections 36-83-2, 50-5A-7,
50-17-2, 50-17-27 and 50-17-63. Authorized investments are subject to certain restrictions pursuant to the OST
Investment Policy and specific guidelines for the individual portfolios managed by OST. Authorized investments and
related restrictions and guidelines are described below:

a) Repurchase agreements — Repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements may be transacted
with authorized institutions that are rated investment grade by one or more nationally recognized rating
agency or are determined by the Treasurer to have adequate capital and liquidity, with maximum exposure
per institution determined by the Treasurer and adjusted as needed due to the financial condition of such
institutions, the size of the OST investment portfolios, and in accordance with the OST counterparty risk
assessment model. Repurchase agreements must be collateralized by obligations of the United States and
its subsidiary corporations and instrumentalities or entities sanctioned or authorized by the United States
government or other securities authorized for investment by the Treasurer in subsection (b) of Code of
Section 50-17-63. Collateral comprised of obligations of the United States and its subsidiary corporations
and instrumentalities or entities sanctioned or authorized by the United States government must have a
market value of at least 102% of the investment and other eligible collateral must have a market value of
105% of the investment. Collateral must be held by a third party custodian approved by the Treasurer and
marked-to-market daily. Exceptions to the requirements for third party custody of collateral or collateral
requirements may be approved by the Treasurer for authorized institutions if necessary on occasion. All
counterparties, and exceptions to custody and collateral requirements shall be reported by the Treasurer
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to the State Depository Board. All reverse repurchase agreements shall be approved in advance by the
Treasurer.

Certificates of deposit (CD’s) — The maximum term of CD's shall not exceed five years. OST shall not
place funds in non-negotiable CD’s at any depository if such placement of funds will result in total state
deposits at such depository in excess of 100% of total equity capital. Provided, however, that the Treasurer
may authorize placement of funds in CD’s at a depository if such placement of funds will result in total
state deposits not to exceed 125% of total equity capital on an as needed basis to allow for fluctuations in
demand deposit balances. All CD’s must be fully insured by the FDIC or secured by collateral permitted
by statute. Surety bonds acceptable as security for CD's shall require approval by the State Depository
Board with such credit constraints or limitations it determines. Pledged securities shall be held by a third
party custodian approved by OST. Pledged securities shall be marked-to-market at least monthly with
depositories required to initially pledge to OST, and thereafter maintain upon notification or any shortfall,
collateral having a market value equal to 110% of CD's or be secured through the Georgia multibank
pledging pool program (Secure Deposit Program) with "Required Collateral" as defined therein.

Commercial paper (CP) — CP issued by domestic corporations carrying ratings no lower than P-1 by
Moody’s Investors Service and A-1 by Standard & Poor’s Corporation, in an amount, including the balance
of any bank deposit held for investment purposes described in (d) (4), below, that does not exceed 5% of
portfolio assets for any single issuer.

Bank deposits held for investment purposes (formerly referred to as negotiated investment deposit
agreements). — Deposit agreements with banks that are (1) secured by collateral permitted by statute, held
by a third party custodian, marked-to-market daily, and having a market value equal to or exceeding 110%
ofthe deposit; (2) secured through the Georgia multibank pledging pool program (Secure Deposit Program)
with "Required Collateral" as defined therein; (3) fully secured by a letter-of-credit issued by a Federal
Home Loan Bank; (4) fully secured by a surety bond issued by a financial institution approved by the State
Depository Board; (5) fully insured by the FDIC; or, (6) subject to funds being available upon demand,
with U.S. banks carrying ratings no lower than P-2 by Moody’s Investors Service or A-2 by Standard &
Poor’s Corporation, are determined by the Treasurer to have adequate capital, with maximum exposure
per institution determined by the Treasurer and adjusted as needed due to the financial condition of such
institutions, the size of the OST investment portfolios, and in accordance with the OST counterparty risk
assessment model in an amount, including any CP issued by the respective financial institution held for
investment by OST, that does not exceed 5% of portfolio assets for any single institution.

Prime bankers acceptances — Bankers acceptances must carry the highest rating assigned to such
investments by a nationally recognized rating agency.

Obligations issued by this state or its agencies or other political subdivisions of this state. Such investments,
if meeting statutory investment requirements, may be approved for investment by the Treasurer with the
requirement that they are of high credit quality and are reported to the State Depository Board.

Obligations of corporations — Obligations of domestic corporations including notes, bonds, negotiable
CD's, and other marketable securities must be rated investment grade or higher by a nationally recognized
rating agency.
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h) Obligations issued by the government of any foreign country — Direct obligations of the government of
any foreign country must be rated A or higher by a nationally recognized rating agency.

1) International Bank for Reconstruction and Development or the International Financial Corporation —
Obligations issued, assumed, or guaranteed by the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development
or the International Financial Corporation must be rated A or higher by nationally recognized rating agency.

j) Georgia Fund 1 (GF1), Georgia Fund 1 Plus, Georgia Extended Asset Pool (GEAP), Georgia Extended
Asset Pool Plus (GEAP+), and any other funds comprising the local government investment pool in amounts
necessary for prudent diversification, liquidity, and investment income.

k) Asset-backed securities — Pursuant to O.C.G.A. 50-5A-7(b), asset-backed securities rated AAA, having
broad liquidity reflecting at least $350 million of outstanding issuance and issued by an underlying credit
rated A3/A or higher by Standard and Poor's Corporation or Moody's Investor Service.

1) Commercial mortgage-backed securities — Pursuant to O.C.G.A. 50-5A-7(b), commercial mortgage-
backed securities rated AAA by Standard and Poor's Corporation or Moody's Investors Service.

m) Such other limitations as determined by the Treasurer to be necessary for the preservation of principal,
liquidity, or marketability of any of the portfolios, including allowing investment in any single issuer of
CP as described in (c) above or bank deposits held for investment purposes as described in (d) above to
temporarily exceed 5% for a period not to exceed 10 business days to allow for efficient investment of
accounts experiencing significant fluctuation of balances.

Investment Policy for Approved Agency Accounts

The OST Investment Policy does not authorize organizations other than OST to invest funds. O.C.G.A. 50-17-63(a)
requires all demand funds held by any State organization to be deposited in accounts at State depositories approved
by the Board. In the alternative, with prior approval of the Board, a state entity may be permitted to invest in time
deposits, other permitted investments and any interest income from the invested funds must be remitted to the Treasurer
as revenues of the State unless specific statutes provide otherwise. Therefore, the Board adopted the Investment Policy
for Approved State Agency Investment Accounts to govern investment activity in accounts approved by the Board
other than investments managed or overseen by OST or “excluded entities”. These “excluded entities” include, but are
not limited to, the Georgia Higher Education Savings Plan, USG, the Employees’ Retirement System (ERS), Teachers
Retirement System (TRS), and the Georgia Lottery Corporation. Only organizations that are approved by the Board
to establish and maintain investment accounts may rely on the Investment Policy for Approved Agency Accounts to
invest funds. As of June 30, 2018, no State organizations had received Board approval to establish investment accounts
governed by the Investment Policy for Approved Agencies.

Board of Regents Investment Policies

The USG serves as fiscal agent for various units of the University System of Georgia and affiliated organizations. The
USG pools the monies of these organizations with the USG's monies for investment purposes. The investment pool is
not registered with the SEC as an investment company. The fair value of the investments is determined daily. The pool
does not issue shares. Each participant is allocated a pro rata share of each pooled investment fund balance at fair value
along with a pro rata share of the pooled fund’s investment returns.
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The USG maintains investment policy guidelines for each pooled investment fund that is offered to qualified University
System participants. These policies are intended to foster sound and prudent responsibility each institution has to the
citizens of Georgia and which conforms to the Board of Regents investment policy. All investments must be consistent
with donor intent, Board of Regents policy, and applicable Federal and state laws.

Units of the University System of Georgia and their affiliated organizations may participate in the Pooled Investment
Fund program. The overall character of the pooled fund portfolio should be one of above average quality, possessing
at most an average degree of investment risk. The Board of Regents’ pooled investment fund options are described
below:

1. Short-Term Fund - The Short-Term Fund is available to both University System of Georgia institutions and
their affiliated organizations. The Fund provides a current return and stability of principal while affording a
means of overnight liquidity for projected cash needs. Investments are in securities allowed under O.C.G.A.
§ 50-17-59 and 50-17-63. The average maturities of investments in this fund will typically range between daily
and three years, and the fund will typically have an overall average duration of 9 months to 1 year. The overall
character of the portfolio is of Agency quality, possessing a minimal degree of financial risk. The market value
of the Short Term Fund at June 30, 2018 was $553.3 million.

2. Legal Fund - The Legal Fund is available to both University System of Georgia institutions and their affiliated
organizations. The Fund provides an opportunity for greater return and modest principal growth to the extent
possible with the securities allowed under O.C.G.A. § 50-17-59 and 50-17-63. The average maturities of
investments in this fund will typically range between three and five years, with a maximum of 30 years for
any individual investment. The overall character of the portfolio is Agency quality, possessing a minimal degree
of financial risk. The market value of the Legal Fund at June 30, 2018 was $11.4 million.

3. Balanced Income Fund - The Balanced Income Fund is available to both University System of Georgia
institutions and their affiliated organizations. The Fund is designed to be a vehicle to invest funds that are not
subject to the state regulations concerning investing in equities. This pool is appropriate for investing longer
term funds that require a more conservative investment strategy. Permitted investments in the fund are domestic
US equities, domestic investment grade fixed income, and cash equivalents. The equity allocation shall range
between 20% and 40%, with a target of 30% of the total portfolio. The fixed income (bond) portion of the
portfolio shall range between 60% and 80%, with a target of 70% of the total portfolio. Cash reserves and
excess income are invested at all times in the highest quality par stable (A1, P1) institutional money market
mutual funds, or other high quality short term instruments. The market value of the Balanced Income Fund at
June 30, 2018 was $86.9 million.

4. Total Return Fund - The Total Return Fund is available to both University System of Georgia institutions and
their affiliated organizations. The Fund is another pool designed to be a vehicle to invest funds that are not
subject to state regulations concerning investing in equities. This pool offers greater overall equity exposure
and is appropriate for investing longer term funds such as endowments. Permitted investments in the fund are
domestic US equities, domestic investment grade fixed income, and cash equivalents. The equity allocation
shall range between 60% and 80%, with a target of 70% of the total portfolio. The fixed income (bond) portion
of the portfolio shall range between 20% and 40%, with a target of 30% of the total portfolio. Cash reserves
and excess income are invested at all times in the highest quality par stable (A1, P1) institutional money market
mutual funds, or other high quality short term instruments. The market value of the Total Return Fund at
June 30, 2018 was $13.5 million.
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5.

Diversified Fund - The Diversified Fund is available to both University System of Georgia institutions and

their affiliated organizations. The Fund is designed to provide improved return characteristics with reduced
volatility through greater diversification. This pool is appropriate for investing longer term funds such as
endowments. Permitted investments in the fund may include domestic, international and emerging market
equities, domestic fixed income and global fixed income. The equity allocation shall range between 60% and
80% of the portfolio, with a target of 70% of the total portfolio. The fixed income (bond) portion of the portfolio
shall range between 20% and 40%, with a target of 30% of the total portfolio. Cash reserves and excess income
are invested at all times in the highest quality par stable (A1, P1) institutional money market mutual funds, or
other high quality short term instruments. The market value of the Diversified Fund at June 30, 2018 was
$200.6 million.

Diversified Fund for Foundations - The Diversified Fund for Foundations is available only to University System
of Georgia affiliated organizations. Like the Diversified Fund, the fund is designed to provide improved return
characteristics with reduced volatility through greater diversification and is appropriate for investing longer
term funds such as endowments. Investments in the fund may include domestic, international and emerging
market equities, domestic and global investment grade and non-investment grade fixed income and liquid
alternative investments. The equity allocation shall range between 40% and 75% of the portfolio, with a target
of 65% of the total portfolio. The fixed income (bond) portion of the portfolio shall range between 10% and
40% of the portfolio, with a target of 20% of the total portfolio. The alternatives portion of the portfolio shall
range between 0% and 30% of the portfolio, with a target of 15% of the total portfolio. Cash reserves and
invested income are invested at all times in the highest quality par stable (A1, P1) institutional money market
funds, or other high quality short term instruments. The market value of the Diversified Fund for Foundations
at June 30, 2018 was $61.0 million.

Fiduciary Funds — Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds

In accordance with O.C.G.A. 47-20-83, Public Retirement Systems may invest in the following:

1) U.S. or Canadian corporations or their obligations with limits as to the corporations’ size and credit rating.

2) Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements for direct obligations of the U.S. Government and for
obligations unconditionally guaranteed by agencies.

3) FDIC insured cash assets or deposits.
4) Bonds, notes, warrants, loans or other debt issued or guaranteed by the U.S. Government.

5) Taxable bonds, notes, warrants or other securities issued and guaranteed by any state, the District of
Columbia, Canada or any province in Canada.

6) Bonds, debentures or other securities issued or insured or guaranteed by an agency, authority, unit, or
corporate body created by the U.S. Government.

7) Investment grade collateralized mortgage obligations.
8) Obligations issued, assumed or guaranteed by the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development

or the International Financial Corporation.
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9) Bonds, debentures, notes and other evidence of indebtedness issued, assumed, or guaranteed by any solvent
institution existing under the laws of the U.S. or of Canada, or any state or province thereof, which are
not in default and are secured to a certain level.

10) Secured and unsecured obligations issued by any solvent institution existing under the laws of the U.S. or
of Canada, or any state or province thereof, bearing interest at a fixed rate, with mandatory principal and
interest due at a specified time with additional limits.

11) Equipment trust obligations or interests in transportation equipment, wholly or in part within the U.S., and
the right to receive determinate portions or related income.

12) Loans that are secured by pledge or securities eligible for investment.
13) Purchase money mortgages or like securities received upon the sale or exchange of real property acquired.

14) Secured mortgages or mortgage participation, pass-through, conventional pass-through, trust certificate,
or other similar securities with restrictions.

15) Land and buildings on such land used or acquired for use as a fund’s office for the convenient transaction
of its own business with restrictions.

16) Real property and equipment acquired under various circumstances.
17) Shares of mutual funds registered with Securities and Exchange Commission.
18) Commingled funds and collective investment funds maintained by state chartered banks or trust companies.

In addition, large retirement systems have restrictions as to the concentration of investments in corporations and equities
and additional stipulations exist related to decreases in a fund’s asset value. The retirement systems have additional
restrictions on the acquisition of securities of companies with activities in the Iran petroleum energy sector. A list of
scrutinized companies with activities in the Iran petroleum energy sector has been compiled and is annually updated.
This list is utilized to identify and potentially divest the retirement systems of such holdings.

In accordance with O.C.G.A. 47-20-87, certain eligible large retirement systems (excluding the Teachers Retirement
System) are authorized to invest in alternative investments such as privately placed investment pools that include
investments such as leveraged buyout funds, mezzanine funds, workout funds, debt funds, venture capital funds,
merchant banking funds, funds of funds and secondary funds. In addition, these retirement systems are authorized to
invest in private placements and other private investments such as leveraged buyouts, venture capital investment, equity
investments such as preferred and common stock, warrants, options, private investments in public securities,
recapitalizations, privatizations, mezzanine debt investments, distressed debt and equity investments, convertible
securities, receivables, debt and equity derivative instruments, etc. The amount invested by an eligible large retirement
system in alternative investments may not in the aggregate exceed 5% of the eligible large retirement system’s assets
at any time.

Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB)

In May of 2018, the State created an investment policy for state and school OPEB trust funds. The policy requires at
least 25% of funds to be invested at State Treasury and be subject to OST policy. The remaining funds are invested by
ERS in publicly traded equities permitted in accordance with O.C.G.A. 47-20-84.
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Component Units

Component units follow applicable investing criteria as specifically authorized by statute or by the component unit’s
governing authority. Certain higher education foundations utilize FASB standards. Balances for those component units
as of June 30, 2018, are as follows (amount in thousands):

Fair
Value
Bond Securities $ 267,412
Certificates of Deposit 750
Commodity Fund 102
Corporate Bonds 15,552
Equity Securities- Domestic 616,046
Equity Securities- International 453,043
Equity Mutual Funds - Domestic 97,782
Equity Mutual Funds - International 255,494
Government and Agency Securities 108,223
Hedge Funds 628,791
Investment Pools 54,518
Joint Ventures/Partnerships 24,520
Money Market Accounts 135,840
Mutual Bond Funds 82,652
Natural Resources 140,205
Private Equities 483,310
Real Estate Investment Trusts 68,309
Real Estate Held for Investment Purposes 57,361
Repurchase Agreements 654
Other 174,997
Total Investments $ 3,665,561

The component unit disclosures that follow do not include these balances, with the exception of the fair value
measurement tables.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates of debt investments will adversely affect the fair value of an
investment.

Primary Government

OST’s policy for management of interest rate risk attempts to match investments with expected cash requirements.
However, certificates of deposit may not have a term exceeding five years. The State Treasurer may establish duration
or maturity limitations for other investments.
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USG’s policy for managing interest rate risk is contained in the investment policy guidelines for the various pooled
funds:

1) In the Short Term fund, the average maturity of the fixed income portfolio shall not exceed three years.
In all other pooled funds, the average maturity of the fixed income portfolio shall not exceed 10 years.

2) Fixed income investments, except in the Diversified fund, shall be limited to U.S. Government agency
and corporate debt instruments that meet investment eligibility under O.C.G.A. Section 50-17-63.

3) The fixed income target allocation is defined in the investment policy guidelines for each pooled investment
fund. These targets may be modified upon recommendation of the fund’s investment manager and approval

by the USG.

The following table provides information about the primary government’s exposure to interest rate risk. It includes
balances reported in fiduciary funds other than Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds as these balances are

not separable from the holdings of the primary government (amount in thousands):

(Table on next page)
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Asset-Backed Securities
Domestic
Bank Deposits Held for Investment Purposes
Commercial Paper
Corporate Debt
Domestic
Money Market Mutual Funds
Mortgage-Backed Securities
Commercial
Municipal Bonds
Mutual Funds - Debt*
Repurchase Agreements
Sovereign Credit
Supranational Obligations
U.S. Agency Obligations
U.S. Treasury Obligations

Total Debt Securities

Equity Mutual Funds
Domestic
International
Equity Securities
Domestic
International
Real Estate Held for Investments

Real Estate Investment Trust

Total Investments

*Maturity Period is weighted average maturity.

Maturity Period
Total Less than More than
Fair Value 3 Months 4 - 12 Months 1-5Years 6 - 10 Years 10 Years

$ 7,858 $ 470 $ 824 § 6,564 $ — —
682,426 682,426 — — — _
164,678 164,678 — — — _
196,609 10,179 2,405 123,774 60,053 198
74,240 73,649 — 591 — —
12,396 1,991 8,311 2,094 — —
1,014 5 275 437 — 297
83,086 40 66,708 4,920 — 11,418
4,231,000 3,221,000 1,010,000 — — —
10,000 — 10,000 — — —
181,157 46,021 130,276 4,860 — —
1,552,735 751,478 329,707 395,131 61,464 14,955
313,933 99,336 30,576 180,718 653 2,650
7,511,132 $§ 5,051,273  § 1,589,082 §$ 719,089 $ 122,170 29,518

82,059

57,643

152,100

351

6,313

1,078

$ 7,810,676
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Fiduciary Funds — Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds Administered by the Employees’ and
Teachers Retirement Systems

The Boards of the Employees’ and Teachers Retirement Systems have elected to manage interest rate risk of these
pension and other employee benefit trust funds using the effective duration method. This method is widely used in the
management of fixed income portfolios and quantifies to a much greater degree the sensitivity to interest rate changes
when analyzing a bond portfolio with call options, prepayment provisions, and any other cash flows. Effective duration
makes assumptions regarding the most likely timing and amounts of variable cash flows and is best utilized to gage
the effect of a change in interest rates on the fair value of a portfolio. It is believed that the reporting of effective duration
found in the table below quantifies to the fullest extent possible the interest rate risk of the funds’ fixed income assets

(amount in thousands):

Effective
Total Duration
Fair Value (Years)
Corporate and Other Bonds $ 7,572,315 3.8
International Obligations:

Corporate 996,600 0.8
U.S. Treasury Obligations 19,035,690 5.6
Total Debt Securities 27,604,605
Common Stock

Domestic 46,566,900

International 15,754,988
Mutual Funds - Equity 7,228
Private Equity 221,904
Commingled Funds 1,591,491

Total Investments $ 91,747,116
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Fiduciary Funds —Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds Administered by Other than the Employees’
and Teachers Retirement Systems

The Public Retirement System Investment Authority Law does not address specific policies for managing interest rate
risk. The following table provides information about interest rate risks associated with these pension and other employee
benefit trust funds’ investments (amount in thousands):

Maturity Period
Total Less than More than
Fair Value 3 Months 4 - 12 Months 1-5 Years 6 - 10 Years 10 Years

Asset-backed Securities

Domestic $ 25,084 $ —  $ — 8 13,557 §$ 3844 $ 7,683

International 8,065 — — 236 4,957 2,872
Corporate Debt

Domestic 164,540 1,667 13,369 61,569 44,521 43,414

International 22,682 755 1,935 11,554 7,112 1,326
Exchange Traded Funds 23,053 — 1,431 3,468 18,154 —
Guaranteed Investment Contracts 1,062 — — — — 1,062
International Government Obligations 429 — — 73 301 55
Money Market Mutual Funds 93,369 91,375 — — — 1,994
Mortgage-backed Securities 140,321 —_ — 9,177 5,093 126,051
Municipal Bonds 1,189 — 293 — 896
Mutual Funds - Debt* 75,886 — — 6,439 25,476 43,971
U.S. Agency Obligations 50,645 2 349 2,447 1,717 46,130
U.S. Treasury Obligations 74,617 — 2,584 37,208 26,414 8,411
Total Debt Securities 680,942 $ 93,799 § 19,668 $ 146,021 $ 137,589 § 283,865
Commingled Funds 121,837
Equity Mutual Funds

Domestic 485,854

International 14,088

Equity Securities

Domestic 704,863

International 107,346
Exchange Traded Funds - Equity 2,812
Private Equity 33,095
Real Estate Investment Trust 47,516
Other 647
Total Investments $ 2,199,000

*Maturity period is weighted average maturity.
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Component Units

The component units follow the applicable investing criteria specifically authorized by statute or by the component
unit’s governing authority.

The component units’ exposure to interest rate risk is presented below (amount in thousands):
Maturity Period

Total Less than More than
Fair Value 3 Months 4 - 12 Months 1-5 Years 6 - 10 Years 10 Years

Asset-Backed Securities

Domestic $ 29 % — — — — 29
Corporate Debt

Domestic 106,315 1,678 7,123 70,690 15,617 11,207
Insurance Contracts 15,515 — — — — 15,515
International Government

Obligations 11,266 — 969 6,758 2,990 549
Investment Agreements 15,498 — — 2,808 5,014 7,676
Money Market Mutual Funds 101,931 100,402 1,529 — — —
Mortgage-Backed Securities 100,489 — — 3,550 1,467 95,472
Municipal Bonds 8,126 — 667 7,129 120 210
Mutual Funds - Debt* 19,772 — — 13,299 6,396 77
Non-purpose investments 50,787 — 50,787 — —
Repurchase Agreements 53,813 48,048 — — — 5,765
U.S. Agency Obligations 111,895 299 14,796 79,715 14,488 2,597
U.S. Treasury Obligations 238,661 7,622 1,700 35,220 193,609 510
Total Debt Securities 834,097 $ 158,049 § 77,571 $ 219,169 $ 239,701 $ 139,607
Equity Mutual Funds

Domestic 23,908

International 5,681

Equity Securities

Domestic 25,572
International 8,425
Exchange Traded Funds 6,805
USG's Investment Pool - Not LGIP 60,586
Other Investments 4,198

Total Investments $ 969,272

* Maturity Period is weighted average maturity.
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Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations to the holder
ofthe investment. The credit risk tables presented on the following pages have been prepared using Standard and Poor’s
Corporation ratings scales.

Primary Government

OST utilizes a counterparty risk assessment model to assess credit risk of financial institutions that have been approved
to serve as counterparties and major depositories. OST has assigned credit limits to each financial institution based
upon its counterparty risk assessment model which incorporates market indicators, default probabilities, issuer research
and issuerratings to determine maximum credit exposure per institution, term of investment for respective counterparties
and collateralization requirements in accordance with the OST Investment Policy.

The University System of Georgia’s policy for managing credit risk is contained in the investment policy guidelines
for the various pooled investment funds:

1) Inallpooled funds except the Diversified fund, all debt issues must be eligible investments under O.C.G.A.
Section 50-17-63. Portfolios of debt security funds also must meet the eligible investment criteria under

the same code section.

2) The Diversified fund is permitted to invest in non-investment grade debt issues up to a limit of 15% of the

entire portfolio.
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The exposure of the primary government’s debt securities to credit risk is indicated below (amount in thousands):

Short

Total Term Not
Fair Value AAA AA A BBB BB A-1 Rated

Asset-Backed Securities

Domestic $ 7,858 $ 7,858 $ — 3 — 3 — 3 — 3 — 3 —
Commercial Paper 164,678 — — — — 164,678 —
Corporate Debt

Domestic 196,609 — 1,619 189,946 5,033 — — 11
Money Market Mutual Funds 74,240 3,762 — — — — — 70,478
Mortgage-Backed Securities

Commercial 12,396 12,396 — — — — — —
Municipal Bonds 1,014 321 352 316 — 25 — —
Mutual Funds - Debt 83,086 222 35 32 — 8 — 82,789
Repurchase Agreements 3,991,471 561,533 574,986 1,134,950 1,717,986 2,016 — —
Sovereign Credit 10,000 — — 10,000 — — — —
Supranational Obligations 181,157 181,157 — — — — — —
U.S. Agency Obligations 1,342,321 345,519 996,802 — — — — —

Total Credit Risk-Investments 6,064,830 $ 1,112,768 $ 1,573,794 § 1,335,244 $1,723,019 $ 2,049 $ 164,678 $153,278

U.S. Agency Obligations

Explicitly Guaranteed 210,414
U.S. Treasury Obligations 313,933
Repurchase Agreements Backed
by:

U.S. Agency Obligations

Explicitly Guaranteed 239,529
Total Debt Securities $ 6,828,706

As of June 30,2018, OST had $682.4 million invested in unrated bank deposits held for investment purposes, of which
$400.5 million was insured or fully collateralized and $281.9 million was uncollateralized.
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Fiduciary Funds — Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds

The credit risk of pension and other employee benefit trust funds is managed by restricting investments to those
authorized by the Public Retirement System Investment Authority Law as previously described. The Boards of
individual funds may elect to implement more restrictive policies. The pension and other employee benefit trust funds’
debt securities exposure to credit risk is indicated below (amount in thousands):

Total Not

Fair Value AAA AA A BBB BB B CcCcCc cCcC C D Rated
Asset-backed
Securities
Domestic $ 25,084 $§ 14871 $ 678 § 1340 $ 1272 $ 65 $ — $ — $§— $— $— § 6858
International 8,065 3,300 — — — — — — — — — 4,765
Corporate Debt
Domestic 7,736,857 791,286 1,786,185 5,026,614 59,899 2,290 — — — — — 70,583
International 1,019,283 1,294 992 1,001,357 6,030 541 — — — — — 9,069
Exchange Traded
Funds 23,053 — — — — — — — — — — 23,053
Guaranteed
Investment Contracts 1,062 — — — — — — — — — — 1,062
International
Government
Obligations 429 — 186 — 73 — — — — — — 170
Money Market
Mutual Funds 93,369 — — — — — — — — — — 93,369
Mortgage-backed
Securities 140,321 40,213 837 1,475 2,298 1,314 148 1,834 412 164 407 91,219
Municipal Bonds 1,189 — 924 150 — — — — — — — 115
Mutual Funds - Debt 75,886 — — — — — — — — — — 75,886
U.S. Agency
Obligations 44,548 122 517 — 466 — — — — — — 43,443
Total Credit Risk -
Investments 9,169,146 $ 851,086 $1,790,319 $,030,936 $ 70,038 $4,210 $148 91,834 $12 S$164 $07 $419,592
U.S. Agency
Obligations
Explicitly
Guaranteed 6,097
U.S. Treasury
Obligations 19,110,307

$28,285,550
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Component Units

The component units follow the applicable investing criteria specifically authorized by statute or by the component
unit’s governing authority. The exposure of the component units’ debt securities to creditrisk is indicated below (amount
in thousands):

Total Not
Fair Value AAA AA A BBB BB Rated

Asset-Backed Securities

Domestic $ 29§ — 3 — 3 — 8 — 3 — 3 29
Corporate Debt

Domestic 106,315 21,743 9,813 47,492 18,197 189 8,881
Insurance Contracts 15,515 — — — — — 15,515
International Government

Obligations 11,266 872 1,305 3,206 5,135 643 105
Investment Agreements 15,497 8,076 860 6,561 — — —
Money Market Mutual Funds 101,931 90,027 — 1,529 — — 10,375
Mortgage-Backed Securities 100,489 9,624 90,671 — — — 194
Municipal Bonds 8,126 112 4,712 3,277 25 — —
Mutual Funds - Debt 19,772 — 594 2,918 3,478 — 12,782
Non-purpose investments 50,787 — — — — — 50,787
Repurchase Agreements 53,813 5,765 — — — — 48,048
U.S. Agency Obligations 111,033 6,921 104,080 — — — 32
Total Credit Risk -
Investments 594,573 8§ 143,140 8 212,035 $ 64983 $ 26835 $ 832 § 146,748
U.S. Treasury Obligations 238,661
U.S. Agency Obligations

Explicitly Guaranteed 863

Total Debt Securities $ 834,097

Custodial Credit Risk - Investments

Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a counterparty to a transaction, the
value of the investment or collateral securities in possession of a third party custodian may not be fully recovered by
the State.

Primary Government
OST’s policy for managing custodial credit risk for investments is:

1) OSThasappointed a federally regulated banking institution, State Street, as its custodian. State Street performs
its duties to the standards of a professional custodian.

2)  All securities transactions are settled on a delivery versus payment basis through an approved depository
institution such as the Federal Reserve or the Depository Trust Company.

3) Repurchase agreements are collateralized by obligations of the United States and its subsidiary corporations
and instrumentalities or entities sanctioned or authorized by the United States government or other securities
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authorized by the Treasurer in subsection (b) of Code Section 50-17-63 in accordance with the State Depository
Board policy.

4)  OST has retained an independent firm to serve as its liquidation agent in the event of a counterparty default.
The University System of Georgia’s policy for managing custodial credit risk for investment is:

1) The University System has appointed a federally regulated banking institution as custodian. The custodian
performs its duties to the standards of a professional custodian and is liable to the University System of
Georgia for claims, losses, liabilities and expenses arising from its failure to exercise ordinary care, its willful
misconduct, or its failure to otherwise act in accordance with the contract.

2)  All securities transactions are to be settled on a delivery vs. payment basis through an approved depository
institution such as the Depository Trust Company or the Federal Reserve.

3) Repurchase agreements are to be collateralized by United States Treasury securities at 102% of the market
value of the investment at all times.

Fiduciary Funds — Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds

The custodial credit risk of pension and other employee benefit trust funds is managed by restricting investments to
those authorized by the Public Retirement System Investment Authority Law described above. At June 30, 2018, $5.9
million of the pension and other employee benefit trust funds’ investments were uninsured, unregistered and held by
the counterparty or the counterparty’s trust department, but not in the State’s name.

Component Units

The component units follow the applicable investing criteria specifically authorized by statute or by the component
unit’s governing authority.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of the State’s investment in a single issuer.
Primary Government

To manage concentration risk, the OST Investment Policy requires diversification of investments to reduce overall
portfolio risks while maintaining market rates of return. Investments in each portfolio shall be diversified to mitigate
risk of loss from an over-concentration in a specific issuer, counterparty or depository. The State Treasurer establishes
Investment Guidelines for each investment portfolio to assure that prudent diversification and adequate liquidity is
maintained. OST utilizes a counterparty risk assessment model to determine maximum exposure to each approved
financial institution.

The University System’s policy for managing concentration requires diversification of investments to reduce overall
portfolio risk while maintaining market rates of return.

At June 30, 2018, approximately 9.61%, 10.58%, 7.06%, and 5.53% of the University System's BTA and Fiduciary
Fund investments were in Government National Mortgage Association notes and pools, Federal National Mortgage
Association notes and pools, Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation notes and pools, and Vanguard Institutional
Index Fund, respectively.
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At June 30, 2018, approximately 40.48%, 8.73%, 7.69%, and 5.52% of the Early Retirement Plan Fiduciary Fund
investments were in Vanguard Institutional Index Fund, IShares Russell 1000 Growth ETF, IShares Russell 1000 Value
ETF, and Western Asset Core Plus Bond Fund, respectively.

At June 30, 2018, approximately 47.45%, 11.18%, 9.37%, 6.81%, and 5.24% of the Deferred Compensation Fiduciary
Fund investments were in Federated Treasury Obligations Money Market Fund, TIAA traditional annuity, Fidelity
Contrafund Fund, TIAA Real Estate Fund, and Fidelity Strategic Income Fund, respectively.

At June 30, 2018, approximately 70.6% of the primary government's total investments were investments in securities
of U.S. agencies not explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. Government or Repurchase Agreements that were collateralized
with investments in securities of U.S. agencies not explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. Government.

Fiduciary Funds — Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds

The concentration of credit risk policy of pension and other employee benefit trust funds limits investments to no more
than 5% of total net assets in any one corporation. At June 30, 2018, no more than 5% of the pension and other employee
benefit trust fund’s total investments were investments in any single issuer other than the U.S. Government or its
agencies.

Component Units

The component units follow the applicable investing criteria specifically authorized by statute or by the component
unit’s governing authority. At June 30, 2018, 12.2% of the component units’ total investments were investments in
securities of U.S. agencies not explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. Government.

C. Fair Value Measurements

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 72 (GASB 72), some investments are measured using inputs divided into
three fair value hierarchies:

* Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that a government can
access at the measurement date.

» Level 2: Inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for an asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.

» Level 3: Unobservable inputs for an asset or liability.

Fixed-income securities use price evaluations; other investments are exempt from GASB 72’s disclosure requirement
because they are not reported at fair value, but instead valued using cost based measures.

In general, investments were valued using the following techniques:

*  Equity securities classified in Level 1 are valued using prices quoted in active markets for those securities.
Equity securities classified in Level 2 are valued using prices quoted for similar instruments in active markets.
Equity securities classified in Level 3 are valued using third party valuations not currently observable in the
market.

* Debt securities classified in Level 1 are valued using prices quoted in active market. Debt securities classified
in level 2 are valued using either a bid evaluation or a matrix pricing technique. Bid evaluations may include
market quotations, yields, maturities, call features and ratings. Matrix pricing is used to value securities based
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on the securities’ relationship to benchmark quoted prices. These securities have nonproprietary information
that are readily available to market participants, from multiple independent sources, which are known to be
actively involved in the market. Debt securities classified in Level 3 are not currently observable in the market.

*  Mutual funds and commingled funds classified in Level 1 are valued using prices quoted in active markets for
those investments types. Mutual funds and commingled funds classified in Level 2 are valued using prices
quoted for similar instruments in active markets.

» Investments classified in Level 3 include real estate funds that invest primarily in U.S. commercial real estate.
The fair values of the investment in this category have been estimated using the net asset value of the University
System of Georgia’s (USG) ownership interest in partners’ capital. Real estate investments are less liquid and,
generally, cannot be redeemed with the funds through normal redemption procedures. Distributions from real
estate investment funds will be received as the underlying investments of a fund are liquidated. Guaranteed
investment contracts are valued by discounting the related cash flows based on current yields of similar
instruments with comparable durations considering the credit worthiness of the issuer.
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Primary Government

The following table provides information about the primary government’s investments in regards to GASB 72 (amount
in thousands):

Investments by fair value levels Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Net Asset Value
Asset-backed Securities $ 7,858 $ — 3 7858 $ — 3 —
Commercial Paper 164,678 — 164,678 — —
Corporate Debt 196,609 25 196,584 — —
Equity Mutual Fund
Domestic 82,059 82,059 — — —
International 57,643 57,643 — — —
Equity Securities
Domestic 152,100 151,922 — — 178
International 351 117 234 — —
Money Market Mutual Funds 74,240 74,240 — — —
Municipal Bonds 1,014 1,014 — — —
Mutual Funds - Debt 83,086 83,086 — — —
Mortgage Backed Securities 12,396 10,302 2,094 — —
Real Estate Investment Trusts 1,078 1,078 — — —
Real Estate Held for Investment Purposes 6,313 — — 6,313 —
Sovereign Credit 10,000 — — 10,000 —
Supranational Obligations 181,157 — 181,157 — —
U.S. Agencies 1,552,735 52,309 1,500,426 — —
U.S. Treasuries 313,933 313,933 — — —
2,897,250 $ 827,728 $ 2,053,031 $ 16,313  § 178
Reconciling Items: - -
Bank Deposits Held for Investment Purposes 682,426
Repurchase Agreements 4,231,000
$ 7,810,676
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Fiduciary Funds

The following table provides information about the fiduciary investments in regards to GASB 72 (amount in thousands):

Investments by fair value levels Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Net Asset Value

Asset-backed Securities

Domestic $ 25,084 $ — 22,042 $ 3,042 § —

International 8,065 — 8,065 — —
Commingled Funds 1,713,328 80,811 1,632,517 — —
Corporate Debt

Domestic 7,736,857 — 7,732,579 4,278 —

International 1,019,283 — 1,018,145 1,138 —
Equity Securities

Domestic 47,271,763 47,229,659 42,104 — —

International 15,862,334 15,748,999 113,335 — —
Exchange Traded Funds 25,865 23,305 2,560 — —
Guaranteed Investment Contracts 1,062 — — 1,062 —
International Government Obligations 429 — 339 90 —
Money Market Mutual Funds 93,369 11,591 81,778 — —
Mortgage Backed Securities 140,321 — 136,790 3,531 —
Municipal bonds 1,189 — 1,189 — —
Mutual Funds-Debt 75,886 66,409 9,477 — —
Mutual Fund Equities

Domestic 493,081 313,665 179,416 — —

International 14,088 14,088 — — —
Private Equities 254,999 — — — 254,999
Real Estate Investment Trust 47,516 47,164 352 — —
U.S. Agencies Obligations 50,645 — 46,356 4,289 —
U.S. Treasuries Obligations 19,110,307 19,035,690 69,819 4,798 —
Other 647 647 — — —

$ 93,946,118 $ 82,572,028 $ 11,096,863 $ 22,228 $ 254,999
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Component Units

The following table provides information about the component unit investments in regards to GASB 72 (amount in
thousands):

Investments by fair value levels Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Net Asset Value
Asset-backed Securities $ 29 % — 3 29 $ —  $ —
Bond Securities 267,412 181,637 191 — 85,584
Commodity Fund 102 — 102 — —
Corporate Debt 121,866 38,877 82,989 — —
Equity Mutual Funds- Domestic 121,690 121,690 — — —
Equity Mutual Funds- International 261,175 261,175 — — —
Equity Securities- Domestic 641,618 640,866 383 — 369
Equity Securities- International 461,468 422,636 — — 38,832
Exchange Traded Funds 6,805 6,805 — — —
Hedge Funds 628,791 — — — 628,791
Insurance Contracts 15,515 — — — 15,515
International Government Obligations 11,266 11,266 — — —
Investment Agreements 15,498 — — 15,498 —
Joint Venture/Partnerships 24,520 — 1,906 1,269 21,345
Money Market Mutual Funds 237,771 236,612 1,159 — —
Municipal Obligations 8,126 — 8,126 — —
Mutual Bond Funds 102,425 24,880 64,840 12,705 —
Mortgage Backed Securities 100,488 100,488 — — —
Natural Resources 140,205 — — 17,408 122,797
Non Purpose Investments 50,787 — 50,787 — —
Private Equities 483,310 — — 128,509 354,801
Real Estate Held for Investment Purposes 57,361 — — 57,361 —
Real Estate Investment Trusts 68,309 33,780 — 509 34,020
U.S. Agencies 123,991 111,709 11,079 1,203 —
U.S. Treasuries 334,788 113,535 221,253 — —
Other 179,194 114,110 6,276 1,313 57,495

4,464,510 $ 2,420,066 $ 449,120 $ 235775 § 1,359,549

Reconciling Items:
Repurchase Agreements 54,467
$ 4,518,977
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Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely impact the fair value of an investment.
Fiduciary Funds — Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds

The State’s currency risk exposures, or exchange rate risks, primarily reside within the retirement system’s international
equity investment holdings. The retirement systems' foreign exchange risk management policy is to minimize risk and
protect the investments from negative impact by hedging foreign currency exposures with foreign exchange instruments
when market conditions and circumstances are deemed appropriate.

As of June 30, 2018, the State’s exposure to foreign currency risk in U.S. Dollars are highlighted in the tables below
(amounts in thousands):

International Investment Securities at Fair Value as of June 30, 2018

Employees' Retirement System of Georgia Teachers Retirement System of Georgia
Cash & Cash &
Cash Fixed Cash Fixed
Currency Equivalents Equities Income Total Equivalents Equities Income Total

Australian Dollar $ — 3 46,103 $ — $ 46,103 § — 3 214,082 $ — $ 214,082
Brazilian Real — 10,568 — 10,568 — 47,696 — 47,696
British Pound — 109,708 — 109,708 — 506,976 — 506,976
Canadian Dollar — 38,679 — 38,679 — 179,969 — 179,969
Czech Krone — 1,062 — 1,062 — 4,845 — 4,845
Danish Krone — 17,110 — 17,110 — 79,623 — 79,623
Euro 36 299,571 — 299,607 172 1,381,629 — 1,381,801
Hong Kong Dollar — 53,522 — 53,522 — 247,909 — 247,909
Indian Rupee — 53,318 — 53,318 — 239,858 — 239,858
Indonesian Rupiah — 5,537 — 5,537 — 26,001 — 26,001
Israeli Sheke — 1,816 — 1,816 — 8,611 — 8,611
Japanese Yen 16 193,230 — 193,246 68 895,232 — 895,300
Malaysian Ringgit — 14,653 — 14,653 — 67,481 — 67,481
Mexican Peso — 5,847 — 5,847 — 27,626 — 27,626
New Taiwan Dollar — 29,990 — 29,990 — 140,451 — 140,451
Norwegian Krone — 2,355 — 2,355 — 11,168 — 11,168
Philippine Peso — 4,220 — 4,220 — 21,455 — 21,455
Polish Zloty — 2,841 — 2,841 — 13,224 — 13,224
Singapore Dollar — 23,992 — 23,992 — 109,005 — 109,005
South African Rand — 38,495 — 38,495 — 175,889 — 175,889
South Korean Won — 69,474 — 69,474 — 318,340 — 318,340
Swedish Krona — 31,062 — 31,062 — 142,929 — 142,929
Swiss Franc — 31,121 — 31,121 — 147,793 — 147,793
Thailand Baht — 19,606 — 19,606 — 90,635 — 90,635
Total Holdings subject to

Foreign Currency Risk 52 1,103,880 — 1,103,932 240 5,098,427 — 5,098,667
Investment Securities

payable in U.S. Dollars — 1,702,552 190,353 1,892,905 — 7,848,707 806,247 8,654,954
Total International

Investment Securities -

at Fair Value $ 52 $ 2,806,432 $190,353 $ 2,996,837 $ 240 $ 12,947,134 § 806,247 §$ 13,753,621
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Other Pension and Employee Benefit Trust Funds

Cash & Cash
Currency Equivalents Equities Fixed Income Total

Australian Dollar $ 2 S 1,618 $ — 3 1,620
Bermudian Dollar — 916 — 916
Brazilian Dollar — — 104 104
British Pound 198 25,970 441 26,609
Canadian Dollar 22 2,523 1,317 3,862
Cayman Islands Dollar — — 2,798 2,798
Chinese Renminbi — — 381 381
Euro 89 6,310 776 7,175
Guernsey Pound — 829 829
Israeli Shekel — 441 — 441
Japanese Yen 2 600 — 602
Mexican Peso — — 74 74
Norwegian Krone — 385 — 385
Panamanian Balboa — 26 — 26
Swedish Krona — 838 — 838
Swiss Franc — 410 — 410
Total Holdings subject

to Foreign Currency Risk 313 40,866 5,891 47,070
Investment Securities

payable in U.S. Dollars 90 72,343 25,471 97,904
Total International

Investment Securities -

at Fair Value $ 403 $ 113,209 $ 31,362 § 144,974

D. Pooled Investments with State Treasury

As of the end of the year, the state operates two local government investment pools managed by OST and is comprised
of Georgia Fund 1, its primary liquidity portfolio and Georgia Fund 1 Plus. During the year, the third pool, Georgia
Extended Asset Pool, was liquidated and all assets were distributed to participants. The remaining pools invest State
funds and funds of other governmental entities in the State. The two local government investment pools jointly maintain
a reserve consisting of members’ administrative fees. This reserve can be used to stabilize either or both investment
pools and to fund the administrative expenses for managing the pools. Separate reports on the State’s investment pools
are issued. Refer to the OST website ost.georgia.gov for additional information on the Georgia Fund 1 and the Georgia
Fund 1 Plus pool.

E. Securities Lending Program

The State is presently involved in securities lending programs with major brokerage firms. The State lends equity and
fixed income securities for varying terms and receives a fee based on the loaned securities’ value. During a loan, the
State continues to receive dividends and interest as the owner of the loaned securities.
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Fiduciary Funds — Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds

In the pension and other employee benefit trust funds’ securities lending agreements, the brokerage firms pledge
collateral securities consisting of U.S. Government and agency securities, mortgage-backed securities issued by a U.S.
Government agency, and U.S. corporate bonds. The collateral value must be equal to at least 102% to 109% of the
loaned securities value, depending on the type of collateral security.

Securities loaned totaled $23.0 billion at June 30, 2018, and the collateral value was equal to 104.9%. The loaned
securities are in the accompanying note disclosures based on the custodial arrangements for the collateral securities.
Loaned securities are included in the accompanying Statement of Net Position because the State maintains ownership.
The related collateral securities are not recorded as assets on the Statement of Fiduciary Net Position, and a
corresponding liability is not recorded, since the State does not pledge or trade the collateral securities. In accordance
with the criteria set forth in GASB Statement No. 28, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Securities Lending
Transactions, the State is deemed not to have the ability to pledge or sell collateral securities, since the State’s lending
contracts do not address whether the lender can pledge or sell the collateral securities without a borrower default. The
State has not previously demonstrated that ability, and there are no indications of the State’s ability to pledge or sell
collateral securities.

E Other Investments

The State’s Unemployment Compensation Fund monies are required by the Social Security Act to be invested in the
U.S. Department of Treasury, Bureau of Public Debt Unemployment Trust Fund (BPDUTF), which is not registered
with the SEC. The fair value of the position in the BPDUTF is the same as the value of the BPDUTF shares.

The Commissioner of the Department of Agriculture is directed by statute to require dealers in certain agricultural
products and livestock to make and deliver to the Department a surety or cash bond to secure the faithful accounting
for and payment to producers of the proceeds of agricultural products or livestock handled or sold by the dealer. Cash
bonds are required to designate the Department as trustee of the funds and may take the form of certificates of deposit,
letters of credit, money orders or cashiers’ checks. At June 30, 2018, the Department held surety bonds in the amount
of $60.2 million, and cash bonds in the amount of $15.6 million. These bonds are not recorded on the Statement of
Net Position.

Securities are held by the Commissioner of Insurance pursuant to statutes that require licensed insurance companies
to deposit securities prior to issuance of a certificate of authority to transact insurance. These securities remain in the
name of the licensed insurance company as long as the company has a pending claim in the State or until a proper
order of a court of competent jurisdiction has been issued to the receiver, conservator, rehabilitator, or liquidator of the
insurer or to any other properly designated official or officials who succeed to the management and control of the
insurer’s assets. The purchase and redemption of such securities are allowed as long as the required levels of deposits
are maintained. At June 30, 2018, securities valued at $184.5 million were held by the Department of Insurance. These
securities are not recorded on the Balance Sheet.

Statutes require that surety bonds be provided for State public works contracts. The Department of Transportation
holds surety bonds in the amount of $1.2 billion for construction performance to ensure proper completion and complete
performance of construction contracts, and $1.2 billion for construction payment to ensure that payments are made by
the general contractor to all subcontractors. These bonds are not recorded on the Statement of Net Position.
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The Georgia State Financing and Investment Commission (GSFIC) State Construction Manual policies require that
surety bonds be provided for payment and performance of all State projects of $0.1 million or more. The Department
of Corrections holds surety bonds in the amount of $12.6 million for construction performance to ensure proper
completion and complete performance of construction contracts. These bonds are not recorded on the Statement of

Net Position.

For any organization that elects to assume the liability for unemployment compensation payments in lieu of making
contributions to the Unemployment Compensation Fund, the Commissioner of the Department of Labor is authorized
by statute to require such organization to execute and file with the Commissioner a cash deposit or surety bond. Cash
deposits are held on behalf of such organizations in the Department’s name, and are reported as agency funds. At
June 30, 2018, the Department held surety bonds in the amount of $61.8 million, and cash bonds in the amount of $2.2
million. These bonds are not recorded on the Statement of Net Position.
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Derivative Instruments are utilized by some of the higher education foundations (reported as component units) and
consist primarily of interest rate swap agreements. Certain foundations (component units) have elected to apply FASB
provisions and therefore the disclosure information for these foundations is presented separately. Details of the long
term liabilities associated with the interest rate swap derivatives are within Note 10 — Long-term Liabilities.

Component Units — GASB Organizations

The fair value balances and notional amounts of hedging derivative investments outstanding as reported in the fiscal
year 2018 financial statements for higher education foundations reported as component units reporting under GASB
provisions are as follows):

Change in Fair Value June 30, 2018
Classification Amount  Classification Amount Notional
Component unit activities - GASB
Cash flow hedges:
AU Health System Inc.
2014A&B - Interest Rate Swap Investment Revenue $ 5,994 Debt $ (14,819) $ 108,380
University of Georgia Athletic
Association, Inc.
2005B - Interest Rate Swap Deferred outflow of resources (1,177) Debt (2,784) 21,565
S (17.603)
Change in Fair Value Fair Value at 06/30/17
Classification Amount Classification Amount Notional
Component unit activities - GASB
Cash flow hedges:

AU Health System Inc.

2014A&B - Interest Rate Swap Investment Revenue $ 10,072 Debt $ (20,813) $ 114,370
University of Georgia Athletic
Association, Inc.

2005B - Interest Rate Swap Deferred outflow of resources (1,869) Debt (3.961) 22,415
$ (24.774)

Interest Rate Swap Derivatives

AU Health System, Inc.

AU Medical Center, Inc. (AUMC) entered into a variable-to-fixed interest rate swap (the Swap) to convert AUMC’s
variable interest rate concurrent with the 2008 bond issuance to a synthetic fixed rate of 3.302%.

The Swap matures on July 1, 2037. The notional amount of the Swap at June 30, 2018 and 2017 was $108.4 and
$114.4 million, respectively. The notional amount decreased from the initial notional amount of $135.0 million. The
notional value of the Swap declines in conjunction with payments of bond principal such that the outstanding balance
of the bonds approximate the notional amount of the Swap at all times. Under the Swap, The Health System pays the
counterparty interest at a fixed rate of 3.302% and receives interest payments at a variable rate computed as 68% of

LIBOR.
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The fair value of the Swap is recorded as an asset or liability, depending on whether the termination of the Swap would
result in amounts due to the Health System or the Swap counterparty. At June 30,2018 and 2017, the fair value of the
Swap represented a liability to the Health System in the amount of $14.8 and $20.8 million, respectively. The Health
System or the Swap counterparty is required to post collateral with the other party in the event that the fair value of
the Swap exceeds certain thresholds, as defined. At June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Health System had $15.0 and $1.8
million posted cash and investment collateral with the Swap counterparty, respectively.

As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Health System was exposed to credit risk in the amount of the fair value of the
Swap. The Health System has two Swap counterparties. As of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the Swap counterparties were
rated A+ and A by Fitch Ratings, A1 and A2 by Moody’s Investors Services and A+ and A+ by Standard & Poor’s. To
mitigate the potential for credit risk, various levels of collateralization by the counterparty may be required should the
counterparty’s credit rating be downgraded and the fair value of the Swap be in a liability position at a level above
certain thresholds specified in the Swap agreement.

The Health System or the counterparty may terminate the Swap if the other party fails to perform under the terms of
the agreement. If the Swap is terminated, the variable rate bonds would no longer carry a synthetic fixed interest rate.
Also, if at the time of termination, the Swap has a negative fair value (unfavorable to the Health System), the Health
System would be liable to the counterparty for a payment equal to the Swap’s fair value.

University of Georgia Athletic Association, Inc. (UGAA)

For derivative transactions, unless otherwise specified, Bank of America Merrill Lynch (“BOAML”) furnishes a single
value for each transaction, even if comprised of multiple legs. Unless otherwise specified, valuations for derivative
instruments represent, or are derived from, mid-market values. For some derivative instruments, mid-market prices
and inputs may not be observable. Instead, valuations may be derived from proprietary or other pricing models based
on certain assumptions regarding past, present, and future market conditions. Some inputs may be theoretical, not
empirical, and require BOAML to make subjective assumptions and judgments in light of its experience. For example,
in valuing OTC equity options where there is no listed option with a corresponding expiration date, BOAML must
estimate the future share price volatility based on realized volatility of the underlying shares over periods deemed
relevant, implied volatilities of the longest dated listed options available on the underlying shares or major indices and
other relevant factors. Valuations of securities with embedded derivatives may be based on assumptions as to the
volatility of the underlying security, basket or index, interest rates, exchange rates, dividend yields, correlations between
these or other factors, the impact of these factors upon the value of the security (including the embedded options), as
well as issuer funding rates and credit spreads (actual or approximated) or additional relevant factors. While BOAML
believes that the methodology and data it uses to value derivatives and securities with embedded derivatives are
reasonable and appropriate, other dealers might use different methodology or data and may arrive at different valuations.

Objective and Terms - As a means of interest rate management, the Association entered into three separate interest rate
swap transactions with Bank of America, N.A. (the "Counterparty") relating to its variable rate tax-exempt Series 2003
Bonds, taxable Series 2005A Bonds, and tax-exempt Series 2005B Bonds. Pursuant to an ISDA Master Agreement
and Schedule to ISDA Master Agreement, each dated as of January 27, 2005, between the Association and the
Counterparty and three Confirmations, the Association has agreed to pay to the Counterparty a fixed rate of interest
in an amount equal to: (1) 3.38% per annum multiplied by a notional amount that is equal to the principal amount of
the Series 2003 Bonds until August 2033; (2) 5.05% per annum multiplied by a notional amount that is equal to the
principal amount of the Series 2005 Bonds until July 2021; and (3) 3.48% per annum multiplied by the notional amount
that is equal to the principal amount of the Series 2005B Bonds until August 2033.

In return, the Counterparty has agreed to pay to the Association a floating rate of interest in an amount equal to: (1)
67% of LIBOR multiplied by a notional amount that is equal to the principal amount of the Series 2003 Bonds until
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August 2033; (2) LIBOR multiplied by a notional amount that is equal to the principal amount of the Series 2005
Bonds until July 2021; and (3) 67% of LIBOR multiplied by the notional amount that is equal to the principal amount
of the Series 2005B Bonds until July 2035.

The interest rate swap agreements on the 2003 and 2005A Series bonds were settled on October 12, 2016 with the
redemption of the 2003 series and the 2005A series bonds.

Fair Value - UGAA will be exposed to variable rates if the Counterparty to a swap defaults or if a swap is terminated.
A termination of the swap agreement may also result in the Association's making or receiving a termination payment.

As of June 30, 2018, the fair value of the interest rate swap agreements was $2.8 million indicating the amount that
UGAA would be required to pay to the Counterparties to terminate the swap agreements.

Swap Payments and Associated Debt — As of June 30, 2018, debt service requirements of the variable rate debt and
net swap payments, assuming current interest rates remain the same for their term, were as follows. As rates vary,
variable rate bond interest payments and net swap payments will vary.

Variable Rate Bonds Interest Rate
Principal Interest Swaps, Net Total

Years ending:
2019 $ 880.0 $ 3144 4054 $ 1,599.8
2020 910.0 300.6 387.6 1,598.2
2021 945.0 286.2 369.1 1,600.3
2022 980.0 271.3 349.9 1,601.2
2023 1,010.0 256.0 330.1 1,596.1
2024-2028 5,605.0 1,030.2 1,328.4 7,963.6
2029-2033 6,655.0 557.4 718.7 7,931.1
2034-2037 4,580.0 71.2 91.8 4,743.0
Total $ 21,565.0 $ 3,087.3 $ 3,981.0 $ 28,633.3

Credit Risk - As of June 30, 2018, the fair value of the swaps represents the Association's exposure to the Counterparty.
Should the Counterparty fail to perform in accordance with the terms of the swap agreements and variable interest
rates remain at the current level, the Association could see a possible gain equivalent to $5.8 million less the cumulative
fair value of $3.7 million.
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As of June 30, 2018, the Counterparty was rated as follows by Moody's and S&P:

Moody's S&P
Bank of America, N.A. Aa3 A+

Basis Risk - The swaps exposes the Association to basis risk. The interest rate on the Series 2003 Bonds and the Series
2005B Bonds is a tax-exempt interest rate, while the LIBOR basis on the variable rate receipt on the interest rate swap
agreements is taxable. Tax-exempt interest rates can change without a corresponding change in the 30-day LIBOR rate
due to factors affecting the tax-exempt market that do not have a similar effect on the taxable market. The Association
will be exposed to basis risk under the swaps to the extent that the interest rates on the tax-exempt bonds trade at greater
than 67% of LIBOR for extended periods of time. The Association would also be exposed to tax risk stemming from
changes in the marginal income tax rates or those caused by a reduction or elimination in the benefits of tax exemption
for municipal bonds.

Termination Risk - The interest rate swap agreement uses the International Swap Dealers Association Master
Agreement, which includes standard termination events, such as failure to pay and bankruptcy. The Association or the
Counterparty may terminate the swap if the other party fails to perform under the terms of the contract. If the swap is
terminated, the variable rate bonds would no longer carry a synthetically fixed interest rate. Also, if at the time of
termination, the swap has a negative fair value, then the Association would be liable to the Counterparty for a payment
equal to the swap’s fair value.

Component Units — FASB Organizations

The fair value balances and notional amounts of hedging derivative investments outstanding as reported in the fiscal
year 2018 financial statements for higher education foundations reported as component units reporting under FASB
provisions are as follows (amount in thousands):

(Table on next page)
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Change in Fair Value Fair Value at 06/30/18
Classification Amount Classificatio Amount Notional
Component unit activities - FASB n
Cash flow hedges:
Georgia College & State
University Foundation, Inc. Investment Revenue $ 997 Debt $ (1,183) $ 22,855
Investment Revenue 3,166 Debt (4,297) 69,820
Georgia Gwinnett College Foundation Investment Revenue 3,741 Debt — —
University of Georgia Foundation Investment Revenue 695 Debt (1,184) 4,314
Investment Revenue 542 Debt (86) 11,295
VSU Auxillary Services
Real Estate Foundation Investment Revenue $ 479 Debt (5,823) $ 27,505
3 )

Georgia College & State University Foundation, Inc. (GCSUF)

GCSUF maintains an interest rate risk management strategy that uses interest rate swap derivative instruments to
minimize significant, unaccepted earnings fluctuations caused by interest rate volatility. GCSUF’s specific goal is to
lower (where possible) the cost of its borrowed funds.

In connection with the 2007 Series bonds, GCSUF entered into an interest rate swap transaction to convert its variable-
rate bond obligations to fixed rates. This swap is utilized to manage interest rate exposures over the period of the interest
rate swap. The differential to be paid or received on all swap agreements is accrued as interest rates change and is
recognized in interest expense over the life of the agreement. The swap agreements expire at various dates and have
a fixed rate of 4.065%. The interest rate swap contains no credit-risk-related contingent features and is cross
collateralized by certain assets of GCSUF.

On January 31, 2013, GCSUF modified the swap agreement to lower the interest rate from 4.715% to 4.065%. The
present value of the interest savings over the life of the modified swap agreement is approximately $6.9 million. The
lease agreements with the Board of Regents was not modified as a result of the swap modification; however, 40% of
the present value of the interest savings will be paid to the University annually. The deferred swap savings was $2.0
million at June 30, 2018.

Georgia Gwinnett College Foundation (GGCF)

Parking and Collins Industrial entered into interest rate swap contracts to hedge exposure to interest rate fluctuations
related to their debt as a result of changes in the USD 1-month LIBOR BBA index. Parking pays interest monthly at
a fixed rate of 3.49% and receives interest monthly at a variable rate of 67% of the USD 1-month LIBOR BBA index.
Collins Industrial pays interest monthly at a fixed rate of 3.38% and receives interest monthly at a variable rate equal
to the USD 1-month LIBOR BBA index plus 2.25%. Parking's swap was terminated in May 2018 in conjunction with
a bond refunding. Collins Industrial's swap matured in June 2017.
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The University of Georgia Foundation (UGAF)

The Foundation has an outstanding interest rate swap agreement effectively converting the interest rate exposure on
the $6.2 million note payable from variable to a 5.95% fixed rate over the term of the note payable. During November
2017, the Foundation modified and extended the agreement which included a fixed rate fee payment of $296,500. As
of June 30, 2018 and 2017, the total notional amount of the swap was $4.3 and $5.2 million, respectively. As of June
30, 2018 and 2017, the fair value of this interest rate swap was a liability of $1.2 and $1.9 million, respectively, in the
accompanying consolidated statements of financial position. The Foundation recorded an unrealized gain on such swap
of $398,674 and $795,807 for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

The Foundation has an outstanding interest rate swap agreement effectively converting the interest rate exposure on
the $12.5 million note payable from variable to a 3.37% fixed rate over the term of the note payable. As of June 30,
2018 and 2017, the total notional amount of the swap was $11.3 and $11.7 million, respectively. As of June 30, 2018
and 2017, the fair value of this interest rate swap was a liability of $86,262 and $628,418, respectively, in the
accompanying consolidated statements of financial position. The Foundation recorded an unrealized gain on such swap
of $542,156 and $970,430 for the years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

VSU Auxiliary Services Real Estate Foundation, Inc,

The VSU Auxiliary Services Real Estate Foundation has an outstanding interest rate swap agreement effectively
changing the interest rate exposure on the Georgia & Reade, LLC bond payable from variable to a 4.05% fixed rate
over the term of the bond payable. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the total notional amount of the swap was $27.5
and $27.8 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the fair value of this interest rate swap was a
liability of $5.8 and $6.3 million, respectively, in the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position. The
Foundation recorded gains on the swap of $487,768 and $640,174 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016,

respectively.
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Receivables at June 30, 2018, consisted of the following (amount in thousands):

Inter- Allowance Total
Notes and governmental Gross for Receivables
Taxes Loans Other Receivables Receivables Uncollectibles (Net)
General Fund $ 4459360 $ — 3 711,021  $ 1,741,682 $§ 6,912,063 § (1,515446) $ 5,396,617
Nonmajor Governmental Funds — — 34,733 — 34,733 — 34,733

Total - Governmental Funds 4,459,360 — 745,754 1,741,682 6,946,796 (1,515,446) 5,431,350
Government-wide adjustments:

Internal Service Funds — — 103,250 691 103,941 (755) 103,186

Other — — — — — — —
Total - Governmental Activities $ 4,459,360 $ — 3 849,004 $ 1,742,373 $ 7,050,737 $ (1,516,201) $ 5,534,536
Business-type Activities
Higher Education Fund $ — 3 40,261 § 371,011 § 90,248 § 501,520 $ (49,649) § 451,871
State Health Benefit Plan — — 58,144 — 58,144 — 58,144
Unemployment Compensation Fund — — 156,116 71 156,187 (19,558) 136,629
Georgia Higher Education Facilities Authority — — 461 — 461 — 461
State Road and Tollway Authority — — 9,734 — 9,734 — 9,734
Government-wide adjustments:

Other — 72 — 72 — 72
Total - Business-type Activities $ — 8 40,261 S 595,538 $ 90,319 $ 726,046 $ (69,207) $ 656,911
Component Units
Unrestricted:

Georgia Environmental Finance Authority $ — $ 1427534 § 6,467 $ 1,580 $ 1435581 $ — $ 1,435,581

Georgia Geo. L. Smith II

World Congress Center Authority 2,724 — 7,217 — 9,941 — 9,941

Georgia Housing and Finance Authority — 589,176 800 — 589,976 (4,736) 585,240

Georgia Lottery Corporation — — 182,942 — 182,942 (7,904) 175,038

Georgia Ports Authority — 88 61,635 — 61,723 (3,663) 58,060

Georgia Tech Foundation, Incorporated — — 254,402 — 254,402 (8,508) 245,894

Nonmajor Component Units 814 278,736 2,966,971 14,325 3,260,846 (147,523) 3,113,323
Total - Unrestricted 3,538 2,295,534 3,480,434 15,905 5,795,411 (172,334) 5,623,077
Restricted:

Georgia Geo. L. Smith II

World Congress Center Authority — — 129,156 — 129,156 (24,960) 104,196

Georgia Housing and Finance Authority — 1,131,183 8,728 — 1,139,911 (4,500) 1,135,411
Total - Restricted — 1,131,183 137,884 — 1,269,067 (29,460) 1,239,607
Total - Component Units $ 3,538 $§ 3,426,717 $ 3,618,318 § 15905 $ 7,064,478 §$ (201,794) $ 6,862,684

111



State of Georgia
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

NOTE 8 - INTERFUND BALANCES AND TRANSFERS
A. Due To/From Other Funds

Due To/From Other Funds at June 30, 2018, consist of the following (amount in thousands):

Due From Other Funds

Nonmajor Higher Nonmajor Internal
General Governmental Education Enterprise Service Fiduciary = Total Due To
Fund Fund Funds Funds Funds Funds Other Funds

Due To Other Funds
General Fund $ — 3 — 3 — 3 — $547504 $ — 3 547,504
General Obligation Bond
Projects Fund - - 19,142 - - - 19,142
Nonmajor Governmental
Funds 19,639 — — — 44 — 19,683
Higher Education Fund — — — — 223,256 — 223,256
State Employees' Health
Benefit Plan — — — — — 8,737 8,737
Nonmajor Enterprise Funds — 25,654 — — — — 25,654
Internal Service Funds — — — 160 — 160
Fiduciary Funds — — — 72 10 533 615

Total Due From Other Funds § 19,639 § 25,654 $ 19,142 § 72 $770974 $ 9270 § 844,751

Interfund receivables and payables result from billings for goods/services provided between funds.
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B. Interfund Transfers

Interfund transfers at June 30, 2018, consist of the following (amount in thousands):

Transfers In

Governmental Funds Proprietary Funds
General
Obligation Nonmajor Higher Unemployment Nonmajor Internal Total
General Bond Governmental Education Compensation Enterprise Service Fiduciary  Transfers
Fund Projects Fund Funds Fund Fund Funds Funds Funds Out
Transfers Out:
General Fund $ — 3 22,800 $ 1,607,457  $2,693,119 § 306 $§ 11,644 $15449 $§ 2,608 $4,353,383
General Obligation
Bond Projects Fund 15,729 — — — — — — — 15,729
Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds 53,498 — 34 — — 3,016 — — 56,548
Higher Education
Fund 3,441 — — 12,532 — — — — 15,973
Internal Service
Funds 3,004 — — 2,144 — — — — 5,148
Total Transfers In  $ 75,672 § 22,800 $ 1,607,491 $2,707,795 $ 306 $ 14,660 $15449 $ 2,608 $4,446,781

Transfers are used to move revenues from the fund that statutes require to collect them to the fund that statutes require
to expend them and to move unrestricted revenues collected in the General Fund to finance various programs accounted
for in other funds in accordance with budgetary authorizations.
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A. Primary Government

Capital Asset activity for the fiscal year-ended June 30, 2018, was as follows (amount in thousands):

Governmental Activities

Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated:
Land
Works of Art and Collections
Intangibles - Other Than Software
Construction in Progress

Total Capital Assets, Not Being Depreciated

Capital Assets Being Depreciated:
Infrastructure
Buildings and Building Improvements
Improvements Other Than Buildings
Intangibles - Other than Software
Machinery and Equipment
Software

Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated

Less Accumulated Depreciation For:
Infrastructure
Buildings and Building Improvements
Improvements Other Than Buildings
Intangibles - Other Than Software
Machinery and Equipment
Software

Total Accumulated Depreciation

Total Capital Assets, Being Depreciated, Net

Governmental Activities Capital Assets, Net

Balance
7/1/2017 Balance
(Restated - Note 3) Increases Decreases 6/30/2018
4,049,892 § 182,275  $ (26,161) $ 4,206,006
1,391 — — 1,391
122,236 1,257 — 123,493
3,519,100 2,741,305 (2,347,506) 3,912,899
7,692,619 2,924,837 (2,373,667) 8,243,789
29,563,798 1,145,418 (22,286) 30,686,930
4,149,033 210,704 (72,380) 4,287,357
141,307 8,507 (407) 149,407
1,277 106 — 1,383
1,053,774 95,655 (59,243) 1,090,186
502,979 46,602 — 549,581
35,412,168 1,506,992 (154,316) 36,764,844
17,840,365 857,760 (12,0006) 18,686,119
2,074,349 129,819 (55,076) 2,149,092
59,114 2,923 77) 61,960
789 265 — 1,054
790,697 69,303 (40,61